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DELIVERY HERO 
AT A GLANCE
GROUP ORDERS1 +49% 
TO € 369 MILLION

ORDERS (MILLION) 

GMV2 (EUR MILLION)

REVENUES¹, ² (EUR MILLION)

ADJ. EBITDA (EUR MILLION) 

248

2017

369 

2018
3,131

2017

4,454

2018

417 

2017

687

2018

1 The reported figures have been adjusted for material M&A and exclude the divestment of India, divestment of foodora (Australia, France, Italy & Netherlands) and 
Germany as a discontinued operation. Germany revenues were € 21.4 million in Q1ʼ17, € 21.7 million in Q2ʼ17, € 22.7 million in Q3ʼ17 and € 24.3 million in Q4ʼ17, 
€ 25.5 million in Q1ʼ18, € 24.7 million for Q2ʼ18, € 25.9 million for Q3ʼ18 and € 29.2 million for Q4ʼ18. India revenues were € 2.3 million in Q1ʼ17, € 2.6 million in Q2ʼ17, 
€2.5 million in Q3ʼ17 and € 2.5 million in Q4ʼ17. foodora revenues were € 6.3 million for Q3ʼ17 and € 7.6 million for Q4ʼ17, € 7.4 million in Q1ʼ18, € 7.1 million for  
Q2ʼ18 and € 3.9 million for Q3ʼ18 and € 0.7 million for Q4ʼ18. Numbers have not been adjusted for smaller acquisitions or divestments. Revenues presented for 
 Delivery Hero represent the total segment revenues prior to vouchers.

2  Americas revenues and GMV as well as the respective growth rates are impacted by the Argentinian operations qualifying as hyperinflationary economy according 
to IAS 29 beginning September 1, 2018. 2018 revenue and GMV is retrospectively adjusted. Comparability is affected as prior period information is not restated. 
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DELIVERY HERO 
AT A GLANCE

EUROPE ORDERS +41% 
TO € 60 MILLION

ORDERS (MILLION) 

GMV (EUR MILLION)

REVENUES¹ (EUR MILLION)

ADJ. EBITDA (EUR MILLION) 

43 

2017

60 

2018
547 

2017

735

2018

89

2017

116

2018

ORDERS (MILLION) 

GMV (EUR MILLION)

REVENUES¹ (EUR MILLION)

ADJ. EBITDA (EUR MILLION) 

55

2017

83 

2018
844

2017

1,214

2018

127

2017

193

2018

ASIA ORDERS +50% 
TO € 83 MILLION

MENA ORDERS +55% 
TO € 191 MILLION

AMERICAS ORDERS +31% 
TO € 36 MILLION

ORDERS (MILLION) 

GMV (EUR MILLION)

REVENUES (EUR MILLION)

ADJ. EBITDA (EUR MILLION) 

123 

2017

191 

2018

24

2017

18

2018

1,370

2017

2,100

2018

153 

2017

316

2018

ORDERS (MILLION) 

GMV² (EUR MILLION)

REVENUES² (EUR MILLION)

ADJ. EBITDA (EUR MILLION) 

28 

2017

36 

2018
370

2017

406

2018

47

2017

62

2018
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LETTER FROM  
THE CEO
Dear shareholders, dear colleagues, dear readers,
 
2018 was another fantastic year for us. We were able to 
accelerate growth and reached several important mile-
stones. In 2018, for the first time we processed more 
than 1.5 million orders (including Germany) in one day 
globally. Over the course of the year our GMV amounted 
to EUR 4.5bn (excluding Germany) and our segment rev-
enues to EUR 687 million. Iʼm incredibly proud that we 
were able to build the company that it is today through 
entrepreneurial drive and relentless focus on delivering 
an amazing experience for our customers. 

Yet despite those achievements, weʼre only scratching the 
surface of the global opportunity we have ahead of us. 
While awareness and consumer demand for our services 
has never been higher, many customers do not order food 
and other items to their homes yet. And of those who do 
order food, roughly 90% still call the restaurants for a add 
directly. While this is certainly true for almost all markets 
globally, it is even more so for Delivery Hero. Our global 
footprint is focussed particularly on more early stage 
markets providing room for growth for the next decades.
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While food delivery is and will remain the core pillar of 
our business, we also follow our customersʼ demands for 
an increasing offering of convenience services. Consum-
ers have ever higher expectations of services like ours 
and because of this we are focusing more and more on 
broader on-demand needs. We have therefore upgraded 
our vision accordingly to: Always delivering amazing 
experiences – fast, easy and to your door.
 
Initially, this expansion of services will be focused on cat-
egories like groceries, flowers and pharma. Currently, we 
operate these services in the Latin America and MENA 
regions and see promising results. In 2018 we rolled out 
multi-vertical delivery platforms in 9 countries. We see 
a strong customer demand and this encourages us to 
continue to develop those services further. Besides the 
focus on our customersʼ needs, this also allows us to uti-
lize our delivery fleets better, which results in even more 
efficient logistics.
 
Besides the horizontal expansion to more services for our 
customers, weʼre also expanding our efforts to transform 
the food delivery ecosystem by working more closely with 
our restaurant partners. We see that, as food delivery 
matures in some urban areas, some restaurants start to 
be overwhelmed with the demand from our customers 
while some more rural towns still have a more limited 
food delivery offering. We are therefore always looking 
for new ways to partner with and support our restaurant 
partners. We are exploring several different approaches 

globally for that purpose, ranging from ideas to help 
restaurants utilising their capacity better, to expanding 
into dedicated delivery kitchens and completely re-think-
ing how a delivery-focused restaurant should work. I am 
sure we will have more exciting news to share on this 
over the next years.
 
On the corporate development side, we have always 
made it very clear that we are pragmatic around con-
solidation and focus on those markets in which we 
can build strong leadership positions. We have there-
fore taken strategic decisions to exit those markets in 
which we didnʼt see the potential for market leading 
positions at reasonable investment levels, and focused  
our investments on markets where we operate mar-
ket-leading brands. 

While the vast majority of our growth is organic, we were 
also able to strengthen our market position through 
smaller acquisitions of complementary marketplace oper-
ations in various countries. In terms of disposals, the sale 
of our hungryhouse business closed already in early 2018. 
Moreover, we also succeeded in divesting our foodora 
operations in Italy, France, Netherlands and Australia. 
Finally, we successfully closed the sale of our German 
operations to Takeaway.com in December 2018. This 
transaction enables us to strengthen our global footprint, 
increase our focus on key growth regions and reinforce 
our leadership positions. We also used this opportunity 
to upgrade our 2019 investment plan and allocate more 

5

ON A MISSION LETTER FROM THE CEO
ANNUAL REPORT 2018



capital towards investment opportunities across our seg-
ments at attractive returns with a net adj. EBITDA impact 
of negative €250m.

We already see promising initial results in the first quar-
ter of 2019 on these increased investments. These results 
affirm our strong believe that this is the right path for 
the company in order to build the most valuable busi-
ness over the long-term. In this sense, our entrepreneur-
ial mindset today is still the same as it was when the busi-
ness was founded in 2011 and drives us to pursue the 
ever expanding opportunities we see. 
 
While the marketplace business still represents roughly 
80% of our overall business, our share of own delivery 
orders is constantly growing. By pursuing our hybrid 
business model strategy we can add significantly more 
restaurants to our platform (both with and without their 
own delivery capabilities) and deliver to our customers 
what they are demanding in each of the neighborhoods 
we operate in. The fast growth rate of our own delivery 
capabilities is driven by our customersʼ increased demand 
for fast, highly reliable and traceable order fulfillment – 
something we aim to provide with every order that we 
execute ourselves and a principle that is ingrained in 

our vision. As of today, we deliver more orders than all 
competitors in our markets combined and have created 
a clear global leadership in own delivery. Iʼm immensely 
proud of our team to have achieved this in such a short 
period of time.
 
As the market for food ordering is maturing, shifting 
more online and improving in service quality, there is 
truly enormous potential for further growth. Even I con-
tinue to be amazed by the size and continued expansion 
of this market opportunity. Looking at the order pene-
tration in some of our best cities we even see markets a 
presence of 10+ years in online food delivery continuing 
to grow at a fast pace. As mentioned above, this leads 
me to believe that we have barely scratched the surface 
of what is possible. There are at least 90 occasions for 
ordering food every month – breakfast, lunch, and dinner 
every day on 30 days a month – for each and every one 
of our customers. Even in markets with very high order 
densities, frequencies do not exceed high single digits 
per active customer per month. If we just increase the 
average frequency by a little each year, this will be a huge 
lever on the opportunity and the TAM that we initially 
indicated at time of IPO. If we continuously improve our 
ordering experience, choice of restaurants, affordability, 

OCCASIONS FOR ORDERING  
FOOD EVERY MONTH 

90
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speed of delivery and even add new ordering occasions 
to our services, Iʼm sure we will be able to achieve that.
 
Looking at 2018 we already see great progress on all of 
these operational elements. To mention just a few of 
these achievements:

•  we grew the number of restaurants by 53% Y-o-Y 
(excluding Germany) to expand choice for our cus-
tomers

•  we migrated 8 operations onto our global platforms to 
allow for a more seamless ordering experience

•  we improved our restaurant integration with the roll out 
of our restaurant partner solution globally for improved 
reliability of order transmission

•  we deployed our personalized recommendation in 23 
countries to help customers navigate our restaurant 
selection

 
Beyond that, I am exceptionally proud of my fellow 
Heroes for making huge progress in terms of corporate 
social responsibility, a topic that is very close to my heart. 
In 2018, we handed out numerous free meals to people in 

need in order to give back to the community and imple-
mented a volunteering program that saw huge engage-
ment from our employees. Beyond that we started invest-
ing into understanding our environmental footprint as 
an organisation and how we can reduce that. Lastly, we 
set up a broad program to improve the diversity and 
inclusion of our work environment. Besides the moral 
imperative of creating an environment where everyone 
feels welcome, I also believe it is a business imperative 
to attract and retain the very best people on our contin-
ued growth journey.
 
With that, I would like to thank you for your trust in our 
leadership team and ca. 21,000 colleagues who will con-
tinue to work hard to deliver and to revolutionize a mar-
ket with the trillion dollar food opportunity that is still 
very much in its infancy. 2019 will be another big year 
for us with even bigger opportunities as we continue 
to focus on always delivering amazing experiences for 
our customers.
 
Yours,
Niklas
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OUR UPGRADED  
VISION

Our successful business performance has continued to be the result of our strong  
vision and unwavering focus on providing an amazing on-demand experience.  
We continually invest to improve our food and restaurant selection, but throughout  
2018 we also focused on expanding a more holistic ordering service.
 
As a result, 2018 saw us roll out many new features and additional products,  
driving trends we saw developing in the delivery sector. This continuous focus  
on innovation will ensure we are able to provide our customers with the most  
convenient, personalized ordering experience.
 
We are particularly proud to hold innovation at the core of our culture, as it is  
our key strength when it comes to tackling the market opportunity. 

our vision to always deliver amazing experiences, is driven by investment in three  
significant pillars: global leadership, product and technology.
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OUR UPGRADED  
VISION

AMERICAS
9 
COUNTRIES

225m 
TOTAL 
POPULATION

78%
URBAN 
POPULATION 

ARGENTINA/CANADA/CHILE/COLOMBIA/ 
ECUADOR/PANAMA/PARAGUAY/PERU/URUGUAY

ASIA
10 
COUNTRIES

 
663m 
TOTAL 
POPULATION

68%
URBAN 
POPULATION 

BANGLADESH/BRUNEI/HONG KONG/
MALASIA/PAKISTAN/PHILIPINES/ 
SOUTH KOREA/SINGAPORE/ 
TAIWAN/THAILAND 

MENA
9 
COUNTRIES

242m 
TOTAL 
POPULATION

82%
URBAN 
POPULATION 

BAHRAIN/JORDAN/EGYPT/KUWAIT/OMAN/ 
QATAR/SAUDI ARABIA/UAE/TURKEY 

EUROPE 

13 
COUNTRIES

 
103m 
TOTAL 
POPULATION

67%
URBAN 
POPULATION 

AUSTRIA/BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA/
BULGARIA/CROATIA/CZECH  
REPUBLIC/FINLAND/GREECE/ 
HUNGARY/MONTENEGRO/NORWAY/ 
ROMANIA/SERBIA/SWEDEN

Source: World Development Indicators, 2018; rounded figures 
Excluding countries with minority participation that are not fully consolidated (e.g. Poland) and (planned) divestments e.g. Germany and foodora non-core assets (Australia, France, Italy and Netherlands) 
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INCREASED MARKET  
OPPORTUNITY 

Throughout 2018 we continued to see our market opportunities 
expand globally due to the fact that many countries we operate  
in still have low online penetration – a figure which has not changed 
from the low teen levels we outlined at time of IPO – with the  
majority of orders still being placed via the telephone. 

Being at the forefront of the ongoing channel-shift puts us at a strong 
competitive advantage, with a much longer growth runway than 
other food delivery peers. 

We have also seen the overall market opportunity expand due to:

1. An increased demand for convenience
2.  An increased number of restaurants and cuisines available  

on our platform
3.  Improved food quality and lower prices, driven by more  

efficient restaurant operations and so called “shared  
kitchens” and “virtual kitchens”
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INCREASED MARKET  
OPPORTUNITY 
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GLOBAL 
LEADERSHIP
Delivery Hero is a global leader in online food delivery,  
with a larger reach and greater scale than competitors  
in all markets of operation. Outside of South Korea, Norway 
and Canada, we now fulfill three times as many orders than  
all our competitors combined in our markets of operation.  
In 2018, we are the #1 leader in 33 of our 41 countries  
with approximately 80% of GMV comingfrom these  
leadership countries.
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Per Q4 2018 we processed on average more than 36 million orders per  
month – more than 3 times as much as our competitorsʼ orders combined  
(including Takeaway.com, UberEats, Deliveroo, Grab, Just Eat, Zomato and  
additional local competitors) in our countries of operation outside of  
South Korea, Norway and Canada. 

In 2018 we substantially expanded our restaurant selection, closing the year  
with more than 290,000 active restaurants listed across our platforms globally  
and we operate in more than 4,000 cities.  
 
We were able to reach this figure thanks to building our clear leadership in  
own-delivery, enabling us to partner with restaurants without their own fleets.  
Per Q4 2018, our delivery riders delivered more than 7 million orders per month  
in over 200 cities. Outside of South Korea, Norway and Canada, we now fulfill  
twice as much own delivery orders than all our competitors combined in our  
markets of operation1.

By taking this hybrid approach (combining both marketplace and our own logistical 
capabilities) we continued to develop highly efficient operations, enabling us to 
reduce delivery costs. We now have a similar profit contribution per order when  
we provide first-party delivery or third-party delivery, once our operations are up  
to scale. 

As we continue to improve efficiencies further we will pass saving down to our  
customers to drive additional frequency and adoption.

LISTED RESTAURANTS

290,000

1  Management estimates in Delivery Hero markets. Excluding orders from South Korea, Norway, Canada  
and our minority holdings Rappi and Glovo.
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IMPROVED PRODUCT  
AND TECHNOLOGY
 

ADDING HIGH FREQUENCY PRODUCTS

ADDING VIRTUAL KITCHENS

One of our major focuses in 2018 was the expansion  
of our product offering and securing our status as a  
third generation delivery company. Developments in  
proprietary technology and executional capabilities  
allowed us to expand into new verticals such a groceries, 
pharmacies and flowers and other convenience articles  
in multiple markets. Throughout 2018 we rolled out  
multi-vertical delivery platforms in 9 countries. 

Although still in the early days, 2018 saw us gain  
good traction in the concept and shared kitchen  
space, which we rolled out in selected cities globally.  
By offering specifically for delivery prepared, good  
quality food in better quality packaging, these  
concepts allow us to lever our operational expertise  
and achieve more efficient cost structures, which benefit  
customers, restaurants and us as intermediaries. 
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We aim to provide our partners with the most innovative  
technology available (Restaurant Partner Solution – RPS)  
to enable them to reach their full potential for our mutual  
advantage. We increase their order volumes, give them  
access to new customers, improve their efficiency, and add  
revenue at improved margins. Moreover, restaurants benefit  
from the data which Delivery Hero is aggregating, allowing  
them to take better decisions on customer offerings, pricing, 
location and menu items. 

Included in our RPS is our point-of-sale technology. This  
allows restaurants to enter in their walk-in orders and helps  
them to better understand their business and drive further  
efficiencies in the restaurant. 

Throughout 2018 we improved our RPS integration, which  
is now live globally. As we continue to improve RPS coverage,  
the technology will give us more holistic exposure to data, 
which, in turn, will enable us to drive further efficiencies and 
improve both our partnersʼ and customersʼ experience.

We are driving industry change, and continually iterating  
our technology. In 2018 we developed voice ordering,  
which has been integrated into virtual assistants, corporate 
 platforms and our chat applications to further improve  
customer experience. In 2018, we further focussed on 
 personalization features, which are now deployed in  
23 countries.

INNOVATION FOR THE RESTAURANT

CONTINUOUS INNOVATION
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REPORT OF THE 
 SUPERVISORY BOARD

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
The financial year 2018 was a significant and successful 
year for Delivery Hero SE (the “Company”), and one in 
which the Company reached several impressive milestones. 
Thanks to consistent strong growth, the Delivery Hero 
Group has developed an outstanding, global market posi-
tion, with the Group now taking over 100 million orders 
per quarter. Noteworthy, in particular, are the successful 
conversion of the Companyʼs form to a European joint stock 
corporation (societas Europaea, SE), being admitted the 
MDAX for the Deutsche Börseʼs Prime Standard, the first 
annual general meeting and the sale of operations in 
Germany.

CONVERSION INTO AN SE
With the conversion of the Companyʼs legal form into  
a European joint stock corporation (societas Europaea, SE) 
on July 13, 2018, the first Supervisory Board of Delivery  
Hero SE has begun its work. The SE Regulation, the 
Delivery Hero SE articles of association, and the agreement 
on the involvement of employees in Delivery Hero SE on 
April 16, 2018 determined the composition and size of the 
Super visory Board. The Delivery Hero SE Supervisory Board 
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is comprised of six members and is represented with three 
shareholder representatives and three employee represen-
tatives. The Supervisory Boardʼs employee representatives 
were selected by the employeesʼ special negotiation body.

COOPERATION BETWEEN MANAGEMENT  
AND SUPERVISORY BOARD
The Supervisory Board duly and carefully complied with 
the duties and recommendations imposed on it by law, the 
articles of association, the rules of procedure and the 
German Corporate Governance Code. The Supervisory 
Board was at all times comprehensively involved in Man-
agement Board affairs and decisions of key importance to 
the Company from an early stage onwards. The Manage-
ment Board regularly reported to the Supervisory Board 
extensively on the position, strategic planning, intended 
business policy, and key transactions of the Company and 
Group; such reporting took place in writing and orally. In 
the same vein, it gave its opinion on key issues pertaining 
to risk positions, risk management, financials, investment, 
and staff planning, corporate governance, compliance, the 
course of business, and profitability. The Management 
Board explained and discussed measures and transactions 
requiring approval of and with the Supervisory Board 
prior to the former taking decisions. Discussions took place 
during meetings of the full Supervisory Board and its 
committees, which were also held by conference call. The 
Supervisory Board and relevant committees also met 
without the Management Boardʼs presence, where appli-
cable. The chairs of the Supervisory Board and Audit 
Committee were also in regular contact with the chair of 
the Management Board and the Chief Financial Officer 
outside of meetings so as to discuss current developments 
and key decisions, including those on risk position, risk 

management, and compliance, at regular intervals and 
also, when necessary, at short notice. 

During the financial year 2018, the Supervisory Board  
held seven meetings and eleven conference calls. The 
Supervisory Board adopted fifteen resolutions in writing. 

Mr. Patrick Kolek was unable to attend one meeting in 
person and Ms. Hilary Gosher was unable to attend two 
meetings in person, but both participated in these meet-
ings by conference call. Mr. Semih Yalcin was unable to 
attend one conference call meeting, but submitted his vote 
in writing. In addition, he left one conference call meeting 
early. All other members of the Supervisory Board attend-
ed all meetings and conference call meetings during their 
term of office.

MEETINGS AND ESSENTIAL RESOLUTIONS  
OF THE DELIVERY HERO AG SUPERVISORY BOARD
The Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero AG received a 
training session on the Market Abuse Regulation and the  
Company structure of stock incorporations by an outside 
legal counsel on January 29, 2018.

During a conference call meeting on February 5, 2018, the 
Supervisory Board dealt in particular with the trading 
update and the policy on non-audit services by the statu-
tory auditor.

In three conference call meetings on March 12, 2018, the 
Supervisory Board dealt with the exercised options within 
the framework of the employee long term incentive pro-
gram and approved the respective capital increases.

In the balance sheet meeting on April 24, 2018, the Super-
visory Board examined the annual and consolidated 
financial statements, including the group management 
report for the financial year 2017, and discussed them in 
detail with the auditors. The auditor reported on the main 
results of the audit. In addition, the Supervisory Board 
examined the nonfinancial statement for the Group and 
dealt with the Supervisory Board report. In accordance 
with the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the 
Supervisory Board approved the annual financial state-
ments, the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report for 2017 during a conference call on 
April 25, 2018. Thus the annual financial statements were 
adopted. In addition, the Supervisory Board adopted the 
agenda for the 2018 annual general meeting. Further, the 
Supervisory Board approved an investment in Barogo Co., 
Ltd. with registered seat in Korea, a company specialized 
in the area of logistics for restaurant chains and food 
delivery platforms.

During a conference call meeting on May 8, 2018, the 
Supervisory Board dealt with the quarterly statement for 
the first quarter and approved the opening of an exercise 
window for the employee participation program.

During a conference call meeting on May 29, 2018, the 
Supervisory Board dealt with the exercised options within 
the framework of the employee long term incentive pro-
gram. 
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The Supervisory Board meeting on June 6, 2018, subse-
quent to the annual general meeting and election of 
Mr. Janis Zech to the Supervisory Board, addressed poten-
tial, additional investments in marketing, restaurant cov-
erage, technology, and product.

Certain Management Board transactions and measures 
require prior approval from the Supervisory Board on 
account of statutory provisions or specifications in the 
Management Boardʼs rules of procedure. The Supervisory 
Board gave its approval to various acquisitions by way of 
resolutions in writing, such as the purchase of shares in 
Deliveras S.A. with registered seat in Greece and Cloud 
Treats Romania SA. with registered seat in Romania. Both 
companies operate food delivery platforms. Further, the 
Supervisory Board approved an increase in the thresholds 
for transactions and measures of the Management Board, 
which are subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board 
and adopted a resolution to adjust the remuneration of 
the Management Board. In addition, the Supervisory Board 
approved by way of a resolution in writing a capital 
increase which was implemented as part of the employee 
participation program.

MEETINGS AND ESSENTIAL RESOLUTIONS  
OF THE DELIVERY HERO SE SUPERVISORY BOARD
During its constituent meeting by conference call on July 4, 
2018, the Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero SE elected 
Dr. Martin Enderle as chair and Mr. Patrick Kolek as depu-
ty chair of the Supervisory Board. Additionally, Mr. Niklas 
Östberg (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Emmanuel 
Thomassin (Chief Financial Officer) were both appointed 
to the Management Board of Delivery Hero SE until the 
conclusion of April 30, 2022. 

In advance of the meeting on August 1, 2018, the new mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero SE received 
a session by an outside legal counsel on the Market Market 
Abuse Regulation and the Company structure of a Societas 
Europaea (SE).

During the meeting on August 1, 2018, the Supervisory 
Board of Delivery Hero SE approved additional investments 
in the areas of marketing, restaurant coverage, technology, 
and product. In addition, the Supervisory Board approved 
a capital increase against contribution in kind to settle the 
acquisition of minority interests. Another focus in addition 
to the trading update for the half-year report were the 
recommendations of the German Corporate Governance 
Code. The Supervisory Board adopted rules of procedure 
for the Management Board, Supervisory Board, and Audit 
Committee and the Supervisory Boardʼs competence pro-
file. A target of female representation of 0% for the Man-
agement Board and 30% for the Supervisory Board was 
set for a period of five years each. In addition, the Super-
visory Board constituted its committees and elected the 
committee members. More information about the compo-
sition of the Supervisory Board and the committees can 
be found in the “Board Matters” section and in the corpo-
rate governance report on page 20.

During the meeting on September 11, 2018, the  Supervisory 
Board concentrated on the half-year report for the financial 
year 2018 in particular. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board 
also discussed the various options that employees may 
exercise as part of the employee participation program.

During its meeting on November 6, 2018, the Supervisory 
Board focused on the quarterly statement for the third 
quarter of the financial year, the internal audit system, the 
audit plan of the Internal Audit department for the financial 
year 2019 as well as focus areas for risk and compliance 
management.

In the conference call meeting on November 19, 2018, the 
Supervisory Board approved another exercise window 
within the framework of the employee participation pro-
gram.

In a conference call meeting for information purposes on 
December 12, 2018, the Supervisory Board dealt with the 
sale of the operating business in Germany to Takeaway.com 
N.V.

In the conference call meeting on December 13, 2018, the 
Supervisory Board dealt in particular with the budget, the 
independence of the Supervisory Board members and 
possible investments.

During two meetings on December 19, 2018, the Supervi-
sory Board approved the sale of German operations (of 
Delivery Hero Germany GmbH and Foodora GmbH), includ-
ing the delivery platforms Lieferheld, pizza.de, and Foodo-
ra, to Takeaway.com N.V. as well as increases to investments. 
Moreover, it focused in particular on the independence of 
several members of the Supervisory Board and adopted 
the budget for the financial year 2019.
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The Supervisory Board approved, among other things, 
several capital increases that were implemented as part of 
the employee participation program and which were 
subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board.

EFFICIENT WORK OF THE SUPERVISORY  
BOARDʼS COMMITTEES
The Supervisory Board constituted four committees in 
accordance with the advice of the German Corporate 
Governance Code, namely, an Audit Committee, Remuner-
ation Committee, and Nomination Committee to discharge 
its duties in a duly manner. A Strategy Committee was also 
established in relation to the conversion from Delivery  
Hero AG to Delivery Hero SE. To increase the efficiency of 
the Supervisory Boardʼs work, each committee was extend-
ed by one Supervisory Board member, so that each com-
mittee consists of three members. The chairs of each 
committee regularly reported on the content and result of 
their meetings to the full Supervisory Board in the follow-
ing meeting of the Supervisory Board. 

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the finan-
cial year 2018. During these meetings, the Audit Commit-
tee regularly focused on accounting structures and pro-
cesses, internal control, internal auditing, risk management, 
and compliance and discussed measures with the auditor 
KPMG and the Management Board to strengthen them 
further. KPMG participated in all Audit Committee meet-
ings. Further, the Audit Committee dealt comprehensively 
with the annual and consolidated financial statements, 
including the group management report for the financial 
year 2017, and discussed the results of the audit of the 
annual and consolidated financial statements with the 
auditor. In addition, the Audit Committee discussed, 
reviewed and agreed to the half-year financial report and 
the quarterly statement for the third quarter.

Furthermore, the Audit Committee considered the require-
ments for nonfinancial reporting (CSR – directive) and the 
separate nonfinancial statements for the Group and 
approved the rendering of non-audit services by the audi-
tor KPMG. Further, the Audit Committee adopted a guide-
line for the provision of non-audit services by the auditor. 
Similarly, the Audit Committee was involved in the prepa-
ration of the Supervisory Boardʼs proposal to the 2018 
annual general meeting for the appointment of an auditor 
for the annual and consolidated financial statements. With 
Mr. Patrick Kolek as chair of the Audit Committee, the Audit 
Committee, in line with sections 100 (5) and 107 (4) of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG), pos-
sesses an independent member who has the required 
level of expertise in accounting or auditing as well as 
special knowledge and experience in the application of 
accounting principles and internal control procedures. 
Mr. Patrick Kolek and Dr. Martin Enderle were prevented 
from attending one meeting but participated by phone. 
All other members were present at all further meetings 
and phone calls during their respective term of office.

During the financial year 2018, the Remuneration  
Committee held two meetings. Focus areas for the com-
mittee included the election of a chairman and in partic-
ular allocation of options to the Management Board 
members. For further information regarding Management 
Board remuneration, reference is made to the compensa-
tion report beginning on page 37. Mr. Patrick Kolek was 
prevented from attending one meeting but participated 
by phone. All other members were present at all further 
meetings and phone calls during their respective term of 
office.

The Nomination Committee, which is made up of share-
holder representatives exclusively, held two meetings 
during the financial year 2018. During these meetings, the 
committee dealt in particular with proposals for the elec-
tion of a new shareholder representative to the Super visory 
Board. Mr. Patrick Kolek was prevented from attending one 
meeting but participated by phone. All other members 
were present at all further meetings and phone calls during 
their respective term of office.

The Strategy Committee of Delivery Hero held three meet-
ings and one conference call during the financial year 2018 
and focused on the election of a chair of the Strategy 
Committee, potential Company acquisitions, including in 
particular the sale of operations in Germany, and the 
budget for the financial year 2019. Mr. Patrick Kolek was 
prevented from attending one meeting but participated 
by phone. All other members were present at all further 
meetings and phone calls during their respective term of 
office.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Supervisory Board discussed various issues on the 
topic of corporate governance and, together with the 
Management Board, submitted the declaration of compli-
ance required under section 161 AktG on December 27, 
2018. The full declaration of compliance and more exten-
sive explanations of the Companyʼs corporate governance 
can be found in the Corporate Governance Report begin-
ning on page 22. Readers are referred to the compensation 
report beginning on page 37 for further information 
regarding the remuneration structure for the Management 
and Supervisory Boards. 
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There were two conflicts of interest revealed on the 
Supervisory Board in the financial year 2018:

 — In connection with the determination of the remuner-
ation of the chairman of the Supervisory Board, 
Dr. Martin Enderle revealed a conflict of interest. 
Dr. Martin Enderle abstained from voting.

 — In connection with a M&A transaction, which was not 
carried out, Mr. Patrick Kolek revealed a possible con-
flict of interest. Mr. Patrick Kolek abstained from voting.

AUDIT AND FINALIZATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT, APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Management Board forwarded to the members of the 
Audit Committee and Supervisory Board the annual and 
consolidated financial statements for 2018, the 2018 com-
bined management report for Delivery Hero SE and the 
Group (the “Annual Report Documents”), and the com-
bined separate nonfinancial report immediately after they 
were set up. The auditor KPMG audited the annual financial 
statement for Delivery Hero SE and the consolidated finan-
cial statements as well as the 2018 combined management 
report for Delivery Hero SE and the Group, and certified it 
unconditionally. The Annual Report Documents and the 
audit findings of the auditor KPMG were examined in detail 

in the presence of KPMG, during the Audit Committeeʼs 
meeting and the Supervisory Boardʼs balance sheet meet-
ing on April 23, 2019; in particular regarding their lawful-
ness and compliance with requirements. The auditor KPMG 
reported on the key findings of the audit, the specified 
scope for the audit and important circumstances arising 
during the audit. The Management Board and the auditor 
KPMG were available for further questions and additional 
information requested by the Supervisory Board. There 
were no objections to raise following the Supervisory 
Boardʼs final audit result. In accordance with the recom-
mendation of the Audit Committee, the Supervisory Board 
approved the annual and consolidated financial statements 
for 2018, the combined management report for 
Delivery Hero SE and the Group, and the combined sepa-
rate nonfinancial report; thus the annual financial state-
ments are adopted.

BOARD MATTERS
Mr. Lukasz Gadowski resigned from his position as a mem-
ber of the Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero AG on 
December 15, 2017. In his place, the annual general meeting 
elected Mr. Janis Zech as a new member of the Super visory 
Board of Delivery Hero AG on June 6, 2018. Mr. Janis Zech 
was appointed for the period up to the conclusion of the 
annual general meeting discharging Supervisory Board 
actions for the financial year 2019.

The positions of the members of the Supervisory Board of 
Delivery Hero AG and their committee memberships 
expired with the conversion of Delivery Hero AG into an 
SE on July 13, 2018. Of the members belonging to the 
Supervisory Board at that time, Mr. Georg Graf von Walder-
see (chair of the Audit Committee), Mr. Jeffrey Liebermann 
(deputy chair of the Supervisory Board and member of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees), Mr. Jonathan 
Green, and Mr. Janis Zech are no longer members of the 
Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero SE. 

Since its conversion on July 13, 2018, the Supervisory Board 
of Delivery Hero SE consists of Dr. Martin Enderle (chair of 
the Supervisory Board), Mr. Patrick Kolek (deputy chair), 
and Ms. Hilary Gosher as shareholder representatives. The 
employee representatives on the Supervisory Board were 
Ms. Vera Stachowiak, Mr. Björn Ljungberg, and Mr. Semih 
Yalcin. Mr. Semih Yalcin left the Supervisory Board of 
Delivery Hero SE effective April 1, 2019. As a substitute 
member for Mr. Semih Yalcin, Mr. Christian Graf von Hard-
enberg joined the Supervisory Board as employee repre-
sentative on April 1, 2019. The Supervisory Board membersʼ 
term of office will end according to schedule at the con-
clusion of the regular annual general meeting that resolves 
on the discharge for the financial year 2019.
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Due to the Companyʼs conversion of its form, the Super-
visory Board of Delivery Hero SE also reconstituted its 
committees:

Audit Committee:
Patrick Kolek (chair), Dr. Martin Enderle,  
Björn Ljungberg

Remuneration Committee:
Dr. Martin Enderle (chair), Patrick Kolek,  
Vera Stachowiak

Nomination Committee:
Dr. Martin Enderle (chair), Patrick Kolek, Hilary Gosher

Strategy Committee:
Hilary Gosher (chair), Patrick Kolek, Dr. Martin Enderle

I would like to extend my special thanks to all members 
who have left the Supervisory Board after overseeing and 
supporting the Companyʼs public listing and the first finan-
cial year following that. Thanks to their high level of per-
sonal engagement, they have left a lasting mark on the 
Company.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Manage-
ment Board and all the Companyʼs employees around the 
world for their outstanding achievement in the financial 
year 2018, which was a year characterized by many import-
ant milestones and strong growth. This would not have 
been possible without the commitment and positive 
attitude of all our employees.

Berlin, April 23, 2019

For the Supervisory Board

Dr. Martin Enderle
Chair of the Supervisory Board of
Delivery Hero SE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT,  
GROUP GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
(SECTIONS 289F, 315D HGB, SECTION 3.10 GCGC) 

From the point of view of Delivery Hero SE (also referred 
to as “the Company”), good corporate governance is an 
essential prerequisite for, and a reflection of, responsible 
leadership. As a multinational Company, Delivery Hero SE 
attaches paramount importance to governance geared 
toward its long-term success, as well as sustainable value 
creation and corporate control. The Management Board 
and the Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero SE are com-
mitted to the principles of strong and responsible corpo-
rate governance and aim to meet the highest standards in 
this regard. In particular, the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board are guided by the recommendations of 
the German Corporate Governance Code (“GCGC”). In the 
following, the Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board submit the Corporate Governance Report together 
with the Statement on Corporate Governance and the 
Group Corporate Governance Statement in accordance with 
sections 289f, 315d HGB (German Commercial Code) on 
account of the closely related content.

The Corporate Governance Statement, the Group Gover-
nance Statement and the Corporate Governance Report 
may be retrieved from the Companyʼs Internet page at 
https://ir.deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/
English/4100/corporate-governance-report.html.

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE PURSUANT  
TO SECTION 161 AKTG
 
The Declaration of Compliance will be made permanently 
available on the Companyʼs Internet page at https://ir.
deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/English/4500/
declaration-of-compliance.html.

Declaration of Compliance 2018

Declaration by the Management Board and the  
Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero SE regarding the 
recommendations of the “Government Commission 
German Corporate Governance Code” pursuant to  
section 161 AktG

Management Board and Supervisory Board declare:

Delivery Hero SE has complied since the publication of the 
last declaration of compliance in December 2017 with the 
recommendations of the “Government Commission Ger-
man Corporate Governance Codex” in the version dated 
February 7, 2017 published by the Federal Gazette on 
April 24, 2017 (the “Code”), and will continue to comply in 
the future subject to the following deviations:

 —  Pursuant to section 3.8 para. 3 of the Code, the D&O 
insurance covering the members of a supervisory board 
shall provide for a deductible in the amount of 10% of 
the loss up to at least the amount of one and a half 
times the fixed annual remuneration of the respective 
member of the supervisory board. Delivery Hero SEʼs 
current D&O insurance for the members of the Super-
visory Board does not include a deductible. The Man-
agement Board and the Supervisory Board are of the 

opinion that a deductible for the members of the 
Supervisory Board does not have any influence on the 
awareness of responsibility and loyalty of the members 
of the Supervisory Board with regard to their tasks and 
functions. Moreover, it would reduce Delivery Hero SEʼs 
possibilities to compete for competent and qualified 
members of the Supervisory Board.

 —  Pursuant to section 4.2.3 para. 2 sentence 6 of the 
Code, the amount of remuneration for a member of a 
management board shall be capped with maximum 
levels, both as regards variable components and in the 
aggregate. The Long-Term Incentive Plan which has 
been adopted by the Supervisory Board as part of the 
future compensation system for the Management 
Board consists of a Stock Option Plan as well as of a 
Restricted Stock Plan. Both under the Stock Option Plan 
and the Restricted Stock Plan, the number of shares to 
be allocated to the Management Board members is 
capped. However, both plans do not provide for a cap 
on the achievable amount upon the exercise of the 
stock options (regarding the Stock Option Plan) and 
on the value of the stocks to be transferred to the 
beneficiary after the expiry of the blocking period 
(regarding the Restricted Stock Plan). In the opinion of 
the Supervisory Board, such caps would not be appro-
priate, as they would contradict the alignment of the 
interests of the Management Board members with 
those of the shareholders. The purpose of both instru-
ments under the Long-Term Incentive Plan is to ensure 
an adequate and balanced participation of the Man-
agement Board members in the economic risks and 
chances of Delivery Hero SE. In the opinion of the 
Supervisory Board, a cap on the value of stocks would 
not be in line with such participation. As no cap on the 

22

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

https://ir.deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/English/4100/corporate-governance-report.html
https://ir.deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/English/4100/corporate-governance-report.html
https://ir.deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/English/4500/declaration-of-compliance.html
https://ir.deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/English/4500/declaration-of-compliance.html
https://ir.deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/English/4500/declaration-of-compliance.html


 —  Pursuant to section 7.1.2 sentence 3 (variant 1 and vari-
ant 2) of the Code, the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group management report shall be 
made publicly accessible within 90 days from the end 
of the financial year, while mandatory interim financial 
information shall be made publicly accessible within 
45 days from the end of the reporting period. In order 
to ensure a high quality of the financial reporting, the 
recommended publication periods may not be com-
plied with. As a consequence, Delivery Hero SE hereby 
declares a deviation from the respective recommen-
dation. However, Delivery Hero SE is constantly seeking 
to improve its reporting system to comply with this 
recommendation of the Code in the future

Berlin, in December 2018

Delivery Hero SE 

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Martin Enderle

 
The Management Board

Niklas Östberg  Emmanuel Thomassin

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND RELEVANT 
 DISCLOSURES PERTAINING TO CORPORATE 
 GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Corporate governance – standards of good  
and responsible corporate governance
Good corporate governance according to the “reputable 
businessman” model serves to increase on a lasting basis 
a Companyʼs value as a going concern, and it fosters trust 
in our Companyʼs management and supervision among 
national and international investors, the financial markets, 
business partners, employees, and the public. Accordingly, 
the Companyʼs Management Board, Supervisory Board, 
and management ensure that our corporate governance 
policies are actively embraced in practice and continually 
refined in all areas of the Company.

Corporate governance at Delivery Hero SE is determined 
in particular by the applicable laws, the recommendations 
of the GCGC, and internal Rules of Procedures and guide-
lines. 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board attach 
great value to cultivating an open corporate and manage-
ment culture. Positive interpersonal relations within the 
Company are of paramount importance for the Companyʼs 
economic success and the satisfaction of its customers, 
employees, partners, and shareholders. A detailed descrip-
tion of our corporate social responsibility is to be found 
in the combined separate nonfinancial report. 

achievable amount of the variable components of the 
compensation exists, also no cap on the remuneration 
in the aggregate is in place. Therefore, Delivery Hero SE 
declares a deviation from sec. 4.2.3 para. 2 sentence 6 
of the Code.

 —  Pursuant to section 5.1.2 sentence 4 of the Code, the 
Supervisory Board together with the management 
board shall ensure a long-term succession planning. 
As the members of the Management Board have only 
recently been appointed, it is declared that the Super-
visory Board has not yet developed any succession 
guidelines with regard to the members of the Manage-
ment Board. However, the Supervisory Board will, 
together with the Management Board, develop a long-
term succession planning in the near future, in order 
to ensure a sustainable corporate development. 

 —  Pursuant to section 5.4.6 para. 1 sentence 2 (variant 3) 
of the Code, the positon of the Chair in the committees 
of Delivery Hero SE shall be taken into consideration 
when determining the remuneration. The Supervisory 
Board of Delivery Hero SE has established an Audit 
Committee, a Remuneration Committee, a Nomination 
Committee and a Strategy Committee. The Strategy 
Committee was established at a time when the remu-
neration for the Chair of the Audit Committee, the 
Compensation Committee and the Nomination Com-
mittee of Delivery Hero SE had already finally been set 
out in the Articles of Association. For this reason, it is 
declared that the remuneration for the chair of the 
Strategy Committee is currently not taken into account. 
Delivery Hero SE seeks to adjust the compensation for 
the Chair of the Strategy Committee in the near future.
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Internal control system
To ensure the reliability of its bookkeeping and accounting, 
Delivery Hero SE has set up an accounting-related internal 
control system. The internal control systemʼs effectiveness 
is monitored by the Internal Audit department, the Audit 
Committee, and the Supervisory Board. The internal con-
trol system is constantly adapted to the requirements of 
the rapidly growing Delivery Hero Group.

The internal control system includes the necessary orga-
nizational measures and controls within the Company and 
ensures compliance with internal guidelines, protection 
of Company assets, and achievement of corporate goals. 
Furthermore, the internal control system also allows the 
Company to counteract the risks arising from business 
activities, monitor these risks on a permanent basis, and 
manage them appropriately. 

Risk management system
The key objectives of Delivery Hero SEʼs Risk Management 
System (“RMS”) are to manage and streamline the Group-
wide risk management process, to control all risk manage-
ment related activities and to ensure a comprehensive view 
on all significant risks of the Group. The RMS is closely 
aligned with the determination of the Groupʼs strategy and 
its business objectives, including safeguarding of the 
Groupʼs assets and the value chain. The “Governance, Risk 
and Compliance” department reports directly to the Man-
agement Board, the Audit Committee, and the Superviso-
ry Board in regard to significant risks. Further information 
on our Group-wide risk management system can be found 
in section C of the combined management report.

Internal auditing system
The central task of the Internal Audit department of 
Delivery Hero SE is to assist the Management Board and 
Supervisory Board in achieving the goals of the organiza-
tion. As such, the Internal Audit department is responsible 
for independently and objectively evaluating the appro-
priateness and effectiveness of management and monitor-
ing processes and of the internal control and risk manage-
ment systems. Internal Audit serves to promote responsible 
corporate governance in accordance with the standards 
and code of ethics of the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) 
and the Deutsches Institut für Interne Revision (DIIR). The 
internal audit function is based on an annual risk-based 
audit plan.

The Internal Audit function provides the Audit Committee 
of the Supervisory Board with an audit report on a quar-
terly basis, and the Supervisory Board with an audit report 
on a half-yearly basis. These reports contain, inter alia, an 
account of the current status of the various audits under 
the annual audit plan, significant findings of completed 
audits, and any outstanding issues relating to the imple-
mentation of measures.

Compliance, compliance management, 
and the Code of Conduct of Delivery Hero SE
For Delivery Hero SE, compliance signifies the fostering of 
a sustainable corporate culture, of integrity and responsi-
bility, as well as the responsible management of risks.

Delivery Hero SE has developed a compliance management 
system that aims to prevent corruption, conflicts of inter-
est, and other violations of law committed within the 
Delivery Hero Group or by Delivery Hero SE, its employees, 
directors, or executives. The compliance management 
system comprises a system of measures intended to ensure 
that business is conducted at all times in full compliance 
with the law and with internal rules and principles. The 
compliance philosophy of Delivery Hero SE focuses on 
preventing, detecting, and reacting appropriately to every 
type of misconduct.

Within Delivery Hero SE, the “Governance, Risk and Com-
pliance” department is responsible for the early detection, 
management, and monitoring of risks. By means of its 
continual development of the compliance management 
system, the Compliance department ensures that risks are 
identified and managed throughout the Company accord-
ing to a specific method. 

Delivery Hero SE has developed a Code of Conduct to 
provide employees with guidance in their decision-making. 
It is a compilation of the principles, values, and rules of 
conduct of Delivery Hero SE. Every employee of the 
Delivery Hero Group is responsible for reporting violations, 
or potential violations, of law, the Code of Conduct, or 
internal guidelines. Delivery Hero SE offers employees and 
third partiesʼ various means of reporting compliance vio-
lations under its whistle-blower system. The Compliance 
department investigates the reported cases and, if neces-
sary, initiates appropriate measures to eliminate the 
reported compliance violations.
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The existing compliance management system is subject to 
continuous review and is under continuous development 
by the Management Board in cooperation with the relevant 
departments. The Management Board bears overall 
responsibility for the proper functioning of the compliance 
management system; the Supervisory Board and the Inter-
nal Audit department monitor the systemʼs effectiveness. 

For further explanations in relation to Compliance please 
refer to to the combined separate nonfinancial report.

DUTIES, COMPOSITION, AND WORKING METHODS  
OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND SUPERVISORY 
BOARD AND OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARDʼS 
COMMITTEES 
 
Dualistic management and control structure
The conversion of the Company from a German stock 
corporation into a European public Company (Societas 
Europaea, SE), which was completed in 2018, expresses 
Delivery Hero SEʼs self-image as an internationally oriented 
Company with European roots. As an SE with its registered 
office in Germany, the Company is subject to the European 
and German SE regulations as well as to the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG). Even after the conversion, which 
became effective with the entry in the commercial register 
on July 13, 2018, the management and control of the Com-
pany will still be carried out via a dual management sys-
tem. The Management Board and Supervisory Board work 
closely together for the good of the Company and are in 
regular contact with one another. The Management Board 
is the management body; it is responsible for the Compa-
nyʼs direction and business management. The Supervisory 

Board is the Companyʼs control and monitoring body, 
advising and overseeing the Management Board in its 
management of the Companyʼs business.

Duties, lines of authority, and composition  
of the Management Board
As the Management Board of Delivery Hero SE, Niklas 
Östberg (chair and CEO) and Emmanuel Thomassin (CFO) 
are personally responsible for managing the Companyʼs 
divisions assigned to them. The Management Board is 
duty-bound to act in the Companyʼs interest and obliged 
to increase on a lasting basis the Companyʼs value as a 
going concern. Mr. Östberg and Mr. Thomassin lead the 
Company in a spirit of partnership and, as members of the 
Management Board, are jointly responsible, in coordina-
tion with the Supervisory Board, for the corporate strate-
gy and its day-to-day implementation in accordance with 
applicable laws, the Articles of Association, and the rules 
of procedure. The management of all divisions is geared 
to the aims set out by means of Management Board reso-
lutions. Irrespective of the division of business responsi-
bilities, the members of the Management Board bear joint 
responsibility for the governance of the entire Company. 
They work together in a collegial manner and inform each 
other of significant measures and business transactions in 
their respective divisions. 

The rules of procedure laid down by the Supervisory Board 
govern the cooperation and responsibilities of the Man-
agement Board members. In particular, they contain reg-
ulations on the working methods of the Management 
Board members and on cooperation with the Supervisory 
Board. They also contain, inter alia, a catalog of matters 

requiring Supervisory Board approval, set out the major-
ities required for the passing of Management Board reso-
lutions, and outline the matters reserved for the entire 
Management Board. Management Board meetings are held 
on a regular basis, usually every two weeks. The Manage-
ment Board, especially the chair, maintains regular contact 
with the chair of the Supervisory Board. 

The Management Board discusses the current state of 
strategy implementation with the Supervisory Board at 
regular intervals. It informs the Supervisory Board regu-
larly, promptly, and comprehensively in regard to all 
questions of strategy, planning, business development, 
risk exposure, risk management, and compliance that are 
of relevance to the Company. 

When taking decisions, Management Board members may 
not pursue any personal interests. During their term of 
office, they are subject to a comprehensive non-compete 
clause and may not utilize business opportunities of the 
Delivery Hero Group for their own gain. Each member of 
the Management Board must immediately disclose any 
conflicts of interest to the Supervisory Board. All transac-
tions between Delivery Hero SE or Group companies, on 
the one hand, and Management Board members and 
related parties on the other must adhere to standard 
industry practices and require the permission of the Super-
visory Board. Management Board members may only 
pursue secondary employment, especially supervisory 
board positions outside the Delivery Hero Group, with the 
permission of the Supervisory Board. 
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The Supervisory Board is aware of the special importance 
of diversity in the Companyʼs management. It firmly 
believes that management and supervisory bodies with a 
diverse composition can open up new perspectives that, 
in turn, facilitate decision-making processes that help 
bring about a lasting improvement in performance. As 
regards the make-up of the Management Board, the Super-
visory Board attempts – even though professional and 
technical qualifications are always the deciding criterion – 
to take the international character and various core sectors 
of the business model of Delivery Hero SE into consider-
ation as appropriately as possible while at the same time 
honoring the principle of diversity, particularly in regard 
to professional experience and the know-how of the can-
didates. In this regard, the Supervisory Board also endeav-
ors to give appropriate consideration to women. Even 
though performance and qualifications are the paramount 
factors when selecting Management Board members, such 
members shall not be more than 65 years old when they 
are appointed.

Duties, lines of authority, and composition  
of the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board is responsible for regular advice 
and monitoring in respect of the Management Boardʼs 
governance of the Company. The Supervisory Board 
performs its functions in accordance with statutory 
legislation, the Articles of Association of the Company, 
and its own rules of procedure. It is involved in decisions 
of fundamental importance for the Company and works 
for the good of the Company and in a spirit of trust with 
the other governing bodies of the Company, especially the 
Management Board.

Because the members of the Management Board were 
appointed only in the last financial year (2018) – and each 
to a term that ends on April 30, 2022 – the Supervisory 
Board has not yet developed any guidelines for the succes-
sion of Management Board members. The Supervisory 
Board will, however, develop in the future, jointly with the 
Management Board, a long-term succession plan to ensure 
continuous development of the Company.

The Articles of Association of Delivery Hero SE provide that 
the Supervisory Board consists of six members. At the time 
of drafting this report, the Supervisory Board of 
Delivery Hero SE consists of six members, three of whom 
are employee representatives. Prior to the change of legal 
form to an SE, the Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero AG 
also consisted of six members but did not include any 
employee representatives. 

The members of the Supervisory Board in the 2018 financial 
year were1:

 — Dr. Martin Enderle (chair)
 — Patrick Kolek (member until July 13, 2018;  

Deputy chair since July 13, 2018)
 — Jeffrey Liebermann (member until July 13, 2018)
 — Georg Graf von Waldersee (member until July 13, 2018)
 — Jonathan Green (member until July 13, 2018)
 — Janis Zech (member from June 6, 2018,  

to July 13, 2018)
 — Björn Ljungberg (member since July 13, 2018)
 —  Semih Yalcin (member from July 13, 2018,  

to April 1, 2019)
 — Hilary Gosher (member since July 13, 2018)
 — Vera Stachowiak (member since July 13, 2018)
 — Christian Graf von Hardenberg  

(member since April 1, 2019)

The Supervisory Board has set rules of procedure for itself, 
which in particular regulate the working method and the 
division of tasks of the Supervisory Board and its commit-
tees. The chair of the Supervisory Board coordinates the 
work on the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board 
holds at least two meetings per calendar year, with further 
meetings convened as and when necessary. Meetings held, 
and resolutions passed, in writing, by telephone, or by 
means of electronic media are permissible. The Super visory 
Board passes its resolutions with a simple majority of 
members voting on the resolution; if there is a tie, the 
Chair shall have the casting vote. The Supervisory Board 
discusses the course of business, strategic planning, and 
significant investments on a regular basis. The Super visory 
Board also regularly reviews the efficiency of its activities. 
Please refer to the Supervisory Board report for more 
details of its activities in the 2018 financial year. 

In accordance with the recommendations of the GCGC, the 
Supervisory Board has set up four committees: an Audit 
Committee, a Remuneration Committee, a Nomination 
Committee, and a Strategy Committee. Each committee 
comprises three members. The chair of each committee 
reports, regularly and in detail, to the full Supervisory 
Board on the work done in their committee. 

The Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero SE has set targets 
for its own constitution, and it has determined for the body 
as a whole objectives of skills and expertise that seeks to 
ensure the following: 

1  The disclosures on the membership in the Supervisory Board and the Super-
visory Board committees also refer to the period prior to the legal form change 
from Delivery Hero AG to Delivery Hero SE coming into force on July 13, 2018.

26

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018



The members of the Supervisory Board should collectively 
possess the knowledge, abilities, and technical experience 
necessary for proper discharge of their duties – supervising 
and advising the Management Board. The individual mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board should possess the knowl-
edge, abilities, and professional qualifications and experi-
ence they need to properly and diligently fulfil the duties 
and responsibilities assigned to them. At least one member 
of the Supervisory Board must have expertise in the fields 
of accounting or auditing; the members of the Superviso-
ry Board must, as a whole, also be familiar with the sector 
in which Delivery Hero SE operates. All members of the 
Supervisory Board must have sufficient time at their dis-
posal in which to thoroughly discharge the duties of their 
office. No more than two former members of the Manage-
ment Board are permitted to serve as members of the 
Supervisory Board at the same time.

Each member of the Supervisory Board is obliged to act in 
the Companyʼs interest. They may neither pursue personal 
interests in their decisions nor exploit for their own ben-
efit business opportunities to which the Company is enti-
tled. No candidates for election to membership on the 
Supervisory Board are to be proposed to the annual gen-
eral meeting who are simultaneously serving in positions 
on bodies of, or performing advisory duties for, significant 
competitors, or who (potentially) are permanently or fre-
quently subject to a conflict of interest. A Supervisory 
Board member must disclose possible conflicts of interest 
to the Supervisory Board. Conflicts of interest that have 
occured are handled appropriately; the Supervisory Board 
provides information about them in its report to the annu-
al general meeting. Significant, and not merely temporary, 
conflicts of interest in the person of a Supervisory Board 
member are to result in termination of their tenure.

The Supervisory Board shall reflect a well-balanced mea-
sure of diversity, particularly in respect of the internation-
ality of its members, their experience and disparate pro-
fessional histories and backgrounds. The Supervisory 
Board has set a target for the quota of women on the 
Supervisory Board (for further details in this regard see 
page 29 below).

Bearing in mind the Delivery Hero Groupʼs international 
operations, at least three members of the Supervisory 
Board are to have entrepreneurial experience in the Com-
panyʼs core markets, specifically in Europe, South America, 
the Near East (MENA), and the Asia-Pacific region. The 
appropriate entrepreneurial experience may be acquired 
in particular through management duties in a globally-op-
erating Company or by working as an advisor.

At least three members of the Supervisory Board are to be 
independent as defined in section 5.4.2 sentence 2 GCGC. 
At present there is an age limit of 70 years and a term 
limit of 15 years for Supervisory Board members, from 
which there may be an exemption in certain justified cas-
es, since the most important factor for appointment to 
membership on the Supervisory Board is a candidate's 
professional and technical qualification.

The members of the Supervisory Board shall comply with 
the limit on the number of seats they are permitted to hold 
according to section 5.4.5 sentence 2 GCGC. Accordingly, 
a member of the Supervisory Board who belongs to the 
board of management of a listed Company shall not hold 
more than a total of three supervisory board seats in listed 
companies outside the Group, or in supervisory bodies of 
companies outside the Group that impose comparable 
requirements.

It is the conviction of the Supervisory Board that the com-
position described ensures independent and efficient 
advising and supervising of the Management Board. In 
regard to the current state of implementation for the 
composition of the Supervisory Board, the following 
should be noted: the concrete objectives specified by the 
Supervisory Board for its composition and the desired 
realization of the profile of skills and expertise were 
achieved in full in financial year 2018. The independent 
Supervisory Board members within the meaning of sec-
tion 5.4.2 GCGC are Dr. Martin Enderle, Patrick Kolek and 
Hilary Gosher, Vera Stachowiak, Björn Ljungberg, and 
Christian Graf von Hardenberg. The Supervisory Board 
verifies at regular intervals that the goals for the compo-
sition of the Supervisory Board and realization of the 
objectives and expertise continue to be achieved.

Proposals submitted by the Supervisory Board to the 
annual general meeting for the election of Supervisory 
Board members take these goals into account while aiming 
at the same time for continuous realization of the profile 
of skills and expertise for the body as a whole.

Composition and working methods of the  
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is, inter alia, responsible for prepar-
ing resolutions of the Supervisory Board relating to the 
audit and approval of the annual financial statements and 
to the approval of the consolidated financial statements, 
as well as for the Management Boardʼs draft proposal for 
the use of net retained profits and the Supervisory Boardʼs 
proposal to the annual general meeting for the selection 
of an auditor. In addition, the Audit Committee devotes 
particular attention to monitoring the accounting, the 
accounting process, the effectiveness of the internal control 
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system, the risk management system, the internal audit 
system, the final audit – particularly the selection and 
independence of the auditor and the additional services 
performed by the auditor – and compliance. The Audit 
Committee also reviews the audit reports and the auditorʼs 
findings and makes recommendations to the Supervisory 
Board in respect thereof.

The members of the Audit Committee in the 2018 financial 
year were:

 — Patrick Kolek, chair (member and chair since 
August 1, 2018)

 — Dr. Martin Enderle (member until July 13, 2018 and 
since August 1, 2018)

 — Björn Ljungberg (member since August 1, 2018)
 — Georg Graf von Waldersee (member and chair  

until July 13, 2018)

With the conversion into Delivery Hero SE, Georg Graf von 
Waldersee retired as chair of the Audit Committee and 
Patrick Kolek was elected as chair of the Audit Committee 
of Delivery Hero SE. The chair of the Audit Committee, 
Mr. Patrick Kolek possesses the expertise required accord-
ing to sections 100(5) and 107(4) AktG in the fields of 
accounting or auditing along with special knowledge and 
experience in the application of accounting standards and 
internal control procedures. The former chair of the Audit 
Committee, Mr. Georg Graf von Waldersee, also fulfilled 
these requirements. In addition, Mr. Patrick Kolek is inde-
pendent and not a former member of the Companyʼs 
Management Board. The former chair of the Audit Com-
mittee, Mr. Georg Graf von Waldersee, also fulfilled these 
requirements. The members of the Audit Committee are 
as a whole familiar with the sector in which Delivery Hero SE 
operates.

Composition and working methods of the  
Remuneration Committee
The system for remunerating the Management Board, as 
well as the amount and appropriateness of remuneration 
to be paid to the individual Management Board members, 
is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee. In this regard, 
the Remuneration Committee supports the activities of 
the full Supervisory Board and prepares appropriate res-
olutions for its plenary sessions.

The members of the Remuneration Committee in the 2018 
financial year were:

 — Dr. Martin Enderle, chair (member until July 13, 2018, 
and chair since August 1, 2018)

 — Patrick Kolek (member since August 1, 2018)
 — Vera Stachowiak (member since August 1, 2018)
 — Jeffrey Liebermann (member until July 13, 2018)

Composition and working methods of the  
Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is made up exclusively of 
representatives of the shareholders and gives the Super-
visory Board the names of suitable candidates for the 
Supervisory Board to propose to the general meeting for 
election to membership on the Supervisory Board. In doing 
so, it considers both the desired objectives and expertise 
for the body as a whole and the Supervisory Boardʼs con-
crete targets for its own composition.

The members of the Nomination Committee in the 2018 
financial year were:

 — Dr. Martin Enderle (member until July 13, 2018,  
and chair since August 1, 2018)

 — Patrick Kolek (member since August 1, 2018)
 — Hilary Gosher (member since August 1, 2018)
 — Jeffrey Liebermann (member until July 13, 2018)

Composition and working methods of the  
Strategy Committee
The Strategy Committee was newly established by the 
Supervisory Board following the change of legal form to 
Delivery Hero SE. It is composed exclusively of shareholder 
representatives and deals with strategic matters relating 
to Delivery Hero SE.

The members of the Strategy Committee in the 2018 
financial year were:

 — Hilary Gosher, chair (member and chair since  
August 1, 2018)

 — Dr. Martin Enderle (member since August 1, 2018)
 — Patrick Kolek (member since August 1, 2018)

Remuneration of the members of the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board and of the members of 
the committees
In regard to the remuneration paid to members of the 
Management Board and Supervisory Board and to mem-
bers of the committees, reference is made to the detailed 
compensation report, which is part of the combined 
management report. The compensation report also con-
tains concrete particulars of the Companyʼs existing share 
option program and similar securities-oriented incentive 
systems.
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TARGETS ON THE APPOINTMENT OF WOMEN IN 
 MANAGEMENT ROLES PURSUANT TO SECTION 76 (4) 
AND SECTION 111 (5) AKTG
According to section 76 (4) sentence 1 AktG, the Manage-
ment Board must set targets for the quota of women in 
the two management levels below the Management Board. 
According to section 111 (5) sentence 1 AktG, the Super-
visory Board must likewise set targets for the quota of 
women on the Supervisory Board and on the Management 
Board.

Delivery Hero SE attaches great importance to diversity 
throughout the Company and regards the participation 
of women at managerial levels as a key aspect of a diverse 
employment structure. That being so, the Management 
Board intends to continue pursuing a suitable policy of 
promoting women to continually increase the proportion 
of women in management positions. Following the con-
version to Delivery Hero SE, the Management Board of 
Delivery Hero SE has kept these targets of Delivery Hero AG 
in place. For the first level below the Management Board, 
the Management Board set target of 0% by June 26, 2022. 
This notwithstanding, the quota of women currently 
stands at 17%, meaning that the target has been exceeded. 
For the second level below the Management Board, the 
Management Board set target of 18% by June 26, 2022, 
which has also been exceeded reaching a quota of 23%. 

The Supervisory Board has set, following the conversion 
to Delivery Hero SE, a five-year target of 0% by July 30, 
2023, for the quota of women on the Management Board. 
The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that, for an 
appointment to membership on the Management Board 
of Delivery Hero SE, the best possible professional and 
technical qualifications are the paramount consideration, 
not sex. In this regard, the Supervisory Board pays due 
consideration to the fact that Delivery Hero SE has been 
led by the same Management Board members since its 
conversion from a GmbH to an AG and then to an SE, as 
well as during its IPO. This composition of the Manage-
ment Board has thus far proven successful. However, as a 
matter of course, this does not exclude an increase in the 
proportion of women at this level. In view of the fact that 
the Management Board is currently constituted exclusive-
ly of men, the target of 0% has been achieved.

Following the conversion to Delivery Hero SE, the Super-
visory Board has increased the target for the quota of 
women on the Supervisory Board from 0% to 30% for the 
five-year period up to July 30, 2023. Currently, two women 
sit on the Supervisory Board, which equates to a quota of 
33.3%. The Supervisory Board has therefore met its target. 

The Supervisory Board is aware, however, of the impor-
tance of diversity, and specifically of the special importance 
of the participation of women in management and super-
visory positions. Accordingly, the Supervisory Board aims 
to increase the quota of women in the composition of the 
Management Board and the Supervisory Board in the long 
term.

DIVERSITY PLAN
Diversity is firmly embedded in the corporate culture of 
Delivery Hero SE and Delivery Hero Group companies. All 
dimensions of diversity exist on an equal footing at 
Delivery Hero SE, be they, for example, age, sex, educa-
tional background or profession, origin or religion, or 
sexual orientation or identity. The employees of 
Delivery Hero SE come from more than 70 different coun-
tries and five continents. The Management and Supervi-
sory Boards of Delivery Hero SE also regard it as their duty 
to further increase – beyond setting targets for the quota 
of women on the Management Board and Supervisory 
Board and in management positions – the various aspects 
of diversity and to use them productively.

To date, the Company has not pursued a diversity concept 
of its own in respect of the composition of the Manage-
ment Board and Supervisory Board. However, the inner 
manifestation and further development of an open and 
integrative corporate culture occupies a position of major 
importance in the daily work of the Management Board 
and Supervisory Board. In this regard, the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board intend to work out a diver-
sity plan that addresses key aspects of diversity, defines 
specific targets for them, and contains provisions for the 
manner in which they are to be implemented and achieved.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE  
AND TRANSPARENCY

Shareholders and the general meeting
The shareholders exercise their co-management and con-
trol rights in the annual general meeting, where they also 
exercise their voting rights. The annual general meeting 
is chaired, in accordance with the Articles of Association, 
by the chair of the Supervisory Board or by another Super-
visory Board member designated by them. Each share 
confers one vote. On the basis of its statutory duties, the 
annual general meeting decides, inter alia, on the use of 
net retained profits, ratification of the acts of the Manage-
ment Board and Supervisory Board, the appointment of 
the auditor, the election of Supervisory Board members, 
and capital or structural measures.

Delivery Hero SE supports the shareholders as much as 
possible in the exercise of their rights in the annual gen-
eral meeting. All documents and information relating to 
the annual general meeting are regularly made available – 
in German and English – to any interested party on the 
Companyʼs website shortly after the annual general meet-
ing is convened.

Shareholders have the option of exercising their voting 
rights in the annual general meeting themselves or having 
it exercised by an authorized agent of their choice. The 
Management Board also takes care of appointing a repre-
sentative for the exercise of a shareholderʼs voting rights 
according to the shareholderʼs instructions (voting rights 
representatives appointed by the Company); this represen-
tative will be available during the general meeting.

D&O insurance
The Company has taken out consequential loss liability 
insurance (known as “D&O insurance”) for the members 
of the Management Board and Supervisory Board that 
covers personal liability risk in the event that Management 
Board or Supervisory Board members are held liable for 
financial losses in performing their services. For the Man-
agement Board, a deductible of 10% of the loss, up to 
one-and-a-half times the fixed annual remuneration, is 
stipulated in the D&O policy. No similar deductible has 
been stipulated for the Supervisory Board since the Man-
agement Board and Supervisory Board are of the opinion 
that a deductible has no effect on Supervisory Board 
membersʼ sense of responsibility or loyalty in regard to 
their duties and positions. Moreover, the Companyʼs abil-
ity to recruit competent and qualified Supervisory Board 
members would be limited by the stipulation of a deduct-
ible.

Transparent corporate governance and communication
Transparency is one of the essential components of good 
corporate governance. The shares of Delivery Hero SE are 
listed on the Prime Standard segment of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange. The Company is therefore subject to the 
most stringent transparency requirements according to 
statute and stock exchange law. Delivery Hero SE reports 
on the position and development of the Company and 
Delivery Hero Group in both German and English in order 
to inform institutional investors, private shareholders, 
financial analysts, business partners, employees and the 
interested general public simultaneously and on an equal 
footing. All key information, such as ad hoc and voting 
rights notifications, presentations from roadshows and 

conferences, all financial reports, and the financial calendar 
are published in German and English on the website. 
Alongside changes to the shareholder structure subject to 
disclosure obligations, Delivery Hero SE also publishes 
transactions in shares of the Company carried out by 
individuals in management roles at Delivery Hero SE, and 
related parties to such individuals, in accordance with 
Article 19 of the Market Abuse Regulation. As part of com-
prehensive investor relations work, Delivery Hero SE 
maintains a close and ongoing dialogue with current and 
potential shareholders. 

Accounting and auditing
The unaudited semi-annual financial report as of June 30, 
2018, and the consolidated financial statements as of 
December 31, 2018, were drawn up according to the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable 
in the EU. The consolidated financial statements contain 
in addition the disclosures that are required according to 
section 315a (1) HGB. The annual financial statements of 
Delivery Hero SE for financial year 2018 were drawn up 
according to the provisions of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) and the provisions of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act (AktG).

KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Berlin (“KPMG”) 
was chosen for financial year 2018 as auditor of the annu-
al financial statements and consolidated financial state-
ments. The undersigning auditors for the 2018 annual and 
consolidated financial statements of Delivery Hero SE are 
Björn Knorr and Alexander Heidgen.
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The semi-annual financial report and the quarterly bulle-
tins for the third quarter were initially discussed, before 
publication, by the Audit Committee with the Companyʼs 
CFO, Mr. Emmanuel Thomassin. Both the semi-annual 
financial report and the quarterly bulletins for the first and 
third quarters were discussed by the Management Board 
jointly with the Supervisory Board prior to their publica-
tion.

KPMG promptly reports any possible grounds for exclusion 
or reasons for bias that arise during the audit if they are 
not promptly eliminated. The auditor is also to report 
promptly on all findings and happenings of material impor-
tance for the duties of the Supervisory Board that come to 
the auditorʼs knowledge as the audit is being performed. 
It is likewise agreed that the auditor will inform the Super-
visory Board, or so note in the audit report, if, when 
auditing the financial statements, he ascertains facts that 
reveal inaccuracy in the statement of compliance issued 
by the Management Board and Supervisory Board pursuant 
to section 161 AktG. Prior to the audit, Delivery Hero SE 
will obtain a comprehensive declaration of independence 
on the part of the auditor in order to ensure that there are 
no business, financial, personal, or other relations that 
could cast doubt on the independence of the auditor.

Berlin, this April 23, 2019

On behalf of the Management Board:

Niklas Östberg
Chair of the  
Management Board, CEO 

On behalf of the Supervisory Board:

Dr. Martin Enderle
Chair of the Supervisory Board

Emmanuel Thomassin
Member of the  
Management Board, CFO
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TAKEOVER-RELATED DISCLOSURES AND 
 EXPLANATORY NOTES BY THE MANAGEMENT 
BOARD

This chapter contains the disclosures pursuant to sections 
289a (1), 315a (1) of the Commercial Code together with the 
explanatory report of the Management Board pursuant to 
section 176 (1) sentence 1 German Stock Corporation Act 
[Aktiengesetz – AktG] in conjunction with section 9 (1) lit. C 
(ii) SE Regulation.

COMPOSITION OF SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL
At the end of the reporting period, the Companyʼs sub-
scribed capital amounted to € 185,930,494.00, which 
was subdivided into 185,930,494 no-par value bearer 
shares. In February 2019, a further capital increase was 
implemented, so that at the time of the publication of 
this report, the Companyʼs subscribed capital amounts 
to € 187,504,222.00, which is subdivided into 187,504,222 
no-par value bearer shares.

There are no different share classes. The same rights and 
obligations are associated with all shares. Each share 
grants one vote and determines the shareholderʼs share in 
the profits. Shares held by the Company itself, which do 
not grant the Company any rights in accordance with 
section 71b AktG, are excluded from this. 

RESTRICTIONS THAT CONCERN VOTING RIGHTS  
OR THE TRANSFER OF SHARES

Restrictions on transfer
According to the understanding of the Management Board 
of the Company, the restrictions on transfer as stated by 
the law on obligations are as follows: 

 —  In the context of the Companyʼs IPO, a vesting period 
of twelve months from the first trading day has been 
agreed with the members of the Management Board 
and their associated companies regarding a total of 
approximately one million shares in the Company in a 
lock-up agreement dated June 5, 2017. The vesting 
period ended at the conclusion of June 30, 2018.

 — Lock-up agreements and corresponding supplementary 
agreements mean that a total of 2,326,797 shares are 
subject to a (extended) vesting period of a total of 270 
days from the first day of Company shares being traded 
on the stock exchange. The vesting period ended at 
the conclusion of March 27, 2018.

 — Overall 3,505,500 shares were held in escrow according 
to a shareholders agreement and several supplementary 
agreements. Depending on the respective trustor, the 
agreements contained vesting periods of twelve and 
twenty-four months. The twelve months vesting period 
ended at the conclusion of December 31, 2017 and the 
twenty-four months vesting period ended at the 
conclusion of December 31, 2018.

 — Overall 367,200 shares are held in escrow according to 
an investment agreement. The agreement contains 
vesting periods respectively for one third of the shares, 
which end at the conclusion of June 30, 2018, June 30, 
2019 and June 30, 2020.

Persons who perform management duties at Delivery  
Hero SE within the meaning of the European Market Abuse 
Regulation (MAR) must observe the closed periods (trading 
prohibitions) established by Article 19(11) MAR.

Restriction on voting rights 
According to the understanding of the Management Board 
of the Company, the restrictions on voting rights as stated 
by the law on obligations are as follows: 

 — Pursuant to sections 71b and 71d AktG, there are no 
voting rights with respect to approx. 78,230 shares in 
the Company.

 — In accordance with section 136 AktG, members of the 
Management Board are restricted in exercising their 
voting rights with respect to the 947,512 shares in the 
Company held by them, or which are held in trust on 
their behalf.

 — There is an agreement between the shareholders who 
had invested in the Company before the IPO to the 
effect that they may exercise their voting rights at the 
first General Meeting following the IPO at which the 
Supervisory Board will be newly elected in such a way 
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as to determine the composition and term of office of 
the Supervisory Board, provided that this General 
Meeting takes place before the end of 2019. Specifically, 
the period of office agreed by the shareholders will 
end when the Supervisory Board is discharged for the 
second complete financial year following the IPO.

 — Pursuant to a Shareholders Agreement, 3,505,500 
shares held in escrow are subject to the contractual 
obligation to uniformly use the voting rights of the 
shares, held for the respective shareholder in escrow.

There may be voting right restrictions that go beyond this 
arising from the Stock Corporation Act, such as section 136 
AktG or capital market law provisions, in particular sec-
tions 33 et seq. of the German Securities Trading Act 
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz – WpHG).

SHAREHOLDINGS EXCEEDING 10% OF VOTING RIGHTS
At the end of the 2018 financial year, the following direct 
and indirect holdings in Delivery Hero SE existed, which 
exceeded the threshold of 10% of the voting rights2 and 
which were notified to the Company by means of voting 
rights notifications in accordance with sections  33, 
34 WpHG (sections 32, 22 WpHG old version):

 — Naspers Limited with its registered seat in Cape Town, 
South Afr ica through MIH Food Holdings B.V. 
(attributed) and MIH DH Holdings B.V.

 
Further information on the amount of the holdings listed 
above can be found in the disclosures on voting right 
notifications in the notes to the Delivery Hero SE 2018 
annual financial statement as well as the “Voting Rights  

Notifications” item on the Companyʼs website at https://
ir.deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/English/6400/ 
voting-rights-notifications.html.

SHARES WITH SPECIAL RIGHTS CONFERRING  
POWERS OF CONTROL
There are no shares with special rights conferring powers 
of control.

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS AND PROVISIONS IN THE 
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION REGARDING NOMINATION 
AND DISMISSAL OF MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT 
BOARD, AND AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF 
ASSOCIATION
In accordance with section 7 (1) of the Articles of Associa-
tion, the Management Board consists of one or more 
individuals. The number of individuals is determined by 
the Supervisory Board. The Management Board of 
Delivery Hero SE currently consists of two individuals. In 
accordance with sections 9 (1), 39 (2), 46 SE Regulation, 
sections 84 and 85 AktG, and section 7 (3) (4) of the Articles 
of Association, the Supervisory Board appoints the mem-
bers of the Management Board for a maximum term of six 
years. Individuals may be reappointed. If multiple individ-
uals are appointed to the Management Board, the Super-
visory Board may designate a Chair as well as a Deputy 
Chair, pursuant to section 7 (2) of the Articles of Associa-
tion. If an essential member of the Management Board is 
absent, the court must, in urgent cases and at the request 
of an involved party, appoint another member; see section 
85 (1), s. 1 AktG. If there is cause to do so, the Supervisory 
Board may revoke the appointment of the member of the 
Management Board as well as the designation as Chair of 

the Management Board, see sections 9 (1), 39 (2) SE Regu-
lation and section 84 (3), ss. 1 and 2 AktG.

Amendments to the Articles of Association are made by 
resolution of the General Meeting in accordance with 
section 20 (2) of the Articles of Association, requiring, 
unless this conflicts with mandatory legal provisions, a 
majority of two-thirds of the valid votes cast or, if at least 
one-half of the share capital is represented, the simple 
majority of the valid votes cast. As far as the law requires 
a capital majority in addition to a majority of votes for 
resolutions of the General Meeting, a simple majority of 
the share capital represented at the time the resolution is 
passed shall be sufficient to the extent that this is legally 
permissible. In accordance with section 12 (5) of the Articles 
of Association, the Supervisory Board is authorized to 
make editorial changes to the Articles of Association by 
resolution.

POWERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD IN 
 PARTICULAR WITH RESPECT TO THE POSSIBILITY  
OF ISSUING OR BUYING BACK SHARES
The Management Board of the Company was originally 
authorized to increase the registered capital of the Compa-
ny until June 8, 2022 with the consent of the Supervisory 
Board once or repeatedly, by up to a total of € 882,300.00 
by the issuance of up to 882,300 new no-par value regis-
tered shares against contributions in cash (Authorized 
Capital/II). The Authorized Capital/II was cancelled by res-
olution of the Annual General Meeting on June 6, 2018 
(agenda item 6).

2  The information shown here takes into account the most recent notifications of 
voting rights received by the Company. These notifications of voting rights may 
take into account capital increases that have not already been carried out.
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The Management Board of the Company is authorized to 
increase the registered capital of the Company until June 8, 
2022, with the consent of the Supervisory Board once or 
repeatedly, by up to a total of € 8,158,550.00 by the issuance 
of up to 8,158,550 new no par value registered shares against 
contributions in cash (Authorized Capital/III). The subscrip-
tion rights of the shareholders are excluded. The Authorized 
Capital/III is to be used for any purposes (including, without 
limitation, in connection with acquisition transactions by 
the Company, the participation of further investors in the 
Company, share swap transactions, the issuance of addi-
tional shares under the so-called Loan and Escrow Agree-
ment entered on August 7, 2014, as amended from time to 
time, or any new loan agreements, etc.). To extent new 
shares are issued under the so-called Loan and Escrow 
Agreement entered into on August 7, 2014, as amended 
from time to time, or any new loan agreements, the new 
shares shall be issued at the lowest issue price. The Man-
agement Board of the Company is authorized to determine 
with the consent of the Supervisory Board the further scope 
of the shareholdersʼ rights pertaining to the shares to be 
newly issued and the further conditions of the issuance of 
the new shares. 

The Management Board of the Company is authorized to 
increase the registered capital of the Company until June 8, 
2022, with the consent of the Supervisory Board once or 
repeatedly, by up to a total of € 8,961,523.00 by the issuance 
of up to 8,961,523 new no par value registered shares against 
contributions in cash (Authorized Capital/IV). The subscrip-
tion rights of the shareholders are excluded. The Authorized 
Capital/IV serves the fulfilment of acquisition rights (option 
rights) which have been granted or promised by the Com-
pany to current or former employees and managing direc-
tors of the Company and its affiliated companies, members 

of the supervisory board of the Company and further 
beneficiaries who are or were acting for the Company or 
its affiliated companies, in order to replace the hitherto 
existing virtual share program of the Company with effect 
as of April 21, 2017; shares out of the Authorized Capital/IV 
may only be issued for this purpose. The Management Board 
is authorized to determine with the consent of the Super-
visory Board the further scope of the shareholdersʼ rights 
pertaining to the shares to be newly issued and the further 
conditions of the issuance of the new shares.

The Management Board of the Company is authorized to 
increase the registered capital of the Company until June 8, 
2022, with the consent of the Supervisory Board once or 
repeatedly, by up to a total of € 18,675,300.00 by the issu-
ance of up to 18,675,300 new no par value registered shares 
against contributions in cash (Authorized Capital/V). The 
subscription rights of the shareholders are excluded. The 
Authorized Capital/V serves the fulfilment of contractual 
claims, already agreed upon prior to January 1, 2017, of those 
shareholders who have subscribed for new shares in 
Delivery Hero GmbH (prior to the conversion into Delivery  
Hero AG) based on the resolution dated December 4 to 9, 
2016 for an increase of the nominal share capital; shares 
out of the Authorized Capital/V may only be issued for this 
purpose. For certain claims, the utilization of the Authorized 
Capital/V is limited to 3,505,500 new shares. The shares 
shall be issued at the lowest issue price. The Management 
Board is authorized to determine with the consent of the 
Supervisory Board the further scope of the shareholdersʼ 
rights pertaining to the shares to be newly issued and the 
further conditions of the issuance of the new shares.

The Management Board of the Company was originally 
authorized to increase the registered capital of the Com pany 
(formerly Delivery Hero AG) until June 8, 2022, with the 
consent of the Supervisory Board once or repeatedly, by up 
to a total of € 12,890,100.00 by the issuance of up to 
12,890,100 new no par value registered shares against 
contributions in cash (Authorized Capital/VI). The Autho-
rized Capital/VI was cancelled by resolution of the Annual 
General Meeting on June 6, 2018 (agenda item 6).

The Management Board was originally authorized to 
increase the share capital of the Company until June 8, 2022, 
with the consent of the Supervisory Board once or repeat-
edly, by up to a total of € 25,000,000.00 by the issuance of 
up to 25,000,000 new no par value registered shares 
against contributions in cash and/or non-cash contributions 
(Authorized Capital/VII). By resolution of the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting (formerly Delivery Hero AG), the Authorized 
Capital/VII was completely canceled on June 6, 2018 and 
increased by € 55,546,866.00 to € 55,546,866.00. The sub-
scription rights of the shareholders are only excluded in 
certain cases or can only be excluded by the Management 
Board with the consent of the Supervisory Board. The Man-
agement Board is authorized to determine any further 
details of the capital increase and its implementation, 
subject to the consent of the Supervisory Board; this also 
includes the determination of the profit participation of the 
new shares, which may, in deviation of section 60 (2) AktG, 
also participate in the profit of completed fiscal years. 
Shares which are issued to members of the Management 
Board and employees of the Company, as well as to mem-
bers of the corporate bodies and employees of affiliated 
companies of the Company within the meaning of sec-
tions 15 et seqq. AktG, shall have in each case a full profit 
participation for the fiscal year in which they are issued.

34

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018



On December 5, 2017, the Management Board (formerly 
Delivery Hero AG) resolved to use the Authorized Capital/
VII to increase the Companyʼs share capital by up to 
€ 10,500,000.00 from € 171,998,900.00 to € 182.498.900,00 
by the issuance of up to 10,500,000 new no-par value 
registered shares. The final number of new shares to be 
issued was set to 10,500,000 in accordance with the reso-
lution of the Management Board on December 6, 2017 
increase and the implementation of the capital increase 
were entered in the commercial register on December 6, 
2017. Following partial use, Authorized Capital/VII amount-
ing to € 14,500,000.00 remained.

On February 21, 2018, the Management Board (formerly 
Delivery Hero AG) resolved to use Authorized Capital/IV to 
increase the Companyʼs share capital by up to € 2,603,642.00 
from € 182,498,900.00 to a maximum of € 185,102,542.00 
by the issuance of up to 2,603,642 new no-par value regis-
tered shares against contributions of cash. 

The final number of new shares to be issued was set in 
accordance with the resolution of the Management Board 
(formerly Delivery Hero AG) on March 12, 2018:

a) 1,366,311 shares.

The capital increase and its implementation were entered 
in the commercial register on March 14, 2018. Following 
partial use, Authorized Capital/IV amounting to 
€ 9,551,889.00 remained.

b) 90,100 shares.

The capital increase and its implementation were entered 
in the commercial register on March 19, 2018. Following 
partial use, Authorized Capital/IV amounting to 
€ 9,461,789.00 remained.

On May 29, 2018, the Management Board (formerly Delivery  
Hero AG) resolved to use Authorized Capital/IV to increase 
the Companyʼs share capital by up to € 500,266.00 from 
€ 183,955,311.00 to a maximum of 184,455,577.00 by the 
issuance of up to 500,266 new no-par value registered 
shares against contributions of cash. The final number of 
new shares to be issued was set at 500,266 shares in accor-
dance with the resolution of the Management Board of 
May 30, 2018. The capital increase and its implementation 
were entered in the commercial register on May 31, 2018. 
The Authorized Capital/IV still amounts to € 8,961,523.00 
after partial utilization at the end of the reporting period. 

On August 1, 2018, the Management Board resolved to use 
the Authorized Capital/VII to increase the Companyʼs share 
capital by up to € 1,474,917.00 from € 184,455,577.00 to a 
maximum of € 185,930,494.00 by the issuance of up to 
1,474,917 new registered shares against in-kind contribu-
tions. The capital increase and the implementation were 
entered in the commercial register on August 8, 2018. The 
Authorized Capital/VII still amounts to € 54,071,949.00 after 
partial utilization at the end of the reporting period.

On February 20, 2019, the Management Board resolved to 
use the Authorized Capital/IV to increase the Companyʼs 
share capital by up to € 1,521,328.00 from € 185,930,494.00 

to a maximum of € 187,451,822.00 by the issuance of up to 
1,521,328 new registered shares against cash contribution. 
The capital increase and the implementation were entered 
in the commercial register on February 21, 2019. The Autho-
rized Capital/IV still amounts to € 7,440,195.00 after the 
capital increase.

On February 20, 2019, the Management Board resolved to 
use the Authorized Capital/IV to increase the Companyʼs 
share capital by up to € 52,400.00 from € 187,451,822.00 to 
a maximum of € 187,504,222.00 by the issuance of up to 
52,400 new registered shares against cash contribution. 
The capital increase and the implementation were entered 
in the commercial register on February 25, 2019. The Autho-
rized Capital/IV still amounts to € 7,387,795.00 after partial 
utilization at the time of the publication of this report.

The share capital of the Company is conditionally increased 
by up to € 61,219,560.00 by issuing up to 61,219,560 new 
no-par value registered shares of the Company with a frac-
tional amount of the registered share capital of € 1.00 per 
share (Conditional Capital 2017/I). The conditional capital 
increase serves the granting of shares on the exercise of 
conversion or option rights or the fulfilment of conversion 
or option obligations to the holders or creditors of convert-
ible bonds, warrant bonds, profit participation rights and/
or income bonds (or a combination of these instruments), 
issued on the basis of the authorizing resolution of the 
general meeting of June 13, 2017. The new shares participate 
in profits from the beginning of the fiscal year in which they 
are created and for all subsequent fiscal years. In deviation 
hereof, the Management Board can, insofar as legally per-
missible, and with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
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determine that the new shares participate in profits from 
the beginning of the fiscal year for which at the time of the 
exercise of the conversion or option rights, the fulfilment 
of the conversion or option obligations or the granting (of 
shares) instead of the amount due, still no resolution by the 
general meeting as to the appropriation of the balance 
sheet profit has been passed. The Management Board is 
authorized to determine the further details of the imple-
mentation of the conditional capital increase.

In accordance with authorization by the general meeting 
of June 13, 2017 (agenda item 4, lit. a)), the share capital of 
the Company is conditionally increased by € 3,485,000.00 
by issuing up to 3,485,000 new no-par value registered 
shares of the Company with a fractional amount of the 
registered share capital of € 1.00 per share (Conditional 
Capital 2017/II). The conditional capital 2017/II serves to 
secure subscription rights from Stock Options issued by the 
Company under the authorization of the general meeting 
(formerly Delivery Hero AG) of June 13, 2017, (agenda item 4, 
lit. a)) as part of the Stock Option Program 2017/II from the 
date of the registration of Conditional Capital 2017/II until 
June 30, 2020 to members of the Management Board of the 
Company, members of managing corporate bodies of affil-
iated companies as well as selected executives and employ-
ees of the Company or affiliated companies in Germany and 
abroad. The new shared will be entitled to dividends from 
the beginning of the fiscal year for which not yet a resolu-
tion of the General Meeting has been made on the appro-
priation of the balance sheet profit at the time the subscrip-

tion right is exercised. The Management Board of the 
Company or, to the extent members of the Management 
Board are affected, the Supervisory Board of the Company 
is authorized to determine the further details of the condi-
tional capital increase and its consummation.

The complete version of these authorizations is set out in 
the Companyʼs Articles of Association in the version of 
August 8, 2018. The current version of the Articles of Asso-
ciation of the Company is available in the sub-section 
“Articles of Association” on the Companyʼs website at 
https://ir.deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/ German/  
4400/satzung.html.

Subject to approval by the Supervisory Board and whilst 
upholding the principle of equality (section 53a, AktG), the 
Management Board is (or respectively – regarding the 
authorization to take their own shares as security – was), 
authorized, through June 12, 2022, to acquire shares to be 
held by the Company itself up to a total of 10% of the 
Company share capital existing at the time of the resolu-
tion or – if this value is smaller – of the share capital 
existing at the time that the authorization is exercised, 
or – subject to the time limit to June 30, 2017 – to take the 
same as security. Together with other shares held by the 
Company itself and which the Company has already 
acquired or taken as security and still owns, or which are 
attributed to it in accordance with section 71a et seq. AktG, 
the shares acquired under the above-mentioned authori-
zation and taken as security must not exceed 10% of the 

respective share capital in the Company at any time. This 
authorization may be exercised by the Company once or 
multiple times, fully or in partial amounts, for a single or 
multiple purposes, but also by group companies or third 
parties for the account of the Company or group compa-
nies. The authorization must not be exercised for the 
purpose of trading the Companyʼs own shares.

MATERIAL COMPANY AGREEMENTS THAT ARE  
SUBJECT TO THE CONDITION OF A CHANGE OF  
CONTROL RESULTING FROM A TAKEOVER BID  
AND SUBSEQUENT EFFECTS
The following material agreements of the Company exist 
which are subject to a change of control following a take-
over bid:

The Company is party to two substantial software license 
contracts, which are subject to a change of control clause. 
One of them contains an automatic termination of a service 
component and the other one a termination right. Further-
more, the Company is party to a lease contract, which 
contains a common consent requirement for the transfer 
of the lease agreement.
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COMPENSATION AGREEMENTS CONCLUDED BY THE 
COMPANY WITH MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT 
BOARD OR EMPLOYEES FOR THE EVENT OF A  
TAKEOVER BID
In the event of a change of control, members of the Man-
agement Board are entitled to resign from their position 
within three months of the date of the change of control, 
subject to a notice period of three months to the end of a 
calendar month. Resignation from the Management Board 
becoming effective results in termination of the respective 
Board memberʼs contract of employment. 

In the case of resignation from office following a change 
of control, Management Board member Mr. Emmanuel 
Thomassin is entitled to compensation in the amount of 
150% of the severance cap, which may not exceed the 
remaining term of the Service Agreement (CoC-Cap). In the 
case of resignation from office following a change of 
control, the incentive instruments held by Management 
Board members Mr. Niklas Östberg and Mr. Emmanuel 
Thomassin (such as convertible bonds and share options) 
become vested or are immediately allocated. In the case 
of Mr. Thomassin, the CoC-Cap is also applicable in this 
respect. The employment contracts for each of the Man-
agement Board members provide for payments in lieu of 
vacation in the event of resignation from office following 
a change of control. 

The employment contracts for members of the Manage-
ment Board do not provide for any other compensation in 
the event of the termination of the employment due to a 
change of control. There are no similar compensation 
agreements with other Company employees.

COMPENSATION REPORT PURSUANT TO 
§§ 289a(2), 315a(2) HGB
(This Compensation report pursuant to §§ 289a(2), 315a(2) 
HGB constitutes part of the combined Management Report 
2018)

The following compensation report complies with the 
accounting standards for capital market-oriented compa-
nies (German Commercial Code, German accounting 
standards, and International Financial Reporting Standards) 
along with the recommendations of the German Corporate 
Governance Code (Deutscher Corporate Governance 
Kodex) in the version of February 7, 2017 (hereinafter the 
“DCGK”). The basic features of the compensation system 
for Executive and Supervisory Board members are 
described, and information is provided on the remunera-
tion granted and paid out to the members of the Manage-
ment Board and the Supervisory Board of Delivery Hero SE 
during the 2018 financial year. In the financial year 2018, 
the new compensation system was used for the first time 
after revision and adjustments in connection with the 
initial public offering in 2017.

BASIC FEATURES AND OBJECTIVES OF THE 
 COMPENSATION SYSTEM FOR MEMBERS OF  
THE MANAGEMENT BOARD
The Supervisory Board adopts the system for compensat-
ing Management Board members as proposed by the 
Compensation Committee. The compensation system and 
the appropriateness of the total compensation, along with 
the individual compensation components, are regularly 
reviewed and adjusted as necessary. In particular, the 
provisions of § 87 AktG (Aktiengesetz, German Stock Cor-
poration Act) and the recommendations and suggestions 
made in section 4.2.2 and 4.2.3 of the DCGK are taken into 

account. In its review of the appropriateness of the com-
pensation level and system, the Supervisory Board of 
Delivery Hero SE was assisted by an independent external 
compensation expert.

The remuneration system for the members of the Manage-
ment Board was newly resolved by the Supervisory Board 
in June 2017 and changed over on January 1, 2018. The new 
compensation system applies equally to all members of 
the Management Board. It is aligned with the Companyʼs 
corporate strategy and is conducive to sustainable corpo-
rate development. Because of the marked degree to which 
the variable compensation is linked to shares under the 
new compensation system, a broad alignment with the 
interests of the investors is aimed for. The internal perfor-
mance target used in addition accords with the Companyʼs 
development and growth phase. Owing to the risk of total 
loss under the new stock option plan in the event of a 
stagnating or falling share price, an upper limit (cap) has 
been dispensed with to ensure a balanced opportunity/
risk profile for the Management Board and to bring its 
interests as much as possible into harmony with the inter-
ests of the shareholders.

The Supervisory Board will regularly review and adjust the 
compensation system whenever necessary to allow for the 
Companyʼs further development. 

THE STRUCTURE OF THE COMPENSATION SYSTEM
The current compensation system for Management Board 
members consists of two main components: the non-per-
formance-based base salary and a long-term perfor-
mance-based compensation component. This means that 
variable compensation is provided for on a multi-year basis 
as recommended by the DCGK.
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Target value  
in €

Fair value  
per option

/

=

Number of  
granted option

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Performance period 4 years 
(CAGR revenue growth)

Blocking period 4 years Exercise period 2 years

Strike price (average for 3 months before granting)

2018 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM (LTIP)

NON-PERFORMANCE-BASED COMPENSATION
Base salary
The base salary of the Management Board members is paid 
in twelve monthly instalments.

Fringe benefits
In addition to reimbursement of their travel costs and 
other business-related expenses, the Management Board 
members receive monthly contributions to their health 
and nursing care insurance as provided by law.

The Company also grants the Management Board members 
accident insurance with cover in the amount of € 350,000 
in the case of death and € 800,000 in the case of disabil-
ity. Additionally, the Company assumes the costs of a 
preventive medical examination every two years.

In addition, Mr. Östberg has been granted a personal 
budget amounting to € 25,000 annually, which he may 
use, subject to presentation of receipts, to cover the costs 
he incurs by regularly commuting between his place of 
residence and place of work.

PERFORMANCE-BASED COMPENSATION 
Share-based compensation
Until the time of the IPO, the performance-based compen-
sation consisted of a virtual share program (VSP). The 
Management Board members received virtual shares from 
the Companyʼs VSP. In connection with the IPO, all of the 
Companyʼs VSP were consolidated, and the outstanding 
virtual shares were converted into option rights. For that 
the Stock Option Program 2017 (SOP 2017) was launched. 
For the conversion into option rights and the grant of new 

option rights under the SOP 2017, the general meeting- 
authorised Share Capital IV was used.3

Under the SOP 2017 the beneficiaries receive share option 
rights that have an individual exercise price that depends 
on the date on which those rights are granted. The vesting 
period of the granted options is four years. In part, the 
granted stock options can be exercised after the first two 
years of the vesting period (“cliff”). All other options vest 
during the further two years of the vesting period. The 
latest point in time for exercising any options is two years 
after the end of the four-year vesting period (“exercise 
period”). Such exercise is possible only if the share price 
is higher than the exercise price at the time of exercise. In 
lieu of issuing new shares in the event that option rights 
are exercised, the Company reserves the right of making 
a cash payment to the beneficiaries, the Company regular-
ly aims at an equity settlement of the vested options. The 
beneficiary then receives for each option right a cash 
settlement amounting to the difference between the share 
price at the time of exercise and the exercise price. Only 
during the exercise periods specified by the Company is it 
possible to exercise the option rights. It was not possible 
to exercise them during the first year after the IPO.

3  Detailed information about SOP 2017 and as yet outstanding option rights are 
contained in the section H. 01. of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Since 2018 the performance-based compensation consists 
of a new Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) that is settled in 
shares. Contractually, a target value of stock options in 
Euro is granted annually. The commitment is binding for 
four years. To calculate the number of stock options (SOPs) 
granted in a financial year, the annual target value in Euro 
is divided by the fair value of an SOP at the grant date. The 
number of SOP thus calculated is blocked for a period for 
four years from the date on which they are granted. Sub-
sequently, an exercise period of two years is provided. The 
members of the Management Board do not receive any 
shares in the form of “Restricted Stock Units” (RSU), as is 
customary in the general LTIP.

The performance period, which begins one year before 
the grant date and runs for three more years from the grant 
date, amounts in total to four years. 

The exercisability of the SOP once the blocking period ends 
depends on the achievement of a revenue growth target. 
The performance target is derived from the Companyʼs 
corporate strategy. Exercise of the SOP is conditional on 
achievement of a compound annual revenue growth rate 
(CAGR) of at least 20%, i.e. an average revenue growth of 
20% annually, at the end of the performance period. 
Should this hurdle not be reached, all SOP expire without 
substitute or compensation.

There are two exercise windows in each year of the two-
year exercise period. The exercise price is equivalent to 
Delivery Heroʼs average share price over three months 
before the granting date. The share price at which the 
option rights may be exercised remains unlimited in order 
to support a strong alignment with the interests of the 
shareholders. Because of the settlement in shares, the lack 
of a limit on the share price imposes no additional risks or 

costs on the Company. Hence no maximum value is pro-
vided for the SOP. In the event of extraordinary events, 
however, the Supervisory Board can, in accordance with  
§ 87 (1) sent. 3 AktG, set a limit to ensure the appropriate-
ness of the compensation.

Special compensation
In the current year no one-time special payments were 
granted. In previous year Mr. Thomassin was granted a 
special bonus in the amount of € 200,000 to reward his 
extraordinary efforts in connection with the IPO process. 
This IPO bonus was being paid in two tranches: 25% were 
paid after the IPO in 2017 and 75% were paid in 2018. 

PENSION COMMITMENTS
No arrangement has been made with the Management 
Board Members for a Company pension.

PAYMENTS AT THE END OF EXECUTIVE  
BOARD SERVICE
In the event that an Management Board member dies 
before the term of his service contract ends, the spouse of 
the deceased is entitled to a grant of the unreduced remu-
neration for the month of death and the six months fol-
lowing it, but for no longer than until the end of the 
original term of the service contract.

If the service relationship ends early owing to dismissal or 
resignation from office, because the Companyʼs legal form 
is changed to that of a Societas Europaea, or as a result of 
a termination agreement, then the Management Board 
members are entitled to severance pay. This does not apply 
in the event that, in accordance with § 626 BGB, the Com-
pany terminates the employment agreement for good 
cause for which the Management Board member is respon-
sible, respectively, in the event that the Management Board 

Member terminates the employment agreement without 
good cause (§ 626 BGB) for which the Company is respon-
sible. The severance pay may not exceed the value of two 
yearsʼ total compensation and may equate at a maximum 
to the compensation for the remaining term of contract 
(severance pay cap). The severance provision thus accords 
with the recommendation of the DCGK.

In the event of a change of control, the Management Board 
member has the right to resign from his office with three 
monthsʼ notice. His employment agreement also will end 
at that time. A change of control is present if:

 — the Company is de-listed;
 —  the Management Board memberʼs appointment is 

terminated by a change in the Companyʼs form or by a 
merger of the Company with another Company, unless 
an appointment as member of the Management Board 
of the new Company on equal economic terms as 
before is offered to the Management Board member;

 —  an inter-Company agreement according to §§ 291 et 
seqq. AktG is made with the Company as a dependent 
Company, or the Company is absorbed according to 
§§ 319 et seqq. AktG;

 —  a shareholder or third party directly or indirectly 
acquires at least 30% of the voting rights in the Com-
pany, including the voting rights that are attributable 
to the shareholder or third party according to § 30 
WpÜG (Wertpapiererwerbs- und Übernahmegesetz, 
German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act).
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In the event of a resignation from office or dismissal owing 
to a change of control, Mr. Thomassin is entitled to a 
remuneration in the amount of 150% of the severance cap, 
which may not under any circumstances remunerate more 
than the remaining term of the employment agreement. 
This provision is likewise devised in accordance with the 
relevant recommendation of the DCGK.

The Management Board membersʼ contracts provide a 
post-contractual non-competition clause for two years. 
For the duration of this prohibition, a waiting allowance 
is provided in the amount of 50% of the remuneration last 
received by the Management Board member concerned. 
Other remuneration earned during the term of the com-
petition ban is applied against the waiting allowance as 
far as the waiting allowance would exceed the remunera-
tion last received according to contract once the income 
from other sources is added to them.

LOANS AND ADVANCES
The Management Board members received no advances 
or loans in financial year 2018.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO THE REQUIREMENTS  
OF THE DCGK
The following tables follow the recommendations of the 
DCGK and show the individual Management Board mem-
bersʼ individualised compensation. The table “Granted 
Benefits” does not show the compensation that was actu-
ally paid but rather the target values (the value of the 
compensation at 100% target achievement) of the com-
pensation components that were granted in financial year 
2018. The value of the performance-based, share-based 
compensation components equates to the fair value at the 
time of their granting. Besides the target values, minimum 
and maximum compensation figures also are shown. The 
table “Payout” shows the compensation actually paid (and 
hence accruing) in financial year 2018. The values “Base 
salary” and “Fringe benefits” correspond to the values in 
the “Granted Benefits” table, as they are paid irrespective 
of whether the performance targets are achieved.
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GRANTED BENEFITS

K EUR

Niklas Östberg
CeO

emmaNuel thOmassiN
CFO

2017 2018 2018 (min) 2018 (max) 2017 2018 2018 (min) 2018 (max)

 
base salary 181.2 250.0 250.0 250.0 222.5 250.0 250.0 250.0

FriNge beNeFits 31.3 25.0 0.0 25.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

SUm 212.5 275.0 250.0 275.0 222.5 250.0 250.0 250.0

speCial bONus 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 210.0 0.0 0.0 n.a.

multi-year variable COmpeNsatiON 0.0 1,000.0 0.0 0.0 1,344.8 500.0 0.0 n.a.

vsp 2016 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 482.3 0.0 0.0 n.a.

sOp 2017 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 862.5 0.0 0.0 n.a.

ltip 2018 (4 year plaN term) 0.0 1,000.0 0.0 N.a. 0.0 500.0 0.0 n.a.

ToTal compenSaTion 212.5 1,275.0 250.0 275.0 1,777.3 750.0 250.0 n.a.

PAYOUT

K EUR

Niklas Östberg
CeO

emmaNuel thOmassiN
CFO

2017 2018 2017 2018

 
base salary 181.2 250.0 222.5 250.0

FriNge beNeFits 31.32 25.02 0.0 0.0

SUm 215.5 275.0 222.5 250.0

speCial bONus 0.0 0.0 60.01 150.01

multi-year variable COmpeNsatiON 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

vsp/sOp 2017 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

ltip 2018 (4 year plaN term) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

ToTal compenSaTion 212.5 275.0 282.5 400.0

1  Mr. ToMassin was granTed a special bonus of € 200,000 To reward his exTraordinary efforTs in The ipo process. The special bonus was paid in Two Tranches: 25% was paid in previous year,  
The reMaining 75% was paid in The currenT year. in addiTion, Mr. ThoMassin was granTed a one-TiMe special payMenT in The aMounT of € 10,000 in The firsT quarTer of 2017.

2 The personal budgeT of Mr. ÖsTberg is liMiTed To € 25,000. prior To May 2017, The personal budgeT of Mr. ÖsTberg was noT liMiTed To € 25,000.
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In the financial year, members of the Management Board 
became entitled to 4 annual tranches of LTIP with an annu-
al grant of € 1,500k, of which € 1,000k Niklas Östberg and 
€ 500k Emmanuel Thomassin each. Mr. Östberg was not 
granted any virtual shares or stock options in 2017. During 
the financial year and in previous year no previously grant-
ed compensation components were exercised. There are 
still outstanding options, which have been granted in pre-
vious years but have not yet been exercised and may be 
exercised during the financial year 2019 or the following 
years. Mr. Thomassin holds options, which have not yet been 
exercised, as well.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO THE GERMAN  
GAAP (“HGB”)
According to the applicable international accounting stan-
dards, compensation for the Management Board members 
in financial year 2018 came to € 2.2 million (previous year: 
€ 1.8 million), of which non-performance-based compo-
nents account for € 0.5 million (previous year: € 0.4 million) 
and performance-based components account for 
€ 1.7 million (previous year: € 1.4 million).

The individualised total compensation received by the 
Management Board members, broken down by non-per-
formance-based and performance-based compensation 
components, can be seen in the following tables. For the 
IPO bonus that was actually granted in previous year the 
amount paid is shown in the corresponding year, while for 
the multi-year components the fair value at the time of 
their granting is shown.

2018 
 

K EUR
NON-perFOrmaNCe-based 

 COmpONeNts
perFOrmaNCe-based  

COmpONeNts

ToTal
base  

salary
FriNge  

beNeFits
speCial  
bONus

ltip

aCtiNg bOard members
allOCatiON 

value1

Number  
OF shares/ 

OptiONs2

Fair  
value3 

 
Niklas Östberg 250.0 25.0 0.0 1,000.0 103,156 1,000.0 1,275.0

emmaNuel thOmassiN 250.0 0.0 150.0 500.0 51,578 500.0 900.0

ToTal 500.0 25.0 150.0 1,500.0 154,734 1,500.0 2,175.0

1  in 2018, sTock opTions worTh € 1,500k were granTed (of which € 1,000k each year is To niklas ÖsTberg and € 500k each year To eMManuel ThoMassin)
2 nuMber of opTions granTed, subjecT To The achieveMenT of The perforMance TargeT. inforMaTion relaTes To The coMMiTMenT for 2018. 
3  fair value aT The granT daTe (daTe of The legally binding coMMiTMenT). 

inforMaTion on The valuaTion Model can be found in The noTes To The consolidaTed financial sTaTeMenTs.

2017 

K EUR
NON-perFOrmaNCe-based 

 COmpONeNts
perFOrmaNCe-based  

COmpONeNts

ToTal
base  

salary
FriNge  

beNeFits
speCial  
bONus

vsp/sOp1

aCtiNg bOard members
allOCatiON 

value1

Number  
OF shares/ 

OptiONs2

Fair  
value3 

 
Niklas Östberg 181.2 31.34 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 212.2

emmaNuel thOmassiN 222.5 0.0 60.0 1,344.8 120,000 1,344.8 1,627.3

ToTal 403.7 31.3 60.0 1,344.8 120,000 1,344.8 1,839.8

1  in 2016, The MeMbers of The ManageMenT board received virTual shares under The virTual share prograM (vsp).  
in 2017, under The sTock opTion prograM (sop 2017), The ouTsTanding shares were converTed inTo opTion righTs and new opTions were granTed.

2 nuMber of opTions granTed, subjecT To The achieveMenT of The perforMance TargeT.
3  fair value aT The granT daTe (daTe of The legally binding coMMiTMenT).  

inforMaTion on The valuaTion Model can be found in The noTes To The consolidaTed financial sTaTeMenTs.
4 prior To May 2017, The personal budgeT of Mr. ÖsTberg was noT liMiTed To € 25,000.
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The expense from share-based compensation expenses  
recognized in 2018 amounted to € 1.2 million (previous 
year: € 7.0 million) for Mr. Östberg and € 0.6 million (pre-
vious year: € 2.2 million) for Mr. Thomassin.

In the financial year, a total of 103,156 new stock options in 
the amount of € 1.0 million was granted under the LTIP to 
Mr. Östberg. Mr. Thomassin was granted a total of 51,578 
new stock options in the amount of € 0.5 million in 2018. 
The issue date was May 15, 2018, so that the option rights 
can be exercised in financial year 2022 at the earliest. In 
the previous year, Mr. Thomassin were granted in total, 
120,000 new stock option rights with a value of € 1.3 million. 
The issue date was March 1, 2017 (60,000) and May 1, 2017 
(60,000), so that the option rights can be exercised in 
financial year 2019 at the earliest. The option rights grant-
ed to the Management Board members and outstanding 
are shown below:

STock opTionS Sop 2017
Niklas Östberg emmaNuel thOmassiN

Weighted average 
exerCise priCe iN eur 

Number OF  
OptiONs 

Weighted average 
exerCise priCe iN eur 

Number OF  
OptiONs 

oUTSTanding STock opTionS 
aS of Jan. 1 2017  5.71  846,600  9.44  270,000

graNted iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. –  16.67  120,000 

FOrFeited iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

exerCised iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

expired iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

oUTSTanding STock opTionS  
aS of Jan. 1 2018  5.71  846,600  11.67  390,000 

graNted iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

FOrFeited iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

exerCised iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

expired iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

oUTSTanding STock opTionS 
aS of dec. 31 2018 5.71 846,600 11.67 390,000

exerCisable ON deC. 31 2018 n.a. – n.a. –

STock opTionS lTip 
Niklas Östberg emmaNuel thOmassiN

Weighted average 
exerCise priCe  

iN eur 

Number OF  
OptiONs  

Weighted average 
exerCise priCe  

iN eur 

Number OF  
OptiONs  

oUTSTanding STock opTionS 
aS of Jan. 1  n.a.  –  n.a. –

graNted iN the repOrtiNg periOd 38.30 103,156  38.30  51,578

FOrFeited iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

exerCised iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

expired iN the repOrtiNg periOd n.a. – n.a. –

oUTSTanding STock opTionS  
aS of dec. 31  38.30  103,156  38.30  51,578 

exerCisable ON deC. 31 2017 n.a. – n.a. –

43

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018



FORMER MANAGEMENT BOARD MEMBERSʼ  
EMOLUMENTS
As of the balance sheet date, Delivery Hero SE has no 
pension recipients or other beneficiaries among its former 
Executive Board members or Management Board mem-
bers. Total remuneration for former Management Board 
members and their survivors, along with pension liabilities 
to former Management Board members and their sur-
vivors, therefore amount to € 0.

OTHER PROVISIONS
In the event of a temporary incapacity to work occurring 
because of illness, an accident, or other reason for which 
the Management Board member is not at fault, Manage-
ment Board members continue to receive their unreduced 
remuneration for six months, but no longer than until the 
term of their employment agreements ends. Mr. Thomas-
sin is to receive for another six months, no longer than 
until the term of his employment agreement ends, a pay-
ment in the amount of 80% of his remuneration.

Both Management Board members are subjects to the 
Companyʼs directorsʼ and officersʼ liability insurance with 
an insured sum within the usual market range. The insur-
ance provides a deductible in the minimum amount of 10% 
of the claim up to a maximum of 150% of the fixed annual 
salary, as prescribed by the German Stock Corporation Act.

Payments at the end of Management Board service
In the event that service on the Management Board is 
terminated early before the applicable performance period 
of a current SOP tranche ends, the SOP expires without 
substitute or compensation in the following cases:

 — Revocation of the appointment for good cause
 — Revocation of the appointment without good cause in 

the first year of the first contractual four-year commitment
 —  The Management Board memberʼs resignation from 

office in the first two years of any contractual commit-
ment

Otherwise the Management Board members are entitled 
to the already non-forfeitable SOP at the normal end of 
the blocking period.

COMPENSATION OF MEMBERS OF THE  
SUPERVISORY BOARD OF DELIVERY HERO SE
The compensation received by the members of the Super-
visory Board is specified in § 15 of the Articles of Associa-
tion of Delivery Hero SE. The chairman of the Supervisory 
Board receives an annual fixed salary in the amount of 
€ 75,000, while the deputy chairman receives a fixed  salary 
in the amount of € 20,000. The chairman of the Audit 
Committee receives a fixed annual salary of € 30,000. The 
other members of the Supervisory Board receive a fixed 
annual salary of € 15,000. The Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee and the Chairman of the Compensation Com-
mittee additionally receive a fixed annual remuneration of 
€ 5,000. 

In addition, all out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the 
performance of the duties as Supervisory Board member 
as well as the value added tax on the Supervisory Board 
compensation are reimbursed.

For service in a committee of the Supervisory Board an 
annual salary of € 2,000 is granted in addition. The chair-
man of the Audit Committee receives no additional com-
mittee salary.
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The individual values for the financial year are shown in 
the following table.

Fixed salary COmmittee COmpeNsatiON tOtal COmpeNsatiON

EUR 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

 
martiN  eNderle 75,000.00 26,821.92 9,057.53 2,739.73 84,057.53 29,561.64

geOrg graF vON Waldersee (uNtil 13.07.2018) – 3,821.92 15,945.21 10,126.03 15,945.21 13,947.95

patriCk kOlek 17,342.47 – 15,090.41 – 24,117.81 –

JeFF liebermaNN (uNtil 13.07.2018) 10,630.14 11,369.86 2,126.03 1,808.22 12,756.16 13,178.08

JONathaN greeN (uNtil 13.07.2018) 7,972.60 8,876.71 – – 7,972.60 8,876.71

lukasz  gadOWski (uNtil 15.12.2017) – 8,219.18 – – – 8,219.18

kOlJa  hebeNstreit (uNtil 03.06.2017) – – – – – –

JaNis zeCh (FrOm 06.06.2018 uNtil 13.07.2018) 1,561.64 – – – 1,561.64 –

vera staChOWiak (FrOm 13.07.2018) 7,068.49 – 838.36 – 7,906.85 –

hilary gOsher (FrOm 13.07.2018) 7,068.49 – 1,676.71 – 8,745.21 –

semih yalCiN (FrOm 13.07.2018) – 7,068.49 – 7,068.49 –

bJÖrN lJuNgberg (FrOm 13.07.2018) 7,068.49 – 838.36 – 7,906.85 –

ToTal 133,712.33 59,109.59 52,641.10 14,673.98 178,038.36 73,783.57

 
The Supervisory Board member Jonathan Green has waived 
his compensation. In the financial year of 2018, a total of 
€ 28,053 has been reimbursed for expenses.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, RESPONSIBILITY  
AND  SUSTAINABILITY

Letter from the CEO

Dear shareholders, dear colleagues, dear readers,

Besides delivering great customer experiences and fast 
growth, it is extremely important to me that we take our 
corporate responsibility seriously – that includes social as 
well as environmental and governance questions. To give 
the topic enough importance, we have included in our 
ambitious goals for the end of 2019 to build a great cor-
porate responsibility and sustainability program. 

In 2018 our main focus was on identifying key issues and 
setting out a framework for our corporate responsibility 
and sustainability. For 2018/19 that strategy is set along 
the following pillars: 

 —  Giving Back: To local communities through food dona-
tion and volunteering programs

 —  The Environment: Understanding and improving our 
greenhouse gas footprint and finding ways to package 
delivered food more sustainably

 —  Diversity and Inclusion: Creating a diverse and inclu-
sive workplace with equal opportunities for everyone

Our brands around the world contribute to this strategy 
in many different ways and I’m proud of the progress our 
team has already made. At the same time, I am also certain 
that a lot remains to be done and we continue to build our 
capabilities in those areas. I truly believe that for a com-
pany to be successful in the long-term it has to lead not 
only in commercial success but also in taking responsibil-
ity for the many other challenges the world faces today. 

Please find in the following section an overview of where 
we stand today on some of these topics and what we plan 
for the future. I look forward to continuously improving 
in all of these areas and providing ever more transparency 
on these issues to our various stakeholders. 

Yours, 
Niklas 

46

NON FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE GROUP 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018

NON­
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT 
FOR THE 
GROUP



SUSTAINABILITY AT DELIVERY HERO
Sustainable thinking and action based on fixed values and 
principles – these are essential foundations of Delivery  
Hero’s success. The Company assumes responsibility 
towards society as a whole and follows the principle of 
sustainable development. In this way, we contribute to 
creating stable economic, social and ecological conditions 
for present and future generations.

In 2018, we will report for the first time in reference with 
the GRI standards of the Global Reporting Initiative. We 
intend to expand this reporting in the future and, thus, 
meet the requirements for transparent sustainability 
reporting. Our Investor Relations and PR departments can 
help with any questions you may have about our report. 
For the first time, we have created a GRI Content Index, 
which can be found on page 161 et seq.

Furthermore, this nonfinancial statement for the Group 
(NFS) of the Delivery Hero Group (hereinafter referred to 
as Delivery Hero) has been prepared in accordance with 
the information required under Sections 315 b, c and 289b 
to e of the German Commercial Code (HGB) with regard to 
material, environmental, employee, social, and human 
rights, and the fight against corruption and bribery. 

Within the individual aspects, the underlying concepts and 
due diligence processes are discussed and existing results 
are reported. In accordance with Section 315b (1) sentence 3 
HGB, reference is also made to nonfinancial information 
in the Combined Management Report on individual 
aspects. In addition, the NFS reports significant risks in 
accordance with Section 289c (3) No. 3 and 4 HGB if the 
information is necessary for an understanding of the 
course of business, the business result, the position of the 
Group, and its effects on nonfinancial matters.

Delivery Hero has not yet defined any nonfinancial perfor-
mance indicators relevant to management in accordance 
with Section 289c (3) No. 5 HGB. Furthermore, there is no 
direct connection between the amounts reported in the 
Annual Financial Statements pursuant to Section 289c (3) 
No. 6 HGB and nonfinancial concerns.

Business Model
Information on Delivery Hero's business model can be 
found in the Group Management Report 2018 on page 57.

Risk Management
In order to ensure sustainable business success, it is crucial 
that Delivery Hero recognizes significant risks and oppor-
tunities that can influence the business at an early stage. 
For this reason, Delivery Hero has established a risk man-
agement system that is designed to manage future chal-
lenges. The risk management function is performed by the 
Governance, Risk & Compliance (GRC) department.

Delivery Hero generally assesses risks from a net perspec-
tive after taking risk-mitigating measures into account. In 
connection with the effects on the five nonfinancial issues, 
no material risks were identified that are associated with 
the Company’s own business activities or with its business 
relationships, products, and services that have serious 
negative effects on nonfinancial issues.

Further information on risk management at Delivery Hero 
can be found in the risk and opportunities report 2018 on 
page 72 et seq. 

Strategy and Materiality
The materiality analysis, which we carried out during the 
reporting period, assesses and prioritizes the relevance of 
social, environmental and governance issues for Delivery  
Hero and its stakeholders, in order to support the organi-
zationʼs decision-making and strategy development pro-
cess. From this process, the material topics for Delivery Hero 
are obtained, which are the ones able to affect the value 
creation for the Company, and at the same time, are rec-
ognized as being important for Delivery Heroʼs different 
stakeholders.

The Delivery Hero materiality process followed the follow-
ing steps:

1. IDENTIFICATION

3. EXTERNAL 
EVALUATION

MATERIALITY 
EVALUATION 

PROCESS

4.
 M

A
TE

R
IA

LI
TY

 

2. IN
TER

N
A

L  
EV

A
LU

TIO
N
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1.  Identification of the topics that are potentially relevant 
for Delivery Hero which need to be considered in the 
process of reviewing the materiality matrix identified 
through an analysis of the context and of the global, 
sectoral and organizational trends.

2.  Internal evaluation of the impact of each of the topics 
on Delivery Heroʼs vision, strategy and performance. The 
impact of the issues should be evaluated taking into 
consideration their magnitude and probability of occur-
rence. At this stage, the key stakeholders that need to 
be involved in the materiality review process are iden-
tified.

3.  External evaluation of the importance of the topics, from 
the perspective of key stakeholders, by conducting a 
consultation process with these stakeholders.

4.  Review of the issuesʼ materiality matrix, presenting the 
most relevant subjects under two dimensions, the key 
stakeholdersʼ perspective and the organizationʼs per-
spective. 

In 2018, as a result of the process implemented and of the 
analysis conducted, seven material topics were identified 
according to the matrix below. These topics differ from the 
topics defined as material in the last report due to the new 
materiality analysis.

Besides the material topics identified in this way, Delivery  
Hero is fully committed to the worldwide observance of 
human rights in everything we do. We actively oppose 
forced or compulsory labor of any kind, all other forms of 
modern slavery, child labor, and human trafficking. 
 Discrimination and inequality in employment and occupa-
tion have no place at Delivery Hero either. For us this is an 
integral and natural part of doing business anywhere in 
our global markets and we have thus not included this 
topic separately in the materiality matrix. Furthermore, we 
will report on the topics of “emissions” and “social respon-
sibility” on a voluntary basis.

nonfinancial aSpecT maTerial Topic page

CrOss-CuttiNg  
issue, aFFeCts all  
NONFiNaNCial aspeCts

laWs aNd  
regulatiONs 51

eNvirONmeNtal CONCerNs paCkagiNg use aNd  
dispOsal 52

emplOyee CONCerNs OCCupatiONal health aNd 
saFety 54

emplOyee satisFaCtiON 54

delivery herO as aN 
emplOyer 53-54

sOCial CONCerNs/
FightiNg COrruptiON  
aNd bribery

geNeral data prOteCtiON 
regulatiON1 51-52

data leakage 51-52

1  This issue concerns both social issues and fighting corruption and bribery.
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Product 
certification/
information

Food quality 
and safety 

Supplier 
Relationship 
Management

Performance 

Laws and 
regulations

Delivery Hero  
as an employer

Packaging use
and disposal 

GDPR

Data leakage 

Occupational 
health and 

safety 

Employee 
satisfaction

MATERIALTY MATRIX OF DELIVERY HERO

DELIVERY HERO'S PERCEPTION
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Stakeholders engagement
Our stakeholders are key to our business, therefore, to build 
and maintain a close relationship and dialogue with them 
is critical to our success. To define and implement a sustain-
ability strategy, Delivery Hero developed a stakeholdersʼ 
consultation engagement process through which we 
actively collect their expectations and ideas, on an ongoing 
basis. This enables key-stakeholders participation to help 
us define our sustainability roadmap definition, which is 
constantly updated with their feedback in an agile manner.

Investors and shareholders

We are commited to growing and increasing  

the return on investment of our investors.

Annual financial statements, provisional  

reports, investor meetings, dedicated  

email communications. 

Customer 

We are focused on improving our customers livesʼ  

by providing amazing and innovative services  

and good food.

Satisfaction surveys, social media, brand  

studies (focus groups + surveys) 

Local community 

We are determined to improve the communities  

where we operate and work in.

Volunteering program, conferences 

Regulators 

We are interested in maintaining an open dialogue  

with regulators and being compliant with legalisation  

and regulation.

Dialogue with regulators in local markets 

Why is the stakeholder important? Examples of engagement activities/resources

Employees

We want to motivate and engage our people  

so they can achieve their maximum.

Engagement survey, performance management process,  

all-hands/update meetings, supervisory board representation

Restaurant partners and suppliers 

We intent to impement high social ethical and  

environmental standards in all relationships with  

our partners and suppliers.

Engagement surveys (Restaurant NPS), account management 

operations, supplier onboarding

50

NON FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE GROUP 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018



LAWS AND REGULATIONS
One material topic for Delivery Hero to operate sustainably 
in the long term is to be compliant with all laws and regu-
lations in the markets we operate. Below we outline some 
of the ethical and legal standards we hold ourselves 
accountable to.

Values, principles, standards, and norms of behavior 
We act within the framework of ethics, integrity and appli-
cable laws and always in the interest of Delivery Hero. 
Delivery Hero does not tolerate any form of fraud, bribery/
corruption or other forms of non-compliant behavior by 
our employees or other stakeholders. We expect from our 
employees not to engage in any activity or perform tasks 
that are contrary to the interests of Delivery Hero. All busi-
ness decisions need to be made solely in the best interests 
of the Company, not for personal benefit. These business 
practices have been documented in a code of conduct 
which is distributed within the organization and updated 
regularly. The local companies are responsible for signing 
and communicating the Code of Conduct.

Mechanisms for advice and concerns about ethics
Every employee at Delivery Hero is responsible for address-
ing violations or potential violations of the laws, the 
Delivery Hero Code of Conduct or internal policies. To 
report serious compliance breaches and illegal business 
practices an internet-based whistleblower platform was 
made available in multiple languages and is available 
around the clock. Our whistleblower system guarantees 
an anonymous submission and the highest level of secu-
rity for whistleblowers. Employees should first contact 
their supervisor or their respective Compliance depart-
ment and make use of the whistleblower platform only in 
cases where this appears not possible. All reported issues 
are carefully assessed by Delivery Hero and in appropriate 
cases, the case is managed as per the regulations and 
procedures for handling reported compliance concerns. 
The confidentiality of information given by the individual 
reporting a compliance violation is protected to the maxi-
mum extent possible. The recipient of the information of 
Delivery Hero may share it only on a need-to-know basis 
consistent with applicable law. Delivery Hero respects the 
request of confidentiality and anonymous reporting.

DATA PROTECTION AND PRIVACY
The growing competitiveness in the markets where 
Delivery Hero has operations requires an increasing focus 
on the customer, especially on the continuous improve-
ment of their experience. In a context of high digitalization 
and more informed, proactive and demanding customers, 
it becomes clear that technology should be used to achieve 
and ensure our clients maximum satisfaction, while hand-
ling their data with care.

Scope of Companyʼs publicly available  
data protection policy
The privacy policies of all platforms in the EU are  currently 
being processed. Upload of the updated version will be 
implemented by February. The compliance level of our 
corporate website (deliveryhero.com) is currently not at 
the required level and will also be revised within the speci-
fied period. The privacy policies of the operating compa-
nies comply with the requirements of Art. 13 and 14 GDPR. 
The adjustments to these privacy policies will be marginal.
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Rights provided to individuals regarding  
the control of their data
All customer care agents have been trained to deal appro-
priately with data subject requests and necessary templates 
have been provided. Our customers can exercise their data 
subject rights at any time by sending their requests to the 
e-mail addresses specified in the privacy policies or to 
dpo@deliveryhero.com. These will then be answered after 
verification of identity within the legal deadline. On many 
platforms, a GDPR function was integrated into the 
accounts of the customers, which simplifies and guarantees 
the exercise of the data subject rights. Via this function, 
customers can view the stored data, submit advertising 
objections and delete their accounts at any time. The 
deletion takes place within 48 hours by overwriting the 
personal data several times. 

Information Security Policies and  
System audit frequency
Delivery Hero is committed to protecting the data of our 
customers and employees. Irrespective of external audits, 
systems that have been assessed as potentially risky accord-
ing to internal risk analyses are subjected to a data protec-
tion impact assessment and continuously reviewed as part 
of a monitoring process. In addition, penetration tests are 
carried out regularly and adjustments made, if needed. 

Scope of employee training on data security and/or 
privacy related risks & procedures
Every employee has to complete a compulsory data pro-
tection training once a year and pass a test. In addition, 
department-specific training is carried out to take account 
of the relevant special requirements and to increase aware-
ness. For example: GDPR specifications for the Hire-2-Retire 
Process; Privacy by Design and Default for Product and Tech 
departments, and others.

PACKAGING USE AND DISPOSAL
As one of the focus areas of our sustainability strategy is 
the environment, we believe that one important topic for 
our Company is sustainable food packaging.

Materials and sourcing
While Delivery Heroʼs restaurant partners mostly source 
their own food packaging materials, Delivery Hero also 
sells some packaging materials to restaurants and can help 
educate restaurants about the sustainability of materials 
used as well as help to provide access to sustainable alter-
natives to some traditional food packaging options.

Delivery Heroʼs management approach to the topic is 
currently decentralised. Those brands/management enti-
ties which offer to sell packaging materials to restaurants 
are responsible for sourcing appropriate packaging mate-
rial independently. This works well given the highly local 
nature of our business and the respective different needs 
of markets. In order to improve this approach further, we 
are currently working on providing central support with 
establishing a list of preferred suppliers of sustainable 
packaging options.

Besides improving the sourcing of materials Delivery Hero 
resells to our restaurant partners, there are many other 
initiatives the Company can take to improve the sustain-
ability of food packaging used for deliveries. Some of our 
brands have implemented opt-out features for takeaway 
cutlery, thus significantly reducing the number of plastic 
and single-use cutlery by our restaurants. Furthermore, 
some of our brands have invested into educating our 
restaurant partners about sustainable packaging options 
and which materials to avoid because of their ecological 
footprints. As this is a key pillar in our corporate respon-
sibility and sustainability framework, we continue to 
explore other options to contribute to a better food- 
delivery packaging ecosystem.
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DELIVERY HERO AS AN EMPLOYER
One of the keys for Delivery Heroʼs current and future 
success is our highly qualified and engaged employee base. 
Attracting and retaining great talent is essential. We are 
committed to building a great employee experience and 
hired a Chief People Officer to the management team of 
Delivery Hero to help us achieve this.

Employment
Delivery Hero employs thousands of people across the 
world at a variety of different levels of seniority. Our work 
with restaurants drives further employment, helping to 
create jobs in the communities we operate in.

The Companyʼs approach to people operations is both 
central and decentralised. On a central level the Company 
has built out centers of expertise in various areas such as 
compensation and benefits, systems, recruiting that allow 
us to provide state of the art employee services at a  global 
scale. In parallel, HR leaders in Delivery Heroʼs local sub-
sidiaries ensure that the employee experience is tailored 
to local market requirements and we operate in line with 
local market regulation. 

One of the many initiatives to ensure an engaged work-
force at Delivery Hero is running regular global employee 
engagement surveys to inform people policies and mea-
sure their effectiveness.

Diversity and equal opportunity 
Delivery Hero wants to be a diverse and inclusive  Company 
that provides equal opportunities to all employees and 
reflects the customers and markets we serve. Through 
diversity, we can develop the products, platforms and 
services that engage our broad customer base most effec-
tively, while also motivating and engaging our people. 
Delivery Hero is therefore committed to creating an  equally 
great workplace for every one of its employees. 

We have therefore set up a program that addresses the 
topic on three levels: tone from the top, people operations 
processes, and employee engagement. 

The tone from the top is being established through an 
inclusive leadership agenda. Our senior leadership teams 
are undertaking unconscious bias training, run by an 
external consultant. We also engaged external support to 
review both quantitative data and gather qualitative 
insights. The findings have been presented to our senior 
leadership team and are informing the further develop-
ment of our diversity and inclusion program.

On a process level, our people operations teams are com-
mitted to creating processes that prevent any systematic 
biases from manifesting. For this purpose we are constant-
ly reviewing the results of hiring, performance manage-
ment, promotion and compensation processes from a 
diversity and inclusiveness perspective. Our clear goal is 
to pay employees solely based on performance and their 
respective roles and we take measures to ensure that this 
is the outcome of our people processes. 

We also aim to create an inclusive work environment by 
enabling flexible work-from-home policies where opera-
tionally feasible as well as the opportunity to work in part 
time roles. 

Finally, we are also committed to assessing our physical 
office space and improve its inclusiveness whenever any 
changes, renovations or expansions are contemplated. 

Besides the above measures driven by senior management 
and our people operations teams, our employees are also 
contributing to an inclusive work environment by forming 
employee groups (e.g. our “women-in-tech” initiative). We 
fully support these activities and aim to provide more 
resources and structure to them in the future in order to 
enable meaningful employee engagement on the topics 
of diversity and inclusion. 
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Besides the above initiatives, Delivery Hero is of course 
committed to adhering to all global and local regulation. 
This in particular includes compliance with the Law for 
Promotion of Remuneration Transparency between 
 Women and Men (Entgelttransparenzgesetz). The reports 
required under this law are published separately to this 
report. 

The diversity of our governance bodies is disclosed in the 
corporate governance section of the annual report 2018.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
As Delivery Hero employs a large number of people, many 
of which work in our own delivery fleet, occupational health 
and safety is a topic of major interest to Delivery Hero. 

We ensure that all employees are appropriately trained 
and educated about measures to avoid accidents and 
provide a safe working environment for everyone. This is 
done via training both in presence and online during our 
various onboarding process. For our delivery personnel, 
this includes trainings on various aspects of road safety, 
compliance with local traffic regulation and avoidance of 
accidents. 

Any risks or hazards that are identified can be reported 
both through regular management channels as well as 
using the whistleblower hotline provided by the Company 
to ensure that both identified risks as well as incidents will 
be investigated and future risks prevented.

In many markets we also provide work-related accident 
insurance to our employees, often going beyond the 
required local legislation. In the context of implementing 
these insurance policies, risks are appropriately identified 
and incidents reported in order to provide transparency 
for the responsible management. 

EMPLOYEE SATISFACTION
Delivery Hero wants to maintain the satisfaction of its 
employees and use their potential for improvement in 
order to strengthen identification with the Company in the 
long term. We always pay attention to the needs of our 
employees and observe trends and developments in order 
to maintain a good competitive position in the hard-fought 
market for qualified employees in the long term. Concrete 
measures have been developed for this purpose, which are 
currently either in the planning stage or will be continued 
on an ongoing basis.

To enable us to respond to the needs of our employees, 
we conduct ongoing employee surveys. In this way we 
determine the general level of satisfaction and get a direct 
picture of our working atmosphere. From the results, we 
derive concrete measures that should contribute to main-
taining or even improving employee satisfaction at a high 
level in the long term. A continuous improvement of the 
employee satisfaction is an integral part of our corporate 
strategy and the entire management team works contin-
uously on designing and implementing appropriate 
 measures.
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ADDITIONAL TOPICS

Emissions
Within the framework of our sustainability strategy we 
also identified the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
as an important objective and hence disclose our manage-
ment approach below although it was not identified as 
material according to the analysis described on page 47 et 
seq.

As global warming is a global issue, we believe that it is 
every businessʼ responsibility to have awareness of its 
contribution to the emission of greenhouse gases and 
explore ways of reducing its impact. 

In order to do so for Delivery Hero we have engaged a 
consultancy to help measure and identify reduction oppor-
tunities for our greenhouse gas footprint. As Delivery Hero 
operates a marketplace business, we differentiate between 
emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3 ) that are directly caused by 
Delivery Hero, i.e. our own delivery fleets, materials we sell 
to restaurants, our internal operations and the emissions 
caused by our partners, e.g. packaging sourced by restau-
rants from third parties, our restaurant partners delivery 
activities etc. We thus want to ensure that we have an 
accurate understanding of which emissions we can opera-
tionally reduce as we directly control them and which 
emissions are created in relation to our activities but 
without our direct control.

Our management approach to this topic is centralised as 
calculating an accurate greenhouse gas footprint requires 
special expertise and we want to ensure a consistent 
methodology used. Therefore, we have a project team in 
our central team at Delivery Hero SE level which is collect-
ing data from our local businesses and works with the 
consultancy to calculate the greenhouse gas footprint 
(in t CO2 equivalent). Where accurate data is not available, 
we use estimations in line with common and accepted 
approaches. We are currently finalising the calculation of 
the footprint for some of our legal entities in 2017 and are 
working on gathering data for the year 2018.

Social responsibility
initiative and the Berliner Tafel food pantry in 2017 and 
2018 with donations in kind and in cash. Furthermore, we 
participated in the “Give & Help Day” of Woloho and 
youngcaritas. Delivery Hero has provided food for this 
purpose.

In 2018, Delivery Hero presented the “Hero Award for Social 
Entrepreneurship” for the second time, which is endowed 
with € 15,000. The winner was share, a social brand that 
focuses on the 1+1 principle. For every share protein bar, 
bottle of water or hand soap that’s sold, the company 
provides one meal, one day’s water supply, or one piece 
of soap to a person in need. In addition, we support share 
with a mentoring program. Within this program, Delivery  
Hero experts and managers pass on their expertise in 
relevant specialist areas to the company. The Hero Award 
will be continued and presented in 2019.

In addition to our existing activities, we introduced a 
corporate volunteering program in 2018. Within this pro-
gram, our employees can support an initiative of their 
choice in accordance with our guidelines and offer their 
support without having to take a day off. Such employee 
engagement is also supported and encouraged on an 
ongoing basis.

As an operator of food delivery services, the topic of food 
and nutrition is of particular importance to us. This is why 
some of our subsidiaries, in cooperation with local organ-
isations and in part with the involvement of our customers, 
have been committed to donating meals. In 2018, a six- 
figure number of meals was donated. For the coming year, 
we plan to continue and even expand this program. 
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A. GROUP PROFILE

01. BUSINESS MODEL

The Delivery Hero SE (the “Company”) and its consolidat-
ed subsidiaries, together Delivery Hero Group (also DH, 
DH Group, Delivery Hero or Group), provide online and 
food delivery services in over 40 countries in four  
geographical segments, comprising Europe, Middle East 
and North Africa (MENA), Asia and the Americas.

Following the conversion from a German stock corpora-
tion (Aktiengesellschaft, AG) to a European public  company 
(Societas Europaea, SE), which became effective with the 
entry in the commercial register on July 13, 2018, the Com-
pany has been trading as Delivery Hero SE with its regis-
tered office in Berlin. Further information on the Group 
structure and segments can be found in the chapters 
“Group structure” and “Segments”.

The subsidiaries of the Group operate internet platforms 
under various brand names, where users of the platform 
are referred to restaurants and provided with food deliv-
ery services. The Delivery Hero internet platforms are 
aligned to the demands of the local end customers who 
can choose from a wide range of menu items from restau-
rants in their neighborhood. Orders can be placed by app 
or via website and are subsequently paid either in cash or 
via online payment methods. As an option, Delivery Hero 
offers its partner restaurants point of sale system in order 
for them to immediately view and accept orders made on 
the platform. Furthermore, Delivery Hero offers products 
and services for restaurants, such as food packaging, 
advertising and printing services. In addition to the online 

food ordering platforms, the Group also offers own deliv-
ery services to restaurants without this capability. The own 
delivery fleet is coordinated using proprietary dispatch 
software.

Delivery Hero generates a large portion of its revenue from 
online marketplace services, primarily on the basis of 
orders placed. These commission fees are based on a con-
tractually specified percentage of the order value. The per-
centage varies depending on the country, type of restau-
rant and services provided, such as the use of a point of 
sale system, last mile delivery and marketing support. 

In addition to commissions, Delivery Hero generates 
non-commission based revenue in particular with premi-
um placements. Premium placement means that, for a fee, 
restaurants are ranked on top among all the listed restau-
rants in their relevant delivery area displayed in a specific 
manner. Furthermore, Delivery Hero generates revenue 
from delivery fees.

Alongside the management of the Group, Delivery Hero SE 
assumes a range of IT, marketing and other services, in 
particular commercial and technical consultancy services. 
In addition, as a holding Delivery Hero SE assumes func-
tions such as Group controlling and accounting, public rela-
tions, investor relations, risk management and human 
resources management.

The Delivery Hero Groupʼs business model is based on the 
vision of the management team to provide platform users 
with an amazing on-demand experience. This includes an 
appealing and seamless handling of the order as well as a 
first-class quality of food and a top delivery service.

02. CORPORATE STRATEGY

Delivery Heroʼs operational success is a result of the vision 
and clear focus to create an amazing on-demand experi-
ence. While food delivery is and will remain the core  pillar 
of our business, we also follow our customersʼ demands 
for an increasing offering of convenience services. Con-
sumers have ever higher expectations of services like ours 
and because of this we are focusing more and more on 
broader on-demand needs. We have therefore upgraded 
our vision accordingly to: Always delivering amazing 
experiences – fast, easy and to your door.

Amazing Food: Ensuring the right quantity, quality  
and variety of restaurants in every neighborhood
In order to meet the demands of our customers, Delivery  
Hero first needs to determine what they are looking for, 
by focusing on three key factors: quantity, quality and vari-
ety. Delivery Hero analyzes cuisine type data in a given 
neighborhood and ensures that a sufficient number of 
restaurants of each type is available on the platform. 
Delivery Heroʼs data-driven approach is actively managing 
the restaurant offering to optimize the product on a local 
level and improving choice based on demographic char-
acteristics (for example density) and demand. 

The number of restaurants grew 53% in 2018 offering a 
wide choice to the customers. This expansion is also driv-
en by the continued rollout of own delivery capacities that 
allows Delivery Hero to connect restaurants to the plat-
form that customers did not have access to before.
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Amazing Ordering: Ensuring the ordering experience 
is convenient, inspirational, simple and personalized
Delivery Hero is passionate about taking the customersʼ 
ordering experience to the next level. Each day Delivery  
Hero focuses on simplifying and personalizing the prod-
uct.

In 2018, Delivery Hero continued to focus on key product 
improvements especially around personalization and rec-
ommendation features which were rolled out to 23 coun-
tries by the end of the year. Delivery Hero was able to lever 
on millions of data points from customers in the 41 coun-
tries of operation. Artificial intelligence backed systems 
and advanced technology allows Delivery Hero to improve 
the ordering experience with every order that Delivery Hero 
processes.

Amazing Service: Ensuring that food is delivered  
quickly, reliably, and can be tracked in real time
Delivery Hero strives to provide fast and reliable service to 
the customers with real-time updates. Delivery Hero  tightly 
manages all steps in the food delivery lifecycle, including 
transmission, delivery and post-order services. Delivery  
Hero is deeply integrated with the operations of the restau-
rant partners, which allows Delivery Hero to learn the cook-
ing times of the dishes and ensure the food is ready exact-
ly at the time the delivery rider arrives at the restaurant, 
all to improve speed, reliability and food quality. 

Delivery Hero works to improve the delivery experience to 
the customers by providing the restaurant with a propri-
etary “Restaurant Partner Solution (RPS)” technology that 
allows for better management of the delivery process and 
improves the efficiency of Delivery Heroʼs own  delivery 

operations. For full transparency to the customers Delivery  
Hero improved the reliability of the live tracking and sta-
tus update feature. 

Moreover, in 2018 Delivery Hero continued to roll out the 
restaurant and rider technologies globally. 

Third Generation Delivery Company:  
Innovation as Part of the DNA
Delivery Hero is particularly proud to hold innovation at 
the core of its culture, as it is the key strength when it 
comes to tackling a trillion-dollar food delivery market 
opportunity, that is still very much in its infancy.

As a result, 2018 Delivery Hero saw a roll out of many new 
features and additional products, driving trends that were 
developing in the delivery sector. This continuous focus 
on innovation will ensure that Delivery Hero is able to pro-
vide the customers with the most convenient, personal-
ized takeaway experience. 

The bigger consumer demand for on-demand type of ser-
vices encouraged Delivery Hero to extend the product 
offering beyond the core online food ordering business 
model. In 2018, Delivery Hero took the decision to become 
a third-generation delivery company. Driving those inno-
vations will allow the platform to reach new levels of cus-
tomer frequencies and retention rates. 

Own Delivery
In 2018, Delivery Hero scaled delivery capabilities globally. 
By the end of 2018, Delivery Heroʼs riders were delivering 
over 7 million own delivery orders per months at improved 
efficiencies. Furthermore, Delivery Hero now offers deli-
very in over 200 cities globally.

Once up to scale, Delivery Hero observes a similar gross 
profit contribution per order when Delivery Hero provides 
own delivery services for third-party delivery. 

Shared & Virtual Kitchens
Delivery Hero has continued to test shared and virtual 
kitchens in selected cities globally. Shared and virtual kitch-
ens allow Delivery Hero to lever further the operational 
expertise and breadth of data in order to reach new levels 
of restaurant efficiencies and economics versus the tradi-
tional brick and mortar type of restaurants. 

Eventually, Delivery Hero will get to a point where the cus-
tomer can have food delivered in higher quality and at low-
er costs. This proposition will give further leeway for 
growth by underpinning customer ordering behavior. 

Delivery of Additional Convenience Items
Delivery Hero has also developed technology and execu-
tion capabilities that allow the delivery of other on- demand 
items such as groceries, flowers etc. This offering is driven 
by increased consumer demand for on-demand services. 
Delivery Hero continues to roll out these capabilities in 
selected markets. As a result, Delivery Hero has seen an 
increase in order by adding additional convenience items. 

Based on customer demand and feedback Delivery Hero 
is able to obtain valuable insights relevant for the intro-
duction of additional verticals to the product offering.
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03. GROUP STRUCTURE

The parent company Delivery Hero SE (previously Delivery  
Hero AG) (the “Company”) was founded with its headquar-
ters in Berlin in 2011 and has since expanded its presence 
in local markets worldwide with various brands. 
Delivery Hero Group comprises 126 companies as of report-
ing date (previous year: 137 companies). For further details, 
refer to section D. 01. of the Consolidated Financial State-
ments. Delivery Hero exercises either direct or indirect con-
trol over all subsidiaries.

04. SEGMENTS

The business of Delivery Hero is divided into the following 
four geographical segments: 

 — Europe,
 — MENA (Middle East & North Africa),
 — Asia and 
 — Americas.

The services and order platforms are aligned to local 
 market circumstances and the respective competitive sit-
uation. 

The MENA segment includes Turkey, the Asia segment 
includes Australia, while Canada is part of the Americas 
segment.

Europe
In Europe, Delivery Hero operates with both business 
 models – marketplace as well as own delivery.

In Germany, the Group was represented with the brands 
pizza.de, Lieferheld and foodora. On December 20, 2018 
the Company signed a transaction document with Take-
away.com N.V. (“Takeaway.com”) pursuant to which 
Delivery Hero sold its German food delivery businesses, 
including all three brands to Takeaway.com N.V. (the 
“Transaction”). The Transaction was completed on April 
01, 2019. The German businesses are reflected in the per-
formance of the segment Europe until December 31, 2018 
(refer to section A. 02. and D. 03. e) of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements). 

In Europe the Group is further represented in Austria,  Bosnia 
and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, the Czech  Republic, 
 Finland, Greece, Hungary, Montenegro, Norway, Romania, 
Serbia and Sweden with their local brands. 

In order to further strengthen our market positions, 
Delivery Hero made strategic investments in the Greek mar-
ket by acquiring Deliveras S.A. (“Deliveras”) in January 2018 
and in Hungary with the acquisition of EURÓ Magyarország 
Kft. (“pizza.hu”) in May 2018 (refer to section I of the Con-
solidated Financial Statements). Further, in July 2018 
Delivery Hero Group strategically invested into the Roma-
nian market by acquiring Cloud Treats Romania SA (“Hip-
Menu” and “HipDelivery”), an online food delivery mar-
ketplace in Romania offering both, marketplace and own 
delivery services to end customers.

The sale of the hungryhouse business in United Kingdom 
to Just Eat was completed on January 31, 2018 for a consid-
eration of £ 240 million (€ 272.5 million). In the course of 
further market consolidation measures, the Group sold its 
business in Switzerland and Italy and divested its foodora 
businesses in France and Netherlands.

MENA
Operating activities in the MENA segment significantly 
contribute to the number of orders and the gross merchan-
dise volume of the Group. In the MENA segment, 
Delivery Hero is represented in the markets of Bahrain, 
Egypt, Jordan, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA), Kuwait, 
Oman, Qatar, Turkey and the United Arab Emirates (UAE) 
with their local brands. 

Delivery Hero has a strong position in many countries of 
the MENA region. In Turkey, the most mature of our food 
delivery market in the MENA segment, the Group is repre-
sented with the Yemeksepeti brand which was founded in 
2001 and has been part of the Delivery Hero Group since 
2015.

In 2018, the Carriage group which was acquired in June 
2017 and operates in Bahrain, KSA, Kuwait, UAE and Qatar, 
is reflected for the first time in the MENA segment for a 
complete 12 month period. 

Asia
The Group has a strong presence in South Korea where the 
Group operates the Yogiyo, Baedaltong and Foodfly 
brands. While Yogiyo is a classic website for online food 
ordering, Baedaltong operates a click-to-call business. This 
is designed like an industry directory for restaurants that 
connect users directly with the restaurant via a website. 
Foodfly is a food delivery platform with its own delivery 
service that was added to the portfolio in October 2017 as 
part of the acquisition of Fly & Company, Inc.
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Further Asian markets in which Delivery Hero Group is 
present comprise various young markets with high growth 
potential such as Bangladesh, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Pakis-
tan, the Philippines, Singapore, Taiwan and Thailand. Many 
of these businesses are operating an own delivery model, 
few are mixed models which cater both own delivery and 
marketplace services.

The Australian business which was operating under the 
foodora brand was closed in the third quarter 2018. 

Americas
In the Americas segment, nine geographical markets are 
part of the Delivery Hero portfolio, including Canada, 
where the Group is represented with the foodora brand. 

In Latin America, Delivery Hero operates primarily the 
brands PedidosYa and Clickdelivery, which have been part 
of the Group since 2014. PedidosYa was founded in 2008 
and connects customers and restaurants in Argentina, 
Bolivia, Chile, Panama, Paraguay and Uruguay. Click delivery 
operates in Columbia, Ecuador and Peru. 

In the third quarter of 2018 the Group sold its Brazilian 
business to iFood. Furthermore, acquisitions of smaller 
businesses in Bolivia (“Netcomidas”) and Ecuador (“Mega-
bite”) as well as of restaurant contracts in Argentina from 
iFood were executed in 2018.

05. MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Delivery Hero SEʼs Management Board consists of two 
members. The Management Board is responsible for the 
strategy and management of the Group. The CEO Niklas 
Östberg is responsible for the areas Strategy, Operations, 
Technology, Personnel, Marketing, Public Relations and 
Investor Relations. Emmanuel Thomassin is responsible for 
the areas Finance, Purchasing, Legal, Internal Audit, as well 
as Governance, Risk and Compliance. The Supervisory 
Board advises and supervises the Management Board. The 
Supervisory Board is involved in transactions of fundamen-
tal importance to the Company.

The Management Board steers the Group both at a seg-
ment level (i.e. Europe, MENA, Asia and the Americas) and 
consolidated group level. The key financial performance 
indicators monitored are Total Segment Revenues and 
Adjusted EBITDA1.

Delivery Hero also uses various nonfinancial performance 
indicators to manage the Group:

 —  Orders2 is a key performance indicator that drives 
revenue and growth. In 2018 orders of the segments 
increased by 37.8%. Excluding German businesses on 
a like-for-like basis3 orders grew in 2018 year-on-year 
by 48.8%.

 —  Gross Merchandise Value4 (GMV) is directly influ-
enced by the number of orders and has an instant 
impact on revenues. It is one of the key elements 
controlled by our Management. In 2018 GMV of the 
segments increased by 33.3%. On like-for-like  
basis GMV grew in 2018 year-on-year by 42.3% 

fY
2018

fy 2017
(lFl)1

ChaNge
(lFl)1

 
grOup

Orders (milliON) 369.4 248.3 48.8%

gmv (eur milliON) 4,454.4 3,130.8 42.3%

1 lfl – like-for-like

1  Performance measure not defined by International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before income taxes, 
financial result, depreciation and amortization and non-operating earnings 
effects. Non-operating earnings effects comprise, in particular (i) expenses 
for share-based compensation, (ii) expenses for services in connection with 
corporate transactions and financing rounds, (iii) expenses for reorganization 
measures, (iv) expenses for the implementation of information technology, 
(v) expenses for the achievement of capital market capability, and (vi) other 
non-operating expenses and income, especially the result from disposal of 
tangible and intangible assets, the result from the sale and abandonment of 
subsidiaries, allowances for other receivables, and non-income taxes.

2  Orders represent orders made by end consumers in the period indicated. 
Orders for our Korean click-to-call operations (similar to a restaurant-specific 
business directory where customers click on a button that will connect them 
directly with the restaurant via telephone) have been estimated based on the 
number of phone calls made by users to restaurants through these click-to-
call platforms in the relevant period that lasted 25 seconds or longer 
multiplied by 60%.

3  “Like for like” excludes the contributions from the German operations and 
hungryhouse reported in discontinued operations in 2018 and 2017 and 
presents the results from the divested businesses in India and foodora non-
core (Australia, France, Italy, Netherlands) as if the divestments had occurred 
on January 1, 2017.

4  GMV refers to gross merchandise value, which means the total value of  
orders (including VAT) transmitted to restaurants. GMV for our click-to-call 
operations (similar to a restaurant-specific business directory where 
customers click on a button that will connect them directly with the 
restaurant via telephone) have been estimated based on the estimated 
number of orders multiplied by the average basket size for the orders placed 
through our Korean non-click-to-call online marketplaces during the same 
period.
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06. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Our vision of creating an amazing takeaway experience is 
contingent on constant innovation and technological 
development in all areas of the customer experience. Con-
sequently, innovation and technology is focusing on the 
enhancement of the value for the platform users by pro-
viding more personalized offers, order tracking and visi-
bility, as well as facilitating discovering of new restaurants 
as well as dishes and enhancement of payment solutions. 

Innovation and technology is further aiming to enhance 
the value of our restaurant partners by improving the fore-
cast of demand and supply, inventory management and 
enabling a faster and better delivery and offering-tailored 
marketing solutions. Innovation and technology is addi-
tionally focussing on the further automatization of oper-
ations, e.g. enhancing processes in customer care, billing 
and rider onboarding.

The research and development (R&D) activities of Delivery  
Hero are focusing on the challenges providing an excep-
tional takeaway experience today and in the future. These 
challenges include the processing of millions of orders in 
near real-time without glitch, responsible collection of a 
staggering amount of data and coping with  widely differ-
ent local requirements across our markets. 

Delivery Heroʼs research and development activities con-
tinue to concentrate on the development and enhance-
ment of local technology and platforms in order to pro-
vide highly localized solutions combined with an approach 
of innovations by a central support function in:

 — data and analytics
 — logistics, including fleet management  

and driver/rider scheduling
 — marketing, CRM and campaign automation 
 — restaurant order transmission, driver tracking  

and POS integration; and
 — Consumer experience.

In order to provide local solutions but also leveraging from 
our global platform we follow a flexible approach with 
strong and agile regional tech teams in all our segments. 
The largest team is situated in Berlin.

In 2018, R&D expenses of the total Group (including dis-
continued operations) amounted to about € 42.2 million 
(previous year: € 29.0 million). This corresponds to 5.5% 
(previous year: 5.0%) of revenue. Development costs of 
€ 5.1 million were capitalized (previous year: € 1.8 million), 
this represents 12.1% (previous year: 6.2%) of total devel-
opment costs of the year. Amortization of capitalized devel-
opment costs amount to € 3.1 million (previous year: 
€ 2.6 million). Third party research and development ser-
vices are used only to a minor extent.

At the end of the financial year, 906 people were 
employed in our R&D activities. This represents 3.6% of 
total employees.

5  The World Bank Group (2018): Global Outlook June 2018
6  International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, October 2018: 

Challenges to Steady Growth
7  Excluding foodora own-delivery countries (Canada, Norway), countries 

without legal entities (Panama and Paraguay), countries with minority 
participation that are not fully consolidated (e.g. Poland) and (planned) 
divestments in foodora non-core assets (Australia, France, Italy and 
Netherlands)

B. ECONOMIC REPORT

01. MARKET AND INDUSTRY ENVIRONMENT

a) Macroeconomic situation
Global growth remains robust but has somewhat softened 
in the second half of 2018, as manufacturing activity and 
trade have shown signs of moderation. The ongoing with-
drawal of monetary policy accommodation in advanced 
economies has led to some tightening of global financing 
conditions5. As a consequence, global economic growth is 
expected to not further accelerate but remain flat at 3.7% 
for 2019 according to latest forecasts of the International 
Monetary Fund (IMF)6.

However, we are seeing a positive GDP development in the 
majority of our 41 countries of operation7. While the over-
all growth expectation is flat, differences in the outlook 
across countries and regions are notable. The IMF fore-
casts positive real GDP growth for all of Delivery Heroʼs 
markets in Europe, MENA and Asia. In the Americas seg-
ment, a positive real GDP growth development is expect-
ed as well for every country of operation except for Argen-
tina5.

Compared to the GDP growth rates of 2017, Saudi Arabia, 
Kuwait and several other emerging markets have returned 
to economic growth after slight growth declines in the 
past. On the other side, growth was revised down com-
pared to 2017 for some countries i.e. Argentina and  Turkey, 
reflecting country-specific factors, inflationary tendencies 
and geopolitical tensions5. 
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GDP Development 2018 Europe
% (2017)

AUSTRIA

BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA

BULGARIA

CROATIA

CZECH REPUBLIC

FINLAND

GREECE

HUNGARY

MONTENEGRO

NORWAY

ROMANIA

SERBIA

SWEDEN

2.8 (2.3)

3.2 (2.5)

3.6 (3.6)

2.8 (2.9)

3.1 (3.5)

2.6 (2.8)

4.0 (3.2)

3.7 (3.0)

2.1 (1.4)

4.0 (5.5)

4.0 (3.0)

2.0 (1.8)

2.4 (3.1)

GDP Development 2018 MENA
% (2017)

3.2 (2.5)

5.3 (4.0)

2.3 (–2.1)

1.9 (0.0)

2.7 (2.5)

2.2 (0.1)

2.9 (1.3)

BAHRAIN

JORDAN

EGYPT

KUWAIT

OMAN

QATAR

SAUDI ARABIA

UAE

TURKEY 3.5 (5.1)

2.3 (2.3)

GDP Development 2018 Asia
% (2017)

BANGLADESH

BRUNEI

HONG KONG

MALAYSIA

PAKISTAN

PHIILIPINES

SOUTH KOREA

SINGAPORE

TAIWAN

THAILAND

7.3 (7.1)

2.3 (–1.3)

3.8 (3.5)

4.7 (5.4)

5.8 (5.3)

6.5 (6.6)

2.8 (3.0)

2.9 (2.5)

2.7 (2.0)

4.6 (3.7)

GDP Development 2018 Americas
% (2017)

ARGENTINA

CHILE

COLOMBIA

ECUADOR

PANAMA

PARAGUAY

PERU

URUGUAY

–2.6 (2.5)

CANADA 2.1 (3.0)

4.0 (1.4)

2.8 (1.7)

1.1 (–0.2)

4.6 (5.3)

4.4 (3.9)

4.1 (2.7)

2.0 (3.5)

Since Delivery Hero has significant operations in countries 
outside of the Eurozone, a substantial portion of its sales, 
earnings and liabilities are denominated in currencies oth-
er than the Euro. Delivery Hero is therefore exposed to 
fluctuations in the values of these currencies relative to 
the Euro. In the financial year 2018 Delivery Hero noted 
volatility and devaluation of some currencies such as the 
Turkish Lira and the Argentinian Peso. 

Furthermore, since Q3 2018, Americas revenue and GMV 
as well as their respective growth rates were impacted by 
the Argentinian operation qualifying as a hyperinflation-
ary  economy under IAS 29 beginning September 1, 2018 
(refer to section B. 14. b) of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements). No other country of operation has been qual-
ified as hyperinflationary to date.8 

Regarding foreign exchange rates, the euro depreciated 
within 2018 against two currencies to which Delivery Hero 
has a significant exposure: Turkish Lira (TRY) and Argen-
tinian Peso (ARS). Against the following currencies the Euro 
appreciated within 2018: South Korean Won (KRW),  United 
States Dollar (USD), Kuwaiti Dinar (KWD) and Saudi Riyal 
(SAR). Please refer to the following calculated movement 
rates of the euro against these currencies from January to 
December 20189:

 — KRW –4.12% 
 — TRY +27.53% 
 — USD –8.21% 
 — KWD –7.01% 
 — SAR –8.20%
 — ARS +76.18%

8 Company information: Q3 2018 Trading Update
9  Calculated from FactSet data on annual end of period foreign exchange  

rates per euro (EUR)

Source:  International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, October 2018
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b) Sector development
We have a large geographic footprint with operations in 
attractive markets in Europe, MENA, Asia and Americas. 
According to market studies, the total food market amounts 
to € 7.5 trillion10.

Due to the positive outlook for the market for online food 
ordering & delivery, we believe that our business model is 
in a favorable position. The advantages can be attributed 
to some mega-trends that will drive additional growth for 
decades to come:

 — Online & mobile engagement
 — On-demand & last mile logistics
 — Lifestyle, urbanization & convenience

In 2018, we found that the global food industry continues 
to thrive, evolve and innovate; and that at a faster pace 
than originally expected. This assessment is also support-
ed by current independent studies11.

The higher consumer demand for on-demand type of ser-
vices encouraged us to extend our service offering beyond 
our core business model that is the delivery of food. In 
2018 we took the strategic decisions to move towards a 
third-generation delivery company.

Whilst Delivery Heroʼs first phase of disruption was  initially 
the transition of orders from over the phone to online, 
own delivery capabilities have then expanded the total 
addressable market opportunity for food delivery by offer-
ing a wider selection and often higher quality of restau-
rants. 

By continuously investing in logistics, we are looking for 
ways to maximize the efficiency of our rider network. This 
has seen the focus expand to targeting non-food delivery 
to capture a greater share of the consumerʼs wallet. While 
our core business remains the delivery of food, we see 
much upside in investing in additional verticals and shared 
kitchens.12

02. BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

a) Performance
In 2018 revenue of the Group increased to € 665.1 million13 
(previous year: € 453.7 million). This increase is mainly 
attributable to strong organic growth across all segments, 
supplemented by the acquisition of the Carriage group in 
June 2017. 

Total segment revenue increased significantly by 45.6% 
(excluding Germany on a like-for-like basis 64.6%), orders 
increased by 37.8% (excluding Germany on a like-for-like 
basis 48.8%) and GMV grew by 33.3% (excluding Germany 
on a like-for-like basis 42.3%) between 2018 and 2017. The 
target of a significant organic increase in orders, GMV and 
revenues was fully met in 2018. Total segment revenue, 
amounted to € 792.4 million including the German opera-
tions classified as discontinued operations (€ 105.4 million), 
thus exceeded the target of a significant growth of total 
segment revenue that was announced in the Annual Report 
2017 and subsequently specified in the Half-Yearly Report 
2018 (between € 760 million and € 780 million) and fur-
ther narrowed in Q4 2018 (between € 780 million and 
€ 785 million). 

For 2018 a significant improvement of the negative adjust-
ed EBITDA and the negative adjusted EBITDA margin com-
pared with 2017 was expected with breakeven on adjust-
ed EBITDA level on a monthly basis by the end of the fourth 
quarter 2018. 

As reported in the Half-Yearly Report 2018 Delivery Hero 
modified the adjusted EBITDA target by up to € 80.0 million. 
These were planned to be invested additionally in market-
ing, restaurant coverage as well as in product and technol-
ogy. Consequently, considering this modification, the 2018 
negative adjusted EBITDA was expected to be noticeable 
higher and the negative adjusted EBITDA margin to be on 
the same level as 2017 (negative 17% including Germany). 
To reach breakeven on an adjusted EBITDA basis in Decem-
ber 2018 was no longer expected.

10  Euromonitor International; Economies and Consumers; Global Food Market 
represents Consumer Expenditure on Food and Catering, value at fixed 2016 
exchange rates; data as of 2016. 

11, 12  UBS (2018): “is the kitchen dead?” for respective Footnote in part of 
footnote explanations on the bottom of the page.

 13  First time adoption of IFRS 15: Effective January 1, 2018 revenue is 
presented net of discounts. Prior period information is not adjusted. 
Discounts in 2017 amounted to € 26.5 million that are reflected in customer 
acquisition costs of marketing expenses.
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The 2018 negative adjusted EBITDA of the segments 
amounted to € 141.6 million (previous year: negative 
€ 94.2 million14) and was € 47.4 million higher as in the pre-
vious year. The negative adjusted EBITDA margin of the 
segments for 2018 is 18%. 

b) Acquisitions and Investments
The largest acquisitions of businesses during this report-
ing period consist of Deliveras S.A., Greece (“Deliveras”) 
in January 2018, EURO Magyarorszag Kft. (“Pizza HU”) in 
May 2018, and Cloud Treats Romania (“HipMenu”) in July 
2018, food delivery platforms based in Greece, Hungary 
and Romania respectively. In the second half of the year, 
smaller acquisitions in Bolivia (“Netcomidas”), Ecuador 
(“Megabite”) and Uruguay (Motwer S.A.) were done. The 
total consideration for the acquisitions was € 26.8 million. 

Further, Delivery Hero acquired minority shares in Rappi 
Inc. Delaware (“Rappi”) and Glovoapp 23 S.L Spain 
(“ Glovo”), both on demand delivery service-based compa-
nies with investments amounting to total € 138.1 million 
($ 163.9 million) for Rappi and € 55.2 million (net of cash 
€ 51.2 million) for Glovo. Both are included in the consoli-
dated statements at-equity.

During the year some more minority investments were 
executed, the largest being for € 10.1 million in Barogo, a 
logistics company in Korea.

c) Discontinued operations and divestments
On December 20, 2018 the Company signed a transaction 
document with Takeaway.com N.V. pursuant to which 
Delivery Hero sold its German food delivery businesses to 
Takeaway.com. Accordingly, the German businesses are 
classified as discontinued operations in 2018 and 2017 
(refer to section A. 02. and D. 03. e) of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements). The Transaction was completed on 
April 1, 2019. For the measurement of segment perfor-
mance the German businesses are included in the segment 
Europe until December 31, 2018.

On January 31, 2018, Delivery Hero closed the sale of its 
 hungryhouse Group, UK. The gain resulting from these 
 discontinued operations contributed € 261.3 million  to the 
net loss for the full year 2018. 

During the year the group disposed its subsidiaries in  Italy, 
Brazil and Switzerland. The gain from such disposals 
amounted to € 8.2 million. The group also closed its oper-
ations in France, Netherlands and Australia during 2018.

03.  NET ASSETS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND  
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

a) Financial performance of the Group
Business activities presented as discontinued operations 
are not subject to the following discussion of net assets, 
financial positions and result of operations (unless other-
wise stated). The comparative information is adjusted 
accordingly (refer to section A. 02. of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements).

Consolidated statement of profit or loss  
and other comprehensive income 
The 2018 Group result developed as follows: 

CONtiNuiNg OperatiONs

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
reveNue 665.1 453.7 211.4 46.6

COst OF sales –318.0 –173.6 –144.4 83.2

groSS profiT 347.2 280.1 67.0 23.9

marketiNg 
expeNses –313.9 –258.2 –55.8 21.6

it expeNses –54.3 –41.1 –13.2 32.1

geNeral admiNis-
trative expeNses –217.2 –218.3 1.1 –0.5

Other OperatiNg 
iNCOme 10.0 25.0 –14.9 –59.8

Other OperatiNg 
expeNses –9.2 –6.8 –2.5 36.6

impairmeNt 
lOsses ON trade 
reCeivables aNd 
CONtraCt assets –4.3 –14.6 10.3 –70.8

operaTing 
reSUlT –241.7 –233.8 –7.9 3.4

Net iNterest COst 2.8 –17.9 20.7 > 100

Other FiNaNCial 
result 18.8 –74.0 92.8 > 100

share OF the 
prOFit Or lOss OF 
assOCiates 
aCCOuNted FOr 
usiNg the euqity 
methOd –38.6 0.9 –39.5 > 100

earningS before 
income TaxeS –258.8 –324.9 66.1 –20.3

14 Excluding German operations reclassified to discontinued operations.
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Adjusted EBITDA of the segments reconciles to earnings 
before income taxes as follows:

CONtiNuiNg OperatiONs

 
eur milliON 2018 2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
adJUSTed ebiTda 
of The SegmenTS –141.6 –94.2 –47.4 50.3

reClassiFiCatiON 
tO disCONtiNued 
OperatiONs 41.4 11.0 30.4 > 100

adJUSTed ebiTda 
exclUding 
 diSconTinUed 
operaTionS –100.2 –83.2 –17.0 20.4

CONsOlidatiON 
adJusmeNts –12.3 –13.3 1.0 –7.5

items exCluded 
FrOm segmeNt 
perFOrmaNCe –20.0 – –20.0 > 100

maNagemeNt 
adJustmeNts –44.1 –32.8 –11.3 34.3

expeNses FOr 
share-based 
COmpeNsatiON –17.2 –69.5 52.3 –75.2

Other reCONCili-
atiON items –0.2 9.4 –9.6 > 100

amOrtizatiON 
aNd depreCiatiON –47.7 –44.3 –3.5 7.8

Net iNterest aNd 
Other FiNaNCial 
result –17.1 –91.1 74.0 –81.3

earningS before 
income TaxeS –258.8 –324.8 66.0 –20.3

Development of revenue

grOup reveNue

eur milliON

2018

2017

665.1

453.7

The Delivery Hero Group increased its revenue in 2018 to 
€ 665.1 million (previous year: € 453.7 million). Revenue in 
2018 includes discounts of € 41.0 million, that are deduct-
ed from revenue in accordance with IFRS 15. Besides 
 organic revenue growth due to a strong increase in orders, 
continuing investments primarily in marketing and the 
expansion of the Groupʼs own delivery services as well as 
the newly acquired businesses in 2017 and 2018 contribut-
ed to this increase. 

grOup reveNue by type1

eur milliON

5004003002001000

2018 REVENUE CONTINUED OPERATIONS

2017 REVENUE CONTINUED OPERATIONS

1 without consideration of discounts.

OTHER

PRIME PLADINGS

DELIVERY FEES

COMMISSIONS
501.8

337.8

102.8

41.7

50.8

37.5

50.7
36.7

Commissions revenues increased to € 460.8 million  
(previous year: € 337.8 million) representing 69.3% of  
total revenue. 

Development of adjusted EBITDA

adJusted ebitda OF the segmeNts

eur milliON

2018

2017–94.2

–41.4

–11.0

–100.2

–83.2

–141.6

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

ADJUSTED EBITDA WITHOUT DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
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COst OF sales

eur milliON

2018

2017

–318.0

–173.6

Delivery expenses (€ 258.3 million, previous year: 
€ 125.7 million) represent 81.2% (previous year: 72.9%) of 
cost of sales in 2018 (€ 318.0 million, previous year: 
€ 173.6 million) resulting in a disproportional increase of 
cost of sales (83.2%) to the increase of revenue year-on-
year. This development is due to the expansion of the deliv-
ery business in 2018, especially in MENA and the Americas. 
Delivery expenses comprise own delivery personnel 
expenses (€ 95.7 million, previous year: € 48.8 million) and 
external riders and other operating delivery expenses 
(€ 162.6 million, previous year: € 76.9 million). In addition, 
Fees for payment services increased by € 9.6 million due 
to a higher online payment share.

Gross profit margin in 2018 was 52.2% (previous year: 
61.7%). The decline is mainly attributed to the continuous 
roll-out of own delivery services in 2018. Further the appli-
cation of IFRS 15, effective January 1, 2018, resulted in the 
deduction of vouchers provided to orders from gross rev-
enue and decreased gross profit margin. Eliminating the 
effect from first time adoption of IFRS 15 the 2018 gross 
profit margin would be 56.4%.

marketiNg expeNses

eur milliON

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2018

2017

–319.9

–258.2

Marketing expenses increased by € 55.8 million year-on-
year to € 313.9 million. They mainly include expenses for 
customer acquisition of € 148.6 million (previous year: 
€ 135.5 million) and expenses relating to restaurant acqui-
sition of € 91.7 million (previous year: € 62.5 million). This 
increase reflects the increased competition in certain mar-
kets as well as the continuous roll-out of our delivery oper-
ations.

IT expenses increased by € 13.2 million to € 54.3 million. 
They mainly comprise personnel expenses. Most of our IT 
expenses are invested in research and development of our 
local platforms and central support functions to enhance 
the value for our partner restaurants and to further improve 
the customer experience (2018: about € 36.2 million; previ-
ous year: about € 29.0 million).

General administrative expenses amounted to € 217.2 million 
in 2018 (previous year: € 218.3 million). Although in 2018 
expenses for share-based compensation decreased to 
€ 17.2 million (previous year: € 69.5 million), this was com-
pensated by personnel related general administrative 
expenses that increased to € 96.8 million (previous year: 
€ 62.3 million). This is primarily due to acquisition related 
earn-out arragements of € 30.1 million (previous year: 
€ 15.7 million) and the general growth of the administrative 
functions post IPO. 

Other operating income of € 10.0 million (previous year: 
€ 25.0 million) include primarily gains from the disposal of 
subsidiaries. The decrease was due to the one-time dispos-
al gains of € 20.3 million for the divestment of foodpanda 
India in December 2017. 

The other operating expenses amounted to € 9.2 million in 
2018 (previous year: € 6.8 million). The increase was 
 primarily the result from the wind ups and liquidations of 
subsidiaries in 2018.

The decrease in impairment losses on trade receivables and 
contract assets to € 4.3 million (2017: € 14.6 million)  resulted 
mainly from one-off effects in 2017.
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Development of adjusted EBITDA of the Segments 
In 2018 the negative adjusted EBITDA of the segments 
excluding discontinued operations deteriorated to nega-
tive € 100.2 million (previous year: negative € 83.2 million). 
The increase of the negative adjusted EBITDA is mainly a 
result of the additional investments in own delivery ser-
vices, reflected in a disproportional increase in cost of sales, 
as well as marketing and IT. 

b) Business development by segment
The key financial performance indicators for managing the 
Group on segment level are revenue and adjusted EBITDA. 
While Revenue is indicative of the Groupʼs ability to grow 
and to provide attractive service offerings to its custom-
ers, adjusted EBITDA indicates the Groups ability to become 
profitable.

segmeNt reveNue 2018

eur  milliON

EUROPE

AMERICAS

ASIA

MENA

221.3

316.4

62.1

192.5

segmeNt reveNue 2017

eur  milliON

EUROPE

AMERICAS

ASIA

MENA

198.8

153.3

47.4

144.8

Until December 31, 2018 revenue, adjusted EBITDA, order 
and GMV from German businesses classified as discontin-
ued operations is included in the segment presentation. 

From the measurement of the 2018 segment performance 
excluded are operations of foodora Australia, France, Italy 
and Netherlands, that were abandoned or sold during the 
reporting period but were not classified as discontinued 
operations in accordance with IFRS 5. Comparative infor-
mation is not restated.

The performance of our segments is summarized based 
on the main KPIs below:

 
eur  milliON 2018 2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
eurOpe 221.3 198.8 22.5 11.3

meNa 316.4 153.3 163.1 > 100

asia 192.5 144.8 47.8 33.0

ameriCas 62.1 47.4 14.8 31.2

SegmenT revenUe 792.4 544.2 248.2 45.6

reClassiFiCatiON 
tO disCONtiNued 
OperatiONs 105.4 90.0 15.4 17.1

SegmenT revenUe 
exclUding 
 diSconTinUed 
operaTionS 687.0 454.2 232.8 51.2

reCONCiliatiON 
eFFeCts 19.21 –0.5 19.6 > 100

disCOuNt –41.0 0.o2 n.a n.a

groUp revenUe 665.1 453.7 211.4 46.6

1  reconciliaTion effecTs include gross revenue (before voucher deducTion) 
of operaTions abandoned or sold during The reporTing period wich are 
noT in The scope of ifrs 5. in 2018 These divesTMenTs include ausTralia, 
france, iTaly and neTherlands.

2  firsT TiMe adopTion of ifrs 15 effecTive january 1, 2018. group revenue  
is presenTed neT of discounTs. 2017 inforMaTion is noT adjusTed. discounTs 
in 2017 aMounTed To € 26.5 Million ThaT are reflecTed in cusToMer 
 acquisiTion cosTs of MarkeTing expenses. ManageMenT accounTs  underlying 
The segMenT revenue presenTed gross before discounTs.
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eur milliON 2018 2017

ChaNge

eur  
milliON %

 
eurOpe –56.8 –45.5 –11.3 24.8

meNa 18.1 23.9 –5.8 –24.2

asia –51.9 –47.1 –4.8 10.2

ameriCas –50.9 –25.4 –25.5 > 100

adJusted ebitda OF 
the segmeNts –141.6 –94.2 –47.3 50.2

reClassiFiCatiON  
tO disCONtiNued 
OperatiONs 41.4 11.0 30.3 > 100

adJUSTed ebiTda 
exclUding 
 diSconTinUed 
 operaTionS –100.2 –83.2 –17.0 20.5

CONsOlidatiON 
adJusmeNts –12.3 –13.3 1.0 –7.5

items exCluded  
FrOm segmeNt  
perFOrmaNCe –20.0 – –20.0 > 100

maNagemeNt 
adJustmeNts –44.1 –32.8 –11.3 34.3

expeNses FOr  
share-based 
 COmpeNsatiON –17.2 –69.5 52.3 –75.2

Other 
 reCONCiliatiON 
items –0.2 9.4 –9.6 > 100

amOrtizatiON aNd 
depreCiatiON –47.7 –44.3 –3.5 7.8

Net iNterest  
aNd Other  
FiNaNCial result –17.1 –91.1 74.0 –81.3

earNiNgs beFOre 
iNCOme taxes –258.8 –324.8 66.0 –20.3

Consolidation adjustments substantially relate to the  
elimination of transactions with discontinued operations.

Items excluded from segment performance in 2018 relate 
to operations divested during the reporting period of 
€ 20.0 million (previous year: nil). 

Management adjustments relate to costs for services relat-
ing to business transactions and financing rounds of 
€ 40.1 million (previous year: € 22.3 million), costs for reor-
ganization measures of € 3.9 million (previous year: 
€ 5.1 million), costs for the implementation of information 
technologies of € 0.1 million (previous year: € 0.5 million) 
and expenses for the realization of capital market  viability 
of € 0.0 million (previous year: € 5.0 million).

Other reconciliation items include non-operating income 
and expenses. In 2018, this item included in particular gains 
from the disposal of subsidiaries of € 4.4 million (previous 
year: € 19.5 million), impairment of other assets and other 
receivables of € 0.5 million (previous year: € 0.5 million) 
as well as non-income-tax of € 5.5 million (previous year: 
€ 6.2 million).

Number OF Orders

milliON 2018 2017

ChaNge

 milliON %

 
eurOpe 92.6 73.3 19.3 26.3

meNa 190.6 123.1 67.5 54.8

asia 82.6 67.6 15.0 22.2

ameriCas 36.0 27.5 8.5 30.9

ToTal 401.8 291.5 110.3 37.8

gmv

eur milliON 2018 2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
eurOpe 1,377.1 1,160.5 216.6 18.7

meNa 2,099.9 1,369.9 730.1 53.3

asia 1,213.7 924.4 289.3 31.3

ameriCas 406.3 369.5 36.8 10.0

ToTal 5,097.0 3,824.3 1,272.8 33.3

Europe
The revenue of the Europe segment increased to 
€ 221.3 million (plus 11.3%) and the number of orders grew 
to 92.6 million (plus 26.3%). Eliminating the effect from the 
German businesses classified as discontinued operations 
as well as the discontinued foodora businesses in France, 
Italy and Netherlands (Like-for-Like), revenue increased by 
29.6% to € 115.9 million (previous year LfL: € 89.5 million) 
and orders grew by 41.4% to 60.3 million (previous year 
LfL: 42.6 million).
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The negative adjusted EBITDA increased by € 11.3 million 
to negative € 56.8 million. The adjusted EBITDA margin has 
increased from negative 22.9% in 2017 to negative 25.7% 
in 2018. Eliminating the effect from the German business-
es classified as discontinued operations as well as the dis-
continued foodora businesses in France, Italy and Nether-
lands, the negative adjusted EBITDA improved on a 
like-for-like basis from € 3.8 million in 2017 to € 3.0 million. 

MENA 
In 2018, the MENA segment continued to grow strongly in 
revenue (106.4%) to € 316.4 million (previous year: 
€ 153.3 million) and in orders to 190.6 million (previous 
year: 123.1 million). The carriage group acquired in June 
2017, significantly contributed to these increases. The 
appreciation of the Euro against Turkish Lira softened the 
increase in segment reve nue.

The adjusted EBITDA in our MENA segment decreased from 
€ 23.9 million in 2017 to € 18.1 million in 2018. The adjust-
ed EBITDA margin decreased from 15.5% in 2017 to 5.8% in 
2018, which resulted from the further roll-out of own 
 delivery services as well as further investments in sales and 
marketing. The Carriage Group, acquired in June 2017, 
which provides own delivery services also affected the neg-
ative development of the adjusted EBITDA margin in the 
MENA segment.

Asia 
During the year 2018, Asia segment has developed posi-
tively with an increase in segment revenue by 33.0% to 
€ 192.5 million. Orders grew in line by 22.2% to 82.6 million. 
Eliminating the effect from the disposal of our Indian and 
Australian operations (Like-for-Like) revenue increased by 
51.2% to € 192.5 million and orders grew by 49.9% to 
82.6 million. Positive revenue and order development are 

driven by strong growth in Korea and Singapore markets. 
Segment revenue increase is also driven by higher 
non-commission revenue streams, predominantly delivery 
fees.

The negative adjusted EBITDA increased by 10.2% to neg-
ative € 51.9 million (previous year: negative € 47.1 million). 
The adjusted EBITDA margin in 2018 was 27% (previous 
year: negative 33%). On Like-for-Like basis the negative 
adjusted EBITDA increased from € 28.4 million in 2017 to 
negative € 51.9 million in 2018. The increase in adjusted 
EBITDA in 2018 resulted in particular from investments in 
own delivery services and marketing.

Americas
In 2018, revenue in the Americas segment increased by 
31.2% to € 62.1 million (previous year: € 47.4 million) and 
the number of orders grew by 30.9% to 36.0 million (pre-
vious year: 27.5 million). Besides the growth in commission 
revenue, revenue from premium placements and revenues 
for delivery fees also increased in comparison with the 
previous period.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 100.4% to negative 
€ 50.9 million in 2018 (previous year: negative € 25.4 million) 
and consequently the negative adjusted EBITDA margin 
increased from negative 53.6% to negative 81.9% in 2018, 
representing particularly the ongoing investment in own 
delivery service and customer acquisition activities. 

c) Financial Position
The Delivery Hero group treasury function manages the 
liquidity requirements for Delivery Hero SE and its consoli-
dated subsidiaries. The primary goal of financial manage-
ment is the timely provision of liquidity to the Groupʼs sub-
sidiaries, meeting the Groupʼs payment obligation in due 

course and efficiently consign excess funds in banks. Finan-
cial management is based on 36 months cash forecast for 
the Group and a detailed monthly liquidity plan for the 
operating entities of the Group. Cash inflow from dispos-
al of assets and capital increases are administrated by 
Delivery Hero SE. They will be allocated to subsidiaries and 
provided for strategic measures as needed. During the 
reporting period, the Group was able to meet its payment 
obligations at any time.

The financial position of the Group is shown on the basis 
of the following condensed statement of cash flows:

eur milliON 2018 2017

 
Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts  
as OF JaN. 11 640.9 230.9

Cash FlOWs FrOm  
OperatiNg aCtivities –164.6 –209.7

Cash FlOWs FrOm  
iNvestiNg aCtivities –37.1 –117.5

Cash FlOWs FrOm  
FiNaNCiNg aCtivities 10.6 748.8

eFFeCt OF exChaNge rate  
mOvemeNts ON Cash  
aNd Cash equivaleNts –10.1 –10.5

Net ChaNge iN  
Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts –191.1 420.6

caSh and caSh eqUivalenTS  
aS of dec. 311 439.8 640.9

1  cash included in a disposal group classified as held for sale  
deceMber 31, 2018: € 75.7 Million (deceMber 31, 2017: € 13.6 Million).
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Cash flow from operating activities (continued and discon-
tinued operations) was still negative at € 164.6 million, due 
to many group entities not yet reaching break-even and 
the emphasis on growth throughout 2018.

The improved operating cash flow in 2018 is mainly due to 
an improvement in working capital as a result of higher 
online-payment share and an enhanced collection man-
agement.

Cash flows from investing activities (continued and discon-
tinued operations) amounted to negative € 37.1 million. It 
includes the cash inflows from divestment of hungryhouse 
(€ 238.5 million). Cash outflows mainly included payment 
for the acquisition of shares of Deliveras S.A, EURÓ Mag-
yarország Kft., Cloud Treats Romania and Motwer S.A 
(together € 26.8 million (net of cash € 18.7 million)),  minority 
invest-ments in Rappi Inc. (€ 138.1 million),  Glovoapp23 S.L. 
(€ 51.2 million), as well as investments in intangible assets 
(€ 19.7 million) and property, plant and equipment 
(€ 29.6 million).

Cash flows from financing activities (continued and dis-
continued operations) of € 10.6 million (previous year: 
€ 748.8 million) resulted in particular from capital increas-
es in connection with the exercise of equity settled stock 
options during the year 2018. In the year 2017 financing 
activities were substantially affected by Naspers funding 
round, IPO proceeds as well as repayment of shareholder 
loans.

As of December 31, 2018 cash and cash equivalents include 
the cash balances for discontinued op-erations of 
€ 75.7 million (previous year: € 13.6 million).

Cash and cash equivalents were not subject to any signif-
icant restrictions as of the reporting date.

d) Net assets
The Groupʼs balance sheet is structured as follows:

eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 % deC. 31, 2017 % ChaNge

 
NON-CurreNt assets 1,129.2 56.3 1,283.6 62.7 –154.4

CurreNt assets 875.8 43.7 764.6 37.3 111.2

ToTal aSSeTS 2,005.0 100.0 2,048.2 100.0 –43.2

eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 % deC. 31, 2017 % ChaNge

 
equity 1,615.0 80.6 1,720.8 84.0 –105.8

NON-CurreNt liabilities 62.6 3.1 105.2 5.1 –42.6

CurreNt liabilities 327.4 16.3 222.2 10.8 105.2

ToTal liabiliTieS and eqUiTY 2,005.0 100.0 2,048.2 100.0 –43.2

The Groupʼs total assets remained on a constant level as of 
December 31, 2018 compared to the previous year. The 
movement from non-current assets to current assets is 
mainly attributable to the reclassification of the assets for 
the German operating businesses (€ 276.9 million) to cur-
rent assets held for sale. The increase in current assets was 
partially offset by the decrease of cash and cash equiva-
lents (€ 151.0 million).
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struCture OF statemeNt OF FiNaNCial pOsitiON 

(IN % OF TOTAL ASSETS) 

6040200

1

31
18

4
4

46
61

3
14

18

DEC. 31, 2017 DEC. 31, 2018

INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE ASSETS

ASSETS INCLUDED IN A DISPOSAL GROUP
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

OTHER ASSETS

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Non-current assets remain the largest portion of the bal-
ance sheet with 56.3% as of December 31, 2018 (previous 
year: 62.7%). They mainly comprise intangible assets of 
€ 878.0 million (previous year: € 1,222.6 million), thereof 
goodwill € 570.4 million (previous year: € 713.5 million), 
trademarks € 187.7 million (previous year: € 367.7 million) 
and customer base € 86.2 million (previous year: 
€ 126.0 million). Goodwill of € 17.7 million resulted mainly 
from the acquisition of the Deliveras S.A., Pizza HU and 
HipMenu in 2018. The decrease in intangible assets 
(€ 344.6 million) resulted primarily from the reclassifica-
tion of the brand and trademarks as well as goodwill from 
the German operating businesses to assets held for sale.

The significant increase in current assets in 2018 is mainly 
due to the reclassification of non-current assets of the Ger-
man operating businesses to assets held for sale which are 
classified as current.

struCture OF statemeNt OF FiNaNCial pOsitiON 

(IN % OF LIABILITIES AND EQUITY)

8060200 40

84
81
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1
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6
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4
1

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

EQUITY

PENSION PROVISIONS
AND OTHER PROVISIONS

LIABILITIES INCLUDED IN A DISPOSAL
GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

OTHER LIABILITIES

DEC. 31, 2017 DEC. 31, 2018

In 2018 equity is primarily reduced by foreign currency 
translation losses of € 87.3 million (previous year: 
€ 98.8 million) mainly attributable to the appreciation of 
Euro against the Turkish Lira.

As of the reporting date, non-current liabilities mainly 
include deferred tax liabilities of € 41.8 million (previous 
year: € 81.7 million), recognized upon acquisition account-
ing of previous business combinations. 

The increase in current liabilities is primarily due to the 
growth of our businesses as well as a higher online-pay-
ment share and the related increase in restaurant liabili-
ties that increased by about € 30.1 million year-on-year.

e) Overall assessment
The Management Board assesses the financial position, 
financial performance and earnings situation as positive. 
Total segment revenue of € 792.4 million exceeded expec-
tations in 2018.

At the expense of the adjusted EBITDA target for 2018, 
Delivery Hero announced in Q3 2018 an investment pro-
gram targeted to support continuing growths in future 
years and strengthen market leadership positions. Accord-
ingly the adjusted EBITDA margin target for 2018 was low-
ered towards the level of 2017 (negative 17%) and the goal 
of a significant improvement of adjusted EBITDA was 
abandoned. With an adjusted EBITDA margin of negative 
18% of the segments 2018 ended close to the prior year 
level and in line with the adjusted target for 2018. The 
negative adjusted EBITDA of the segments in 2018 was 
€ 141.6 million (previous year: negative € 94.2 million).

04. EMPLOYEES

The average number of employees within our continued 
operations increased from 9,072 in 2017 to 16,627 in 2018. 
This change occurred primarily in the areas of delivery and 
sales, mainly a result of the expansion of own rider per-
sonnel. As of December 31, 2018, Delivery Hero employed 
20,608 staff (previous year: 10,633).
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C. RISK AND OPPORTUNITY REPORT

01. RISK POLICY PRINCIPLES AND RISK STRATEGY 

The constant monitoring, assessment and weighing of 
known and emerging risks is a fundamental principle of 
Delivery Hero and the responsibility of the Groupʼs risk man-
agement. The aim of risk management is to develop a strat-
egy and to set objectives which ensure an optimal balance 
between the growth of business on the one hand and the 
mitigating associated risks on the other hand, thereby sys-
tematically and sustainably foster the Groupʼs shareholder 
value.

A risk is considered as a threat of an event, action or non- 
action occurring that could adversely affect Delivery Heroʼs 
ability to achieve its business objectives or implement its 
strategy. When identifying risks, both negative impacts and 
lost opportunities are considered equally.

The Groupʼs formalized risk management system (RMS) 
focusses solely on managing risks, whereas the considera-
tion of opportunities is not part of this formalized system. 
Possible opportunities arising in business activities are 
described in section C. 06. Opportunity Report. 

a) Risk policy principles
Our Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) is based on the 
following principles:

 — Conscious acceptance of economically viable risks is 
an essential part of any business activity.

 — The goal of ERM is not to avoid risks but to ensure risk 
transparency through a systematic ERM process. There-
by, risks can be accepted if they are known, assessed, 
managed and monitored. Further, in consideration of 
cost-benefit aspects, an accepted risk should correlate 
with a potential higher return and added value for the 
Group.

 — ERM is an integral part of Delivery Heroʼs business pro-
cesses and relates to all business activities within the 
Group.

 — The Management Board, the global and local ERM func-
tions and local management teams are responsible for 
enhancing risk culture and risk awareness. Delivery  
Hero stands for a strong tone from the top with regards 
to ERM and all other Governance, Risk and Compliance 
matters (GRC) in general. Accordingly, over the past 
years Group management strengthened the GRC and 
Internal Audit function by adding relevant expertise, 
embedding local risk management policies in subsid-
iaries supported by central subject matter experts.

 — The ERM ensures a uniform risk understanding through-
out the Group by setting definitions, rules and proce-
dures and by documenting them in the ERM  manual.

 — The effectiveness of the rules and procedures is partic-
ularly contingent on local management teams’ and local 
ERM functions’ commitment to the risk policy princi-
ples. The rules and procedure are subject to further 
development based on the identified risks and the treat-
ment of risks. Furthermore, every employee  within the 
Group has the responsibility to proactively  participate 
in and support ERM.

 — ERM enables risk awareness in business decisions.

b) Risk strategy
The main goal of Delivery Heroʼs risk strategy is not neces-
sarily to avoid all present and future risks, but to assess 
risk with regards to costs and benefits and to preserve risk 
transparency. As we are engaged in an innovative and 
emerging business with relatively high inherent risks that 
rewards with a potentially high return, we are more  willing 
to accept risks and even seeking certain risks to achieve 
our goals within the defined and pursued strategy (risk 
appetite).

Materiality thresholds
Risk-related materiality thresholds are derived from our 
risk appetite. Based on the continuing growth focus of the 
Group, the key metric used as reference for the definition 
of the materiality thresholds is revenue. 

Delivery Hero distinguishes between two types of materi-
ality thresholds:

 —  Reporting thresholds for the identification and assess-
ment of risks. If exceeded, the risks have to be included 
in the Groupʼs enterprise risk assessment and our regu-
lar reporting process. The reporting threshold, consid-
ered to have an insignificant financial impact, is defined 
as follows: Group revenue x 1% x 0.5 (€ 3.3 million).
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 — Materiality limits/escalation criteria for ad-hoc report-
ing: If exceeded during the monitoring phase, risks have 
to be immediately reported to the Risk Manager, the 
Management Board or the Supervisory Board, depend-
ing on the risk level (low, medium, high). The material-
ity limit/escalation criteria for ad-hoc reporting, corre-
sponding to a medium financial impact, is defined as 
follows: Group revenue x 2.5% (> € 16.6 million). 

 — Local entities apply the same formulas with local rev-
enue input for determining risks to be reported to GRC. 

02.  GROUP-WIDE RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (RMS)

The key objectives of Delivery Heroʼs RMS are to manage 
and streamline the group-wide Risk Management process, 
to control all risk management related activities and to 
ensure a comprehensive view on all significant risks of the 
Group. The RMS identifies, assesses, treats, monitors and 
reports risks.

Delivery Heroʼs RMS considers the key elements in accor-
dance with section 315 (2), No. 1a HGB and the internation-
ally recognized COSO framework of the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

It consists of the pillars risk identification, risk assessment, 
risk treatment, risk monitoring and risk reporting. This 
includes the risk management process and its instruments 
as well as all underlying principles and guidelines. The RMS 
is closely aligned with the determination of the Groupʼs 
strategy and its business objectives, including safeguard-
ing of the Groupʼs assets and the value chain. The RMS deals 
with all significant risks, not only with risks that could jeop-
ardize the existence of the Group.

a) Risk identification
Risks are identified by all employees of Delivery Hero, by our 
nominated risk owners throughout the different depart-
ments and by local and global risk managers. This happens 
through data analyses, process reviews, interviews and 
 actual events.

b) Risk assessment
After identification, the risk owners, supported by local 
risk managers, assess their individual risks based on the 
evaluation criteria described below. Those criteria are 
applicable to all subsidiaries of Delivery Hero to ensure 

Identification

Assessment

  Treatment

Monitoring

Reporting

Risk  
Management  

Cycle

Identification 
Risks are identified and listed through data research, 
 interviews, review of processes and follow up incidents.

Assessment  
Identified risks are assessed according to their likelihood  
and impacts which is determining the risk rating.

Treatment  
Assessed risks are treated according to one of the selected  
risk responses: avoid, reduce/mitigate, transfer or accept.

Monitoring  
All identified risks and the related response strategies  
are closely and regularly monitored. Key Risk Indicators are 
the main tools used for monitoring.

Reporting 
Monitored risks are periodically reported to management
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that all risks are assessed uniformly in order to ensure com-
parability.

Risks are assessed with respect to two dimensions:

 —  Impact is the extent to which the risk, if realized, 
would affect Delivery Hero and its objectives. 

 —  Likelihood is defined as the probability of a risk 
occurring over a predefined period.

The combination of likelihood of occurrence and impact 
results in the risk assessment. 

Identified risks in the red area of the matrix require imme-
diate action from management with high priority or need 
to be monitored closely. Risks of the amber area are cate-
gorized as medium risks which require mid-term action 
and/or regular monitoring. Risks in the green area are not 
excluded from actions but have a lower priority.

For assessing the potential impact of a risk, different per-
spectives are considered. Risks can be evaluated either 
from a quantitative (financial) perspective and/or from 
qualitative perspectives such as business objectives, brand 
image, operations, health, legal and environment.

The impact scale ranges from insignificant (score of one) 
to critical (score of five):

I.  Insignificant: The risk does not affect the daily 
 performance/insignificant financial losses/no injuries

II.  Low: Minimal impairment of daily business/first aid 
for injuries required/situation immediately under 
control/ low financial losses

III.  Medium: Medium interruptions of daily business/
medical care needed in case of injuries/medium 
financial losses/damage is limited by external 
 assistance

IV.  High: Temporary loss of business functionality and 
capacity, major violation/damage to reputation, but 
without long-term and subsequent effects or large 
financial losses

V.  Critical: Massive financial losses/bankruptcies/death, 
reputational damage or damage of the relationship 
with the stakeholders.

The financial impact is usually the primary scale for  
the impact assessment.

RISK MATRIX AND FINANCIAL IMPACT SCALE OF DELIVERY HERO 

Medium 

Medium

Low 

Low 

Low 

(1 – 20%)

Medium

Medium

Medium 

Low 

Low 

(>  40 – 60%)

High 

Medium

Medium 

Medium 

Low 

(> 40 – 60%)

High 

High 

Medium

Medium 

Medium 

(> 60 – 80%)

High 

High 

High 

Medium 

Medium 

(> 80%)

Critical  
(€ > 66.5 million)

High  
(€ 33.3 – 66.5 million)

Medium 
(€ 16.6 – 33.3 million)

Low 
(€ 3.3 – 16.6 million)

Impact

Likelihood

Insignificant 
(€ <3.3 million)
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Gross versus net risk
In a first step, we evaluate a risk without considering the 
effect of the risk treatment strategy (see next section) and 
the risk mitigation measures (the gross risk). In the second 
step, we then define the remaining net risk, taking into 
account the risk treatment as well as the implementation 
of any risk mitigation measures.

The chart below presents the differences between gross 
and net risk.

c) Risk treatment
The treatment of risks encompasses actions or strategies 
to manage identified and assessed risks. One of the five 
following options needs to be chosen by the risk owner in 
alignment with management:

I.  Risk avoidance: Risk can be avoided by stopping a 
certain activity that is posing the risk.

II.  Risk reduction/mitigation: Risk can be reduced by 
taking necessary measures.

III.  Risk transfer: The risk can be transferred to a third 
party, insurance, or consulting company.

IV.  Risk acceptance: Taking no action can be favored 
considering cost-benefit analysis.

V.  Risk diversification: e.g. spreading risk through 
 serving of multiple markets

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN GROSS AND NET RISK 

Identified risks

Inherent risk (=gross)
Risks that exist without consideration of controls  

or other management activities 

Risk treatment/mitigation measures:

1. Responsibilities
2. Processes, policies, ICS

3. Training/communication
4. Monitoring/improvement

5. Insurance 

Residual risk (=net)
Risks that exist with  

consideration of controls  
or other management activities 

Acceptable residual risk 
(=target)

Actual Plan 

ICS
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d) Risk monitoring
Risk monitoring refers to the continuous follow-up of iden-
tified, assessed and treated risks with the respective risk 
controller and/or local risk and compliance manager with 
the purpose of evaluating the latest likelihoods and 
impacts as well as to monitor and re-evaluate the defined 
actions and the progress of implementation. Continuous 
risk monitoring is a collective responsibility between the 
global risk managers, local risk managers, as well as with 
the respective risk owners. Continued risk monitoring is 
carried on a regular basis.

e) Risk reporting
We have established the following reporting structure for 
the key risks identified:

I.  Quarterly risk & compliance committee meeting 

II.  Regular updates to the Audit Committee 

III. On-demand updates to the Supervisory Board

IV.  Ad-hoc updates for critical risks to the Management 
Board and/or Supervisory Board.

03.  SYSTEM OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL  
REPORTING CONTROLS

Delivery Hero has implemented a detailed system of inter-
nal financial reporting controls. This system aims to  identify, 
evaluate and control all risks that could have a significant 
impact on the proper preparation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements in compliance with the relevant accounting 
standards and applicable laws. As a key component of the 
accounting and reporting process, the system of internal 
financial reporting controls comprises preventive, monitor-
ing and investigative control measures in accounting and 
operational functions which ensure a methodical and con-
sistent process for preparing the financial statements. The 
control system is based on the various Group processes that 
have a significant impact on financial reporting.

These processes and the relevant risk for the financial 
reporting are analyzed and documented. A control matrix 
contains all controls, including a description of the con-
trol, type of control, frequency with which it is carried out. 
We have implemented standardized monthly reporting 
and review procedures for subsidiary financial statements. 
These are subject to a multi-level monthly review process 
on regional and Group level to ensure consistency and cor-
rectness across the Group. Our global accounting manual 
provides detailed accounting instructions for all key com-
ponents of the financial statements to the Groupʼs finance 
teams. The identification of risks for the consolidated finan-
cial statements further involves the observations of the 
Groupʼs internal audit function, the results of statutory 
audits and the risk assessment of the Group accounting 

function. Based on the assessment of complexity and the 
involvement of judgement within the application of 
accounting policies, the accounting for selected complex 
reporting topics, e.g. business combinations and share-
based compensation arrangements, is centrally adminis-
tered to comply with the Groupʼs reporting requirements. 
Risks are further mitigated by the cross functional 
exchange among central functions, in particular between 
Legal, Strategy, Group Accounting and Group Controlling. 
Identified risks are continuously monitored and reassessed. 
Based on this assessment and in accordance with require-
ments of the respective International Financial Reporting 
Standards, the risks are reflected and disclosed in the 
Groupʼs Consolidated Financial Statements. The system of 
internal controls is subject to regular reviews by the GRC 
department and/or risk-based assessments performed by 
internal audit.

04. INTERNAL AUDIT SYSTEM

Internal audit within Delivery Hero SE is an independent 
function that reports functionally to the Audit Committee 
of the Supervisory Board and administratively to the CFO. 
Internal audit adheres to the principles of the Institute of 
Internal Auditors (IIA) code of ethics: Integrity, Objectivity, 
Confidentiality, and Competency. On an annual basis, inter-
nal audit prepares an internal audit plan taking into con-
sideration risks identified by the risk management system, 
the internal control system, and the compliance system. 
This risk-based audit plan is approved by the Audit Com-
mittee of the Supervisory Board. 
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05. RISK REPORT AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018

In 2018 the Group was exposed to several risks. Although 
most risks were considered known, the risk assessment has 
changed for some of them. In particular, the remarkable 
currency fluctuations in some of our major markets, with 
Argentinean Peso meeting the criteria for being considered 
hyperinflationary in the third quarter 2018 and the substan-
tial devaluation of the Turkish Lira throughout 2018, changed 
the risk exposure from transactions in these currencies. 
Competitive pressure in some of our markets required addi-
tional investments in order to preserve and grow our mar-
ket position. Further, the strong growth of the Delivery Hero 
Group raised organization risks that required mitigation 
measures, including fraud prevention. 

Individual risks are generally assessed for existence for a 
twelve-month period from the reporting date. Key risks of 
each risk area are described below. These risks are appli-
cable to all our segments (unless explicit reference to indi-
vidual segments is made) and based on the gross risk assess-
ment. The actions taken as described below are – unless 
otherwise stated – considered adequate to mitigate the 
respective risks.

a) Strategic risks
The online food delivery market is continuing to grow very 
fast, supported by the internet penetration and use of 
smartphones worldwide. 

Our success depends crucially on our ability to maintain 
our strong position in the markets we are active. If we are 
unable to protect leading market positions, our service 
may be exposed to pricing pressure and sales decline. We 
operate in a competitive environment and our business 
model is vulnerable to short-term changes. Our customers 
could be persuaded to use the platforms of competitors 
who may operate businesses with complementary service 
offerings and different pricing models. New delivery plat-
forms that cover a wide variety of product categories such 
as groceries could affect the market shares of the players 
in the food delivery industry.

The industry environment continues to be highly compet-
itive and the competitors tend to be more aggressive. As 
of today, Delivery Hero is subject to competitive pressure 
in various countries, from other aggregators as well as 
own delivery models and large chains and brands. Large 
global players (e.g. Amazon, UberEeats), as well as new 
well-funded market entrants (e.g. Grab) continue entering 
the food delivery space and restaurant chains continue to 
invest in direct sales channels, both over the phone and 
online. Delivery Hero is focusing on increasing its restau-
rant base and on the enhancement of end customer loyal-
ty, by strongly investing in a seamless customer experi-
ence. The risk of increasing competitive pressure is 
considered high.

Technological changes and disruptive technologies may 
affect our current business model, if we are not able to 
keep up with technological developments. New genera-
tions of consumers and restaurants might expect different 
technological applications and solutions. The risk is con-
sidered high.

As we operate in many countries, including emerging and 
developing markets, we are subject to economic, political 
and legal risks in these countries. Unexpected regulatory- 
or capital market- requirements as well as changes in appli-
cable laws may require Delivery Hero to flexibly adapt pro-
cesses in its markets. Furthermore, turbulences in the 
financial markets, the economic and institutional stability 
of the Eurozone, an expansive monetary policy of large 
central banks worldwide and an unresolved debt problem 
in numerous industrial and developing countries result in 
considerable risks for our business. The risk of economic, 
political, legal and financial risks is considered medium. 

Generally, a non-growing economy in one of our operat-
ing markets could cause a reduction of online food order-
ing as purchasing power may decrease. A static economy 
is one of the factors increasing the counterparty risk, as 
receivables from our restaurant partners could be harder 
to collect. Increasing unemployment rates may impact our 
order volume growth, since online food delivery is more 
popular among people who spend more time at their work-
place than at home and have less time to cook. The risk of 
static economies among the Group is low.

To identify such strategic risks in a timely manner, we pro-
mote local entrepreneurship to enable our local manage-
ment teams (who know their markets best) to react quick-
ly to individual market changes. In addition, we promote 
the strategical and technological cooperation between 
local and central team to leverage from our global orga-
nization. These actions do not mitigate the risk. If needed 
mitigating actions are established based on the individu-
al facts and circumstances identified. 
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b) Operational risks
As an online company, Delivery Hero operates websites, 
platforms, payment solutions and other data processing 
systems, which we use to collect, maintain, transmit and 
store information about our partner restaurants, custom-
ers and suppliers. They all rely on the security of our sys-
tems and that their data are handled properly and are not 
misused. Any breaches would result in material reputation-
al damage. Therefore, we use our best efforts to maintain 
and continuously improve our data security measures. How-
ever, cyberattacks in particular remain the biggest inher-
ent risk of our business model. As the nature and charac-
teristics of cyber-attacks are constantly evolving, the risk 
that new security gaps can only be closed with a time lag 
exists.

Delivery Hero is also subject to several business continuity 
risks. As an internet-based company, we are strongly depen-
dent on the functionality, security and stability of our web-
sites and online order platforms. As online food delivery is 
preferred mainly because of its convenience, even short 
system downtimes can lead to high financial losses, includ-
ing reputational damages to our brands. The risk is consid-
ered high.

To avoid harm to our systems, we are continuously evalu-
ating, improving and implementing processes that reflects 
best practice, which include comprehensive internal con-
trols and employee IT expertise. Before implementation, 
proprietary software is subject to a quality assurance pro-
cess. Methods used to protect against external attacks 
include the use of external service providers, redundant 

systems and regular stress tests. Moreover, an incident 
management process enables a systematic search for the 
causes of any malfunctions. Due to the importance of data 
to our business, we assess the risk of data security issues 
and system malfunctions as high. 

We are continuously increasing the number of deliveries 
and expanding our logistics business in several regions. 
This may be combined with a larger volume of cash that is 
collected and transferred, bearing the risk of theft, incon-
sistencies in cash reconciliations and administrative effort. 
To mitigate this risk, several control mechanisms are estab-
lished that secure the cash-payment procedure. At the same 
time, we are strongly promoting online payment options 
to our business partners and customers. The risk is consid-
ered as medium. 

Country specific and economic requirements, including 
employment legislation and social security, increase the 
complexity of the rider management as part of the own 
delivery services. The constant analysis of regulatory devel-
opments is needed to find the best approach in advancing 
the logistics business. Non-compliance with regulatory 
requirements may lead to higher rider costs and possible 
non-compliance fines. This also includes the risk of unavail-
ability of rider personnel restraining the further expansion 
of the logistic services. This risk is considered as medium.

c) Compliance risks
Government regulations and legal uncertainties may place 
administrative and financial burdens on our business. As 
the internet continues to revolutionize commercial rela-

tionships on a global scale and the use of the internet and 
mobile devices in everyday life becomes more prevalent, 
new laws and regulations relating to the internet and the 
e-commerce sector in particular may be adopted. These 
laws and regulations may affect many aspects of our busi-
ness such as the collection, use and protection of data from 
website visitors and related privacy issues, online payment 
services, pricing, anti-bribery, tax, commission rates 
charged to our partner restaurants, content, copyrights, 
trademarks, origin, distribution and quality of goods and 
services. 

Delivery Hero is in many countries of its Europe segment 
subject to the EU Payment Services Directive II which cov-
ers online-based payment services and provides a uniform 
regulation of payments via the internet and mobile phones. 
It increases customer protection and the requirements for 
user authentication. In particular, the Payment Services 
Directive II prevents European companies without a bank-
ing or payment services license to collect and hold bank 
account payments resulting from online transactions on 
behalf of others (e.g. restaurants in Delivery Heroʼs busi-
ness model). This forces us to either outsource the provi-
sion of payment services to third parties, to discontinue 
our online payment services, or to apply for a banking or 
payment services license. An evaluation and modification 
of relevant processes is done under consideration of exter-
nal advice. The adoption or modification of such regula-
tions could adversely affect our business by increasing 
compliance costs, including noncompliance fines and 
administrative burdens. The risk from payment service reg-
ulations is considered as high.
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Privacy-related regulation of the internet could interfere 
with our strategy to collect and use personal information 
as part of our marketing efforts and operations. With the 
General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation 2016/679/
EU of the European Parliament and Council of April 27, 
2016, the “General Data Protection Regulation”), which 
came into force on May 25, 2018, data controllers have 
more obligations when it comes to handling personal data. 
Due to different interpretation possibilities of the General 
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) with regard to market-
ing activities as well as the use of new and innovative tech-
nologies or processes, the risk exists that regulatory 
authorities and judicature may represent an interpretation 
of the legislative language that deviates from our under-
standing. Regarding GDPR, we have reviewed our data pro-
cessing activities critically, particularly for compliance with 
principles of data processing and adjusted security mea-
sures as defined by Art. 25 and Art. 32 GDPR. Additionally, 
the Group has established specific processes to ensure 
compliance with reporting requirements with respect to 
data protection law. The non-compliance with applicable 
regulations can result to fines and other sanctions. The 
risk is considered as high.

Restaurants in our European segment are subject to numer-
ous food labeling regulations, such as the EU Regulation 
on the provision of food information to consumers, and 
the German Ordinance on Food Additives Approval 
(“Zusatzstoff-Zulassungsverordnung”). Our online market-
places in the European Union are subject to those regula-
tions. Among others the regulations provide for labeling 
requirements with regard to the name of the food, the list 
of ingredients, particularly those known to cause allergies 

or intolerances, the net quantity of the food and the use 
by date. Compliance with these regulations by our partner 
restaurants requires the awareness of the ingredients and 
allergen content of their dishes. We are dependent on the 
accuracy of the relevant information being furnished to 
our marketplaces by our partner restaurants. In order to 
support our partner restaurants, we worked on several 
process improvements and trainings, including consulta-
tion of nutrition experts. Food labeling requirements are 
inherent to our service offering and therefore rated as 
high.

d) Financial risks
As an internationally operating group we are exposed to 
various financial risks. The risks comprise liquidity risks, 
default risks and financial market risks. 

Risk management in relation to the use of financial 
instruments
The objective of our financial risk management is to limit 
these risks arising from business activities and to generally 
avoid transactions outside the operating business activities 
that may expose the Group to additional financial risks. 
Accordingly, such risks are monitored within our risk man-
agement system and managed by the Groups treasury func-
tion. Financial risk management addresses the risk by select-
ing appropriate means, including limitation of external 
financing in order to minimize interest rate risks, matching 
when possible foreign currency denominated cash inflows 
and outflows within the Group to mitigate the foreign cur-
rency exposure as well as performance of aging analyses 
and enforcement of higher share of online payment to 
reduce the default risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet the Groupʼs 
financial obligations due to the lack of financial resourc-
es. Liquidity risks may arise in the form of limited access 
to financing opportunities as a result of the general mar-
ket situation, rising refinancing costs including the risk of 
the DH Group credit rating being downgraded. The expo-
sure to the liquidity risk is closely monitored on group lev-
el using daily liquidity reports and regular cash forecast 
reports to ensure adequate distribution of funds and ear-
ly identification of additional funding needs. In 2018 fund-
ing of operations was secured by cash received in compa-
ny sales (e.g. hungryhouse), excess cash from prior yearʼs 
public share offering and additional funding received in 
the context of capital increases. In 2019 DH entered into a 
revolving credit facility of € 125 million to further secure 
the liquidity of the group. Furthermore, we encountered 
transactions subsequent to December 31, 2018 that posi-
tively affected the liquidity of the Group (refer to section I. 
Subsequent events of the Consolidated Financial State-
ments). The liquidity risk is assessed as medium.

Financial market risk
Since our operations are conducted in many different cur-
rencies, we are exposed to risks from changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates. Driven by our geographic foot-
print and investing activities outside the European Mon-
etary Union, such risks are caused by fluctuations or deval-
uations of currencies as well as foreign exchange controls 
or governmental measures that impact our ability to con-
vert currencies and repatriate dividends, if any. Currency 
exchange risks and movements in foreign exchange rates 
between the Euro and the currencies of the local markets 
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may materially impact the results of our operations due to 
translation effects. The Groupʼs entities are exposed to cur-
rency risk in particular with regard to intercompany loan 
obligations denominated in foreign currencies and inter-
company receivables and payables. Adverse translation 
effects are caused by the translation of financial results of 
our consolidated subsidiaries prepared in their respective 
functional currencies into Euro, our reporting currency, in 
the course of preparing the Groupʼs consolidated financial 
statements. The foreign currency exposure includes, 
among others, the Turkish Lira, the Argentinian Peso, the 
Korean Won, the US Dollar, Saudi-Riyal and Kuwaiti Dina, 
volatility of foreign exchange rates and depreciations of 
currencies against the Euro are especially noted for Turk-
ish Lira and Argentinian Peso. Beginning with the third 
quarter of 2018 it was concluded that Argentinaʼs econo-
my is highly inflationary. From thereon Argentina is report-
ed as a hyperinflationary economy under IAS 29 (refer to 
section B. 14. of the Consolidated Financial Statements). 
No other country has been qualified as hyperinflationary 
to date. We are closely monitoring foreign currency deval-
uations and are reassessing the associated financial risks. 
Material mitigating actions were not actively taken. Cur-
rency risks are considered medium.

The following table shows the effects on profit or loss that 
would result if the foreign currencies had appreciated  
or depreciated by 10% as of the reporting date.

 
ChaNges iN  
eur milliON

dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
+10% –10% +10% –10%

usd-eur –23.0 23.0 0.2 –0.2

eur-krW 9.7 –9.7 7.7 –7.7

eur-try –4.5 4.5 –2.8 2.8

kWd-sar 4.5 –4.5 0.9 –0.9

kWd-aed 3.9 –3.9 0.1 –0.1

sar-bhd –3.5 3.5 0.0 0.0

eur-sgd 3.4 –3.4 0.4 –0.4

eur-kWd 2.7 –2.7 0.1 –0.1

eur-tWd 1.5 –1.5 0.0 0.0

bhd-aed 1.3 –1.3 0.0 0.0

qar-kWd 1.2 –1.2 0.0 0.0

eur-myr 1.1 –1.1 0.0 0.0

eur-pkr 1.0 –1.0 0.5 –0.5

eur-php 1.0 –1.0 0.7 –0.7

eur-gbp 0.0 0.0 3.2 –3.2

Since the group currently does not have significant inter-
est-bearing liabilities, the group is currently not exposed 
to risks arising from interest rate fluctuation.

Default risk
The default risk is the risk that business partners, primar-
ily restaurants, do not meet their payment obligations, 
which may result in a loss for the Group. This risk mainly 
involves current trade receivables from offline payments. 
Delivery Hero is not exposed to a significant default risk 
from a single customer. The default risk is generally spread 
widely over multiple restaurant partners. Besides an active 
account receivable management, the Group is mitigating 
the default risk by aiming for a higher online payment 

share. Overall the default risk is classified as low risk con-
sidering the high degree of diversification

06. OPPORTUNITY REPORT

The Opportunity Report deals with the business opportu-
nities for Delivery Hero, which can materialize during the 
year following the reporting date.

Macroeconomic development
Every person that owns a phone is a potential customer, 
regardless of whether orders are made online or offline. 
We believe that growth opportunities in our markets will 
be driven by several fundamental tailwinds, including 
increasing online and mobile customer engagement and 
last-mile logistics capabilities, as well as shifts in custom-
er behavior due to changes in life-style, urbanization and 
convenience. This trend is particularly driven by a gener-
ation of millennials that heavily relies on smartphones for 
everyday transactions, overall convenience and represents 
the growing on-demand culture. Additionally, technology 
evolves and fundamentally changes consumption habits. 

Other market developments
Not only did the number of our customers grow, this past 
year has also seen a high increase in order frequency per 
person. We expect this trend to continue in the upcoming 
years and predict a large growth rate of order frequency. 

As more consumers generate more orders, the market-
place becomes more attractive to restaurants, and being 
listed in the marketplace becomes an operational neces-
sity at some point. 

We envision growth opportunities by focusing on and 
investing in markets where we are leading players and 
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markets where we see a potential to become market lead-
ers with a reasonable investment level. Delivery Hero oper-
ates in more than 41 countries, which provides us with a 
substantially larger growth opportunity in comparison 
with our peers, lower operational and financial risks, and 
a better opportunity in terms of the significant investments 
in technology.

Logistics
Innovation in delivery, including demand forecasting mod-
els, fleet management and route optimization will enable 
us to cost optimize our own delivery business. As a result 
of the investments we made in our logistics services, our 
deliveries have continuously increased. We expect that the 
near future will see a steady rise in the use of our delivery 
services by restaurants worldwide. 

Our mature logistics infrastructure and management enable 
us to deliver other on-demand products, expanding our 
market to the non-food sector (e.g. groceries or flowers) in 
the future. Finally, alternative delivery options, including 
automated guided vehicles and drones, may complement 
the delivery options and increase the coverage of our ser-
vices.

Personalization and customer experience
Hyper personalization of services and recommendation of 
menu options enhance the end-customer experience. 
Based on data collection and analysis we aim to identify 
usersʼ meal preferences before they know them themselves. 
Such an aspect of convenience may provide further growth 
potential. 

Enhancing the customer experience by providing services 
tailored to individual preferences may further increase the 
user exposure to our websites. This may enable us to gen-
erate complementary revenue from marketing services as 
well as cross-listing of other services and products. We 
believe that the ongoing development of personalized 
offerings will have a significant impact on customer reten-
tion. 

Technology
The group continues to integrate global application solu-
tions into local platforms and aim standardization. We are 
convinced that this approach will further simplify our com-
plex IT landscape and reduce maintenance. This will also 
have a positive effect on IT development expenses. In addi-
tion, by advancing the automatization of operations we 
expect to improve pace and service quality in areas like 
customer care, billing and rider onboarding in the  
near term.

Personnel opportunities 
Delivery Hero has a wealth of talented professionals world-
wide which enables us to grow at speed whilst maintaining 
best practices. We are able to dedicate our best resources 
to challenges we may face in any country. 

Our people operations department supports the business 
in core operations, people partnering, talent development, 
employee engagement, employee experience and talent 
acquisition. This ensures we are able to retain those talent-
ed professionals we work alongside, attract new talent and 
further grow our reputation and business. 

D. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND OUTLOOK

01. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 28, 2019 Delivery Hero Group announced that 
it entered into an agreement with Zomato Media Pvt. Ltd. 
(“Zomato”) to buy its food delivery business in the United 
Arab Emirates (UAE) through its fully owned subsidiary Tal-
abat Middle East Internet Services Company LLC (“ Talabat”). 
The agreement encompasses the acquisition of restaurant 
contracts as well as the conclusion of a service and license 
agreement. The consideration for the acquisition amounts 
to $ 172.0 million. Besides this consideration a contingent 
payment depending on the future performance of the busi-
ness was agreed. The maximum contingent payment 
amounts to $ 44.0 million.

The acquisition will add approx. 1.2 million monthly orders 
and approx. $ 2 million monthly revenue to Delivery Heroʼs 
MENA business and will strengthen its leadership position 
in the UAE. The acquisition was fully funded by an acquisi-
tion facility. On April 1, 2019 the facility was fully repaid.

Moreover, Delivery Hero participated in Zomatoʼs latest 
funding round by investing $ 50.0 million into Zomatoʼs 
global business to become a Top 10 shareholder and also 
entered into a material operational partnership agreement.

On April 1, 2019 the sale of Delivery Heroʼs German food 
delivery operations to Takeaway.com was concluded. The 
total consideration Delivery Hero has received amounts to 
(i) approx. 5.7 million ordinary shares in Takeaway.com, (ii) 
approx. 3.8 million warrants convertible into ordinary 
shares of Takeaway.com at zero cost and (iii) approx. 
€ 508 million of cash. The total consideration (subject to 
customary price adjustments) at time of closing amounts 
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to € 1.15 billion. The total consideration is net of cash, i.e. 
Delivery Hero keeps the net cash position of its German 
food delivery operations. Post exercise of the warrants, 
the share component represents approx. 15.5% of the total 
issued and outstanding share capital of Takeaway.com. As 
of December 31, 2018 the German operations are classified 
as disposal group classified as held for sale (refer to sec-
tion D. 03. e).

As a result of the transaction, the mandate of Semih  Yalcin, 
employee representative in Delivery Heroʼs supervisory 
board ended. His successor is Christian Graf von Harden-
berg, Chief Technology Officer of Delivery Hero.

On April 4, 2019 the Company has decided to enter into a 
multi-year equity collar agreement in relation to 3.2 million 
of its shares in Takeaway.com, which it received in connec-
tion with the sale of its German food delivery to Takeaway.
com.

The objective of the collar transaction is to provide pro-
tection on approximately one third of the shares 
Delivery Hero received in Takeaway.com. The equity collar 
will also allow Delivery Hero to participate in part of any 
further share price appreciation of this portion of the Take-
away.com shareholding. Delivery Hero has elected for cash 
settlement of the collar over time by default.

To facilitate the transaction, Morgan Stanley will sell up to 
3 million of such shares in Takeaway.com through an accel-
erated bookbuild offering. The cash raised from the place-
ment will be released to Delivery Hero to allow for 
increased strategic flexibility for opportunistic M&A trans-
actions. Delivery Hero has committed to a 90-day lock-up 
with respect to additional Takeaway.com shares following 
the pricing of the offering.

02. OUTLOOK

i. Macroeconomic and industry outlook

In October 2018, the IMF issued in its World Economic Out-
look a global economic growth prognosis of 3.7% for 2019, 
a moderate decline by 0.2 percentage points compared to 
prior growth expectations. In some economies, growth 
may have reached its peak. For developed economies, such 
as the Euro area, projections have been revised down, 
reflecting a softer market in early 2018. Emerging market 
growth prospects are negatively impacted by a higher yield 
environment as well as escalating trade tensions. Howev-
er, the outlook for some oil exporting countries in MENA 
has strengthened. Main risk factors for global growth are 
increasing trade tensions and political uncertainties which 
could result in tighter financial market conditions, cause 
disruptive portfolio adjustments or sharp exchange rate 
movements.15 

The highly fragmental global food service market contin-
ues to provide further growth opportunities16. Delivery  
Heroʼs Total Addressable Market (TAM) is estimated to be 
greater than previously indicated € 70 bn for food delivery 
only. This is expected to continue expanding into the larg-
er than € 500 billion food services market opportunity. The 
expansion is mainly driven by structural trends such as: 

 — Online & mobile engagement,

 — On demand & last mile logistics,

 — Life-style, urbanization & convenience17. 

This assessment is also supported by current independent 
studies. 

Delivery Hero is well positioned to benefit from these 
favorable trends and developments due to its global foot-
print, the leading market position in key markets and its 
broad customer base.

ii. Company expectations

In 2018, on total segment level Delivery Hero has achieved 
an order, GMV and revenue growth of 37.8%, 33.3% and 
45.6%, respectively. Excluding Germany on like-for-like 
Basis the order-, GMV- and revenue-growth was 48.8%, 
42.3% and 64.6% respectively. For 2019, the Company has 
set up a comprehensive investment program, covering mar-
keting, restaurant coverage, technology and product capa-
bilities, which we believe will enable us to significantly 
increase orders and GMV compared to 2018. 

15 WEO from October 2018, IMF
16 Euromonitor, Independent Consumer Foodservice

17 KBB Review (2018): http://www.kbbreview.com/news/is-the-kitchen-dead-
new-report/
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The investment program will positively affect the 2019 rev-
enue growths but also contribute to incremental revenues 
in the years starting 2020. For 2019 Delivery Hero expects 
to achieve total segment revenues between € 1,080 million 
and € 1,150 million. The measures under the investment 
program will affect the Groupʼs adjusted EBITDA in 2019. 
Accordingly, we expect the 2019 adjusted EBITDA of the 
segments between negative € 270 million and negative 
€ 320 million. For the MENA segment, we anticipate gen-
erating € 70 million of adjusted EBITDA in 2019. During the 
second half of 2019 we expect the Europe segment to 
breakeven on an adjusted EBITDA basis. 

Due to the comparatively short history of the Group and 
the fact that Delivery Hero is operating in a relatively new 
market, any forecast on the earnings trend is subject to 
considerable uncertainty. Besides factors that can be 
impacted by Delivery Hero, adjusted EBITDA is also contin-
gent on factors that cannot be influenced. For example, if 
the Group were forced to defend its position against new 
competitors in specific markets or to react to revenue 
downturns, then measures which may not have been 
scheduled previously may have to be implemented (e.g. 
increasing marketing expenditure) which can negatively 
affect adjusted EBITDA and trigger considerable deviations 
from the estimated results.

The assumptions on the economic development of the mar-
ket and the industry are based on assessments which the 
management of the Delivery Hero Group considers realis-
tic in line with currently available information. However, 
these estimates are subject to uncertainty and bring with 
them the unavoidable risk that the forecasts do not occur, 
either in terms of direction or in relation to extent. The 
forecast for the forecast period is based on the composi-
tion of the Group at the time the financial statements were 
prepared.

E. OTHER DISCLOSURES

01.  TAKEOVER-RELATED INFORMATION PURSUANT TO 
SECTIONS 289a (1) AND 315a (1) OF THE GERMAN 
COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB)

Takeover related information pursuant to sections 289a (1) 
and 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) pre-
sented in section Corporate governance report – Take-
over-related disclosures and explanatory notes by the man-
agement board of the 2018 annual report are incorporated 
by reference into this Combined management report.

02.  COMPENSATION REPORT PURSUANT TO  
SECTIONS 289a (2) AND 315a (2) OF THE  
GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB)

The compensation report pursuant to sections 289a (2) 
and 315a (2) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) pre-
sented in section Corporate governance report – Compen-
sation report of the 2018 Annual report is incorporated by 
reference into this Combined management report.

03. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Management and Supervisory Boards of Delivery  
Hero SE have issued a statement of conformity pursuant 
to the German Corporate Governance Code (section 161 of 
the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)), which was pub-
lished on the website of Delivery Hero AG in December 
2018 (https://ir.deliveryhero.com).

04. NONFINANCIAL REPORT 

The combined separate nonfinancial report of Delivery  
Hero SE and the Group prepared in accordance with sec-
tions 315b, c and 289b to e of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) is included in the Annual Report 2018 in section 
“Nonfinancial report” and is published on the website of 
Delivery Hero SE (https://ir. deliveryhero.com).

05. TREASURY SHARES

For information of the treasury shares held as of the report-
ing date in accordance with section 160 (1) no. 2 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (AktG) we refer to section III. 
Notes to the individual balance sheet items – Equity of the 
notes to the 2018 financial statements of Delivery Hero SE 
published on the website of Delivery Hero SE (https://ir. 
deliveryhero.com).
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F.  SUPPLEMENTARY MANAGEMENT REPORT  
TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
OF DELIVERY HERO SE

The management report of Delivery Hero SE and the group 
management report have been combined. The annual 
financial statements of Delivery Hero SE were prepared in 
accordance with the German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch) (“HGB”).

01. BUSINESS MODEL

Delivery Hero SE (the “Company”), a European stock cor-
poration, is the parent company of the Delivery Hero Group 
(also DH, DH Group, Delivery Hero or Group) with its reg-
istered office at Oranienburger Straße 70, 10117 Berlin, Ger-
many.

Delivery Hero SE is the holding company of the Groupʼs 
subsidiaries that operate online food ordering and deliv-
ery marketplaces businesses under the brand Delivery Hero 
as well as certain regional brands. Its operating activities 
include the administration of participation in other com-
panies as well as the provision of general administrative-, 
marketing- and IT related services and financing to these 
direct and indirect participations.

With the merger agreements dated March 8, 2018 and the 
approvals of the same day, the wholly-owned subsidiaries 
9Cookies GmbH, SSC Volo GmbH and Foodora Holding 
GmbH were merged with Delivery Hero SE.18 The acquisi-
tion of the assets took effect on January 1, 2018. The acquir-
ing legal entity, Delivery Hero SE, has continued the car-
rying amounts of the merged legal entities. The merger 
was registered with the Company on April 25, 2018 in the 
Commercial Register Berlin Charlottenburg.

Due to the merger, the amounts in the balance sheet as at 
December 31, 2018 are not comparable with those at 
December 31, 2017 and in the 2018 income statement not 
comparable with the previous yearʼs amounts. 

With registration in the commercial register on July 13, 
2018, the conversion of Delivery Hero AG into Delivery  
Hero SE, a European stock corporation, became effective.

Delivery Hero SE is represented by its management board, 
which also determines the corporate strategy of the Group. 
In its capacity as a Group holding company, Delivery Hero SE 
maintains central functions including group controlling, 
group accounting, investor relations, risk management, 
internal audit, corporate taxes, mergers and acquisitions, 
treasury and human resources.

02.  NET ASSETS, FINANCIAL POSITIONS AND RESULT 
OF OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY

a) Results of operations
The results of operations of Delivery Hero SE are shown 
below in a summarized income statement:

ChaNge

 
eur milliON 2018 2017 absOlute %

 
reveNue 55.6 35.8 19.8 55.6

Other OperatiNg 
iNCOme 281.9 34.5 247.4 > 100

Other OWN  
WOrk Capitalized 1.5 0.6 0.9 > 100

material 
expeNses –5.9 –0.2 –5.7 > 100

persONNel 
expeNses –79.0 –101.4 22.4 –22.1

Other OperatiNg 
expeNses –168.7 –88.9 –79.8 89.8

depreCiatiON, 
amOrtizatiON 
aNd impairmeNts –110.7 –74.1 –36.6 49.4

Net iNterest 
result 16.9 –3.5 20.4 >100

iNCOme FrOm 
iNvestmeNts 3.3 7.3 –4.0 –54.2

earningS before 
TaxeS (ebT) –5.0 –190.0 185.0 97.4

taxes –2.0 –0.6 –1.4 > 100

neT loSS –7.0 –190.6 183.6 –96.3

18 SSC Volo GmbH merged with Foodora Holding GmbH.
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The increase in revenue in 2018 was mainly attributable to 
higher services recharges to Group subsidiaries.

In 2018 other operating income increased by € 247.4 million 
as compared to the previous year. The increase mainly 
resulted from the sale of the hungryhouse group which 
contributed € 204.9 million to other operating income. In 
addition, other operating income contains of € 38.1 million 
recharged cost incurred on behalf of Group subsidiaries 
(previous year: € 12.5 million) as well as € 12.9 million real-
ized and unrealized foreign currency gains (previous year: 
€ 6.6 million). 

The € 5.7 million increase in material expenses compared 
to the previous year resulted mainly from the purchase of 
restaurant merchandise and equipment, which was pur-
chased as part of shared service center functions for the 
Group subsidiaries. These were purchased in the previous 
year by SSC Volo GmbH. SSC Volo GmbH has been merged 
with Delivery Hero SE in 2018.

Personnel expenses decreased by € 22.4 million as com-
pared to the previous year. The decrease by € 54.2 million 
resulted mainly from less expenditures for share-based 
compensation, which increased in 2017 due to the number 
of awards granted following the acquisition of minorities 
(roll-over) preceding the IPO as well as valuation effects. 
Offsetting this effect, an increase in the number of employ-
ees resulted in a € 35.5 million increase in personnel 
expenses, also driven by the merger of SSC Volo GmbH.

Other operating expenses increased by € 79.8 million to 
€ 168.7 million in 2018, consisting pri-marily of losses result-
ing from the mergers of SSC Volo GmbH and Foodora Hold-
ing GmbH of € 65.8 million, loss from disposal of DS X X XVI 
Italy S.r.l. of € 8.8 million, liquidation of Ceraon B.V. 

of € 3.1 million, higher expenses for IT and licenses of 
€ 13.8 million (previous year: € 4.7 million) as well as high-
er expenses for marketing of € 18.3 million (previous year: 
€ 2.7 million). The increase is partially offset by reduced 
expenses from foreign currency losses of € 4.6 million (pre-
vious year: € 13.4 million) and for consulting services of 
€ 19.9 million (previous year: € 46.3 million). 

Depreciation, amortization and impairments includes 
amortization of intangible assets of € 3.1 million (previous 
year: € 1.4 million), depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment of € 2.0 million (previous year: € 0.9 million), 
impairment of interests in affiliated companies of 
€ 28.7 million (pre-vious year: € 46.6 million) and impair-
ment on loans of € 58.4 million (previous year: € 24.7 million) 
and on trade receivables in the amount of € 18.6 million 
(previous year: € 0.7 million).

Mainly Impairment of shares in affiliated companies, loans 
to affiliated companies and receivables from affiliated com-
panies in 2018 related to the following companies: Inver-
siones CMR S.A.S., Food Delivery Holding 15 S.à r.l., Foo-
dora Finland Oy, Foodora AB, Volo Netherlands B.V. 
Foodo-ra France SAS and Ranila Online Services Private 
Ltd. In 2017 impairments related to 9Cookies GmbH, Inver-
siones CMR S.A.S., Food Delivery Holding 15 S.à r.l., Foo-
dora Australia Pty ltd. and Restaurant Partner Polska 
Sp.z.o.o.

Income from the sale of the hungryhouse group contrib-
uted significantly to the improvement in the annual result 
in 2018. Increased personnel expenses relating to employ-
ee salaries and operating losses in connection with the 
mergers of the companies SSC Volo GmbH and Foodora 
Holding GmbH had a compensatory effect.

Net loss includes expenses for research and development 
activities in 2018 of € 19.3 million (previous year: € 6.2 million). 
Furthermore, development costs of € 2.1 million were capi-
talized in 2018 (previous year: € 0.6 million).

Delivery Hero SE expects a significant improvement in net 
result for 2019 due to expected higher other operating 
income from the sale of the German business.

b) Financial position
The following condensed cash flow statement (indirect 
method) shows the companyʼs financial position:

  
eur milliON 2018 2017

 
Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts  
at the begiNNiNg OF the 
FiNaNCial year 403.0 0.8

Cash FlOWs FrOm  
OperatiNg aCtivities –38.1 –157.5

Cash FlOWs FrOm  
iNvestiNg aCtivities –261.7 –209.9

Cash FlOWs FrOm  
FiNaNCiNg aCtivities 5.6 770.5

Net ChaNge iN Cash  
aNd Cash equivaleNts –294.2 403.1

eFFeCt OF mOvemeNts iN 
exChaNge rates ON Cash  
aNd Cash equivaleNts 2.6 –0.9

caSh and caSh eqUivalenTS  
aT The end of The financial 
Year 111.4 403.0
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The negative cash flow from operating activities mainly 
resulted from usual business payments, for example per-
sonnel expenses and consultancy expenses, which are only 
partially passed on to the companies in the Group as a 
result of the Group-wide cost allocation concept.

The cash flow from investing activities mainly includes pay-
ments for investments (mainly in Rappi Inc. and GlovoApp23 
S.L.) and payments for long-term loans to subsidiaries total-
ing € 498.6 million. Cash inflows of € 238.5 million resulted 
from the sale of the hungryhouse Group.

The positive cash flows from financing activities resulted 
mainly from cash receipts resulting from capital increases 
in connection with the exercise of equity settled stock 
options.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had unused credit 
lines from third parties amounting to € 0.0 million (previ-
ous year: € 75.0 million). On January 29, 2019, a new credit 
line of € 125.0 million was granted.

c) Net assets
Net assets are illustrated by means of a condensed balance 
sheet:

 

dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

ChaNge (%)
 

eur milliON share (%) eur milliON share (%)

 
aSSeTS

NON-CurreNt assets 2,421.4 91.42 2,034.4 78.46 19.0

CurreNt assets 222.8 8.41 555.8 21.44 –59.9

prepaid expeNses 4.4 0.17 2.6 0.10 66.7

ToTal aSSeTS 2,648.6 100.00 2,592.9 100.00 2.2

 
liabiliTieS

equity 2,563.3 96.78 2,511.4 96.86 2.1

prOvisiONs 22.0 0.83 11.8 0.46 86.4

liabilities 62.2 2.35 67.1 2.59 –7.4

deFerred iNCOme 1.1 0.04 1.3 0.05 –10.3

deFerred tax liabilities 0.0 0.00 1.3 0.05 > 100

ToTal eqUiTY and liabiliTieS 2,648.6 100.00 2,592.9 100.00 2.2
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The total assets of Delivery Hero SE increased by 2.2% in 
2018. This increase resulted primarily from inflow of funds 
from the Companyʼs capital increases. This increase results 
primarily from inflow of funds from the capital increases 
used by the Company in the context of its financing activ-
ities with its affiliated companies.

Non-current assets as of December 31, 2018 primarily con-
sisted of shares in affiliated companies (€ 1,686.3 million, 
previous year: € 1,605.3 million), Investments (€ 206.2 million, 
previous year: € 9.0 million) and loans to affiliated compa-
nies (€ 500.4 million: previous year: € 410.0 million).

Current assets as of December 31, 2018 consisted primarily 
of cash and cash equivalents of € 111.4 million, (previous year: 
€ 403.0 million) as well as receivables and other assets in the 
amount of € 106.2 million (previous year: € 152.7 million).

Equity as of December 31, 2018 increased to € 2,563.3 million 
(previous year: € 2,511.4 million) mainly resulting from cap-
ital increases from share-based compensation as well as 
the contribution in kind of non-controlling interests of 
€ 59.0 million. On the contrary, equity decreased by 
€ 7.0 million from the net loss of the period. The equity 
ratio was 96.8% and has changed only slightly compared 
to the previous year (previous year: 96.9%).

The increase in provisions in 2018 by € 10.2 million result-
ed from provisions for not received invoices (€ 15.1 million, 
previous year: € 5.6 million). 

The liabilities as of December 31, 2018 (€ 62.2 million) relate 
mainly to fixed interest-bearing loan made to Delivery Hero 
group companies of € 54.2 million (previous year: 
€ 53.0 million), thereof € 34.5 million denominated in USD 
(previous year: € 41.0 million). The decline in liabilities com-
pared to the previous year is attributable to payments 
received of € 7.0 million as part of the sales agreement of 
the hungryhouse Group and has been reported in the bal-
ance sheet.

d) Overall assessment
The management assessed the Companyʼs net assets, finan-
cial position and results of operations as positive due to 
the improvement of the financial positions, capital contri-
butions and the increased volume of services provided to 
Group subsidiaries. Although the company continued to 
incur losses, these were within the forecasted range.

During the year 2018, the Company further strengthened 
its headquarter functions by merging with SSC Volo GmbH. 
The central service offerings were extended, providing 
more services to the subsidiaries to facilitate the sharing 
of technological advantages in many markets to pursue 
new business opportunities. In 2019, the Company foresees 
to continue to grow the central team to further consolidate 
the Groupʼs platform landscape.

Berlin, April 23, 2019

Niklas Östberg Emmanuel Thomassin
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
assets

eur milliON NOte dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
non-cUrrenT aSSeTS

iNtaNgible assets f. 01. 878.0 1,222.6

prOperty, plaNt aNd equipmeNt f. 02. 38.8 23.4

Other FiNaNCial assets f. 03. 49.8 31.4

Other assets f. 05. 0.3 0.3

iNvestmeNts aCCOuNted FOr usiNg  
the equity methOd d. 03. c) 162.3 5.9

1,129.2 1,283.6

 
cUrrenT aSSeTS  

iNveNtOries f. 07. 3.1 2.4

trade aNd Other reCeivables f. 04. 85.1 88.8

Other assets f. 05. 54.5 17.6

iNCOme tax reCeivables f. 14. 2.2 0.4

Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts f. 08. 364.1 627.3

assets iNCluded iN a dispOsal grOup ClassiFied  
as held FOr sale d. 03. e) 366.8 28.1

875.8 764.6

ToTal aSSeTS 2,005.0 2,048.2

equity aNd liabilities

eur milliON NOte dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
eqUiTY

share Capital/subsCribed Capital
f. 09. a) 
and b) 185.9 182.5

Capital reserves f. 09. c) 2,688.2 2,661.3

retaiNed earNiNgs aNd Other reserves f. 09. d) –1,256.7 –1,124.5

treasury shares f. 09. e) –0.1 0.0

equity attributable tO sharehOlders  
OF the pareNt COmpaNy 1,617.4 1,719.3

NON-CONtrOlliNg iNterests –2.3 1.5

1,615.0 1,720.8

 
non-cUrrenT liabiliTieS

peNsiON prOvisiONs f. 10. 2.7 1.9

Other prOvisiONs f. 11. 6.2 3.6

trade aNd Other payables f. 12. 8.6 2.8

Other liabilities f. 13. 3.2 15.2

deFerred tax liabilities f. 06. 41.8 81.7

  62.5 105.2

 
cUrrenT liabiliTieS  

Other prOvisiONs f. 11. 4.9 21.2

trade aNd Other payables f. 12. 172.0 135.1

Other liabilities f. 13. 68.4 41.9

iNCOme tax liabilities f. 14. 7.3 10.1

liabilities iNCluded iN a dispOsal grOup  
ClassiFied as held FOr sale d. 03. e) 74.8 13.9

327.4 222.2

ToTal eqUiTY and liabiliTieS 2,005.0 2,048.2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

eur milliON NOte 2018
adJusted 

20171

 
conTinUing operaTionS

reveNue g. 01. 665.1 453.7

COst OF sales g. 02. –318.0 –173.6

groSS profiT 347.2 280.1

marketiNg expeNses g. 03. –313.9 –258.2

it expeNses g. 04. –54.3 –41.1

geNeral admiNistrative expeNses g. 05. –217.2 –218.3

Other OperatiNg iNCOme g. 06. 10.0 25.0

Other OperatiNg expeNses g. 07. –9.2 –6.8

impairmeNt lOsses ON trade reCeivables aNd  
CONtraCt assets g. 07. –4.3 –14.6

operaTing reSUlT –241.7 –233.8

Net iNterest COst g. 08. 2.8 –17.9

Other FiNaNCial result g. 09. 18.8 –74.0

share OF the prOFit Or lOss OF assOCiates 
aCCOuNted FOr usiNg the euqity methOd d. 03. e) –38.6 0.9

earningS before income TaxeS –258.8 –324.9

 
iNCOme taxes g. 10. –18.3 –7.5

neT loSS for The period from  
conTinUing operaTionS –277.1 –332.4

Net iNCOme FOr the periOd FrOm  
disCONtiNued OperatiONs 234.8 –15.7

neT loSS –42.2 –348.1

eur milliON NOte 2018
adJusted 

20171

 
oTher comprehenSive income (neT)

items NOt reClassiFied tO prOFit Or lOss:

remeasuremeNt OF Net liability (asset) arisiNg  
ON deFiNed beNeFit peNsiON plaNs f. 09. e) –0.4 –0.3

items reClassiFied tO prOFit Or lOss iN the Future:

eFFeCt OF mOvemeNts iN exChaNge rates f. 09. e) –93.0 –98.5

oTher comprehenSive income –93.4 –98.8

ToTal comprehenSive income for The period –135.6 –446.9

Net lOss FOr the periOd attributable tO:

sharehOlders OF the pareNt –38.2 –345.1

NON-CONtrOlliNg iNterests –4.0 –2.9

tOtal COmpreheNsive iNCOme attributable tO:

sharehOlders OF the pareNt –131.6 –443.0

NON-CONtrOlliNg iNterests –4.0 –3.9

diluted aNd basiC earNiNgs per share  
FrOm CONtiNuiNg OperatiONs iN eur –1.47 –2.09

diluted aNd basiC earNiNgs per share  
FrOm CONtiNued aNd disCONtiNued OperatiONs  
iN eur –0.21 –2.19

1 adjusTed refer To secTion a.02 and d.03.e).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
JaN. 1, 2018 – deC. 31, 2018

eur milliON

attributable tO the OWNers OF the pareNt

minoriTY 
 inTereSTS

ToTal
eqUiTY

SUbScribed 
capiTal

capiTal 
 reServeS

retaiNed earNiNgs aNd Other reserves

TreaSUrY  
ShareS ToTal

reTained 
 earningS 

cUrrencY 
 TranSlaTion 

reServe

revalUaTion 
reServe  

for penSion 
 commiTmenTS

 
NOte f. 09. a) and b) f. 09. c) f. 09. d) f. 09. d) f. 09. d) f. 09. e)   

balaNCe as OF JaN. 1, 2018 182.5 2,661.3 –932.81 –191.3 –0.5 1,719.3 1.5 1,720.9

Net lOss – – –38.2 – – – –38.2 –4.0 –42.2

Other COmpreheNsive iNCOme – – – –93.0 –0.4 – –93.4 – –93.4

ToTal comprehenSive income – – –38.2 –93.0 –0.4 – –131.6 –4.0 –135.6

 
TranSacTionS wiTh ownerS – paYmenTS received  
and change in non-conTrolling inTereSTS          

Capital iNCreases 3.4 8.12 – – – – 11.5 – 11.5

equity-settled share-based paymeNts – 18.8 – – – – 18.8 – 18.8

aCquisitiON OF NON-CONtrOlliNg iNterests  
WithOut ChaNge OF CONtrOl – – –0.6 – – – –0.6 0.3 –0.3

Other ChaNges tO equity – – – – – –0.1 –0.1 – –0.1

traNsaCtiONs With OWNers 3.4 26.9 –0.6 – – –0.1 29.6 0.3 29.9

balance aS of dec. 31, 2018 185.9 2,688.2 –971.5 –284.3 –0.9 –0.1 1,617.4 –2.3 1,615.0

1 adjusTed by € 0.1 Million for ifrs 9 adopTion.
2 includes non-cash adjusTMenT To capiTal reserve of € –0.7M for previous TransacTion cosTs.
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JaN. 1, 2017 – deC. 31, 2017

eur milliON

attributable tO the OWNers OF the pareNt

non-  
conTrolling 

inTereSTS
ToTal  

eqUiTY
SUbScribed 

 capiTal
capiTal   

reServeS

retaiNed earNiNgs aNd Other reserves

TreaSUrY  
ShareS ToTal

reTained 
 earningS 

cUrrencY 
 TranSlaTion 

reServe

revalUaTion 
reServe  

for penSion 
 commiTmenTS

 
NOte f. 09. a) and b) f. 09. c) f. 09. d) f. 09. d) f. 09. d) f. 09. e)  

balance aS of Jan. 1, 2017 0.5 1,582.8 –587.6 –93.7 –0.2 – 901.8 –9.6 892.2

Net lOss – – –345.1 – – – –345.1 –2.9 –348.1

Other COmpreheNsive iNCOme – – – –97.6 –0.3 – –97.8 –1.0 –98.8

ToTal comprehenSive income – – –345.1 –97.6 –0.3 – –443.0 –3.9 –446.9

 
TranSacTionS wiTh ownerS – paYmenTS received  
and change in non-conTrolling inTereSTS          

Capital iNCreases 182.0 948.0 – – – – 1,130.0 – 1,130.0

equity-settled share-based paymeNts – 113.7 – – – – 113.7 – 113.7

aCquisitiON OF NON-CONtrOlliNg iNterests  
WithOut ChaNge OF CONtrOl – 16.7 – – – – 16.7 15.1 31.8

traNsaCtiONs With OWNers 182.0 1,078.4 – – – – 1,260.5 15.1 1,275.6

balance aS of dec. 31, 2017 182.5 2,661.3 –932.7 –191.3 –0.5 – 1,719.3 1.5 1,720.9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 
eur milliON NOte 2018 2017

 
1. caSh flowS from operaTing acTiviTieS

Net lOss –42.2 –348.1

iNCOme tax (Net) 5.4 2.1

iNCOme tax paid (–) –13.6 –7.9

amOrtizatiON, depreCiatiON aNd Write-dOWNs f. 01./f. 02. 57.9 54.7

iNCrease (+)/deCrease (–) iN prOvisiONs f. 10. –11.5 4.4

NON-Cash expeNses (+)/iNCOme (–)  
FrOm share-based paymeNts g. 05. 17.2 71.0

Other NON-Cash expeNses (+) aNd iNCOme (–)  25.5 –24.1

gaiN (–)/lOss (+) ON dispOsals OF Fixed assets  0.5 0.6

gaiN (–)/lOss (+) ON deCONsOlidatiON d. 03. d) –270.0 –20.0

iNCrease (–)/deCrease (+) iN iNveNtOries,  
trade reCeivables aNd Other assets  –2.7 –51.8

iNCrease (+)/deCrease (–) iN trade aNd  
Other payables  71.6 41.9

iNterest aNd similar iNCOme (–)/ 
iNterest aNd similar expeNse (+)

g. 08./ 
g. 09. –2.7 66.5

caSh flowS from operaTing acTiviTieS –164.6 –210.6

 
2. caSh flowS from inveSTing acTiviTieS

prOCeeds (+) FrOm the dispOsal OF prOperty,  
plaNt aNd equipmeNt 0.7 1.4

paymeNts (–) FOr iNvestmeNts iN prOperty,  
plaNt aNd equipmeNt f. 02. –29.6 –16.6

prOCeeds (+) FrOm dispOsal OF iNtaNgible assets  0.3 0.1

paymeNts (–) tO aCquire iNtaNgible assets f. 01. –19.7 –6.5

 
eur milliON NOte 2018 2017

paymeNts (–) FOr iNvestmeNts  
iN FiNaNCial assets  –15.6 2.0

paymeNts FOr (–)/prOCeeds (+) FrOm  
lOaNs tO third parties  –1.3 –0.8

Net paymeNts (–) FOr aCquisitiONs b. 02. b) –18.7 –93.6

Net prOCeeds (+) FrOm sale OF subidiaries  
Or disCONtiNued OperatiONs d. 03. e) 232.6 –5.4

purChase OF equity iNvestmeNts f. 08. –190.6 0.0

iNterest reCeived (+) 4.8 2.0

caSh flowS from inveSTing acTiviTieS –37.1 –117.5

 
3. caSh flowS from financing acTiviTieS

prOCeeds (+) FrOm Capital CONtributiONs f. 09. 12.0 1,128.4

prOCeeds (+) FrOm lOaNs aNd bOrrOWiNgs 0.1 25.0

repaymeNts (–) OF lOaNs aNd bOrrOWiNgs –1.3 –393.4

iNterest paid (–) –0.2 –11.2

caSh flowS from financing acTiviTieS 10.6 748.8

 
4.  caSh and caSh eqUivalenTS aT The end of The period

Net ChaNge iN Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts –191.1 420.6

eFFeCt OF exChaNge rate mOvemeNts  
ON Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts –10.1 –10.5

Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts at the  
begiNNiNg OF the periOd 1 f. 08. 640.9 230.9

caSh and caSh eqUivalenTS aT The  
end of period 1 439.8 640.9

1  cash included in a disposal group classified as held for sale deceMber 31, 2018: € 75.7 Million  
(deceMber 31, 2017: € 13.6 Million).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

01. Company information
The Delivery Hero Group (also: DH, DH Group, Delivery  
Hero or Group) offers online food ordering services in 
more than 40 countries on five continents, Africa, Asia, 
Europe, North America and South America. 

Delivery Hero SE (former Delivery Hero AG) is the parent 
company and is domiciled at Oranienburger Straße 70, 
10117 Berlin, Germany (the “Company”). It is registered with 
the commercial register of the Local Court, Berlin Charlot-
tenburg under HRB 198015 B. The conversion from Delivery  
Hero AG (HRB 187081 B) into a Societas Europaea (SE) 
became effective with entry in the commercial register on 
July 13, 2018.

The consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report were authorized for issue by the Man-
agement Board on April 23, 2019.

02.  Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of DH Group have 
been prepared in accordance with the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted and issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as adopt-
ed by the European Union. The preparation of the consol-
idated financial statements occurred under application of 
the provisions of Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the 
European Parliament and of the Council of July 19, 2002, 
on the application of international accounting standards 
in conjunction with section 315e (1) of the German Com-
mercial Code [HGB], taking into consideration the supple-
mentary provisions of German commercial law.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 
Euro. 

This is the first set of consolidated financial statements of 
DH Group in which IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 have been applied. 
Changes to significant accounting policies are described 
in section C.

During 2018 the economy in Argentina has been consid-
ered to become hyperinflationary. Accordingly, the Group 
applied the hyperinflationary accounting requirements of 
IAS 29 – Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Econo-
mies to itʼs Argentinian operations. As the presentation 
currency of the consolidated financial statements is that 
of a non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts 
are not adjusted for changes in the price level or exchange 
rates in the current year.

On December 20, 2018 the Company signed a transaction 
document with Takeaway.com N.V. (“Takeaway.com”) pur-
suant to which Delivery Hero sold its German food order 
and delivery businesses, including all three brands to Take-
away.com (the “Transaction”). In accordance with IFRS 5 
the German business is classified as a discontinued oper-
ation, comparative information in the consolidated state-
ment of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is 
restated, balance sheet information as of December 31, 
2017 remain unadjusted (we refer to section D. 03. e) of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements). Accordingly the 
comparison of the balance sheet information as of Decem-
ber 31, 2018 and 2017 is affected by this presentation. The 
Transaction was completed on April 1, 2019.

Unless otherwise stated, all figures have been rounded to 
the nearest € million. Disclosures on changes are based on 
exact values. In addition, for computational reasons, there 
may be rounding differences to the exact mathematical 
values in tables and references.

The consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report are published in the German Federal 
Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS requires judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting pol-
icies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expense. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in sec-
tion B. 14.

B. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Company and of the sub-
sidiaries are prepared according to uniform accounting 
policies. Unless otherwise stated, the Group consistently 
applied the following accounting policies to all periods 
presented in these consolidated financial statements.

01. Methods of consolidation

a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities directly or indirectly controlled by 
the Company. The Company controls an entity when it is 
exposed to variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its control over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidat-
ed in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
First-time consolidation occurs at the date of obtaining 
control. 
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The Group accounts for business combinations applying 
the acquisition method. In applying the acquisition meth-
od, the consideration transferred and the identifiable net 
assets are measured at fair value. A positive difference 
between the consideration transferred and the identifiable 
net asset is capitalized as goodwill. A negative difference 
is immediately recognized in profit or loss.

Non-controlling interests constitute the share of profit or 
loss and net assets in a subsidiary that is not attributed to 
the parentʼs shareholders and are presented separately. 
Changes in the Groupʼs interest in a subsidiary that do not 
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. 

Obligations arising from written put options issued to 
holders of non-controlling interests are accounted for as 
financial liabilities, and the related non-controlling inter-
ests are no longer recognized.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecog-
nizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and all 
related non-controlling interests and other equity compo-
nents. Any gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any 
retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognized at 
fair value on the date when control was lost.

Expenses and income, as well as receivables and payables 
between consolidated entities, are eliminated along with 
intragroup profits and losses arising from intragroup 
transactions.

The list of shareholdings in section H. 10. contains a 
detailed overview of all the subsidiaries.

b) Associates 
Associates are entities in which the Group has a significant 
influence; which is presumed in case of a holding of 
between 20% and 50% of voting rights or if an ability to 
exercise significant influence can clearly be demonstrated. 
As of the reporting date the Group had five (previous year: 
two) associates included at-equity in the consolidated 
financial statements. They are listed in the list of share-
holdings in section H. 10.

As in the prior years, the Group did not have any joint 
arrangements according to IFRS 11 as of the reporting date.

02. Currency translation
The functional currency of the subsidiaries included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group is usually 
the respective local currency, unless it is assessed to be 
different than the local currency due to specific circum-
stances. The consolidated financial statements are present-
ed in Euro (presentation currency).

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate on the transac-
tion date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated into the functional cur-
rency at the exchange rate at each reporting date. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses are generally recognized in 
profit or loss. The foreign currency differences arising from 
the translation of available-for-sale equity investments 

(until December 31, 2017) are recognized in OCI until the 
investment is impaired or derecognized. Exchange differ-
ences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a 
reporting entityʼs net investment in a foreign operation 
are recognized in OCI in the consolidated financial 
statements.

For the purposes of inclusion in the consolidated financial 
statements, the assets and liabilities (including goodwill 
and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition) of sub-
sidiaries whose functional currency is not Euro are trans-
lated into Euro at the exchange rates at the reporting date. 
Income and expenses are translated into Euro at the dates 
of the transactions, approximated by average exchange 
rates.

For entities operating in a hyperinflationary economic 
environment, the inflation effects of the origin country are 
recognized pursuant to IAS 29. Results and financial posi-
tions of the entities are translated into Euro at the 
exchange rates at the reporting date. 

When a foreign operation is disposed of, the cumulative 
amount of foreign exchange reserve related to that foreign 
operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain 
or loss on disposal.
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03. Recognition of revenue
DH Group generates revenue mainly from providing online 
food ordering services to restaurants, prime placement 
and other advertising services. 

For the online marketplace services DH Group entities act 
as an agent. In some arrangements, Delivery Hero also 
offers delivery services. The DH Group entities carry out 
the delivery services as principal. For advertising services 
DH Group entities act also as principal.

The revenue is recognized when the control passes to the 
customer. The control over the online marketplace services 
passes to the customer at a point in time when the meal is 
ordered. The control over the delivery services passes at a 
point in time when the meal is delivered. The control over 
the advertising services mainly passes over time. 

The consideration for the online marketplace services with 
and without delivery primarily comprise commission fees. 
Further included in the consideration are online payment 
fees if the orderer elects the online payment option and 
subscription fees. If an additional delivery fee is charged 
directly to orderers this is also included in the consider-
ation. The payments are collected via online payment pro-
viders, as cash or via invoices to the restaurants. For ser-
vices performed over time, at each reporting date, the 
revenue is recognized in the amount to which the DH Group 
entity has a right to invoice. Since the advertising services 
are mainly provided as a series of distinct monthly services, 
this provides a faithful depiction of the transfer of the 
services.

Invoices are generated on a weekly, bi-weekly or monthly 
basis based on individual contractual agreement. The pay-
ment terms vary between 2 and 90 days. Any discounts are 
treated as a reduction of revenue. If the transaction price 
includes a variable amount, the transaction price is esti-
mated and recognized to the extent that it is highly prob-
able that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative 
revenue will not occur when the uncertainty associated 
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

As explained in Note C – Changes in significant accounting 
policies, in the comparative period the revenue was recog-
nized in accordance with the previously effective IAS 18 
Revenue. Under IAS 18 revenue was recognized when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership were transferred 
to the customer, recovery of the consideration was proba-
ble, the associated costs and possible return of goods could 
be estimated reliably, there was no continuing manage-
ment involvement with the goods and the amount of rev-
enue could be measured reliably. Note C also explains the 
changes between previous and current revenue recogni-
tion principles.

04. Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
time period of the expected useful life of the asset.

In the reporting year, depreciation was based on the fol-
lowing useful lives:

useFul liFe iN years

2018 2017

 
OperatiNg aNd OFFiCe 
 equipmeNt 2 – 15 2 – 15

leasehOld imprOvemeNts 3 – 17 3 – 17

If there is objective evidence that items of property, plant 
and equipment are impaired, the recoverable amount is 
determined. If the carrying amount exceeds the recover-
able amount, impairment losses are recognized directly in 
the statement of profit or loss. If the requirements for 
impairment are no longer in place in subsequent years, 
previous impairment losses are reversed.

Repair and maintenance expenses are expensed at the 
time of their occurrence. Material innovations and 
improvements are capitalized.
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized 
on disposal (when the recipient obtains control of that 
item) or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal.

05. Intangible assets and goodwill
Intangible assets acquired separately are recognized at 
cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
except for goodwill are initially measured at their fair value 
and subsequently at cost. The amortization is calculated 
on a straight-line basis over the individual useful lives. 
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses.

Internal development expenditure is capitalized if devel-
opment costs can be reliably measured, the product or 
process is technically and commercially feasible, future 
benefit is probable and the Group intends and has suffi-
cient resources to be able to complete development and 
to use or sell the asset. Other expenditures are recognized 
in profit or loss as soon as they are incurred. Capitalized 
development expenditure is measured at cost less accu-
mulated amortization and impairment losses. 

Amortization is based on the following useful lives:

useFul liFe iN years

2018 2017

 
sOFtWare 2 – 5 2 – 3

trademarks 3–25 5 – 25

CustOmer aNd  
supplier  relatiONships 3 – 10 3 – 10

The expected useful life of a trademark is forecast in accor-
dance with verifiable history and observable user behavior. 
The underlying useful life of customer and supplier rela-
tionships is determined individually corresponding to his-
torical restaurant churn rates.

Impairment of intangible assets Intangible assets are test-
ed for impairment as part of a cash generating unit (CGU), 
which is defined as the smallest group of assets that gen-
erates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. 
Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated 
to CGUs or groups of CGUs depending on the level at which 
it is monitored by management.

A CGU or a group of CGUs is tested for impairment if 
impairment indicators are present. In addition, CGUs and 
groups of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated are subject 
to an annual impairment test.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount 
of a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount corresponds to the larger of fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use of the CGU or a group of CGUs.

The fair value less costs of disposal of the CGU is calculated 
by applying the discounted cash flow method, as follows: 
The expected future cash flows are determined based on 
a detailed planning period of five years for each CGU. For 
the perpetuity, the expected future cash flows are deter-
mined under consideration of CGU-specific revenue- and 
EBITDA-growth assumptions. Impairment losses are rec-
ognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, 
and then to reduce the carrying amounts of other assets 
in the CGU on a pro-rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 
For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the assetʼs carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of amortization, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized.

06. Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, 
as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership, are classified as finance leases. For finance 
lease arrangements the asset is recognized at an amount 
equal to the fair value of the leased property or – if lower – 
at present value of the minimum lease payments in accor-
dance with IAS 17 and depreciated over its useful life. The 
corresponding payment obligations from future lease pay-
ments net of finance charges are included in other current 
and non-current liabilities.
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If lease arrangements in which the Group is a lessee do not 
meet the criteria for finance leases they are classified as 
operating leases. Lease payments are recognized as 
expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

07. Inventories
Inventories of the Group consist mainly of branded and 
unbranded packages, bags and other items that are pro-
vided to restaurants.

Inventories are carried at cost, which is determined on the 
basis of direct production costs and production-related 
overheads. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and 
net realizable value as of each reporting date. Cost 
includes all costs of purchase, production and other costs 
that are incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
 present location and condition. The first-in, first-out 
 method (FIFO) is used to measure cost. Net realizable value 
is the estimated selling price less estimated costs of com-
pletion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

08. Income taxes
Taxes on income for the period are the sum of current  
and deferred income taxes.

a) Current income taxes
The current income tax expense is calculated by applying 
the tax regulations enacted as of the reporting date in the 
countries in which the DH Group operates. In assessing 
income tax positions, estimates are required. The assess-
ment by the respective tax authorities may deviate. This 
uncertainty is reflected by recognizing uncertain tax posi-
tions only if DH assesses the probability of occurrence 
greater than 50%.

b) Deferred income taxes
Deferred taxes are recognized on temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the consolidated financial statements and the correspond-
ing tax bases used in the computation of taxable income. 
Furthermore, deferred tax assets are recognized for tax 
loss carryforwards.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable tem-
porary differences. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for temporary differ-
ences and tax loss carryforwards to the extent to which it 
is probable that sufficient future taxable income will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences 
and/or loss carryforwards can be utilized.

Deferred taxes are measured in accordance with IAS 12. 
They are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liabil-
ity is settled.

The change in deferred taxes is recognized in the state-
ment of profit or loss provided it relates to items in the 
consolidated statement of financial position that were 

recognized in the statement of profit or loss. If the items 
in the consolidated statement of financial position are rec-
ognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income, 
the corresponding changes in deferred taxes are also rec-
ognized in these line items, respectively. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arising through tempo-
rary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, 
associates or joint arrangements are taken into account 
unless the date for reversal of temporary differences can-
not be determined at Group level or/and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foresee-
able future. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if 
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority and concern the same taxable 
entity. 

09. Financial instruments

a) Financial assets
Policies applicable from January 1, 2018
Initial measurement of financial assets
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset 
at its fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. Transaction costs of a financial asset mea-
sured at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in 
profit or loss. Trade receivables are initially measured at 
the transaction price.
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Classification of financial assets
The Group classifies financial assets at initial recognition 
as financial assets measured at amortized cost, financial 
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (not applicable at the reporting date), or financial 
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 
A financial asset that meets both of the following condi-
tions is classified as a financial asset measured at amor-
tized cost.

 —  The financial asset is held within the Groupʼs business 
model whose objective is to hold assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

 —  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

“Principal” is the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition and “interest” is consideration for the time 
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the 
principal amount outstanding during a particular period 
of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. 
liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit 
margin. When assessing the contractual terms, the Group 
considers contingent events that would change the 
amount or timing of cash flows; terms that may adjust the 
contractual interest rate, including variable-rate features; 
prepayment and extension features; and terms that limit 
the Groupʼs claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. 
non-recourse features).

After initial recognition, the carrying amount of the finan-
cial asset measured at amortized cost is determined using 
the effective interest method, net of impairment loss.

Within DH Group such financial assets are represented by 
cash and cash equivalents, receivables against payment 
service providers, trade receivables, loans granted, secu-
rity deposits and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise all cash-related assets 
that have a remaining term of less than three months at 
the date of acquisition or investment. This includes mainly 
cash at banks and cash on hand. Cash and cash equivalents 
are measured at nominal value.

Fair value through profit or loss financial assets (FVTPL)
When a financial asset does not fall in any of the above -
mentioned categories, a financial asset is classified as “at 
fair value through profit or loss” and measured at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss as 
“finance gain” or “finance loss”.

In DH Group these instruments are represented by invest-
ments in other companies. No financial assets are desig-
nated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets 
All financial assets to which impairment requirements 
apply carry a loss allowance estimated based on expected 
credit losses (ECLs). ECLs are a probability-weighted esti-
mate of the present value of cash shortfall over the expect-
ed life of the financial instrument.

In DH Group, the impairment requirements apply to finan-
cial assets measured at amortized cost, lease receivables 
in the scope of IAS 17 and contract assets as defined in 
IFRS 15. 

Trade receivable and contract assets
The Group uses a practical expedient to calculate the 
expected credit losses on its trade receivables and contract 
assets using a provision matrix. The Group uses historical 
credit loss experience (adjusted if necessary for changes 
in macroeconomic conditions) to estimate the life time 
expected credit losses. The impairment losses calculated 
using the provision matrix are recorded on a separate 
allowance account.

Trade receivables, which are longer than 120 days overdue, 
or specifically impaired (e.g. insolvency of the restaurant), 
are deemed not recoverable. Such trade receivables are 
recognised as impaired and written off. The write-off con-
stitutes a derecognition event whereby the gross carrying 
amount of such trade receivables is reduced against the 
corresponding amount previously recorded on the allow-
ance account. However, financial assets that are written 
off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order 
to comply with the Groupʼs procedures for recovery of 
amounts due.
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Other financial assets
The ECLs for all other financial assets are recognised in two 
stages:

 —  For financial assets for which there has not been a sig-
nificant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
the Group recognizes credit losses which represent the 
life time shortfalls that would result if a default occurs 
in the 12 months after the reporting date or a shorter 
period if the expected life of a financial instrument is 
less than 12 months. 

 —  For those financial assets for which there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recogni-
tion, a loss allowance reflects credit losses expected 
over the remaining life of the financial asset.

All other financial assets of the Group recognised at the 
reporting date have low credit risk. The Group recognises 
in profit or loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount 
of expected credit losses (or reversals) that is required to 
adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the 
amount that is required to be recognised.

Policies applicable before January 1, 2018
Financial assets of DH Group comprised loans and receiv-
ables, available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss and cash and cash 
equivalents. 

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not traded 
in an active market. They are included in current assets as 
long as their maturities do not extend beyond 12 months 
after the reporting date. Otherwise they are classified as 
non current assets.

Loans and receivables are initially recognized on the date 
when they are originated at their fair value plus any direct-
ly attributable transaction costs. They are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.

Impairment of loans and receivables is recognized if there 
is evidence of financial difficulties of borrowers and the 
carrying amount of the financial asset exceeds the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted using the 
original effective interest rate. The impairment on trade 
receivables is recognized using a provision matrix. Impair-
ment losses are recognized in profit or loss and are reflect-
ed in an allowance account. When the Group considers 
that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the 
financial asset, the financial asset is written off. If the 
impairment loss subsequently decreases, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or 
loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets
The available-for-sale financial assets of the Group are rep-
resented by unquoted equity investments. Equity invest-
ments are initially recognized on the trade date at their 
fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
They are subsequently measured at fair value through OCI, 
unless their fair value cannot be determined reliably, in 
which case they are measured at cost. If there is evidence 
that available-for-sale financial assets are impaired, the 
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, measured 
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value. The impairment loss on an equity invest-
ment is not subsequently reversed through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The financial assets through profit or loss comprise sepa-
rated embedded derivatives. Such instruments are mea-
sured at fair value through profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise all cash-related assets 
that have a remaining term of less than three months at 
the date of acquisition or investment. This includes mainly 
cash at banks and cash on hand. Cash and cash equivalents 
are measured at nominal value. 

b) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as those measured at fair 
value through profit or loss or those measured at amor-
tized cost. 

No financial liabilities are designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, in 
case of financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, 
plus transaction costs.

Financial liabilities of the Group which are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss comprise separated embedded 
derivatives and contingent considerations recognized by 
the Group as an acquirer in a business combination. All 
other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, 
using the effective interest method.
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c) Other requirements
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognized at the price on the trade date.

Interest income and expenses arising on financial instru-
ments are recognized in profit or loss according to the 
effective interest method.

The Group derecognizes the financial assets when the con-
tractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or 
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows 
in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. 
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its con-
tractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire. 

If the contractual terms of a financial instrument are amend-
ed, the financial instrument is derecognized if the amended 
terms are materially different from the original terms. In 
that case, the new financial instrument is recognized at fair 
value taking into account the amended terms. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the 
net amount is presented in the statement of financial posi-
tion when, and only when, the Group has a legally enforce-
able right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle 
them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

If the Group has the right to settle financial instruments in 
a fixed number of own shares, such financial instruments 
are classified as equity.

10. Employee benefits

a) Current employee benefits
Current employee benefits are expensed in the period 
when service is rendered. A liability is recognized for the 
amount expected to be paid if the DH Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount, as a 
result of past services provided by the employee, and the 
obligation can be reliably estimated.

b) Pension obligations
Pension and similar obligations arise from the commit-
ments of a Group entity to its employees. The obligations 
of these defined benefit plans are measured using the pro-
jected unit credit method. Under this method, expected 
future increases in salaries and pensions are taken into 
account in addition to the known pension entitlements at 
the reporting date.

Pension obligations are determined by independent actu-
aries. Effects arising from the remeasurement of actuarial 
gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding inter-
est) and the impact of any asset ceiling (excluding interest) 
are recognized in other comprehensive income. The dis-
count rate stated reflects the interest rate generated by 
senior fixed-interest bonds with matching maturities on 
the reporting date.

The fair value of any plan assets is deducted from the dis-
counted pension obligation.

The interest rate effect included in pension expenses is 
recognized in profit or loss under interest expenses. Service 
cost is shown in individual functional areas in operating 
result.

c) Share-based payments
DH Group operates several share-based compensation pro-
grams. The Group classifies its share-based compensation 
programs as either cash-settled or equity-settled depend-
ing on the terms and conditions of the individual program 
and the Groupʼs intention to settle the awards with cash 
or its own equity instruments.

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based 
payment arrangements granted to employees is recog-
nized as an expense, with a corresponding increase in the 
capital reserves in equity, over the vesting period of the 
awards. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted 
to reflect forfeited awards.

The fair value of cash-settled arrangements is recognized 
as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities 
over the period during which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remea-
sured at each reporting date and at settlement date based 
on the fair value of the awards. Any changes in the liability 
are recognized in profit or loss.
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If a share-based program is reclassified from cash-settled 
into equity-settled, the amount of the liability reflecting 
the fair value of the granted awards at the reclassification 
date to the extent the services were received is reclassified 
into capital reserves.

11. Other provisions
Other provisions are set up if a legal or constructive obli-
gation to the Group, resulting from a past event exists, its 
fulfillment is probable and its amount can be reliably deter-
mined. Recognition is made in the amount of the expected 
settlement amount. 

Due to estimation uncertainties, the amount, i.e. the actual 
outflow of resources, may deviate from the original amounts 
recognized on the basis of estimates.

Non-current provisions are recognized at the discounted 
settlement amount as of the reporting date based on cor-
responding term and risk adequate interest rates.

12. Determination of fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date in 
the primary market or, if this is not available, the most 
advantageous market. 

The fair value hierarchy defines three levels of fair value 
measurements depending on the input factors used in 
determining the fair value:

 —  Level 1: Fair value is based on quoted prices  
(unadjusted) in an active market for identical  
assets or liabilities.

 —  Level 2: Fair value is estimated using a valuation 
 technique which uses inputs that can be observed 
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly  
(that is, derived from prices).

 —  Level 3: Fair value is estimated using a valuation tech-
nique that uses inputs that are not observable.

Where various input factors are relevant for measurement, 
the fair value is categorized at the lowest level input that 
is significant to the entire measurement. Valuation tech-
niques used to measure fair value maximize the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unob-
servable inputs.

13.  Assets held for sale and liabilities associated with 
assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and the assets of a disposal group clas-
sified as held-for-sale as well as any corresponding liabili-
ties of a disposal group classified as held for sale are rec-
ognized separately from other assets and other liabilities 

in the Consolidated statement of financial position in the 
line items “Assets included in a disposal group classified 
as held for sale” and “Liabilities included in a disposal 
group classified as held for sale” if they can be disposed 
of in their current condition, and if there is sufficient prob-
ability of their disposal actually taking place.

Discontinued operations are components of an entity that 
are either held for sale or have already been sold and can 
be clearly distinguished from other corporate operations, 
both operationally and for financial reporting purposes. 
Additionally, the component classified as a discontinued 
operation must represent a major business line or a spe-
cific geographic business segment of the Group. Non-cur-
rent assets that are held for sale either individually or col-
lectively as part of a disposal group, or that belong to a 
discontinued operation, are no longer depreciated. They 
are instead accounted for at the lower of the carrying 
amount and the fair value less any remaining costs of dis-
posal. If this value is less than the carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized. The gains and losses result-
ing from the measurement of components held for sale as 
well as the gains and losses arising from the disposal of 
discontinued operations are reported separately on the 
face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income under net profit or loss for the period from discon-
tinued operations, along with the income from the 
 ordinary operating activities of these components. The 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the 
previous year is adjusted accordingly. The relevant assets 
and liabilities are reported on a separate line in the con-
solidated statement of financial position. The cash flows 
of discontinued operations attributable to operating, 
investing and financing activities are reported separately 
in the notes, with prior-year figures adjusted accordingly.
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14. Judgment and use of estimates
In the application of accounting policies and the prepara-
tion of the consolidated financial statements, management 
makes decisions based on judgment and estimates. This 
applies particularly to the following cases:

a) Judgments
Revenue recognition
DH Group classifies its provision of online food ordering 
services via internet platforms as agent activity, as DH enti-
ties do not act as the main supplier, are not exposed to 
storage risk, cannot influence the pricing of counterparties 
and receive commission as remuneration.

Although users of the DH platforms are generally not con-
tracting party of DH Group entities they purchase the 
goods or services from DH Group customers (restaurants). 
Accordingly DH Group deducts voucher and discounts 
granted to orderers from revenue, equally to a consider-
ation payable to the customer.

Goodwill allocation 
Determining an appropriate method of allocating goodwill 
to CGUs for impairment testing requires assessment of spe-
cific facts and circumstances which may involve significant 
judgments.

Determination of significant influence
For entities in which DH Group holds less than 20% of the 
voting rights other, qualitative factors are considered in 
order to assess whether significant influence over an entity 
exists. 

Classification of share-based payments as equity settled
DH Group classifies its share-based payments awards which 
enable the Group to settle in equity shares or in cash as 
equity-settled awards. The Group assesses that it intends 
and has an ability to settle by means of equity instruments 
and therefore does not have a present obligation to settle 
in cash (refer to section H. 01.).

b) Assumptions and estimation uncertainty
Hyperinflation accounting
In Argentina reliable official data about nationwide con-
sumer price index (CPI) changes are unavailable for certain 
periods to which IAS 29 may be applicable. Based on the 
current consensus in the Argentine accounting profession, 
the financial information of the Groupʼs Argentine subsid-
iaries are restated based on a historic cost approach using 
the nationwide CPI from January 1, 2017 ongoing and the 
nationwide wholesale price index (WPI) for financial data 
up to December 31, 2016, except for the two months of 
November and December 2015 for which the City of Bue-
nos Aires CPI is used. 

level OF priCe iNdex

ChaNge duriNg 
repOrtiNg periOd

ChaNge duriNg 
 previOus periOd

NatiONal Cpi 47.6% 24.8%

Recognition and measurement of other provisions
Recognition and measurement of other provisions are sub-
ject to uncertainties in respect of future price increases as 
well as in respect of the extent, date and probability of 
utilization of the respective provision (refer to section 
F. 11.).

Scope for recognizing deferred tax assets
An excess of deferred tax assets is only recognized if it is 
probable that future tax benefits can be realized based on 
tax budgets. The current taxable profit situation in future 
reporting years, and thus the actual usability of deferred 
tax assets, can vary from the estimate made at the date of 
recognizing deferred taxation. Deferred tax assets on tax 
loss carryforwards or temporary differences are recog-
nized based on future taxable income (refer to section 
F. 06.).

Goodwill impairment testing
Determination of a CGUʼs recoverable amount for the pur-
pose of impairment testing requires assumptions and esti-
mates, in particular on the future development of EBITDA 
and sustainable growth rates. While management believes 
that the assumptions and estimates used are appropriate, 
any unforeseeable changes to these assumptions could 
affect the Groupʼs f inancial position and f inancial 
performance.
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Further information on the assumptions and estimates 
made are listed in the respective disclosure. All assump-
tions and estimates are based on the conditions prevailing 
and assessments at the reporting date (refer to section 
F. 01. b).

Amortization of intangible assets with finite useful lives
Delivery Hero has a significant amount of intangible assets 
with finite useful lives. This relates in particular to intan-
gible assets from brands, trademarks and customer rela-
tionships (refer to section F. 01. for carrying amounts). 
Assumptions and estimates are required to determine the 
useful life as basis for the appropriate amortization charge. 
The useful lives are regularly reviewed by Delivery  
Hero and adjusted, if necessary. The determination of the 
useful life of acquired brands, trademarks and customer 
relationships is based on the individual customer churn rate 
of the business.

Measurement of fair values
A number of the Groupʼs accounting policies require the 
measurement of fair values for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. Significant measurement 
uncertainties are specifically relevant for the measurement 
of assets and liabilities in business combinations (refer to 
section D. 02.), the disposal group held for sale (refer to 
section D. 03. e), share-based payments (refer to section 
H. 01.) and financial instruments (refer to section H. 02.). 

Significant valuation estimates are reported to the Groupʼs 
audit committee. Further information on the assumptions 
and estimates made are listed in the individual disclosures. 
All assumptions and estimates are based on the conditions 
prevailing and assessments at the reporting date.

C.  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND  
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS THAT 
HAVE NOT YET BEEN APPLIED

a) Changes in significant accounting policies
IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 have been initially applied from January 1, 
2018 and the effects of adopting the new standards are 
described below. Several other new standards are also effec-
tive from January 1, 2018, but they do not have a material 
effect on the Groupʼs consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for deter-
mining whether, how much, and when revenue is recog-
nized. It replaces the existing revenue recognition guid-
ance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs. 

DH Group applied the modified retrospective method. 
Accordingly, the comparative period is presented in line 
with previous rules. 

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized when a customer 
obtains control of the goods and services. The amount and 
timing of revenue recognition in the Group remained the 
same as under the previous rules with the following excep-
tion. Under IFRS 15, the Group will treat all discounts and 
vouchers to users of its platforms as consideration payable 
to the customer and consequently as a deduction from rev-
enue. Previously such discounts and vouchers were treated 
as marketing expenses. The change is accounted for pro-
spectively and does not impact the financial statements at 
the date of transition to IFRS 15 as of January 1, 2018. The 
corresponding deduction from revenue of continued oper-
ations for 2018 amounted to € 41.0 million.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognizing and measur-
ing financial assets and financial liabilities and replaces 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment. Changes in accounting policies resulting from the 
adoption of IFRS 9 were applied retrospectively, except as 
described below. 

The Group did not to restate comparative information for 
previous periods with respect to classification and mea-
surement (including impairment) changes. Differences in 
the carrying amounts of financial assets resulting from the 
adoption of IFRS 9 were recognized in retained earnings 
as at January 1, 2018. 
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The impact, net of tax, of transition to IFRS 9 at January 1, 
2018 was a loss of € 0.1 million resulting from recognition 
of expected credit losses which was included in the 
retained earnings. The total impairment loss reported in 
2018 amounts to € 4.3 million (previous year: € 4.5 million). 
The decrease is primarily the result of the further expan-
sion of online payments as well as offsetting arrangements 
with the restaurants.

Classification
Applying the new classification requirements to the finan-
cial assets outstanding at January 1, 2018, the financial 
assets that were measured at amortized cost in accordance 
with IAS 39 were also measured at amortized cost in accor-
dance with IFRS 9. This is because these financial assets 
are held within a business model whose objective is to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash 
flows, and the contractual terms of these instruments rep-
resent solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding. Equity instruments that 
were classified as available-for-sale in accordance with 
IAS 39 and were measured at cost because the fair value 
could not be reliably measured are now classified at fair 
value through profit or loss. The fair values of these equity 
instruments were represented by their cost at January 1, 
2018 because there was no sufficient more recent informa-
tion available.

Impairment
IFRS 9 replaced the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with a 
forward-looking “expected credit loss” (ECL) model. This 
model requires considerable judgement as to how changes 
in economic factors affect ECLs, which is determined on a 
probability-weighted basis. In the Group, the new impair-
ment model applies to financial assets measured at amor-
tized cost and to contract assets. 

The Group measures ECLs on its trade receivables and con-
tracts assets using a provision matrix. The new provision 
matrix was estimated based on the historical credit loss 
experience adjusted where appropriate for effects of the 
current conditions and the forecasts of future develop- 
ments. 

The Group measures the loss allowances of other financial 
assets on either of the following bases:

 —  12-months ECLs (ECLs that result from possible default 
events within the 12 months after the reporting date); 
and

 —  lifetime ECLs (ECLs that result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of a financial instru- 
ment). 

Lifetime ECL measurement applies if the credit risk of a 
financial asset at the reporting date has increased signifi-
cantly since initial recognition, and 12-month ECL measure-
ment applies if it has not. 

Financial liabilities 
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 
for the classification of financial liabilities. However, under 
IAS 39 all fair value changes of liabilities designated as at 
FVTPL were recognized in profit or loss, whereas under 
IFRS 9 these fair value changes are presented as follows:

 —  the amount of change in the fair value that is attribut-
able to changes in the credit risk of the liability is pre-
sented in OCI; and

 —  the remaining amount of change in the fair value is 
presented in profit or loss. 

The Group has not designated any financial liabilities as at 
FVTPL. Therefore, there are no effects on the financial lia-
bilities of the Group from adoption of IFRS 9.

b)  New standards and interpretations that have not yet 
been applied

The following new standards and amendments to stan-
dards are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2019. The Group has not adopted any of 
the new or amended standards early in preparing these 
consolidated financial statements.
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STandard

To be 
applied 

from effecTS

 
iFrs 16 leases

 
january 1, 

2019

 
refer To analysis 

below

iFriC 23: uNCertaiNty Over 
iNCOme tax treatmeNts 
(1.1.2019)

january 1, 
2019

no significanT 
effecT expecTed

ameNdmeNts tO iFrs 9: 
 prepaymeNt Features With 
Negative COmpeNsatiON

january 1, 
2019

no significanT 
effecT expecTed

ameNdmeNts tO ias 28: 
 lONg-term iNterests iN 
 assOCiates aNd JOiNt veNtures

january 1, 
2019

(iasb) *

no significanT 
effecT expecTed

aNNual imprOvemeNts  
tO iFrs CyCle 2015 – 2017: 
ameNdmeNts tO iFrs 3,  
iFrs 11, ias 12 aNd ias 23

january 1, 
2019

(iasb) *

no significanT 
effecT expecTed

ameNdmeNt tO ias 19:  
plaN ameNdmeNt, Curtail-
meNt  Or settlemeNt

january 1, 
2019

(iasb) *

no significanT 
effecT expecTed

ameNdmeNts tO reFereNCes  
tO the CONCeptual Frame-
WOrk iN iFrs staNdards

january 1, 
2020

(iasb) *

no significanT 
effecT expecTed

ameNdmeNt tO iFrs 3: 
 deFiNitiON OF a busiNess

january 1, 
2020

(iasb) *

no significanT 
effecT expecTed

ameNdmeNt tO ias 1 aNd  
ias 8: deFiNitiON OF material 

january 1, 
2020

(iasb) *

no significanT 
effecT expecTed

iFrs 17: iNsuraNCe CONtraCts january 1, 
2021

(iasb) *

no significanT 
effecT expecTed

ameNdmeNts tO iFrs 10 aNd 
ias 28: sale Or CONtributiON 
OF assets betWeeN aN 
 iNvestOr aNd its assOCiates 
Or JOiNt veNtures

– no significanT 
effecT expecTed

* noT yeT endorsed by The european union. 

IFRS 16 Leases 
Delivery Hero is required to adopt IFRS 16 Leases from Jan-
uary 1, 2019. The Group has assessed the estimated impact 
that initial application of IFRS 16 will have on its consoli-
dated financial statements, as described below. The actual 
impact of adopting the standard on January 1, 2019 may 
change because: 

 —  the Group has not finalised the testing and assess-
ment of controls over its new IT systems; and 

 —  the new accounting policies are subject to change 
until the Group presents its first financial statements 
that include the date of initial application.

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease account-
ing model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use 
asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and 
a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease 
payments. There are optional exemptions for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting 
remains similar to the current standard – i.e. lessors con-
tinue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. 
IFRS 16 replaces existing lease guidance, including IAS 17 
Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement con-
tains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and 
 SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving 
the Legal Form of a Lease.

Leases in which the Group is a lessee
The Group will recognise new assets and liabilities for its 
operating leases of office space, vehicles and other assets 
(refer to section H. 09.). The nature of expenses related to 
those leases will now change because the Group will rec-
ognise a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and 
interest expense on lease liabilities.

Previously, the Group recognised operating lease expense 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, and 
recognised assets and liabilities only to the extent that 
there was a timing difference between actual lease pay-
ments and the expense recognised.

Based on the information currently available, the Group 
estimates that it will recognise additional lease liabilities 
and corresponding rights of use of € 86.2 million as at 
January 1, 2019. 

Leases in which the Group is a lessor
The Group will reassess the classification of sub-leases in 
which the Group is a lessor. No significant impact is expect-
ed for other leases in which the Group is a lessor.

Transition
The Group plans to apply IFRS 16 initially on January 1, 2019, 
using the modified retrospective approach. Therefore, the 
cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised 
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earn-
ings at January 1, 2019, if applicable, with no restatement 
of comparative information. 

The Group plans to apply the practical expedient to grand-
father the definition of a lease on transition. This means 
that it will apply IFRS 16 to all contracts entered into before 
January 1, 2019 and identified as leases in accordance with 
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. Further it is planned to measure the 
right-of-use asset at an amount equal to the lease liability 
at the date of initial application.
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D. SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

01. Changes in the Group
In the reporting period, the number of consolidated  
subsidiaries changed as follows:

Number OF CONsOlidated subsidiaries 

2018 2017

 
JanUarY 1 137 136

additiONs 15 17

dispOsals (iNCludiNg  
mergers aNd liquidatiONs) 27 16

december 31 125 137

 
The additions in 2018 partly relate to the acquisitions 
across the Europe, Asia and Americas segments (refer to 
section D. 02.). Additional to these acquisitions 9 entities 
were founded and added to the consolidation scope in 
2018. In 2017, particularly the acquisition of the Carriage 
group affected the number of consolidated entities. 

Disposals in 2018 mainly result from the sale of the hun-
gryhouse group as well as our operations in Brazil, Italy 
and Switzerland. Additional liquidations and mergers fol-
lowing group internal restructuring measures also led to 
disposals in 2018.

The number of equity-accounted companies changed as 
set forth in the following table:

Number OF equity-aCCOuNted COmpaNies1

2018 2017

 
JanUarY 1 2 2

additiONs 3 2

divestiture/CONsOlidatiON 0 2

december 31 5 2

1  invesTMenT in TakeeaTeasy.be sa, belgiuM eliMinaTed froM presenTaTion  
as in bankrupTcy.

In 2018 Delivery Hero acquired shares in the on-demand 
multi-vertical delivery platforms Rappi Inc. (“Rappi”), USA 
(as of December 31, 2018, 19.5%), and Glovoapp23 S.L. 
(“ Glovo”), Spain (as of December 31, 2018, 16.0%) as well 
as Sweetheart Kitchen Operations GmbH, Germany (as of 
December 31, 2018, 40.0%), a cloud kitchen solution which 
are accounted for at-equity. 

02. Acquisitions
During the year 2018, the Group acquired Deliveras S.A., 
Greece (“Deliveras”), EURÓ Magyarország Kft., Hungary 
(“Pizza.hu”), Cloud Treats Romania S.A (“HipMenu” and 
“HipDelivery”) and Motwer SA (“Alan”) which are present-
ed below:

eur milliON

Fair values  
at date OF 

aCquisitiON 

 
iNtaNgible assets 10.5

prOperty, plaNt aNd equipmeNt 0.1

trade aNd Other reCeivables 0.5

Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts 0.5

prOvisiONs aNd liabilities –0.5

trade payables –1.2

deFerred tax liabilities –0.8

neT aSSeTS 9.1

conSideraTion TranSferred 26.8

goodwill 17.7

As at January 31, 2018, Delivery Hero Group acquired Deliv-
eras, a food delivery platform based in Athens. The entity 
operates a food delivery marketplace – offering vendor 
delivery services to end-customers. The acquisition of 
100% of the shares in Deliveras represents a strategic 
investment in the Greek market. The shares acquired are 
representative of the voting rights. 

As at May 4, 2018, the Group acquired Pizza.hu, a food 
delivery platform based in Hungary. The entity operates a 
food delivery marketplace – offering vendor delivery ser-
vices to end customers. The acquisition of 100% of the 
shares in Pizza.hu represents the increased market poten-
tial in the Hungarian market. The shares acquired are rep-
resentative of the voting rights. 
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As at July 19, 2018, the Group acquired Cloud Treats Roma-
nia SA., a food delivery platform based in Cluj, Romania. 
The entity operates under a mixed model offering both 
marketplace and own delivery services to end customers. 
The acquisition in 100% shares of HipMenu represents a 
strategic investment in the Romanian market. The shares 
acquired are representative of the voting rights.

At November 5, 2018, the Group acquired 100% stake in 
Motwer SA. (“Alan”), a company owning “Alan Technology” 
software. Alan is exclusively used for providing application 
solutions powered by propritary engine. This will support 
DH Group in automating various communication processes 
for customer care, rider management as well as other per-
sonnel related services.

During the year, the Group also had some smaller asset 
deals in Americas where it acquired Netcomidas.com in 
Bolivia and MegaBite in Ecuador, both online food delivery 
platforms. 

The fair value of total consideration for all the acquisitions 
in 2018 is € 26.8 million which includes contingent consid-
erations of € 6.1 million. The contingent consideration 
depends on the future performance of the businesses; the 
maximum amount of the contingency also being restricted 
to € 7.8 million. In connection with these business combi-
nations, no significant transaction costs were incurred.

The total consideration for acquisitions is allocated between 
the recognized assets and assumed liabilities as follows 
based on provisional accounting in accordance with 
IFRS 3.45.

None of the intangible assets have an indefinite useful life. 

Goodwill, which consists primarily of not separable com-
ponents such as positive business prospects, is not deduct-
ible for tax purposes.

Combined trade receivables from third parties with a gross 
value of € 0.5 million were acquired and are assessed as 
being fully recoverable. 

Since their first inclusion, the acquired entities have con-
tributed € 1.7 million towards Groupʼs revenues and a net 
loss of € 0.7 million 

If the acquisitions had been consolidated as of January 1, 
2018 the entities would have contributed € 2.9 million to 
revenue and a net loss of € 2.9 million.

Acquisitions in the previous year 
On June 14, 2017, Delivery Hero Group acquired Carriage 
group with entities in several countries of the MENA 
region. The provisional accounting for the acquisition in 
accordance with IFRS 3.45 as of that date remained 
unchanged as presented below:

eur milliON

Fair values  
at date OF 

aCquisitiON 

 
iNtaNgible assets 5.2

prOperty, plaNt aNd equipmeNt 1.0

trade aNd Other reCeivables 0.7

Other assets 0.2

Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts 3.1

prOvisiONs aNd liabilities –0.7

trade payables –3.6

deFerred tax liabilities –0.8

neT aSSeTS 5.0

conSideraTion TranSferred 84.8

goodwill 79.8

Further, Delivery Hero Group had acquired Fly & Company 
Inc. Korea on October 10, 2017 and Appetitos24 group, 
Panama on October 2, 2017. These were individually con-
sidered to be insignificant and therefore presented in 
aggregate. The provisional accounting for these acquisi-
tions in accordance with IFRS 3.45 as of that date also 
remained unchanged as presented below:
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eur milliON

Fair values  
at date OF 

aCquisitiON 

 
iNtaNgible assets 0.6

prOperty, plaNt aNd equipmeNt 0.0

trade aNd Other reCeivables 0.6

Other assets 0.1

Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts 1.5

prOvisiONs aNd liabilities –0.6

trade payables –1.3

deFerred tax liabilities –0.1

neT aSSeTS 0.9

conSideraTion TranSferred 13.4

goodwill 12.4

03.  Disclosures on participations pursuant to IFRS 12

a) Subsidiaries
On December 31, 2018 DH Group had 125 fully consolidated 
subsidiaries.

Refer to section H. 10. for a complete list of the Groupʼs 
subsidiaries.

b) NCI
As of December 31, 2018 the Group has material NCI (37%) 
in its Hungerstation subsidiary (Kingdom Saudi Arabia 
(KSA)).

The following tables provide summarized financial infor-
mation before intra-group elimination:

summarized statemeNt OF FiNaNCial pOsitiON OF  

huNgerstatiON llC 

  
eur milliON dec. 31, 2018

Fair values at 
date OF aCqui-

sitiON

 
CurreNt

assets 10.8 7.4

liabilities 25.1 11.8

CurreNt Net assets/Net debt –14.3 –4.4

 
NON-CurreNt  

assets 122.6 117.9

liabilities 0.8 0.3

NON-CurreNt Net assets 121.8 117.6

ToTal neT aSSeTS 107.5 113.2

summarized statemeNt OF COmpreheNsive iNCOme  

OF huNgerstatiON llC 
 
eur milliON 2018 2017

 
reveNue 81.4  23.9 

earNiNgs beFOre iNCOme taxes –8.3 –4.6

iNCOme taxes –2.0 2.2 

earNiNgs aFter taxes –10.3 –2.4

Other COmpreheNsive iNCOme –11.2 –15.9

ToTal comprehenSive income –21.5 –18.4

COmpreheNsive lOss 
 attributable tO NON- 
CONtrOlliNg iNterests –2.4 –1.1

summarized statemeNt OF Cash FlOWs  

OF huNgerstatiON llC
 
eur milliON 2018 2017

 
Cash geNerated FrOm 
 OperatiONs 1.0 1.2

Net Cash geNerated FrOm  
OperatiNg aCtivities 1.0 1.2

Net Cash FlOWs FrOm  
iNvestiNg aCtivities –1.4 –1.1

Net Cash FlOWs FrOm  
FiNaNCiNg aCtivities –0.1 2.5

Net ChaNge iN Cash aNd  
Cash equivaleNts –0.5 2.6

Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts  
at the begiNNiNg OF the 
periOd 3.3 0.9

eFFeCt OF exChaNge rate  
mOvemeNts iN Cash aNd  
Cash equivaleNts 0.0 –0.2

caSh and caSh eqUivalenTS  
aT The end of The period 2.8 3.3

Accumulated non-controlling interests of Hungerstation, 
KSA amounts to € –2.4 million as of December 31, 2018 
(December 31, 2017: € 1.1 million).

As of December 31, 2017 the Group had material NCI (16%) 
in its subsidiary RGP Korea Ltd. that was considered 
acquired based on the put option right of the minority 
shareholder in the third quarter of 2017. Thus, for RGP Korea 
Ltd. no minority interest is shown as of December 31, 2017 
and 2018. (refer to section H. 02. a).
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c) Associated companies
As of December 31, 2018 DH Group has interest in five asso-
ciates of which two are material (2017: None material) to 
the Group. Both of these associates are accounted for under 
the equity method and are presented below:

1. Rappi:
During the year 2018, DH Group invested € 138.1 million 
($ 163.9 million) for a minority stake of 19.5% in Rappi, a 
Delaware, USA based Corporation. Rappi is the parent com-
pany of a leading on-demand and multi vertical delivery 
service platform in Latin America providing restaurant, gro-
cery and other delivery services. 

The Group has determined that it exercises as the investeesʼ 
largest shareholder significant influence due to meaningful 
representation on the board of directors of the investee and 
accordingly applies the equity method of accounting.

Below is the summarized financial information for Rappi 
based on its consolidated financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRS, adjusted for fair value adjustments 
at acquisition and differences in accounting policies:

summarized statemeNt OF FiNaNCial pOsitiON OF rappi 

 
eur milliON 2018

 
NON CurreNt assets 376.2

CurreNt assets 220.5

NON CurreNt liabilities –7.9

CurreNt liabilities –25.8

Net assets (100%)  563.0

grOupʼs share OF Net assets 
(19.5%) 109.8

carrYing amoUnT of inTereST  
in aSSociaTe 109.8

reveNue (100%) 46.6

prOFit FrOm CONtiNuiNg 
 OperatiONs (100%)  –138.0

Other COmpreheNsive iNCOme 
(100%)  –4.1

ToTal comprehenSive income 
(100%) –142.1

groUpʼS Share of ToTal 
 comprehenSive income (19.5%)1 –28.3

1  dh groups share in rappi slighTly flucTuaTed ThroughouT The year 
due To MulTiple funding rounds. The reporTed share of 19.5% is as aT 
year end. The weighTed average share for The enTire year was 19.9%.

2. Glovo
In July 2018, DH Group invested € 51.2 million for a minority 
stake of 15.0% in Glovo, a limited liability company regis-
tered in Barcelona, Spain. Glovo is a leading on-demand 
and multi vertical delivery service platform providing 
restaurant, grocery and other delivery services, operating 
majorly across Europe and Latin America.

Later in September 2018, the group sold its operations in 
Italy to Glovo in lieu of shares, thereby increasing the over-
all holding to 16.0%. The Group has determined that it 
exercises as the investeesʼ largest shareholders significant 
influence due to meaningful representation on the board 
of directors of the investee and accordingly, applies the 
equity method of accounting. 

Below is the summarized financial information for Glovo 
based on its consolidated financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRS, adjusted for fair value adjustments 
at acquisition and differences in accounting policies:
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summarized statemeNt OF FiNaNCial pOsitiON OF  

glOvO:
 
eur milliON 2018

 
NON CurreNt assets 254.9

CurreNt assets 81.5

NON CurreNt liabilities –13.3

CurreNt liabilities –39.5

Net assets (100%)  283.6

grOupʼs share OF Net assets 
(16.0%) 45.4

elimiNatiON OF uNrealised 
prOFit ON dOWNstream sales  –

carrYing amoUnT of 
 inTereST in aSSociaTe 45.4

reveNue (100%)  75.2 

prOFit FrOm CONtiNuiNg Oper-
atiONs (100%) –90.4

Other COmpreheNsive iNCOme 
(100%) 1.8

ToTal comprehenSive income 
(100%) –88.6

adJUSTed ToTal 
 comprehenSive income for 
inveSTmenT period (100%) –61.7

groUpʼS Share of ToTal 
 comprehenSive income 
(16.0%) –9.8

The table below includes in aggregate financial informa-
tion of individually immaterial associates and joint 
ventures:

add table 

FOr iNdividually immaterial assOCiates: 

eur milliON 2018 2017

 
CarryiNg amOuNt OF iNterests 6.0 5.9

share OF prOFit/lOss 
 attributable tO dh grOup 0.1 0.2

Other COmpreheNsive iNCOme – –

FOr iNdividually immaterial JOiNt veNtures
 
eur milliON 2018 2017

 
CarryiNg amOuNt OF iNterests 1.1 0.1 

share OF prOFit/lOss 
 attributable tO dh grOup –2.9 –1.6 

Other COmpreheNsive iNCOme – –

d) Loss of control
During the year 2018, Delivery Hero sold its operations in 
Switzerland, Italy and Brazil to the group Takeaway, Glovo 
and iFood respectively and concluded the sale of hungry-
house group, classified as held for sale as of December 31, 
2017 to Just Eat.

At the time when control was lost in above mentioned 
entities, they had aggregate cash and cash equivalents of 
€ 9.2 million, assets other than cash and cash equivalents 
of € 2.7 million and liabilities of € 56.8 million.

The combined gain resulting from sale of operations Swit-
zerland, Brazil and Italy was € 8.2 million and is included 
as Gain from disposal of subsidiaries presented in “other 
Income”. For the gain realized from the hungryhouse sale 
please see below.

During the year the Group also divested its operations in 
Australia. Suppertime Australia Pty Ltd. (Foodora Austra-
lia), has filed for voluntary administration which has been 
accepted by local registrars. 

e) Discontinued operations
Sale of hungryhouse group:
On January 31, 2018 Delivery Hero closed the sale of the 
hungryhouse group. The gain from this divestment 
amounted to € 261.3 million and is included in the net 
result for the period from discontinued operations. 

Sale of German operations
On December 20, 2018 the Company signed a transaction 
document with Takeaway.com N.V. pursuant to which 
Delivery Hero is selling its German food delivery  businesses, 
including all three brands to the Takeaway group (the 
“Transaction”). The Transaction was completed on April 1, 
2019. 

The total consideration amounts to € 930 million, consist-
ing of € 508 million in cash and 9.5 million shares in Take-
away.com N.V. worth € 422 million20, representing approx-
imately 15.5% of the total issued and outstanding share 
capital of Takeaway.com N.V. as of the transaction comple-
tion date.

Delivery Hero will have the right to submit a binding nom-
ination for the appointment of one independent member 
to Takeaway.com N.V.ʼs supervisory board. This right will 
expire at the date Delivery Hero holds less than 9.99% of 
Takeaway.com N.V.ʼs issued and outstanding share capital. 
The parties have agreed to a standstill period of four years 
following the completion of the Transaction during which 
Delivery Hero and its subsidiaries, with limited exceptions, 

20  Valuation based on € 44.40 per share equivalent to the last 10 day VWAP  
as of December 19, 2018. 
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shall, in particular, not directly or indirectly in any way 
effect or cause to effect any increase in its shareholding in 
Takeaway.com N.V. through any financial instruments or 
related derivative securities. During the standstill period 
and up to three years after that period, certain voting 
restrictions, mainly on mergers and acquisitions related 
matters and in case of conflict of interest, will apply to 
Delivery Heroʼs shares in Takeaway.com N.V. Certain other 
shareholder restrictions will apply to Delivery Hero during, 
and for a limited period after, the standstill period.

The assets and liabilities are summarized as assets and 
liabilities respectively included in a disposal group classi-
fied as held for sale as of December 31, 2018. In accordance 
with IFRS 5.15, the disposal group was measured at carrying 
amount as this is lower than the fair value less cost to sell.

Since the German operations sold in the Transaction rep-
resent a material geographical operation within DH Group 
they are presented as discontinued operations in the con-
solidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehen-
sive income for 2018 and 2017. 

Subsequently presented is summarized information of the 
net assets, financial position and result from discontinued 
operations, including hungryhouse group and the German 
operations.

prOFit Or lOss FrOm the disCONtiNued OperatiON 
 
eur milliON 2018 2017

 
reveNue 106.2 142.3

CONsOlidatiON OF  
iNtragrOup reveNue –6.0 –11.9

exTernal revenUe 100.2 130.4

expeNses –172.4 –190.3

iNCOme 261.7 0.5

CONsOlidatiON OF  
iNtragrOup expeNses 32.4 38.3

exTernal expenSeS 121.7 –151.5

profiT or loSS from 
 diSconTinUed operaTionS 221.9 –21.1

iNCOme taxes 12.9 5.4

profiT or loSS from 
 diSconTinUed operaTionS 
afTer TaxeS 234.8 –15.7

Income from discontinued operations includes the gain 
from the sale of hungryhouse of € 261.3 million. 

Cash FlOWs FrOm the disCONtiNued OperatiON 
  
eur milliON 2018 2017

 
Net Cash FlOW FrOm 
 OperatiNg aCtivities –46.1 –23.9

Net Cash FlOW FrOm  
iNvestiNg aCtivities –1.9 0.0

Net Cash FlOW FrOm  
FiNaNCiNg aCtivities 100.1 35.6

neT caSh flow for The Year 52.1 11.7

The OCI (net) did not include foreign currency translation 
gains or losses from discontinued operations in current year 
(previous year: gains of € 1.4 million).

assets aNd liabilities OF the dispOsal grOup 2018  

(germaN OperatiONs)

 
eur milliON  2018

 
iNtaNgible assets 269.5

prOperty, plaNt aNd equipmeNt 0.2

deFerred tax assets 6.5

iNveNtOries 0.7

trade aNd Other reCeivables 13.7

Other CurreNt assets 0.4

Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts 75.8

aSSeTS held for Sale 366.8

Other liabilities 0.0

deFerred tax liabilities 21.3

Other CurreNt prOvisiONs 5.8

CurreNt trade aNd Other payables 43.6

Other NONFiNaNCial liabilities (CurreNt) 4.1

iNCOme tax liabilities (CurreNt) 0.0

liabiliTieS held for Sale 74.8
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E. OPERATING SEGMENTS

01. Segmentation principles 
The Management Board of the Company represents the 
Groupʼs chief operating decision maker (CODM). In line 
with the management approach, the operating segments 
are identified on the basis of the internal reporting struc-
ture. Internal reporting is the basis for the allocation of 
resources and the evaluation of the performance of the 
operating segments by the Management Board.

The Groupʼs business activity is segmented according to 
geographical attributes. There is separate internal report-
ing to the Management Board for the Europe, MENA, Asia 
and Americas regions. Turkey is assigned to the MENA seg-
ment and Canada to the Americas segment. The Group 
offers food ordering and delivery services with a different 
configuration of platform-based marketplace offers and 
delivery services depending on the respective markets. 
The regional range of services is determined partly by 
demand, infrastructure, demographic circumstances, and 
the competitive situation. 

The profitability of the operating segments is measured 
on the basis of adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is the 
earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, 
financial result, depreciation and amortization and 
non-operating earnings effects. Non-operating earnings 
effects comprise, in particular (i) expenses for share-based 
payment, (ii) expenses for services in connection with cor-
porate transactions and financing rounds, (iii) expenses 
for reorganization measures, (iv) expenses for the implemen- 

tation of information technology, (v) expenses for the 
achievement of capital market capability in prior years, 
and (vi) other non-operating expenses and income, espe-
cially the result from disposal of tangible and intangible 
assets, the result from sale and abandonment of subsid-
iaries, allowances for other receivables, and non-income 
taxes.

Until December 31, 2018 revenue and adjusted EBITDA from 
German businesses classified as discontinued operations 
is included in the segment presentation.

From the measurement of the 2018 segment performance 
excluded are operations of foodora Australia, France, Italy 
and Netherlands abandoned or sold during the reporting 
period. Comparative information is not restated.

02.  Segment information and reconciliation  
of segment information 

a) Revenue
Sales between segments are conducted at market prices. 
The revenue with external customers reported to the 
CODM generally equals the measurement of the revenue 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 
with exception to discounts and vouchers to users of the 
platforms that are treated as marketing expenses for 
reporting to the CODM whereas effective January 1, 2018 
following the application of IFRS 15 (refer to section C) they 
are deducted from revenue in the statement of compre-
hensive income.

assets aNd liabilities OF the dispOsal grOup 2017 (huNgryhOuse)

eur milliON 2017

 
iNtaNgible assets 11.4

prOperty, plaNt aNd equipmeNt 0.1

deFerred tax assets 0.1

iNveNtOries 0.3

trade aNd Other reCeivables 2.5

Other CurreNt assets 0.1

Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts 13.6

aSSeTS held for Sale 28.1

Other liabilities 0.0

deFerred tax liabilities 0.1

Other CurreNt prOvisiONs 5.0

CurreNt trade aNd Other payables 7.0

Other NONFiNaNCial liabilities (CurreNt) 1.7

iNCOme tax liabilities (CurreNt) 0.1

liabiliTieS held for Sale 13.9
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Revenues are split across the segments as follows:

 
eur milliON 2018 2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
eurOpe 221.3 198.8 22.5 11.3

meNa 316.4 153.3 163.1 > 100

asia 192.5 144.8 47.8 33.0

ameriCas 62.1 47.4 14.8 31.2

SegmenT 
 revenUe 792.4 544.2 248.2 45.6

reClassiFiCatiON 
tO disCONtiNued 
OperatiONs 105.4 90.0 15.4 17.1

SegmenT 
 revenUe 
 exclUding 
 diSconTinUed 
operaTionS 687.0 454.2 232.8 51.2

reCONCiliatiON 
eFFeCts 19.21 –0.5 19.6 > 100

disCOuNts –41.0 – n.a. n.a.

groUp revenUe 665.1 453.7 211.4 46.6

1  reconciliaTion effecTs include gross revenue of operaTions abandoned  
or sold during The reporTing period. in 2018 These divesTMenTs include 
ausTralia, france, iTaly and neTherlands.

b) Adjusted EBITDA

 
eur milliON 2018 2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
eurOpe –56.8 –45.5 –11.3 24.8

meNa 18.1 23.9 –5.8 –24.2

asia –51.9 –47.1 –4.8 10.2

ameriCas –50.9 –25.4 –25.5 > 100

adJUSTed ebiTda 
of The SegmenTS –141.6 –94.2 –47.3 50.2

reClassiFiCatiON 
tO disCONtiNued 
OperatiONs 41.4 11.0 30.3 > 100

adJUSTed ebiTda 
of The SegmenTS 
exclUding 
 diSconTinUed 
operaTionS –100.2 –83.2 –17.0 20.5

CONsOlidatiON 
adJustmeNts –12.3 –13.3 1.0 –7.5

items exCluded 
FrOm segmeNt 
perFOrmaNCe –20.0 – –20.0 > 100

maNagemeNt 
adJustmeNts –44.1 –32.8 –11.3 34.3

expeNses FOr 
share-based 
COmpeNsatiON –17.2 –69.5 52.3 –75.2

Other reCONCili-
atiON items –0.2 9.4 –9.6 > 100

amOrtizatiON 
aNd depreCiatiON –47.7 –44.3 –3.5 7.8

Net iNterest aNd 
Other FiNaNCial 
result –17.1 –91.1 74.0 –81.3

earningS before 
income TaxeS –258.8 –324.8 66.0 –20.3

Consolidation adjustments substantially relate to the elim-
ination of transactions with discontinued operations.

Items excluded from segment performance in 2018 relate 
to operations in Australia, France, Italy and Netherlands 
divested during the reporting period of € 20.0 million (pre-
vious year: nil).

In 2018 the management adjustments include expenses for 
services in connection with corporate transactions and 
funding rounds of € 40.1 million (prev ious year: 
€ 22.3 million), expenses for reorganization measures of 
€ 3.9 million (previous year: € 5.1 million), and expenses for 
the implementation of information technologies of 
€ 0.1 million (previous year: € 0.5 million) and expenses for 
the realization of capital market viability of € 0.0 million 
(previous year: € 5.0 million).
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Other reconciliation items do include non-operating 
income and expenses. In 2018 this item included in partic-
ular gains from the disposal of subsidiaries of € 4.4 million 
(previous year: € 19.5 million), impairment of other assets 
and receivables of €  0.5 mil l ion (prev ious year: 
€ 0.5 million), as well as non-income-taxes of € 5.5 million 
(previous year: € 6.2 million). 

03. Information about geographical areas
The tables below show the revenue and non-current assets 
for material countries (> 10% of total Group) in the Group. 
The geographical allocation of the revenue and assets is 
based on the domicile of each subsidiary.

a) Revenue

 
eur milliON 2018 2017

 
kuWait 99.5 47.5

kOrea 94.4 73.0

saudi arabia 92.3 49.4

Other COuNtries 378.9 283.4

SUbToTal conTinUing  
operaTionS 665.1 453.4

germaNy 96.8 90.3

uNited kiNgdOm 3.4 40.3

ToTal 765.3 584.1

b) Non-current assets

 
eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
turkey 256.1 353.2

kuWait 195.8 192.2

germaNy 188.8 281.5

saudi arabia 127.7 122.8

Other COuNtries 310.9 302.6

ToTal 1,079.4 1,252.4

Non-current assets do not include financial instruments, 
deferred tax assets or assets for employee benefits.

F.  DISCLOSURES ON THE CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

01. Intangible assets

a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
Intangible assets declined by € 344.6 million in the current 
year. This change is primarily due to intangible assets relat-
ing to the German operations reclassified to assets includ-
ed in a disposal group classified as held for sale (€ 269.5  
million) and to negative foreign currency exchange effects 
(€ 74.5 million), predominantly the appreciation of Euro 
against the Turkish Lira (€ 85.7 million). 

The decline in goodwill is mainly the result of the reclassifi-
cation of the German operations in discontinued operations 
(€ 129.0 million) and foreign currency effects, primarily the 
appreciation of the Euro to the Turkish Lira (€ 34.5 million). 
In contrast, goodwill additions of € 17.7 million mainly from 
the acquisitions of CloudTreats Romania S.A. (Romania), 
Deliveras S.A. (Greece) and Pizza.hu (Hungary) (refer to sec-
tion D. 02.) reduced this effect. 

Goodwill is not subject to amortization.

The useful life of the brands identified as part of the acqui-
sitions is between five and ten years and that of the cus-
tomer and supplier relationships is eight to nine years. The 
remaining useful life of the other brands may extend from 
two to twentyone years; that of the other customer and 
supplier relationships ranges between two and nine years.
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Amortization of intangible assets is recognized in admin-
istrative expenses, except for amortization of brands 
which is reflected in marketing expenses.

Movements in intangible assets:

eur milliON goodwill
licenSeS and 

 Similar righTS TrademarkS SofTware

inTernallY 
 generaTed 
 inTangible 

aSSeTS

cUSTomer/ 
SUpplier baSe 

and oTher 
 inTangible 

aSSeTS ToTal

 
coST

aS of Jan. 1, 2018 733.0 5.1 426.5 18.4 8.5 168.9 1,360.3

additiONs thrOugh busiNess COmbiNatiONs 17.7 0.0 0.6 6.9 0.0 3.0 28.2

dispOsals due tO deCONsOlidatiON –6.2 0.0 –2.4 –0.9 –0.4 –0.2 –10.0

additiONs 2.9 0.5 0.7 9.1 5.1 5.7 24.0

reClassiFiCatiONs –128.9 6.7 –137.2 0.3 –0.7 –53.3 –313.1

dispOsals –0.2 –0.4 –0.2 –0.1 –0.1 –0.1 –1.1

traNslatiON diFFereNCes –24.8 –0.2 –56.8 –0.6 –0.9 0.1 –83.2

aS of dec. 31, 2018 593.5 11.6 231.3 33.1 11.4 124.2 1,005.1

 
accUmUlaTed amorTizaTion and impairmenT loSSeS        

aS of Jan. 1, 2018 –19.5 –3.6 –58.8 –9.0 –3.8 –42.9 –137.7

dispOsals due tO deCONsOlidatiON 0.5 0.0 2.2 0.9 0.0 0.1 3.6

amOrtizatiON 0.0 –0.2 –14.5 –3.3 –3.1 –12.6 –33.6

impairmeNt lOsses –4.3 – –0.2 –0.2 0.0 0.0 –4.7

reClassiFiCatiONs – –1.5 20.7 0.0 0.1 16.5 35.8

dispOsals 0.2 0.4 0.1 0.0 – 0.0 0.7

traNslatiON diFFereNCes 0.0 –0.1 6.9 0.4 0.3 1.2 8.7

aS of dec. 31, 2018 –23.1 –5.0 –43.6 –11.3 –6.5 –37.6 –127.1

carrYing amoUnT aS of dec. 31, 2018 570.4 6.7 187.7 21.8 4.9 86.5 878.0

carrYing amoUnT aS of Jan. 1, 2018 713.5 1.4 367.7 9.4 4.7 126.0 1,222.7
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eur milliON goodwill
licenSeS and 

 Similar righTS TrademarkS SofTware

inTernallY 
 generaTed 
 inTangible 

aSSeTS

cUSTomer/ 
SUpplier baSe  

and oTher 
 inTangible 

aSSeTS ToTal

 
coST

aS of Jan. 1, 2017 706.7 4.9 479.2 15.4 6.7 177.9 1,390.8

additiONs thrOugh busiNess COmbiNatiONs 93.0 0.0 3.7 0.9 1.1 1.9 100.7

dispOsals due tO deCONsOlidatiON –4.8 –0.9 –0.7 –0.3 –0.1 – –6.7

additiONs 0.1 0.5 0.0 2.7 1.8 1.5 6.6

reClassiFiCatiONs – 1.1 0.1 0.4 0.0 –0.8 0.8

dispOsals – 0.0 0.0 –0.3 –0.2 –0.1 –0.6

traNslatiON diFFereNCes –62.1 –0.6 –55.8 –0.4 –0.7 –11.7 –131.3

aS of dec. 31, 2017 733.0 5.1 426.5 18.4 8.5 168.9 1,360.3

 
accUmUlaTed amorTizaTion and impairmenT loSSeS        

aS of Jan. 1, 2017 –15.5 –3.5 –42.2 –5.4 –0.4 –29.8 –96.8

dispOsals due tO deCONsOlidatiON – 0.5 0.3 0.1 0.1 – 0.9

amOrtizatiON 0.0 –0.6 –21.9 –2.4 –2.6 –15.6 –43.2

impairmeNt lOsses –4.0 – –0.1 –0.2 – –0.1 –4.4

reClassiFiCatiONs – –0.5 –0.1 –0.6 0.0 0.4 –0.8

dispOsals – 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.3

traNslatiON diFFereNCes 0.0 0.4 5.2 0.3 0.2 2.2 8.2

aS of dec. 31, 2017 –19.5 –3.6 –58.8 –9.1 –3.7 –42.9 –137.7

carrYing amoUnT aS of dec. 31, 2017 713.5 1.4 367.7 9.3 4.8 126.0 1,222.6

carrYing amoUnT aS of Jan. 1, 2017 691.2 1.5 437.0 10.0 6.3 148.0 1,294.0
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b) Breakdown of goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing , the Group allo-
cates goodwill to cash-generating units. In 2018, manage-
ment adjusted regional management structures in each of 
the segments and correspondingly aligned the goodwill 
allocation to CGUs. Accordingly, goodwill has been reallo-
cated to the level that represents the lowest level within 
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes. 

At December 31, 2018 and 2017 the goodwill was allocated 
as follows taking into account the recognized impairment 
losses per CGU:

 
eur milliON 2018 2017

 
huNgerstatiON grOup 112.5 107.6

yemek sepeti grOup 101.5 136.0

Carriage grOup 78.1 75.0 

talabat grOup 59.0 55.6 

NOrdiCs grOup1 44.9 – 

delivery herO germaNy gmbh – 125.7

SUbToTal 396.0 499.9

gOOdWill OF Other Cgus 174.4 213.6

ToTal 570.4 713.5

1  The cgu nordics group was inTroduced following The goodwill 
 reallocaTion in 2018. in 2017, The group was included in  
“goodwill of oTher cgus”.

 

Goodwill of the cash generating unit (CGU) Yemek Sepeti 
group declined as of December 31, 2018 compared with 
previous year as a result of foreign currency translation 
movements.

Delivery Hero Germany comprises the brands Lieferheld, 
Pizza.de and foodora Germany. In 2018, foodora Germany 
was subsumed in the Delivery Hero Germany CGU as part 
of the regional management structure adjustments. Fol-
lowing the announcement of the planned disposal of the 
German operations, goodwill of Delivery Hero Germany 
has been reclassified to assets included in a disposal group 
classified as held for sale, accordingly.

In 2018, goodwill impairment losses of € 4.3 million  
(previous year: € 4.0 million) were recognized in connec-
tion with the divestments of non-core operations. In 
course of the 2018 annual impairment test the recoverable 
amount of all CGUs exceeded their carrying amount. 

In 2017, goodwill impairment losses were recognized for 
the CGU Croatia of € 2.0 million. In addition, the net assets 
of 9Coockies were written off resulting in an impairment 
loss of € 2.0 million. The total impairment losses were 
recorded within other operating expenses. 

The fair value less costs of disposal of the CGUs (catego-
rized as level 3 of the fair value hierarchy) was calculated 
by applying the discounted cash flow method. Basis for 
determining the expected future cash flow is a detailed 
planning period of five years for each CGU. For perpetuity, 
the expected future cash flows (before interest and taxes) 
of each CGUs were determined under consideration of 
CGU-specif ic revenue growth and EBITDA growth 
assumptions. 
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The following table shows the key planning assumptions in 2018:

Cgu 2018

%
Yemek  

SepeTi groUp

hUnger-
STaTion 
 groUp

carriage  
groUp

TalabaT  
groUp

nordicS 
groUp

oTher  
goodwill1

 
reveNue grOWth p.a.  
iN plaNNiNg periOd (Cagr) 18.5 15.1 38.6 18.4 16.6 28.2

average ebitda margiN  
iN plaNNiNg periOd 45.5 15.7 16.4 18.7 11.3 0.5

termiNal value reveNue grOWth 13.3 1.3 1.6 1.9 0.9 2.0

ebitda margiN  
aFter eNd OF plaNNiNg periOd 50.0 20.0 30.0 35.0 30.0 27.5

average disCOuNt rate  
iN plaNNiNg periOd/WaCC 22.3 8.4 8.7 9.3 7.5 10.5

age OF COmpaNy (years) 17 4 4 7 8 9

1 excluding The gerMan business.

The following table shows the key planning assumptions in 2017:

Cgu 2017

%
Yemek  

SepeTi groUp

hUnger-
STaTion 
 groUp

carriage  
groUp

TalabaT  
groUp

nordicS 
groUp2

oTher  
goodwill1

 
reveNue grOWth p.a.  
iN plaNNiNg periOd (Cagr) 23.9 16.6 26.5 14.0 14.1 16.8

average ebitda margiN  
iN plaNNiNg periOd 49.3 17.7 18.8 41.6 27.4 10.8

termiNal value reveNue grOWth 6.9 1.7 2.6 2.2 1.1 2.2

ebitda margiN  
aFter eNd OF plaNNiNg periOd 51.8 30.0 30.0 45.0 36.8 33.7

average disCOuNt rate  
iN plaNNiNg periOd/WaCC 16.3 9.2 9.9 9.7 8.1 11.2

age OF COmpaNy (years) 16 3 3 6 7 8

1 excluding The gerMan business.
2  The cgu nordics group was inTroduced following The goodwill reallocaTion in 2018.  

in 2017, The business was included in “oTher goodwill”.

The planning process for each CGU is based on a struc-
tured bottom-up approach that is carried out once a year. 
The overall process is directed by central management via 
top-down target-setting in the form of country-/company- 
specific KPIs. The respective local management then 
 prepares the business plan and adjusts it in an iterative 
process together with central management.

Local management teams use cohort models for revenue 
planning. The cohort models analyze the past order 
 behavior of (local) end customers and apply statistic 
 methods to forecast the future behavior of existing end 
customers. Future revenue from new end customers is 
derived from the planned marketing expenses and the 
development of estimated acquisition costs per new end 
customer. The main assumptions for the cohort models 
include the customer retention/reorder rate, customer 
activity rate, average order size and commission rates.

Costs, except for marketing, are planned using revenue 
based percentages.

The equity component of 2018 WACC is based on a uniform 
risk-free base rate of 1.25% for the Euro area (previous year: 
1.25%) and a CGU-specific risk premium between 7.7% and 
16.9% (previous year: 6.0% to 25.0%). The risk premium 
mainly contains adjustment components for inflation and 
country risk as well as market risk and CGU-specific premi-
ums. Additionally, CGU-specific risk premiums are applied 
to the free cash flows, which depend on the age of the CGU 
and decline towards maturity. Further, an entity-specific risk 
factor (beta factor) of 0.95 (previous year: 1.04) is used 

119

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018



02. Property, plant and equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment:

eur milliON

leaSehold 
improve-

menTS

operaTing 
and office 
eqUipmenT

advance 
 paYmenTS for 

properTY, 
planT and 
eqUipmenT ToTal

 
coST

aS of Jan. 1, 2018 9.3 28.0 0.2 37.5

additiONs thrOugh  
busiNess COmbiNatiONs 0.0 0.1 – 0.1

dispOsals due tO  deCONsOlidatiON 0.0 –1.7 – –1.7

additiONs 4.7 23.7 1.9 30.3

reClassiFiCatiONs –0.4 –2.6 –1.0 –4.0

dispOsals –0.1 –2.2 0.0 –2.3

traNslatiON diFFereNCes –1.1 –1.2 0.0 –2.3

aS of dec. 31, 2018 12.5 44.1 1.1 57.7

 
accUmUlaTed depreciaTion     

aS of Jan. 1, 2018 –1.7 –12.5 – –14.2

additiONs thrOugh busiNess COmbiNatiONs – 0.0 – 0.0

dispOsals due tO  deCONsOlidatiON 0.0 1.3 – 1.3

depreCiatiON –1.1 –10.2 – –11.3

impairmeNt lOsses 0.0 –0.3 – –0.3

reClassiFiCatiONs 1.0 2.7 – 3.7

dispOsals 0.1 1.4 – 1.5

traNslatiON diFFereNCes 0.0 0.3 – 0.4

aS of dec. 31, 2018 –1.6 –17.3 0.0 –18.9

carrYing amoUnT aS of dec. 31, 2018 10.8 26.8 1.1 38.8

carrYing amoUnT aS of Jan. 1, 2018 7.6 15.5 0.2 23.4

across all CGUs. Tax rates of between 0% and 33% are 
applied dependent on the CGU/country. Due to the assump-
tion of full equity financing, the WACC contains no debt 
component.

As part of the annual impairment testing in 2018, a 
 sensitivity analysis was conducted. In each scenario, an 
increase of the base rate by 100 basis points (bps) and an 
absolute reduction of the planned EBITDA margin by five 
 percentage points were assumed. None of these scenarios 
triggered impairment in any CGU.
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eur milliON

leaSehold 
improve-

menTS

operaTing 
and office 
eqUipmenT

advance 
 paYmenTS for 

properTY, 
planT and 
eqUipmenT ToTal

 
coST

aS of Jan. 1, 2017 4.9 21.3 – 26.1

additiONs thrOugh busiNess COmbiNatiONs 0.1 1.4 – 1.5

dispOsals due tO  deCONsOlidatiON – –1.4 – –1.4

additiONs 1.9 10.6 4.1 16.6

reClassiFiCatiONs 3.1 0.4 –3.5 0.0

dispOsals –0.4 –3.1 0.1 –3.5

traNslatiON diFFereNCes –0.1 –1.2 –0.5 –1.8

aS of dec. 31, 2017 9.3 28.0 0.2 37.5

 
accUmUlaTed depreciaTion

aS of Jan. 1, 2017 –1.5 –9.1 – –10.6

additiONs thrOugh busiNess COmbiNatiONs – –0.5 – –0.5

dispOsals due tO  deCONsOlidatiON – 1.0 0.0 1.0

depreCiatiON –0.6 –6.1 – –6.8

impairmeNt lOsses – – – – 

reClassiFiCatiONs – – – – 

dispOsals 0.4 1.6 – 2.1

traNslatiON diFFereNCes 0.1 0.5 – 0.6

aS of dec. 31, 2017 –1.7 –12.5 – –14.2

carrYing amoUnT aS of dec. 31, 2017 7.7 15.5 0.2 23.4

carrYing amoUnT aS of Jan. 1, 2017 3.3 12.2 – 15.5

The increase in operating and office equipment is primar-
ily the result of acquisitions and increased business activ-
ities. In this context investments in POS equipment to 
onboard new restaurant partners and in computer hard-
ware to employees were made. Further, the relocation 
into new office premises in Korea contributed to the addi-
tions in leasehold improvements. 

The reclassifications relate mainly to the reclassification 
of plant, property and equipment of the German opera-
tions to assets included in a disposal group classified as 
held for sale. 

Operating and office equipment is leased to third parties 
on a short-term basis only to a minor extent. The lessee 
generally has the right to terminate the lease at any time.

03. Other financial assets
Other financial assets are composed as follows:
 
eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
iNvestmeNts 43.4 28.7

lOaNs graNted 2.9 1.8

misCellaNeOus 3.5 0.9

ToTal 49.8 31.4

Investments as of December 31, 2018 mainly relate to 
shares in ANI Technologies Private Limited (ANI), Bengal-
uru, India, acquired in 2017, holding company of the Ola 
group, with € 25.3 million. ANI operates a mobility plat-
form in India. In 2018 DH Group acquired a minority stake 
in Barogo Co. Ltd., a logistics company in Korea. The 
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06. Deferred income taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2018 
and 2017 are as follows:

 
eur milliON

dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
aSSeTS liabiliTieS assets liabilities 

 
deferred TaxeS 8.8 50.6 28.2 109.9

offSeTTing –8.8 –8.8 –28.2 –28.2

ToTal – 41.8 – 81.7

The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities results 
mainly from the classification of the German business as 
discontinued operations. Further, amortization of intan-
gible assets identified in previous acquisitions and curren-
cy effects effected the deferred tax positions. 

The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities results 
from the effects presented below:

 
eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
deFerred tax assets 0.0 0.0

deFerred tax liabilities 41.8 81.7

neT deferred TaxeS 
 recognized 41.8 81.7

Year-on-Year change –39.8 –22.0

thereOF reCOgNized  
iN prOFit Or lOss –1.3 –12.2

thereOF reCOgNized 
direCtly iN OCi/equity 1 –11.9 –10.7

thereOF reCOgNized upON 
 aCquisitiONs2 –26.6 0.9

1  includes TranslaTion differences of € 11.9 Million (previous year: 
€ 10.7 Million).

2  Thereof relaTing To reclassificaTion of The deferred Taxes of The disposal 
group in The reporTing period of € 27.4 Million. 

investment is recognized at its fair value of € 10.3 million. 
Further, in 2018 DH Group invested in several convertible 
loans in the total amount of € 7.3 million. 

04. Trade and other receivables
The following table gives an overview of trade and other 
receivables:

 
eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
reCeivables FrOm paymeNt 
 serviCe prOvider 30.5 37.0

trade reCeivables 20.6 36.7

reCeivable FrOm FOrmer 
grOup COmpaNy 0.0 12.3

purChase priCe reCeivable 26.7 0.0

misCellaNeOus 7.3 2.8

ToTal 85.1 88.8

The purchase price receivable represents an amount held on 
escrow from Just Eat Inc. from the sale of hungryhouse in 
January 2018. 

The receivable against a former Group company in 2017 relat-
ed to the settlement of intercompany transactions with a 
former Indian subsidiary disposed in December 2017.

The decrease in trade and other receivables is particularly 
attributable to improvements in receivable management, 
a higher online payment share and the classification of the 
German operations as held for sale.

05. Other assets
Other assets are composed as follows:

 
eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
advaNCe paymeNts/ 
prepaid expeNses 19.6 9.7

value-added-tax reCeivables 7.1 7.1

misCellaNeOus Other assets 28.1 1.1

ToTal 54.8 17.9

thereOF CurreNt 54.5 17.6

thereOF NON-CurreNt 0.3 0.3

As of December 31, 2018 the miscellaneous other assets 
contain receivables of € 22.1 million from funds transferred 
to an escrow agent for the settlement of an earnout liabil-
ity in connection with the acquisition of Carriage group. 
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Deferred tax assets for tax loss carryforwards and deduct-
ible temporary differences are recognized only to the extent 
that taxable temporary differences exist or that the realiza-
tion of the tax benefit through future taxable profits is prob-
able. The Group has not recognized any deferred tax assets 
for temporary differences amounting to € 17.7 million (pre-
vious year: € 34.0 million). Further, no deferred tax assets 
are recorded for trade tax loss carryforwards of 
€ 209.2 million (previous year: € 196.7 million) and for cor-
poration tax loss carryforwards of € 588.7 million (previous 
year: € 490.2 million). The trade tax loss carryforwards as 
well as the temporary differences have no limitations on 
utilization. The limitation on utilization of corporation tax 
loss carryforwards is as follows: 

 
eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
ToTal corporaTion Tax  
loSS carrYforwardS 588.7 490.2

 
expiraTion  

WithiN 5 years 56.1 36.0

aFter 5 years 126.0 95.8

eligible tO be Carried  
FOrWard iNdeFiNitely 406.5 358.4

Significant unrecognized deferred tax assets for unused tax 
loss carryforwards relate to Delivery Hero SE amounting to 
€ 216.1 million (previous year: € 140.5 million), Emerging 
Markets Online Food Delivery Holding S.à r.l. (Luxembourg) 
(€ 53.5 million; previous year: € 5.7 million) and RGP Korea 
Ltd. amount ing to €  52.9 million (prev ious year: 
€ 43.9 million).

Classes of assets and liabilities related to temporary 
differences:

eur miO dec. 31, 2018

deferred  
Tax aSSeTS

deferred  
Tax liabiliTieS

change 
 dUring  

The Year

Thereof 
 recognized in 
profiT or loSS

 
aSSeTS

non-cUrrenT aSSeTS

iNtaNgible assets 0.0 48.9 58.4 3.5

prOperty, plaNt aNd equipmeNt 0.1 0.6 0.0 0.0

Other FiNaNCial assets 0.0 0.1 –1.0 –0.8

trade aNd Other reCeivables 0.0 0.1 –0.1 –0.1

 
cUrrenT aSSeTS

iNveNtOries 1.0 0.5 –0.5 –0.4

Other assets 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

 
eqUiTY and liabiliTieS

NON-CurreNt liabilities

peNsiON prOvisiONs 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other prOvisiONs 0.3 0.0 –0.2 –0.2

trade aNd Other payables 0.6 0.0 0.6 0.0

Other liabilities 0.1 0.0 0.1 –0.1

 
cUrrenT liabiliTieS

Other prOvisiONs 0.3 0.0 –1.0 –0.8

trade aNd Other payables 0.5 0.4 1.6 1.2

Other liabilities 0.1 0.0 –0.1 –0.1

ToTal TemporarY differenceS 3.1 50.6 57.8 2.2

Tax loSS carrYforwardS 5.7 0.0 –17.9 –0.9

ToTal 8.8 50.6 39.9 1.3

offSeTTing –8.8 –8.8

ToTal afTer offSeTTing 0.0 41.8   
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No deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences relating 
to interests in subsidiaries of € 7.4 million (previous year: 
€ 8.6 million) were recognized, as it is not probable that the 
temporary differences will be reversed in the foreseeable 
future. 

07. Inventories
Inventories mainly consists of packaging materials such as 
pizza boxes, and advertising materials that are sold to part-
ner restaurants. 

The amount of inventories recognized as an expense 
during the period amounts to € 5.6 million (previous year: 
€ 0.9 million).

08. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are composed as follows:

 
eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
Cash at baNks 357.1 625.6

Cash ON haNd 7.0 1.8

ToTal 364.1 627.3

Besides the negative cash flow from operating activities 
due to the continuing investments in the growth of the 
Group, primarily marketing investments, the change in 
cash and cash equivalents mainly consists of the following 
developments:

eur miO deC. 31, 2017

deferred  
Tax aSSeTS

deferred  
Tax liabiliTieS

change 
 dUring  

The Year

Thereof 
 recognized in 
profiT or loSS

 
aSSeTS

NON-CurreNt assets

iNtaNgible assets 0.0 107.3 19.5 9.0

Other FiNaNCial assets 0.0 0.5 –0.2 –0.2

trade aNd Other reCeivables 0.9 0.0 2.0 2.0

 
cUrrenT aSSeTS

iNveNtOries 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

trade aNd Other reCeivables 1.3 0.3 0.7 0.7

Other assets 0.0 0.0 –0.4 –0.3

 
eqUiTY and liabiliTieS

NON-CurreNt liabilities

FiNaNCial liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5

peNsiON prOvisiONs 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1

Other prOvisiONs 0.5 0.0 0.1 0.1

trade aNd Other payables 0.0 0.0 1.7 1.7

 
cUrrenT liabiliTieS

Other prOvisiONs 1.3 0.0 –1.1 –0.7

trade aNd Other payables 0.3 1.7 –2.1 –2.2

Other liabilities 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.2

ToTal TemporarY differenceS 4.6 109.9 21.0 10.7

Tax loSS carrYforwardS 23.6 0.0 1.0 1.5

ToTal 28.2 109.9 22.0 12.2

offSeTTing –28.2 –28.2

ToTal afTer offSeTTing 0.0 81.7
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Cash inflows
 —  Purchase price (net of escrow amounts and cash 

 balances) received from the sale of hungryhouse of 
€ 231.0 million (refer to section D. 03. e)

 —  Capital increases of € 12.2 million in connection with 
the exercise of equity settled stock options in 2018 
(refer to section F. 09. a) and F. 09. c)

Cash outflows
 —  Payments for minority investments in Rappi and 

 Glovo € 189.3 million (refer to D. 03. c)
 —  Acquisition of the subsidiaries across Europe and 

LATAM (net of cash balances) € 18.7 (refer to D. 02.).

Refer to the consolidated statement of cash flows for  
a detailed presentation of the cash flows of the period.

As of the reporting date € 0.5 million were restricted  
in use.

09. Equity
Following the transformation of its legal form from a Ger-
man stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft, AG) to a Euro-
pean stock corporation (Societas Europaea, SE) the com-
pany has been trading as Delivery Hero SE, Berlin, since 
July 13, 2018.

The minimum capital requirement for the subscribed cap-
ital increased due to the transformation from € 50,000 
for an AG to € 120,000 for a SE.

The change in equity in 2018 is explained below.

a) Subscribed capital
Between January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018 the num-
ber of shares increased from 182,498,900 to 185,930,494 
in the course of three capital increases. As at reporting 
date, 78,230 shares (previously 20,300) are held as treasury 
shares.

The nominal value is € 1.00 per share. The subscribed cap-
ital of Delivery Hero SE as on December 31, 2018 was fully 
paid up.

The change in subscribe capital is summarized as follows: 
 
eur 2018

 
subsCribed Capital ON JaNuary 1 182,498,900 

thereOF treasury shares 20,300

issuaNCes FOr NON-Cash CONtributiON 1,474,917

issuaNCes FOr Cash CONtributiON 1,956,677

regiSTered capiTal on december 31 185,930,494

thereOF treasury shares 78,230

The increase in subscribed capital for cash contribution 
relates to the exercise of equity settled stock options during 
the year 2018.

The issuance of subscribed capital for non-cash contribu-
tion relates to the acquisition of non-controlling interest 
in RGP Korea Ltd. – see below for further details.

b) Authorised and Conditional Capital:
The authorised and conditional capital of Delivery Hero SE 
as on December 31, 2018 consists of 154,571,882 shares 
(December 31, 2017: 130,729,010 shares)

c) Capital reserves
DHʼs capital reserves increased by € 26.9 million in the 
reporting year which is attributable to the following 
circumstances:

 —   € 10.3 million contributions of the premiums from 
issuing new registered shares in the course of the 
exercise of equity settled options 

 —  € 18.8 million increase due to further vesting of the 
equity settled share based payment awards.

 —  In connection with the acquisition of non-con-
trolling interests (NCI) from RGP Korea Ltd. the relat-
ed put-liability was reclassified into equity in 2017. 
The acquisition was completed in 2018 by way of a 
capital increase for a contribution-in-kind. This led 
to a decrease of the capital reserve through reclassi-
fication of the nominal amount to subscribed capi-
tal of € 1.5 million. 
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d) Retained earnings and other reserves
Other comprehensive income for the period developed as 
follows:

eur milliON

attributable tO the OWNers OF the pareNt

non-  
conTrolling 

inTereSTS

ToTal oTher 
 compre- 
 hen Sive

income (loSS)

cUrrencY 
 TranSlaTion 

reServe

revalUaTion 
reServe  

for penSion 
 commiTmenTS ToTal

 
2018      

eFFeCt FrOm FOreigN CurreNCy  
traNslatiON diFFereNCes –93.0 – –93.0 0.0 –93.0

remeasuremeNt OF Net liability  
FrOm deFiNed beNeFit plaNs – –0.4 –0.4 – –0.4

ToTal –93.0 –0.4 –93.4 0.0 –93.4

 
2017      

eFFeCt FrOm FOreigN CurreNCy  
traNslatiON diFFereNCes –97.6 –0.0 –97.6 –1.0 –98.6

remeasuremeNt OF Net liability  
FrOm deFiNed beNeFit plaNs 0.0 –0.3 –0.3 – –0.3

ToTal –97.6 –0.3 –97.8 –1.0 –98.8

The effect of movement in exchange rates in 2018 and 2017 
is mainly attributable to the appreciation of the Euro as 
well as devaluation of other currencies, most notably the 
Turkish Lira and Argentinian Peso against the Euro. 

10. Pension provisions
In accordance with statutory requirements the DH Group 
maintains defined benefit plans in Korea and Turkey. In 
Korea, beneficiaries are entitled to one month salary for 
each year of employment after one year of continuous 
employment. The payment is measured on the average 
monthly pay during the final three months of employment 
and is awarded as a lump-sum. The retirement age in 
Korea is 60 years. In Turkey, lump-sum termination indem-
nities are provided to each employee who has completed 
one year of service and whose employment is terminated 
due to retirement or for reasons other than resignation or 
misconduct.

The provision is determined using the projected unit credit 
method. The actuarial assumptions underlying the calcu-
lation are summarized below:

 
% 2018

  
2017

 
aCtuarial iNterest rate 2.13 – 3.60 1.50 – 8.42

salary treNd 2.69 – 11.00 2.50 – 11.60

mOrtality – males 0.03 0.02

mOrtality – Females 0.01 0.02e) Treasury shares
The number of treasury shares increased to 78,230 as of 
December 31, 2018 (previous year: 20,300). 57,930 shares 
with a nominal value of € 1.00 were transferred to Delivery  
Hero SE by Delivery Hero Commons GmbH & Co. KG (DH 
Commons). DH commons previously held the shares in 
Delivery Hero SE as a trustee for former employees of 
Delivery Hero SE. Since the cliff period was not passed the 
shares fell back to DH Commons. In the course of the ter-
mination of the trust relationship of DH Commons the 
shares were transferred back to Delivery Hero SE.
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Sensitivities of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations (DBO) are presented below:
 
eur milliON 2018

  
2017

 
dbO ON the basis OF the 
 CurreNt disCOuNt rate 
assumptiON 2.7 1.9

dbO giveN aN iNCrease iN  
the disCOuNt rate OF  
1 perCeNtage pOiNt 2.6 1.8

dbO giveN a deCrease iN  
the disCOuNt rate OF  
1 perCeNtage pOiNt 2.9 2.1

dbO ON the basis OF the 
 CurreNt salary treNd 
 assumptiON 2.7 1.9

dbO giveN aN iNCrease iN  
the salary treNd OF  
1 perCeNtage pOiNt 2.9 2.1

dbO giveN a deCrease iN  
the salary treNd OF  
1 perCeNtage pOiNt 2.6 1.8

The present value of the defined benefit obligation 
changed as follows:
 
eur milliON 2018

  
2017

 
dbO ON JaN. 1 1.9 1.2

additiON due tO  
busiNess COmbiNatiON – 0.2

serviCe COst 1.3 2.0

peNsiON beNeFits –0.6 –1.0

iNterest expeNse 0.0 0.0

aCtuarial lOsses 0.1 0.1

CurreNCy traNslatiON 0.0 0.0

dbo on dec. 31 2.7 2.4

The DH Group has no qualifying plan assets recognized in 
the consolidated statement of financial position as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Contributions of € 0.3 million are expected to the pension 
plans for the 2019 financial year.

11. Other provisions
The other provisions comprise short term employee ben-
efits and termination benefits accounted for in accordance 
with IAS 19, mainly bonuses and redundancy payments. 
The Group expects the liability to be settled within the 
next twelve months.

In prior year the other provisions included provisions for 
the cash-settled RGP Korea share-based payments awards 
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2. These were exer-
cised in the first half of 2018 contributing to the decrease 
in other provisions (current) of € 12.8 million. 

Other provisions include expected closing costs in connec-
tion with the liquidation of the Foodora businesses in 
 Australia and France. Settlement is expected within the 
next twelve months. 

Other provisions related to the German operations are 
reclassified to the liabilities of the disposal group classified 
as held for sale.

Restoration obligations arise from lease arrangements for 
office premises in several countries. Settlement of these 
liabilities is contingent on the underlying lease terms. DH 
Group expects to settle the liability over the next eight 
years.

As of the reporting date, contingent liabilities from legal 
disputes amount to € 0.2 million (prev ious year: 
€ 0.3 million). 
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The following table shows the change of other provisions 
and their breakdown by maturity date:

reSToraTion 
obligaTion perSonnel

Share-baSe 
paYmenT oTherS ToTal

 
aS of Jan. 1, 2018 1.8 8.6 12.3 1.9 24.7

additiON 1.0 4.4 0.6 5.2 11.1

utilized –0.1 –5.4 –12.8 0.0 –18.3

reClassiFiCatiON1 –0.3 –1.0 0.0 –4.2 –5.6

reversed 0.0 –0.5 0.0 0.0 –0.5

exChaNge rate diFFereNCes 0.0 –0.8 0.0 0.1 –0.6

 
aS of dec. 31, 2018 2.4 5.4 0.1 3.1 11.0

NON-CurreNt 2.2 2.5 0.0 1.5 6.2

CurreNt 0.0 3.2 0.1 1.5 4.9

1  relaTes according To ifrs 5 To The reclassificaTion of The gerMan food delivery operaTions To liabiliTies, included in a disposal group classified  
as held for sale. 

12. Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are composed as follows:

eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
cUrrenT financial liabiliTieS

restauraNt liabilities 105.6 81.3

trade payables 29.3 28.8

liabilities FOr  
OutstaNdiNg iNvOiCes 29.4 20.4

FiNaNCial liabilities  
FrOm put OptiON ON NCi 0.0 2.6

FiNaNCe leases 1.3 1.3

seCurity depOsits reCeived 0.9 0.7

purChase priCe liabilities  
aNd earN-Outs 5.5 0.0

ToTal cUrrenT  
financial liabiliTieS 172.0 135.1

 
non-cUrrenT financial  
liabiliTieS   

FiNaNCe leases 1.1 2.4

trade payables 1.6 0.1

purChase priCe liabilities  
aNd earN-Outs 5.3 0.0

seCurity depOsits reCeived 0.6 0.4

ToTal non-cUrrenT liabiliTieS 8.6 2.8
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The purchase price liabilities and earn-outs include 
 obligations from the acquisitions of Deliveras, HipMenu, 
pizza.hu and Alan in 2018.

The put-options on NCI was exercised in 2018 (previous 
year: liability from put option on NCI € 2.6 million).

13. Other liabilities
Other liabilities are composed as follows:

eur milliON dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
non-cUrrenT oTher liabiliTieS   

Other lONg-term  
emplOyee beNeFits 3.2 15.1 

misCellaNeOus 0.0 0.1

ToTal non-cUrrenT  
oTher liabiliTieS 3.2 15.2

 
cUrrenT oTher liabiliTieS   

taxes aNd Charges 12.7 11.2

liabilities tO emplOyees 18.0 11.5

reCeived prepaymeNts 0.0 6.7

deFerred iNCOme 2.3 1.8

sOCial seCurity liabilities 3.6 2.5

Other lONg-term emplOyee 
beNeFits (CurreNt pOrtiON) 22.1 0.3 

misCellaNeOus 9.6 7.9

ToTal cUrrenT  
oTher  liabiliTieS 68.4 41.9

Other long-term employee benefit liabilities (non-current 
and current portion) arose during the acquisitions in 2017. 
Employees of the acquired entities are entitled to payments 
contingent on performance targets over an agreed service 
period. 

Received prepayments in 2017 related to a prepayment 
received for the sale of the hungryhouse group to JustEat 
which was settled in 2018 through closing of the 
transaction.

Liabilities to employees primarily relate to wages and sala-
ries of € 12.0 million (previous year: € 6.9 million) and 
unused vacations of € 5.9 million (previous year: 
€ 4.5 million).

14. Income tax liabilities
Income tax liabilities arose in group entities with positive 
taxable income.

Reimbursement claims from overpayment of trade and 
corporation taxes are shown in income tax receivables.

G.  DISCLOSURES ON THE CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT 
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

01. Revenue
The effect of initially applying IFRS 15 on the Groupʼs reve-
nue from contracts with customers is described in Note C. 
Due to the transition method chosen, comparative infor-
mation has not been restated.

Revenue is composed as follows:

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
COmmissiONs 501.8 337.8 163.9 48.5

delivery Fees1 102.8 41.72 61.1 > 100

prime plaCiNgs 50.8 37.5 13.3 35.5

Credit Card use 25.2 14.2 11.1 78.2 

Other 25.5 22.5 3.0 13.4 

disCOuNts –41.0 – 3 –41.0 > 100

ToTal 665.1 453.7 211.4 46.6

1 fees charged separaTely To The orderer for delivery services.
2  coMMission revenue froM own delivery business was parTially included in 

The revenue caTegory delivery fees in 2017 (€ 20.7 Million). all incoMe 
froM coMMissions in 2018 is presenTed wiThin coMMission revenue, only 
delivery fees separaTely charged To The orderer are reflecTed in delivery 
fees. The coMparaTive financial inforMaTion is adjusTed.

3  firsT TiMe adopTion of ifrs 15: effecTive january 1, 2018 revenue is 
 presenTed neT of discounTs. prior period inforMaTion is noT adjusTed. 
 discounTs in 2017 aMounTed To € 26.5 Million ThaT are reflecTed in 
 cusToMer acquisiTion cosTs of MarkeTing expenses.
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In the following table, revenue is further disaggregated by 
segment and by type of service (commission/non-commis-
sion).

eur milliON

segmeNts

ToTal
eUrope

(WithOut germaNy) aSia americaS mena oTherS

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

 
COmmissiON 92.8 84.8 128.0 90.2 47.6 38.7 221.2 124.2 12.2 0.0 501.8 337.8

disCOuNts ON COmmissiONs –41.0 –

ToTal commiSSionS revenUe 92.8 84.8 128.0 90.2 47.6 38.7 221.2 124.2 12.2 0.0 460.8 337.8

NON-COmmissiON reveNue 23.1 23.9 64.5 54.5 14.5 8.5 95.2 29.0 7.0 0.0 204.3 115.9

ToTal groUp revenUe 
(conTinUed operaTionS) 115.9 108.7 192.5 144.7 62.1 47.2 316.4 153.2 19.2 0.0 665.1 453.7

“Others” includes revenues of operations abandoned or 
sold during the reporting period. In 2018 these divestments 
include Australia, France, Italy and Netherlands.

Refer to section E. 02. a) for the development of revenue 
per segment. The growth in revenue is mainly driven by 
organic growth in all segments.

02. Cost of sales
Cost of sales are composed as follows:

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
delivery 
expeNses –258.3 –125.7 –132.6 > 100

Fees FOr paymeNt 
serviCes –28.3 –18.7 –9.6 51.4

server hOstiNg –9.1 –7.2 –1.9 26.4

purChase OF ter-
miNals aNd Other 
pOs systems –6.8 –6.3 –0.5 7.3

expeNses FOr 
data traNsFer –2.5 –5.4 2.9 –53.4

gOOds aNd 
 merChaNdise –3.8 –2.8 –1.0 37.7

Call CeNter 
expeNses –0.5 –0.4 –0.1 33.6

Other COsts  
OF sales –8.6 –7.1 –1.6 22.0

ToTal –318.0 –173.6 –144.4 83.2

The increase in cost of sales is primarily attributable to the 
expansion of the delivery business. Delivery expenses 
include own delivery personnel (€ 95.7 million, previous 
year: € 48.8 million) as well as external riders and other 
operating delivery expenses (€ 162.6 million, previous year: 
€ 76.9 million).

General business growth leads to higher overall cost of 
sales. Fees for payment services are further impacted by 
a higher online payment share.
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05. General administrative expenses
General administrative expenses are composed as follows:

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
persONNel 
expeNses –96.8 –62.3 –34.4 55.2

audit aNd 
 CONsultiNg 
expeNses –25.8 –28.9 3.1 –10.6

share-based 
 paymeNt 
expeNses –17.2 –69.5 52.3 –75.2

reNt aNd lease 
expeNses –15.8 –13.0 –2.8 21.3

Other OFFiCe 
expeNses –11.7 –8.7 –2.9 33.4

depreCiatiON aNd 
amOrtizatiON –13.7 –8.7 –5.0 57.9

travel expeNses –9.1 –6.4 –2.7 43.0

Other (NON- 
iNCOme) taxes –5.5 –6.2 0.7 –11.5

teleCOmmuNi-
CatiONs –3.1 –2.3 –0.7 31.6

misCellaNeOus –18.5 –12.1 –6.3 52.3

ToTal –217.2 –218.3 1.1 –0.5

03. Marketing expenses
Marketing expenses are composed as follows:

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
CustOmer 
 aCquisitiON –148.6 –135.5 –13.1 9.6

restauraNt 
 aCquisitiON –91.7 –62.5 –29.2 46.7

amOrtizatiON  
OF braNds –13.6 –16.0 2.5 –15.4

amOrtizatiON  
OF CustOmer/ 
supplier base –13.0 –13.0 0.0 0.2

Other marketiNg 
expeNses –47.1 –31.2 –15.9 51.1

ToTal –313.9 –258.2 –55.8 21.6

Marketing expenses in the prior period include vouchers 
and rebates amounting to € 26.5 million. In 2018 these costs 
are deducted from revenue.

Aside organic growth in certain markets in 2018, an addi-
tional investment program into future growth was 
launched in the second half of 2018 and contributed to the 
increase in marketing expenses.

04. IT expenses
IT expenses are composed as follows:

 
EUR million 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
persONNel 
expeNses –38.2 –29.9 –8.3 27.6

Other NON- 
persONNel  
it expeNses –16.1 –11.2 –4.9 44.0

ToTal –54.3 –41.1 –13.2 32.1

IT expenses primarily relate to research and development 
(€ 36.2 million; previous year: € 29.0 million) of new fea-
tures and services that may be added to the Groupʼs plat-
forms but also to the improvement and maintenance of 
the existing functionalities. 

Focus was also placed in 2018 to the extension of the tech 
teams globally in order to improve the user experience on 
all our local platforms (mainly in Hungerstation, Carriage 
and PedidosYa).
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The increase in personnel expenses is affected by the 
increase of the number of employees. Further, expenses 
of € 30.1 million (previous year: € 15.7 million) were recog-
nized herein for earn-out liabilities in connection with 
acquisitions in 2017.

The decrease in share-based payments expense is mainly 
due to the restructuring of the Groups share-based com-
pensation programs in the first six months 2017. For fur-
ther information on the Groupʼs share-based payment pro-
grams refer to section H. 01.

06. Other operating income
Other operating income is composed as follows:

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
gaiNs FrOm  
dispOsal OF  
subsidiaries 8.2 20.3 –12.0 –59.3

misCellaNeOus 1.8 4.7 –2.9 –61.8

ToTal 10.0 25.0 –14.9 –59.8

During the year 2018, the divestitures of our subsidiaries 
in Italy, Brazil and Switzerland resulted in a disposal gain 
of € 8.2 million (refer to section D. 03. d). In 2017 the dis-
posal gain of € 20.3 million resulted from the disposal of 
foodpanda India.

07.  Other operating expenses and impairment  
losses on trade receivables and contract assets

Other operating expenses are composed as follows:

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
lOss FrOm 
 dispOsal OF 
 subsidiaries –3.8 –0.8 –3.1 >100

lOsses ON the 
dispOsal OF  
Fixed assets –0.3 –0.5 0.2 –44.5

impairmeNt  
OF gOOdWill –4.3 –4.0 –0.3 7.9

misCellaNeOus –0.8 –1.5 0.7 –45.7

ToTal oTher 
operaTing 
expenSeS –9.2 –6.8 –2.5 36.6

impairmenT 
loSSeS on Trade 
receivableS –4.3 –14.6 10.3 –70.8

Losses from disposal of subsidiaries include mainly losses 
from liquidations in connection with a clean up of the group 
structure in the MENA segment. 

In connection with divestments of non-core operations the 
goodwill was impaired by € 4.3 million. 

The bad debt expense decreased as a result of the imple-
mentation of initiatives to improve working capital, includ-
ing the process of collection of trade receivables. Moreover, 
the increase in online payment share leads to a reduced 
exposure to credit risk. 

08. Net interest cost
Net interest cost is composed as follows:

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
iNterest aNd 
 similar iNCOme 5.5 3.7 1.8 49.6

iNterest aNd 
 similar expeNses –2.7 –21.6 18.9 –87.4

ToTal 2.8 –17.9 20.7 > 100

The repayment of financial lliabilities in the previous year 
led to the significant decrease in interest expenses in 2018. 
The interest income predominantly results from interest 
on excess cash.
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09.  Other financial result and result from 
 equity-accounted investees

Other financial result is composed as follows:

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
lOsses FrOm 
remeasuremeNt 
OF Other 
 FiNaNCial 
 liabilities 0.0 –43.9 43.9 > 100

gaiNs/lOsses 
FrOm remeasure-
meNt OF 
 derivatives 0.0 0.8 –0.8 –86.4

lOsses FrOm 
dereCOgNitiON 
OF lOaNs payable 0.0 –3.6 3.6 > 100

FOreigN 
 CurreNCy  
gaiNs/lOsses 15.1 –27.4 42.5 > 100

result ON  
Net mONetary 
 pOsitiON 
 (hyperiNFlatiON) 3.7 0.0 3.7 n.a.

gaiNs/lOsses 
FrOm dereCO-
gNitiON OF 
equity- 
aCCOuNted 
iNvestees 0.0 2.5 –2.5 > 100

result FrOm 
equity- 
aCCOuNted 
iNvestees –38.6 –1.6 –37.1 > 100

ToTal –19.9 –73.2 53.4 > 100

The result from equity accounted investees amounted to 
negative € 38.6 million (prior year: negative € 1.6 million) 
mostly resulting from the pro rata loss of the investments 
in Rappi and Glovo since their acquisitions in 2018. 

Foreign currency gains and losses predominantly resulted 
from the appreciation of Euro in connection with intercom-
pany loan agreements and foreign currency balances.

In 2018 Argentina was evaluated as a hyperinflationary econ-
omy. The application of IAS 29 resulted in a net gain of 
€ 3.7 million on the net monetary position of the  Argentine 
operations (previous year: € 0.0 million, since Argentina was 
not considered hyperinflationary in 2017). 

The prior year losses from remeasurement of other finan-
cial liabilities related to liabilties from put options on NCIs 
as well as contingent purchase price obligations which were 
mostly settled in 2017.

10. Income taxes
Expenses or income for income taxes are broken down as 
follows:

 
eur milliON 2018

adJusted 
2017

ChaNge

eur 
 milliON %

 
income Tax 
expenSe/
(income) –18.3 –7.5 –10.8 > 100

cUrrenT  
income TaxeS –19.6 –13.6 –6.0 44.2

CurreNt periOd 
iNCOme taxes –19.7 –13.5 –6.2 45.9

priOr periOd 
iNCOme taxes 0.1 –0.1 0.2 >100

deferred  
income TaxeS 1.3 6.1 –4.8 –78.6
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The effective income tax expense/(income) is reconciled 
as follows:

eur milliON 2018
adJusted 

2017

 
earningS before income TaxeS –258.8 –324.9

income Tax USing The  
companYʼS domeSTic Tax raTe 
(2018: 30.18%; 2017: 30.18%) 78.1 98.0

adJUSTmenTS   

deviatiONs betWeeN the 
 COmpaNyʼs dOmestiC aNd 
 FOreigN tax rates –15.4 –7.3

NON-deduCtible  
OperatiNg expeNses –11.1 –29.7

tax-exempt iNCOme 8.5 2.6

tax eFFeCts FrOm addiNg aNd 
deduCtiNg FOr lOCal taxes –0.4 –1.3

eFFeCts FrOm partNerships –0.1 –0.1

eFFeCts FrOm the NON- 
reCOgNitiON OF deFerred  
tax assets ON tax lOss 
 CarryFOrWards –62.0 –54.5

eFFeCts FrOm the NON- 
reCOgNitiON OF deFerred  
tax assets ON tempOrary 
 diFFereNCes 0.0 –4.7

previOus-periOd deFerred 
iNCOme taxes 0.0 2.1

previOus-periOd CurreNt 
iNCOme taxes 0.5 0.2

eFFeCts FrOm  
CONsOlidatiON measures 0.0 5.9

eFFeCts OF equity- 
aCCOuNted iNvestees –11.8 –0.4

eFFeCts OF gOOdWill 
 impairmeNt –1.3 –1.0

permaNeNt diFFereNCes –3.6 –16.9

Other tax eFFeCts 0.3 –0.4

income Tax expenSe/(income) –18.3 –7.5

The tax rate of the group is 30.18% and corresponds to the 
tax rate of Delivery Hero SE. It comprises the tax rate for 
corporation tax inclusive of solidarity surcharge of 15.83% 
and the trade tax rate of 14.35%.

Discontinued operations had a tax income in 2018 of € 12.9 
million (previous year: tax income of € 5.4 million) which 
relates in both years only to their ordinary activities.
 
H. OTHER DISCLOSURES

01. Share-based payments
The DH Group has been operating share-based payment 
programs since 2011. The beneficiaries of the share-based 
payment programs are mainly members of management 
bodies of the DH Group.

During the reporting period a new share-based long term 
incentive program (“LTIP”) was initiated.

LTIP
Terms and conditions
Delivery Hero SE has issued a new long-term incentive plan 
(LTIP) during the first half of 2018 consisting of two types 
of awards: Restricted Stock Plan (RSP) and Stock Option 
Program (SOP). Eligible participants are the Management 
Board, managing directors of certain subsidiaries and oth-
er members of the management as well as certain employ-
ees. Delivery Hero commits to award restricted stock units 
(RSUs) and stock options based on a certain €-amount per 
year over the period of four years. The award amounts of 
each tranche (four in total) are agreed in one award agree-
ment the participant receives in year one. 

On a yearly recurring basis a number of RSUs and stock 
options to which each participant is eligible to is fixed by 
dividing the corresponding award amount by fair market 
value of one RSU equal to 30-days average DH share price 
prior to the respective date or by fair market value of one 
stock option whereby the strike price of each option is 
determined based on the 3-months average price per share 
before the corresponding contractual grant date. 
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Each award vests quarterly over one year after the contrac-
tual grant date. The first award is subject to the 24 months 
cliff. A bad leaver loses all vested and unvested awards.  
A good leaver retains all vested RSUs and stock options.  
A bad leaver loses all vested and unvested awards. A good 
leaver retains all vested RSUs. SOP contains a revenue- 
based performance target.

The awards will be settled in shares. Even though Delivery  
Hero has the right to settle in cash equal to the fair value of 
the shares on the settlement date, DH does not intend to 
exercise this right.

Measurement of fair values
The grant date fair value of the awards is a contractually 
fixed €-value of the award amounts. The grant date fair 
value of the awards subject to performance targets was 
not reduced because there was no realistic possibility that 
the performance target would not be achieved.

Reconciliation of outstanding options and RSU
2018

nUmber  
of opTionS 

weighTed  average  
exerciSe price

nUmber  
of rSU

 
oUTSTanding aS of JanUarY 1 – – – 

graNted duriNg the year1 954,760 41.64 152,390 

FOrFeited duriNg the year 13,677 38.46 3,344 

exerCised duriNg the year – n.a. –

oUTSTanding aT december 31 941,083 41.69 149,046 

exerCisable at deCember 31 – n.a. –

1  reflecTs nuMber of opTions and shares fixed aT The reporTing daTe.

The options outstanding at December 31, 2018 had a strike 
price in ranging from € 38.30 to € 44.89 (previous year: 
n.a.) and a weighted-average remaining contractual life of 
67.6 months (previous year: n.a.).

The newly established plan contributed € 10.8 million of 
expenses in 2018.

DH SOP
Terms and conditions
The beneficiaries of DH SOP received option rights, enti-
tling them to subscribe for shares in Delivery Hero SE sub-
ject to certain conditions. The awards vest gradually over 
a period of up to 48 months subject to individual cliff pro-
visions of generally 12 to 24 months. If a beneficiary leaves 
the Company before completing the vesting requirements, 
the individual forfeits its rights under the program. 

The Group plans to settle by means of equity instruments 
and classifies the program as an equity-settled share-based 
payment arrangement. In the event of certain exit events 
(e.g. a change of control), the program conditions provide 

for a cash settlement by the Group. However, the occur-
rence of such an event is currently considered unlikely. 

Measurement of fair values
In 2018 no additional awards were granted.

The grant date fair value of the DH SOP awards was deter-
mined on the date of reclassification from cash-settled to 
equity settled share-based payment awards on May 29, 
2017 (see prior year notes to the consolidated financial 
statements) using an option pricing model (Black-Scholes 
model). The key inputs used in the measurement of the 
fair value were as follows: share price of € 23.39, volatility 
of 36.21%, exercise price of € 1 to € 18, weighted average 
expected life of 37 months, and a risk-free interest rate of 
0.0%. The expected volatility was derived by applying a 
standard peer group. The share price was derived from the 
Naspers financing round that took place in May 2017. The 
measurement resulted in the weighted average fair value 
of € 13 per option.
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Reconciliation of outstanding share options
2018 2017

nUmber of 
opTionS 

weighTed 
 average  

exerciSe price
Number OF  

OptiONs 

Weighted   
average  

exerCise priCe

 
oUTSTanding aS of Jan. 1 9,704,500 11.13 8,211,000 7.41 

FOrFeited/CaNCelled  
duriNg the year –904,527 14.88 –799,725 14.72 

graNted duriNg the year – – 2,539,125 12.95 

exerCised duriNg the year1 –2,019,201 6.85 –245,900 5.46 

oUTSTanding aT dec. 31 6,780,772 11.91 9,704,500 11.13 

exerCisable at deC. 31 – – 70,000 3.51 

1  The weighTed average share price on The daTe of exercise of These opTions wiThin The Two exercise windows were € 38.55 and € 38,64. 

Beneficiaries of the DH SOP were able to exercise their 
equity settled rights within two exercise windows in 2018, 
which led to capital increases of the subscribed capital of 
€ 1.9 million and an increase of the capital reserve of 
€ 10.3 million. The weighted average share price on the 
date of exercise of the exercised options was € 38.55 and 
€ 38.64 respectively.

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the 
end of the year was € 1 to € 18 (previous year: € 1 to € 18). 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the 
share options outstanding as of 31 December 2018 was 38 
months (previous year: 41 months).

Total expense for the period was € 4.5 million in 2018 (pre-
vious year: € 64.9 million).

Virtual Share Program 2017
Terms and conditions
In 2017 Delivery Hero granted virtual share options to 
employees under the Virtual Share Program (VSP 2017) which 
entitle the beneficiaries to a compensation based on the 
appreciation in DH AG shares over strike price as specified 
in individual contracts, subject to certain conditions. Under 
the terms of the VSP, the Group has an option to settle in 
equity instruments or in cash. The Group plans to settle by 
means of equity instruments and classifies the program as 
an equity-settled share-based payment arrangement. 

The awards vest gradually over a period of 48 months, sub-
ject to individual cliff provisions of 12 to 24 months. If a ben-
eficiary leaves the Company before completing the vesting 
requirements, the individual forfeits his/her rights under 
the program.

Measurement of fair values
In 2018 wurden keine neuen Anteile gewährt.

The grant date fair value was determined using an option 
pricing model (Black-Scholes model). The key inputs used 
in the measurement of the fair value were as follows: share 
price on grant dates in Q4 2017, volatility of 44%, weight-
ed average strike price of € 16.88, weighted average expect-
ed life of 36 months, and a risk-free interest rate of 0.0%. 
Expected volatility was derived by applying a standard peer 
group. The measurement resulted in the weighted average 
fair value of € 12.65 per option.
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Reconciliation of outstanding options
2018 2017 

nUmber of 
opTionS 

weighTed 
 average  

exerciSe price
Number OF  

OptiONs 

Weighted   
average  

exerCise priCe

oUTSTanding aS of JanUarY 1 258,600 16.88 – –

FOrFeited duriNg the year –18,000 16.67 – –

graNted duriNg the year – – 258,600 16.88 

exerCised duriNg the year – – – –

oUTSTanding aT december 31 240,600 16.90 258,600 16.88 

exerciSable aT december 31 – – – – 

The options outstanding at December 31, 2018 had a strike 
price in ranging from € 16.67 to € 17.67 (previous year: 
€ 16.67 to € 17.67) and a weighted-average remaining con-
tractual life of 51 months (previous year: 61 months).

Total expense for the period is € 2.2 million in 2018 (previ-
ous year: € 0.5 million)

Other share-based compensation arrangements

E-Food Greece
On May 2, 2015 ECommerce Business 10 S.à r.l. granted the 
senior executives of OFD Online Delivery Services Ltd (OFD) 
options for shares in OFD. The option program allows 
senior executives to participate in the performance of OFD. 
The option program is accounted for as an equity-settled 
share-based payment arrangement. 

The program includes two tranches. The vesting period 
for tranche 1 is up to December 31, 2018, and the vesting 
period for tranche 2 up to December 31, 2019. The vested 
purchase rights can be exercised between December 31, 
2019, and March 31, 2020, and will expire after this time 
period. 

Total expense for the period is € 0.7 million in 2018 (pre-
vious year: € 0.8 million).

Share-based compensation arrangements settled  
in 2018
In 2018 the cash-settled RGP Korea share-based payments 
awards were exercised, which led to a € 12.8 million reduc-
tion of other provisions (current).

02. Financial instruments

a) Fair value disclosures
The tables below show the carrying amounts and fair val-
ues of financial assets and financial liabilities, including 
their levels in the fair value hierarchy. 

The following abbreviations are used for the measurement 
categories:

 — FAaAC: Financial assets at amortized cost
 — FLaAC: Financial liability at amortized cost
 —  FVtPL: Financial instruments at fair value through 

profit or loss
 — LAR: Loans and receivables (before IFRS 9 adoption)
 — AFS: Available-for-sale (before IFRS 9 adoption)
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deC. 31, 2018

eur milliON
claSSificaTion 

 pUrSUanT To iaS 39 

measured at amOrtized COst
measured at  

Fair value

fair valUe   
hierarchY ToTal 

carrYing  
amoUnT

fair  
valUe

carrYing  
amoUnT

 
non-cUrrenT financial aSSeTS

iNvestmeNts fvtpl 43.4 3 43.4

lOaNs graNted faaac 2.9 2.9 0 3 2.9

seCurity depOsits faaac 3.5 3.5 0 3 3.5

oTher financial aSSeTS  6.4  43.4 49.8

 
cUrrenT financial aSSeTS       

reCeivables agaiNst paymeNt serviCe prOviders faaac 30.5 n.a.  n.a. 30.5

trade reCeivables faaac 20.6 n.a.  n.a. 20.6

Other reCeivables faaac 34.0 n.a.  n.a. 34.0

Trade and oTher receivableS  85.1    85.1

caSh and caSh eqUivalenTS  364.1 n.a.  n.a. 364.1

ToTal financial aSSeTS  455.6 43.4 498.9

 
non-cUrrenT financial liabiliTieS       

trade payables flaac 1.6 1.6 3 1.6

FiNaNCe lease payables n.a.1 1.1 1.1 3 1.1

seCurity depOsits reCeived flaac 0.6 0.6 3 0.6

CONtiNgeNt purChase priCe ObligatiONs fvtpl 5.3 3 5.3

Trade and oTher paYableS  3.3 5.3 8.6

 
cUrrenT financial liabiliTieS      

trade payables flaac 58.6 n.a. n.a. 58.6

FiNaNCe lease payables n.a.1 1.3 n.a. n.a. 1.3

seCurity depOsits reCeived flaac 0.9 n.a. n.a. 0.9

Other payables flaac 105.6 n.a. n.a. 105.6

CONtiNgeNt purChase priCe ObligatiONs fvtpl 5.5 3 5.5

Trade and oTher paYableS  166.5 5.5 172.0

ToTal financial liabiliTieS  169.8 10.8 180.6

1 classificaTion and MeasureMenTs of finance lease payables MeeT The requireMenTs of ias 17 leases.
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deC. 31, 2017

eur milliON
claSSificaTion 

 pUrSUanT To iaS 39 

measured at amOrtized COst
measured at  

Fair value

fair valUe   
hierarchY ToTal 

carrYing  
amoUnT

fair  
valUe

carrYing  
amoUnT

 
non-cUrrenT financial aSSeTS

iNvestmeNts afs 28.8 n.a.  n.a. 28.8

lOaNs graNted lar 1.8 1.8  3 1.8

seCurity depOsits lar 0.8 0.8  3 0.8

oTher financial aSSeTS  31.4  –  31.4

 
cUrrenT financial aSSeTS       

reCeivables agaiNst paymeNt serviCe prOviders lar 37.0 n.a.  n.a. 37.0

trade reCeivables lar 36.7 n.a.  n.a. 36.7

Other reCeivables lar 15.1 n.a.  n.a. 15.1

Trade and oTher receivableS  88.8  –  88.8

caSh and caSh eqUivalenTS  627.3 n.a. –  627.3

ToTal financial aSSeTS  747.5  –  747.5

 
non-cUrrenT financial liabiliTieS       

trade payables flaac 0.1 0.1  3 0.1

FiNaNCe lease payables n.a.1 2.4 2.4  3 2.4

seCurity depOsits reCeived faaac 0.4 0.4  3 0.4

Trade and oTher paYableS  2.8 2.8 –  2.8

 
cUrrenT financial liabiliTieS      

trade payables flaac 49.2 n.a.  n.a. 49.2

FiNaNCe lease payables n.a.1 1.3 n.a.  n.a. 1.3

seCurity depOsits reCeived flaac 0.7 n.a.  n.a. 0.7

FiNaNCial liabilities FrOm put OptiON ON NCi flaac 2.6 2.6  3 2.6

Other payables flaac 81.3 n.a.  n.a. 81.3

Trade paYableS and oTher financial liabiliTieS  135.1 – 135.1

ToTal financial liabiliTieS  137.9 – 137.9

1 classificaTion and MeasureMenTs of finance lease payables follows The requireMenTs of ias 17 leases.
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The fair value is not disclosed for some current financial 
assets and current financial liabilities, because their carry-
ing amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value 
due to their short-term nature. The fair values of some 
non-current financial assets approximate their carrying 
amount because there were no significant changes in the 
measurement inputs, since their fair value was determined 
upon initial recognition. 

At the reporting date, the fair value of the investments did 
not materially change since these instruments were initial-
ly recognized either because they were recently acquired 
or, in case of equity investments, because there is no suf-
ficient and more recent information available.

Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value
Total gains and losses from the change in level 3 instru-
ments measured at fair value are recognized in other finan-
cial result. 

In determining the fair values of the investments, “prior 
sale of company stock” method, and discounted cash flows 
techniques are applied. The prior sale of company stock 
method considers any prior armʼs length sales of the equi-
ty securities. The discounted cash flows technique consid-
ers the present value of expected payments, discounted 
using a risk-adjusted discount rate. 

The fair values of contingent purchase price obligations 
resulting from business combinations are estimated tak-
ing into account the underlying contingency as agreed 
with the seller in a particular busi-ness combination.

The sensitivity of the fair values to the inputs into the val-
uation techniques is discussed under Price risk in Market 
risk section below.

There are no separable embedded derivatives as of the 
reporting date. In previous periods, the fair value of the 
separable embedded derivatives was determined using an 
option pricing model.

The reconciliation of level 3 instruments measured at fair 
value is as follows:

 
eur milliON

assets liabilities

inveSTmenTS 

SeparaTed 
embedded 

 derivaTiveS

SeparaTed 
embedded 

 derivaTiveS

conTingenT 
 pUrchaSe price 

obligaTionS

liabiliTY from 
pUT opTion on 

nci

 
aS of Jan. 01, 2017 1.0 –12.8 21.0 –

additiONs 0.0 – – 20.9

dispOsals –0.7 –11.7 –30.8 –44.1

gaiNs/lOsses reCOrded iN prOFit Or lOss –0.3 1.1 –9.8 –23.2

aS of dec. 31, 2017 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

reClassiFied upON adOptiON OF iFrs 9 28.8    

additiONs 16.1  10.8  

dispOsals     

gaiNs/lOsses reCOrded iN prOFit Or lOss –1.5    

aS of dec. 31, 2018 43.4 – – 10.8 –

The loss on the remeasurement of the investments  
in the reporting period is entirely attributable to foreign 
currency effects.

Net Income (loss) by measurement category
The net gains and losses recognized for individual mea-
surement categories are as follows: 
  
eur milliON

2018
(ifrS 9)

2017  
(ias 39)

 
FaaaC – n.a.

lar n.a. –

FlaaC – –14.2

afs n.a. –

Fvtpl (assets) –1.5 –0.3

Fvtpl (liabilities) – –1.1

Fvtpl (liabilities) – desigNated – –30.8

ToTal –1.5 –46.4
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Gains and losses related to FAaAC and LaR (before adap-
tion of IFRS 9) measurement categories exclude impair-
ment losses and interest income. The net result of the 
FLaAC measurement category includes gains and losses 
on derecognition as well as remeasurements of the carry-
ing amounts due to changes in future estimated cash 
flows.

b)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities in 
the reporting period occured only in relation to finance 
lease liabilities as follows:

 
eur milliON

finance leaSe 
liabiliTieS

 
balance aT Jan. 1, 2018 3.7

paymeNt OF FiNaNCe lease liabilities –1.2

ToTal changeS from financing caSh flowS –1.2

 
liabiliTY relaTed changeS  

NeW FiNaNCe leases 0.0

iNterest expeNse –0.1

balance aT dec. 31, 2018 2.4

In the prior period, changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities were as follows:

eur milliON
liabilities 
tO baNks 1

trade aNd 
Other payables 1

FiNaNCe   
lease liabilities ToTal

 
reSTaTed balance aT Jan. 1, 2017 115.4 243.6 4.6 363.6

prOCeeds FrOm lOaNs aNd bOrrOWiNgs – 25.0 – 25.0

repaymeNt OF bOrrOWiNgs –118.5 –273.8 – –392.3

iNterest paid –2.2 –9.0 0.0 –11.2

paymeNt OF FiNaNCe lease liabilities – – –1.2 –1.2

ToTal changeS from financing caSh flowS –120.7 –257.7 –1.2 –379.6

 
liability related ChaNges

NeW FiNaNCe leases – – 0.2 0.2

iNterest expeNse 5.0 11.8 0.0 16.8

Fair value ChaNges related tO embedded derivatives 0.3 –1.1 –0.8

lOss ON dereCOgNitiON – 3.6 – 3.6

balance aT dec. 31, 2017 – – 3.7 3.7

1 The carrying aMounT includes separaTed eMbedded derivaTives.

c) Risk management
The DH Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk. DH Group actively monitors these risks and 
manages them using a risk management system. The risk 
management function is exercised in the Governance, 
Risk & Compliance (GRC) department.

Credit risk
The credit or default risk is the risk that the business part-
ners are unable to fulfill their payment obliga-tions. As in 
the previous year, such risks mainly relate to current trade 
receivables from a broad base of customers, mainly restau-
rants. The DH Group is not exposed to a major default risk 
from any single customer. The DH Group monitors the 
default risk and, as in the previous year, manages it  actively 
by making any necessary credit checks and by optimizing 
the payment process. 
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The maximum default risk corresponds to the carrying 
amount of the financial assets. The Group does not require 
collateral with respect to its financial assets.

As of December 31, 2018, the Group held € 364.1 million 
(previous year: € 627.3 million) as cash and cash equiva-
lents mainly at banks. In addition, the group held 
€ 37.5 million deposits and other similar receivables (pre-
vious year: € 15.9 million) with financial institutions. Most 
of these balances are held with banks which are rated A+ 
to BBB+. 

Furthermore, DH Group cooperates with known online 
payment providers, such as Mastercard, Paypal and Ayden. 
The receivables from online payment providers amounted 
to € 30.5 million at December 31, 2018 (previous period: 
€ 37.0 million). They are short-term and carried very low 
credit risk at the reporting date. Therefore the expected 
losses on all these balances are considered immaterial at 
the reporting date. Moreover, the expected losses on the 
loans granted in the amount of € 2.9 million (previous year 
€ 1.8 million) are immaterial. 

The Group determines the expected credit losses for its 
trade receivables from restaurants as follows:

eur milliON
carrYing 
amoUnT

large mUlTi- 
naTional 

chainS cUrrenT

past due as OF the repOrtiNg date (iN days)

< 30 30 - 60 61 - 90 > 90

 
grOss CarryiNg amOuNt 22.3 2.5 12.9 3.1 1.6 1.1 1.2

Weighted average lOss rate  0.6% 2% 5% 12% 41% 50%

lOss allOWaNCe –1.7 0.0 –0.3 –0.2 –0.2 –0.4 –0.6

The provision matrix is calculated based on the actual cred-
it loss experience that takes into account the historical 
experience as well the current economic conditions. The 
expected losses in relation to trade receivables from large 
multinational chain restaurants is estimated to be 0.6% 
based on their credit ratings of at least BBB+. 

The movement in the allowance account for impairment 
in respect of trade receivables was as follows:

allOWaNCe aCCOuNt 
 
eur milliON

 
Jan 1, 2018 Under iaS 39 –14.0

adJustmeNt ON iNitial appliCatiON OF iFrs 9 –0.1

Jan 1, 2018 Under ifrS 9 –14.1

amOuNts dereCOgNized 15.7

amOuNts resultiNg FrOm disCONtiNued 
 OperatiONs 1.0

Net remeasuremeNt OF allOWaNCe aCCOuNt –4.3

dec. 31, 2018 Under ifrS 9 –1.7

Amounts derecognized of € 15.7 million in the current year 
are due to the implementation of the new policy on tran-
sition to IFRS 9. Trade receivables are derecognized if they 
are more than 120 days past due, have been fully provid-
ed for (in the current year and previous years) and for 
which there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
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The aging of trade receivables in the prior period was  
as follows:

eur 
milliON

carrYing 
amoUnT

Thereof neiTher 
paST dUe 

nor impaired

thereOF past due as OF the repOrtiNg date, but NOt impaired (iN days) 

< 30 30 – 60 61 – 90 91 – 120 > 120

 
as OF deC. 31, 2017  

trade reCeivables 36.7 28.2 4.6 1.9 1.2 0.4 0.5 

The movement in the allowance account for trade receiv-
ables in the prior period was as follows:

allOWaNCe aCCOuNt 

 
eur milliON

 
Jan. 1, 2017 –9.3

Net remeasuremeNt OF allOWaNCe  
aCCOuNt (iNCludiNg eFFeCts OF OperatiONs 
ClassiFied as disCOuNtiNued OperatiONs) –4.7

dec. 31, 2017 –14.0

All other financial assets in the prior period were consid-
ered as neither past due nor impaired and therefore no 
impairments were recognized for these financial assets in 
accordance with IAS 39.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to meet the pay-
ment obligations resulting from financial liablities, which 
may arise from unavailability of funds. The exposure to 
liquidity risk is closely monitored on group level using  daily 
liquidity reports and regular cash forecast reports to 
ensure adequate distribution of funds and early identifi-
cation of additional funding needs. 

The following table presents contractual (undiscounted) 
interest and principal payments for the DH Groupʼs finan-
cial liabilities. The maturity is based on the contractual 
payment terms.

type OF liability

 
eur milliON

carrYing 
amoUnT

CONtraCtual Cash FlOW

ToTal < 1 1 – 5 > 5

 
aS of dec. 31, 2018      

trade payables 60.2 60.2 58.6 1.6 0.0

Other payables 105.7 105.7 105.7 0.0 0.0

CONtiNgeNt purChase priCe ObligatiONs 10.8 10.8 5.5 5.3 0.0

seCurity depOsits reCeived 1.5 1.5 0.9 0.2 0.4

ToTal 178.2 178.2 164.3 1.6 0.4

 
aS of dec. 31, 2017      

trade payables 49.3 49.3 49.2 0.1 0.0

Other payables 81.3 81.3 81.3 0.0 0.0

FiNaNCial liabilities FrOm put OptiON ON NCi 2.6 2.6 2.6 0.0 0.0

seCurity depOsits reCeived 1.1 1.1 0.7 0.4 0.0

ToTal 134.3 134.3 133.8 0.5 0.0
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Market risk 
Group entities are exposed to market risks such as  currency 
risk and price risk. 

Currency risk
Currency risk arises in particular with regard to intercom-
pany receivables and payables denominated in foreign cur-
rency. The following table shows the effects on profit or 
loss that would result if the foreign currencies had appre-
ciated or depreciated by 10% as of the reporting date.

ChaNges

 
eur milliON

dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

+10% –10% +10% –10%

 
usd-eur –23.0 23.0 0.2 –0.2

eur-krW 9.7 –9.7 7.7 –7.7

eur-try –4.5 4.5 –2.8 2.8

kWd-sar 4.5 –4.5 0.9 –0.9

kWd-aed 3.9 –3.9 0.1 –0.1

sar-bhd –3.5 3.5 0.0 0.0

eur-sgd 3.4 –3.4 0.4 –0.4

eur-kWd 2.7 –2.7 0.1 –0.1

eur-tWd 1.5 –1.5 0.0 0.0

bhd-aed 1.3 –1.3 0.0 0.0

qar-kWd 1.2 –1.2 0.0 0.0

eur-myr 1.1 –1.1 0.0 0.0

eur-pkr 1.0 –1.0 0.5 –0.5

eur-php 1.0 –1.0 0.7 –0.7

eur-gbp 0.0 0.0 3.2 –3.2

Price risk
Price risk in the Group arises on investments and contin-
gent purchase price obligations measured at fair value 
through profit or loss as a result of changes in interest rates, 
equity prices and contingencies. 

As of December 31, 2018, the effect on the profit or loss in 
response to changes in the inputs into the fair value mea-
surements would be as follows: (+) means a positive effect 
on profit or loss and (–) means a negative effect on profit 
or loss.

 
eur milliON

CONtiN-
geNCies

iNterest 
rates

equity 
priCe

+/–10% +/–100bp +/–10%

 
iNvestmeNts n.a.  –0.7/+0.9 +3.6/–2.6

CONtiNgeNt purChase priCe 
ObligatiON –0.1/+1.1 +0.1/–0.1 n.a.

At the prior reporting date, there were no instruments 
measured at fair value.

03. Capital management
For the purpose of DH Groupʼs capital management,  capital 
includes subscribed capital, capital reserves and all  other 
equity reserves attributable to the owners of the parent. 
The primary objective of DH Groupʼs capital management 
is to safeguard the Groupʼs ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to finance the growth strategy and to 
reduce the cost of capital of the Group. 

In prior years Cash and Cash equivalents, Net debt and 
Debt to Equity ratio was considered as key performance 
indicators. Since all external debt was repaid post-IPO in 
2017 the metrics monitored were amended. The current 
capital management strategy, including policies and pro-
cesses of capital management focuses on the monitoring 
of cash and cash equivalents. Further, external financing 
is monitored, however, as of December 2018 no debt from 
external financing existed.

Cash and Cash equivalents as at the respective financial 
year-end are included in the table below:

 
eur milliON dec. 31, 2018

  
deC. 31, 2017

 
tOtal Cash pOsitiON 364.1 627.3

Prior yearʼs key performance indicators monitored were 
as follows:

 
eur milliON deC. 31, 2017

 
Cash aNd Cash equivaleNts –627.3

CurreNt aNd  
NON-CurreNt  liabilities 313.5

neT debT –313.8

equity 1,720.8

debT To eqUiTY (%) –18.2%
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04. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share were calculated based on the net 
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted- average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
(in thousands). Prior year figures for the shares include the 
effect of the share split at a ratio of 1:300, which was car-
ried out in the second quarter of 2017.

2018 2017

ChaNge

absOlute %

 
CONsOlidated lOss FOr the periOd  
FrOm CONtiNuiNg  OperatiONs eur milliON –277.1 –332.4 55.3 –16.6

lOss FrOm CONtiNuiNg OperatiONs  
attributable tO NON-CONtrOlliNg iNterests eur milliON –4.0 –2.9 –1.1 37.9

loSS from conTinUing operaTionS  
aTTribUTable To ShareholderS eur milliON –273.1 –329.5 56.4 –17.1

Weighted average Number OF shares issued
Number iN 
thOusaNds 186,169 157,734 28,435 18.0 

dilUTed and baSic earningS per Share from  
conTinUing operaTionS eur –1.47 –2.09 0.62 –29.8

lOss FrOm disCONtiNued OperatiONs eur milliON 234.8 –15.7 250.5 > 100

CONsOlidated lOss FOr the periOd FrOm  
CONtiNuiNg aNd disCONtiNued OperatiONs  
attributable tO sharehOlders eur milliON –38.3 –345.2 306.9 –88.9

Weighted average Number OF shares issued
Number iN 
thOusaNds 186,169 157,734 28,435 18.0 

dilUTeS and baSic earningS per Share from  
diSconTinUed operaTionS eur 1.26 –0.10 1.36 >100

dilUTed and baSic earningS per Share from  
conTinUed and diSconTinUed operaTionS eur –0.21 –2.19 1.98 –90.6

Weighted-average Number OF OrdiNary shares (basiC)
 
thOusaNds OF shares 2018

  
2017

 
issued OrdiNary shares  
at JaN. 1 157,734 139,113 

eFFeCt OF treasury  
shares held –60 –960

eFFeCt OF shares issued  
FOr the year 28,495 19,581 

weighTed-average  
nUmber of ordinarY  
ShareS aT dec. 31 186,169  157,734 

The following equity instruments were not taken into 
account in determining the diluted earnings per share 
because their effect would have been antidilutive. 

Number OF pOteNtial OrdiNary shares
 
thOusaNds dec. 31, 2018

  
deC. 31, 2017

 
share-based paymeNts 7,561 11,040 

liabilities FrOm  
put OptiON ON NCi – 79

ToTal nUmber of poTenTial 
ordinarY ShareS 7,561 11,119 
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05. Disclosures on the cost of sales method
The DH Group classifies expenses by their function referred 
to as the cost of sales method. In 2018 these expenses 
include: expenses for salaries and wages of € 346.3 million 
(previous year: € 292.0 million), expenses for social securi-
ty of € 39.6 million (previous year: € 28.2 million), expenses 
for defined benefit plans as well as pension plans of 
€ 4.1 million (previous year: € 6.8 million) and expenses for 
depreciation and amortization of € 53.2 Mio. € in 2018 (pre-
vious year:€ 50.3 million).

06. Headcount
The DH Group employs an average of 19,834 people in their 
continured and discontinued operations in the current 
financial year (previous year: 12,336 employees). The distri-
bution by employee groups can be derived from the follow-
ing:

average Number OF emplOyees by grOup

2018
  

2017

 
delivery aNd FOOd prOCessiNg 12,400 7,007

sales 4,697 2,885

marketiNg 549 503

busiNess suppOrt 208 24

prOduCt develOpmeNt 794 569

admiNistratiON 1,186 1,348

ToTal 19,834 12,336

Total personnel expenses in 2018 for continued operations 
amount to € 340.0 million (previous year: € 273.1 million) 
and discontinued operation amounted to € 45.9 million 
(previous year: € 47.1 million).

07. Total fee for the auditor
The auditorʼs fees for services provided by the group audi-
tor are broken down by service as follows:

eur milliON 2018
  

2017

 
audit serviCes 2.0 3.0

Other audit serviCes 0.0 0.5

tax advisOry serviCes 0.0 0.2

Other serviCes 0.0 0.4

ToTal 2.0 4.0

In 2018 the fees for audit services include services for the 
previous year of € 0.3 million.

Audit services are provided for the audit of the consolidat-
ed financial statements and statutory financial statements 
of Delivery Hero SE and for the audit of financial statements 
of subsidiaries in Germany. Integrated with the audit pro-
cedures reviews of interim financial statements as well as 
analyses of selected components of the compliance man-
agement systems were performed. Furthermore, audit ser-
vices provided pursuant to the German Transformation Act 
are included.

Tax advisory services amounted to K EUR 15 and include 
consulting services in connection with an audit by the Ger-
man fiscal authorities and advisory services in connection 
with social security legislation.

Other services in 2018 amounted to K EUR 12 and consist 
of advisory services in connection with the General Data 
Protection Regulation and a workshop on legal require-
ments in HR.

08. Related party disclosures

The members of the Management Board and the Supervi-
sory Board were considered as related parties of Delivery  
 Hero SE in accordance with IAS 24. 

a) Members of the Management Board

managemenT board occUpaTion

Niklas Östberg ChieF exeCutive OFFiCer

emmaNuel thOmassiN ChieF FiNaNCial OFFiCer 
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b) Members of the Supervisory Board 

name occUpaTion oTher fUncTionS

dr. martiN eNderle 
ChairmaN

maNagiNg direCtOr OF 
 allmyhOmes gmbh

egmONt FOuNdatiON (member OF the bOard OF trustees),
CeWe stiFtuNg & CO. kgaa (member OF the bOard OF trustees),
digi.me gmbh (maNagiNg direCtOr),
ChaCONNe gmbh (maNagiNg direCtOr),
FeegOO iNvest ug (maNagiNg direCtOr)

patriCk kOlek
deputy ChairmaN

grOup ChieF OperatiNg  
OFFiCer OF Naspers limited

makemytrip ltd (member OF the bOard OF direCtOrs)

hilary gOsher maNagiNg direCtOr OF  
iNsight veNture partNers llC

parity partNers, llC (member OF the bOard OF direCtOrs),
hustle, iNC. (member OF the bOard OF direCtOrs)

bJÖrN lJuNgberg emplOyee at dh grOup

vera staChOWiak emplOyee at dh grOup

semih yalCiN emplOyee at dh grOup

In connection with the change on the legal form from 
Delivery Hero AG to Delivery Hero SE the Company reached 
an agreement with its employee representatives on co- 
determination. This agreement was followed by the per-
sonnel nomination of three employees to be members of 
the Supervisory Board. As of July 13, 2018 Björn Ljungberg, 
Vera Stachowiak and Semih Yalcin became members of 
the Supervisory Board. 

In this context Jonathan Green, Jeffrey Lieberman, Georg 
Graf von Waldersee and Janis Zech left the Supervisory 
Board on July 13, 2018.

In connection with the closing of the sale of the German 
business, Semih Yalcin left as a member of the Super visory 
Board and Christian Hardenberg became member of the 
Supervisory Board.

a) Key management personnel transactions
Te members of the Management Board and the members 
of the Supervisory Board represent key management per-
sonnel. Until May 2017, the time of the transformation into 

a German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft), the mem-
bers of the C-Level management were also considered as 
key management personnel. Correspondingly the remu-
neration of the C-Level management is included in the com-
parison information until that date.

The remuneration of the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board in 2018 is as follows:

eur milliON 2018
  

2017

shOrt-term emplOyee beNeFits 1.0 1.0

expeNses related tO  
share-based COmpeNsatiON 1 1.8 12.6

1 for deTails see following illusTraTion.

In 2018 the total remuneration of the Management Board 
amounts to € 0.7 million. The total remuneration of the 
Supervisory Board in 2018 amounts to € 0.3 million includ-
ing the salary of employee representatives within the Super-
visory Board.

The stock options granted to current related parties are as 
follows:

measuremeNt date

dec. 31, 2018
  

deC. 31, 2017 1,2

 
NO. OF shares OWed 1,391,334 1,236,600

NO. OF vested shares 1,238,141 1,147,909

Fair value (eur milliON) 21.5 19.7

expeNses reCOgNized  
(eur milliON) 1.8 9.2

1  unTil The TransforMaTion of The coMpany inTo a gerMan sTock  
corporaTion in May 2017, key ManageMenT personal were MeMbers of The 
ManageMenT, MeMbers of The advisory board and MeMbers of The c-level. 

2  inforMaTion reflecTs inforMaTion for The Twelve MonThs period ended 
deceMber 31, 2017 for The MeMbers of The ManageMenT board. To The 
MeMbers of The supervisory board no sTock opTions were granTed  

d) Other related party transactions
Other related party transactions comprise exchanges  
of DH Group with related entities, primarily associated 
companies and entities controlled by key management 
personnel.

As of December 31, 2018 receivables and liabilities to  other 
related parties are composed as follows:
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eur milliON dec. 31, 2018
  

deC. 31, 2017

 
FiNaNCiNg COmmittmeNt  
tO assOCiates – 1.0

reCeivables FrOm  
related  eNtities 0.2 0.2

reCeivables FrOm assOCiates 0.4 0.1

liabilities tO related eNtities – 0.1

liabilities tO assOCiates 0.3 –

The result from transactions with other related parties  
is composed as follows:

eur milliON 2018
 

2017

 
iNCOme FrOm traNsaCtiONs 
FrOm related eNtities 0.6 3.0

expeNses FrOm traNsaCtiONs 
With related eNtities 0.0 0.8

Income from transactions with related entities is mainly 
attributable to services which are provided to the former 
Brazilian subsidiary Pedidos Ja Divulgacao e Tecnologia Ltda. 
which was sold to iFood in August 2018. DH Group recog-
nized a total gain of € 2.0 million from this sale.

09.  Lease relations and other financial obligations
The Group entered into a number of office lease agree-
ments, including a new lease in Korea and various other 
locations as well as vehicle and office equipment lease 
agreements classified as operating leases.

Future minimum lease payments from operating lease 
agreements, with the respective remaining terms, are 
presented in the following table:

 
eur milliON

remaiNiNg term iN years

ToTal< 1 1 - 5 > 5

 
aS of dec. 31, 
2018 27.5 59.7 13.1 100.4

as OF deC. 31, 
2017 15.0 37.2 15.3 67.5

The expense for lease payments in the 2018 financial year 
amounted to € 24.4 million (previous year: € 12.7 million). 
In addition payments for subleases of € 0.3 million (previ-
ous year: € 0.2 million) were received in 2017. The leases 
for the office premises in Berlin and Korea grant a one-time 
contractual renewal option for further five years.

The finance leases of the Group primarily relate to office 
and operating equipment and with a net carrying amount 
of € 2.6 million as of December 31, 2018 (previous year: 
€ 3.3 million).

 
eur milliON

Future miNimum  
lease paymeNts iNterest

preseNt value OF miNimum  
lease paymeNts

dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017 dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017 dec. 31, 2018 deC. 31, 2017

 
less thaN ONe year 1.4 1.4 0.1 0.1 1.3 1.3

mOre thaN ONe year aNd  
less thaN Five years 1.2 2.5 0.1 0.1 1.1 2.4

mOre thaN Five years – – – – – – 

SUbToTal 2.6 3.9 0.2 0.2 2.4 3.7

Future cumulative obligations from other agreements 
amount to € 8.3 million as of December 31, 2018 (previous 
year: € 3.2 million). The other agreements primarily relate 
to the provision of hosting, advertising and similar ser-
vices.

eur milliON dec. 31, 2018
  

deC. 31, 2017

 
less thaN ONe year 2.8 3.2

mOre thaN ONe year aNd  
less thaN Five years 5.4 0.0

mOre thaN Five years – –

ToTal 8.3 3.2
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10.  List of shareholdings pursuant to section 313  
of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

DH has an interest in the following fully consolidated com-
panies as of December 31, 2018:

 
name and regiSTered office  
of The affiliaTed companY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2018 
(%)

fUncTional  
cUrrencY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2017  
(%)

 
germanY:  
brillaNt 1421. gmbh  
(hOldiNg Cee/Cis), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO (hONg kONg) ug  
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. kg  
(FOrmerly Jade 1343 gmbh & CO.  
15. verWaltuNgs kg), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO (iNdia) ug  
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. kg  
(FOrmerly Jade 1343 gmbh & CO.  
siebte verWaltuNgs kg), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO (malaysia) ug  
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. kg  
(FOrmerly FOOdpaNda gp ug  
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. Jade 1343. 
dritte verWaltuNgs kg), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO (pakistaN) ug  
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. kg  
(FOrmerly Jade 1343 gmbh & CO.  
NeuNte verWaltuNgs kg), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO (philippiNes) ug 
 (haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. kg  
(FOrmerly Jade 1343 gmbh & CO. 13.  
verWaltuNgs kg), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO (siNgapOre) ug  
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. kg  
(FOrmerly Jade 1343 gmbh & CO.  
FüNFte verWaltuNgs kg), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO (taiWaN) ug  
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. kg  
(FOrmerly Jade 1343 gmbh & CO.  
zWeite verWaltuNgs kg), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

 
name and regiSTered office  
of The affiliaTed companY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2018 
(%)

fUncTional  
cUrrencY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2017  
(%)

delivery herO (thailaNd) ug 
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. kg 
(FOrmerly Jade 1343 gmbh & CO.  
verWaltuNgs kg), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO austria gmbh, berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO bulgaria ug  
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt) & CO. kg  
(FOrmerly brillaNt 1424 gmbh & CO. 
15. verWaltuNgs kg), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO germaNy gmbh, berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO lOCal 
verWaltuNgs gmbh, berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

delivery herO paymeNts gmbh, berliN 100.00 eur

FOOdOra gmbh, berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

FOOdOra serviCes germaNy gmbh, berliN 100.00 eur

FOOdpaNda gmbh (hOldiNg asia), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

FOOdpaNda gp ug 
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

Jade 1343 gmbh & CO. 
10. verWaltuNgs kg, berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

JuWel 199. vv ug 
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

JuWel 220. vv ug 
(haFtuNgsbesChräNkt), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

rgp lOCal hOldiNg i gmbh, berliN1 100.00 eur 100.00

rgp lOCal hOldiNg iv gmbh, berliN 100.00 eur 90.76

rgp trust gmbh, berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

valk Fleet deutsChlaNd gmbh 
(FOrmerly rushy lOgistik), berliN 100.00 eur 100.00
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name and regiSTered office  
of The affiliaTed companY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2018 
(%)

fUncTional  
cUrrencY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2017  
(%)

valk Fleet hOldiNg gmbh & CO. kg, berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

valk Fleet verWaltuNgs gmbh, berliN 100.00 eur 100.00

 
inTernaTional:  
appetit O veiNtiCuatrO ltda., saN JOse (Cr) 100.00 crc 100.00

aravO s.a., mONtevideO (uy) 100.00 uyu 100.00

baedaltONg CO. ltd., seOul (kr) 100.00 krw 100.00

Carriage delivery serviCes llC,  
abu dhabi (uae) 100.00 aed 100.00

Carriage FOOd delivery serviCes llC, 
dubai (uae) 100.00 aed

Carriage hOldiNg COmpaNy ltd.,  
abu dhabi (uae) 100.00 aed 100.00

Carriage ksa llC (FOrmerly  
establishmeNt OF abdullah al  
mutaWa (ksa)), kuWait (kW) 100.00 sar 100.00

Carriage lOgistiCs geNeral tradiNg  
COmpaNy llC, kuWait (kW) 100.00 kwd 100.00

Carriage lOgistiCs spC, maNama (bh) 100.00 bhd 100.00

Carriage tradiNg & serviCes CO. Wll,  
dOha (qa) 100.00 bhd 100.00

CliCk delivery Cyprus limited, NikOsia (Cy) 100.00 qar 100.00

CliCk delivery digital prOCessiNg OF 
telematiCs data 100.00 eur 100.00

sOCiete aNONyme, atheNs (gr) 100.00 eur 100.00

CliCkdelivery s.a.C, lima (pe) 100.00 pen 100.00

CliCkdelivery s.a.s., bOgOta (CO) 100.00 cop 100.00

ClOud treats rOmaNia sa,  
CluJ-NapOCa (rOu) 100.00 ron

dameJidlO Cz. s.r.O. (FOrmerly  
e-aggregatOr s.r.O.), prague (Cz) 100.00 cZk 100.00

 
name and regiSTered office  
of The affiliaTed companY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2018 
(%)

fUncTional  
cUrrencY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2017  
(%)

dámeJídlO.Cz. lOgistiks s.r.O. (FOrmerly 
valk Fleet s.r.O.), prague (Cz) 100.00 cZk 100.00

deliveras s.a., atheNs, (gr) 100.00 eur

delivery herO Fz-llC, dubai (uae) 100.00 aed 100.00

delivery herO iNdia hOldiNg s.a.r.l. ,  
luxembOurg (lu) 100.00 eur

delivery herO kOrea  
(FOrmerly rgp kOrea ltd.), seOul (kr) 100.00 krw 100.00

delivery herO sWedeN ab (FOrmerly 
ONliNe pizza NOrdeN ab), stOCkhOlm (se) 100.00 sek 100.00

dhe lOgistiCs malaysia sdN. bhd,  
kuala lumpur (mys) 100.00 Myk

dhh i spC (diFC) ltd., dubai (uae) 100.00 aed 100.00

dhh ii spC (diFC) ltd., dubai (uae) 100.00 aed 100.00

dONesi d.O.O., baNJa luka (bih) 100.00 baM 100.00

dONesi d.O.O., pOdgOriCa (mNe) 100.00 eur 100.00

eatOye (pvt) limited, karaChi (pk) 100.00 pkr 100.00

eCOmmerCe busiNess 10 s.à. r.l.,  
luxembOurg (lu) 100.00 eur 100.00

emergiNg markets ONliNe FOOd delivery 
hOldiNg s.à.r.l., luxembOurg (lu) 100.00 eur 100.00

eurÓ magyarOrszág kFt., budapest (hu) 100.00 huf

Fly & COmpaNy iNC., seOul (kr) 100.00 krw 100.00

FOOd basket elektrONik İletişim gı 
da tiCaret ltd. şti, NikOsia (Cyprus) 100.00 Try 100.00

FOOd delivery hOldiNg 12. s.à r.l.,  
luxembOurg (lu) 100.00 eur 100.00

FOOd delivery hOldiNg 15. s.à.r.l.,  
luxembOurg (lu) 100.00 eur 100.00

FOOd delivery hOldiNg 20. s.à r.l.,  
luxembOurg (lu) 100.00 eur 100.00
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name and regiSTered office  
of The affiliaTed companY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2018 
(%)

fUncTional  
cUrrencY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2017  
(%)

FOOd delivery hOldiNg 21. s.à r.l.,  
luxembOurg (lu) 100.00 eur 100.00

FOOd delivery hOldiNg 5. s.à r.l.,  
luxembOurg (lu) 100.00 eur 100.00

FOOd paNda philippiNes iNC., makati (phl) 100.00 php 100.00

FOOdONCliCk.COm/JOrdaN private  
sharehOldiNg COmpaNy, ammaN (Jr) 100.00 jod 100.00

FOOdONCliCk-COm Fz-llC, dubai (uae) 100.00 aed 100.00

FOOdOra ab, stOCkhOlm (se) 100.00 sek 100.00

FOOdOra FiNlaNd Oy (FOrmerly r-sC  
iNterNet serviCes FiNlaNd Oy) helsiNki, (Fi) 100.00 eur 100.00

FOOdOra FraNCe sas, paris (Fra) 100.00 eur 100.00

FOOdOra iNC. (CaNada), tOrONtO (CaN) 100.00 cad 100.00

FOOdOra NOrWay as, OslO (NOr) 100.00 nok 100.00

FOOdpaNda (b) sdN bhd, baNdar seri  
begaWaN (brN) 100.00 bnd 100.00

FOOdpaNda baNgladesh ltd., dhaka (bgd) 100.00 bdT 100.00

FOOdpaNda bulgaria eOOd, sOFia (brg) 100.00 bgn 100.00

FOOdpaNda CO. ltd., baNgkOk (tha) 100.00 Thb 100.00

FOOdpaNda hk ltd., hONg kONg (hk) 100.00 hkd 100.00

FOOdpaNda malaysia sdN. bhd.,  
kuala lumpur (msy) 100.00 Myr 100.00

FOOdpaNda rO srl, buCharest (rO) 100.00 ron 100.00

FOOdpaNda siNgapOre pte. ltd.  
siNgapOre (sgp) 100.00 sgd 100.00

FOOdpaNda taiWaN CO. ltd.,  
daaN dist taipei (tWN) 100.00 Twd 100.00

gO delivery sa, attiCa (gr) 100.00 eur

huNgerstatiON llC, dammam (ksa) 63.00 sar 63.00

huNgerstatiON spC ltd., dubai (uae) 63.00 aed 63.00

 
name and regiSTered office  
of The affiliaTed companY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2018 
(%)

fUncTional  
cUrrencY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2017  
(%)

iNversiONes Cmr s.a.s, bOgOta (CO) 100.00 cop 100.00

iNversiONes delivery herO Cmr s.a.  
(FOrmerly hellOFOOd hallO esseN  
hOlleseN s.a.), quitO (eC) 100.00 usd 100.00

lOkaNta Net elektrONik İletişim  
gıda tiCaret a.ş., istaNbul (tr) 100.00 Try 100.00

luxemburg iNvestmeNt COmpaNy  
43 s.à r.l., luxembOurg (lu) 100.00 eur 100.00

maidaN limited, hONg kONg (hk) 100.00 hkd 100.00

mJam gmbh, vieNNa (at) 100.00 eur 100.00

mObile veNture latiN ameriCa iNC.,  
paNama (pa) 100.00 usd 100.00

mOtWer s.a., mONtevideO (ury) 100.00 uyu

OFd ONliNe FOOd delivery serviCes ltd., 
NiCOsia (Cy) 100.00 eur 100.00

OtlOb FOr restauraNts reservatiONs  
serviCes s.a.e, CairO (egy) 100.00 egp 100.00

OzON media d.O.O., zagreb (hr) 100.00 hrk 100.00

pagOs ya s.a., bueNOs aires (ar) 100.00 ars 100.00

pedidOs ya paraguay s.a., asuNCiÓN (py) 100.00 pyg

pedidOsya s.a. (FOrmerly kiNbOy s.a.), 
mONtevideO (uy) 100.00 usd 100.00

pedidOsya s.a., bueNOs aires (ar) 100.00 ars 100.00

pedidOsya serviCiOs s.a.,  
saNta Cruz de la sierra (bOl) 100.00 bob

pedidOsya spa, saNtiagO (Cl) 100.00 clp 100.00

plOtuN d.O.O., krusevaC (srb) 100.00 rsd 100.00

raNila ONliNe serviCes limited,  
NeW delhi (iNd) 100.00 inr

repartOs ya s.a, bueNOs aires (ar) 100.00 ars 100.00
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name and regiSTered office  
of The affiliaTed companY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2018 
(%)

fUncTional  
cUrrencY

Share of  
capiTalS aS of  

dec. 31, 2017  
(%)

repartOs ya s.a, mONtevideO, (uy) 100.00 uyu 100.00

rOCket FOOd limited, sheuNg WaN (hk) 100.00 hkd 100.00

r-sC iNterNet serviCes pakistaN (pvt)  
limited, karaChi (pk) 100.00 pkr 100.00

slm FiNlaNd Oy, vaNtaa (Fi) 100.00 eur 100.00

subdelivery ltda., sãO paulO (br) 100.00 brl 100.00

talabat eleCtrONiC aNd delivery serviCes 
llC. (FOrmerly talabat eleCtrONiC  
serviCes COmpaNy l.l.C.), musCat (Om) 100.00 oMr 100.00

talabat geNeral tradiNg & CONtraCtiNg 
COmpaNy W.l.l, sharq (kW) 100.00 kwd 100.00

talabat lOgistiCs & ONliNe maNagemeNt 
llC, ammaN, (Jr) 100.00 jod

talabat ltd., kuWait (kW) 100.00 kwd

talabat middle east iNterNet serviCes 
COmpaNy l.l.C, dubai (uae) 100.00 aed 100.00

talabat qFC llC, dOha (qa) 100.00 qar 100.00

talabat restauraNts COmpaNy l.l.C., 
riyadh (ksa) 100.00 sar 100.00

talabat serviCes COmpaNy l.l.C.,  
dOha (qa) 100.00 qar 100.00

viala kFt, budapest (hu) 100.00 huf 100.00

vOlO ds xxxvi 9 gmbh (FOrmerly  
Cm FOratis 12 vv gmbh), vieNNa (at) 100.00 eur 100.00

vOlO NetherlaNds b.v., amsterdam (Nl) 100.00 eur 100.00

yemek sepeti (dubai) b.v., amsterdam (Nl) 100.00 eur 100.00

yemek sepeti elektrONik İletişim taNıtım 
pazarlama gıda saNayi ve tiCaret a.ş., 
istaNbul (tr) 100.00 Try 100.00

yOgiyO media COmpaNy ltd., seOul (kr) 100.00 krw 100.00

1  The consolidaTion of This coMpany has been waived, since Their inclusion would be of Minor significance  
for The presenTaTion of The groupʼs financial posiTion and resulTs of operaTions.
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The following companies were included as associates in 
the DH consolidated financial statements:

name and regiSTered office  
of The aSSociaTed companY

Share of capiTalS
2018 (%)

restauraNt partNer pOlska sp. z.O.O. (pl) 49.0

sWeetheart kitCheN OperatiONs gmbh (de) 40.0

huNgry hOldiNg aps (dk) 24.5

rappi iNC. (CO) 19.52

glOvOapp23 s.l. (es) 15.95

11. Corporate Governance Code
The Management and Supervisory Boards of Delivery  
Hero SE have issued a statement of conformity pursuant 
to the German Corporate Governance Code (section 161 of 
the German Stock Corporation Act [AktG]), which was pub-
lished on the website of Delivery Hero SE in December 2018 
(https://ir.deliveryhero.com/websites/delivery/English/ 
4500/declaration-of-compliance.html).

I. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 28, 2019 Delivery Hero Group announced that 
it entered into an agreement with Zomato Media Pvt. Ltd. 
(“Zomato”) to buy its food delivery business in the United 
Arab Emirates (UAE) through its fully owned subsidiary Tal-
abat Middle East Internet Services Company LLC (“ Talabat”). 
The agreement encompasses the acquisition of restaurant 
contracts as well as the conclusion of a service and license 
agreement. The consideration for the acquisition amounts 
to $ 172.0 million. Besides this consideration a contingent 
payment depending on the future performance of the busi-
ness was agreed. The maximum contingent payment 
amounts to $ 44.0 million.

The acquisition will add approx. 1.2 million monthly orders 
and approx. $ 2 million monthly revenue to Delivery  
Heroʼs MENA business and will strengthen its leadership 
position in the UAE. The acquisition was fully funded by 
an acquisition facility. On April 1, 2019 the facility was  fully 
repaid.

Moreover, Delivery Hero participated in Zomatoʼs latest 
funding round by investing $ 50.0 million into Zomatoʼs 
global business to become a Top 10 shareholder and also 
entered into a material operational partnership agreement.

On April 1, 2019 the sale of Delivery Heroʼs German food 
delivery operations to Takeaway.com was concluded. The 
total consideration Delivery Hero has received amounts to 
(i) approx. 5.7 million ordinary shares in Takeaway.com, (ii) 
approx. 3.8 million warrants convertible into ordinary 
shares of Takeaway.com at zero cost and (iii) approx. 
€ 508 million of cash. The total consideration (subject to 
customary price adjustments) at time of closing amounts 
to € 1.15 billion. The total consideration is net of cash, i.e. 
Delivery Hero keeps the net cash position of its German 
food delivery operations. Post exercise of the warrants, 
the share component represents c. 15.5% of the total issued 
and outstanding share capital of Takeaway.com. As of 
December 31, 2018 the German operations are classified 
as disposal group classified as held for sale (refer to sec-
tion D. 03. e).

As a result of the transaction, the mandate of Semih  Yalcin, 
employee representative in Delivery Heroʼs super visory 
board ended. His successor is Christian Graf von Harden-
berg, Chief Technology Officer of Delivery Hero.

On April 4, 2019 the Company has decided to enter into a 
multi-year equity collar agreement in relation to 3.2 million 
of its shares in Takeaway.com, which it received in connec-
tion with the sale of its German food delivery to Takeaway.
com.

The objective of the collar transaction is to provide pro-
tection on approximately one third of the shares Delivery  
Hero received in Takeaway.com. The equity collar will also 
allow Delivery Hero to participate in part of any further 
share price appreciation of this portion of the Takeaway.
com shareholding. Delivery Hero has elected for cash 
settle ment of the collar over time by default.

To facilitate the transaction, Morgan Stanley will sell up 
to 3 million of such shares in Takeaway.com through an 
accelerated bookbuild offering which will start immedi-
ately. The cash raised from the equity collar will be 
released to Delivery Hero to allow for increased strategic 
flexibility for opportunistic M&A transactions. Delivery  
Hero has committed to a 90-day lock-up with respect to 
additional Takeaway.com shares following the pricing of 
the offering.

Berlin, April 23, 2019

Delivery Hero SE

 
 
 

 
Niklas Östberg Emmanuel Thomassin 
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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RESPONSIBILITY
STATEMENT

We hereby confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and 
in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the 
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss 
of the Group, and the combined management report 
includes a fair review of the Groupʼs business development 
including its performance and financial position, and also 
describes significant opportunities and risks relating to 
the Groupʼs anticipated development.

Berlin, April 23, 2019

Delivery Hero SE

Niklas Östberg
Chair of the Management Board, CEO

Emmanuel Thomassin
Member of the Management Board, CFO
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To Delivery Hero SE (until July 13, 2018: Delivery Hero AG), 
Berlin

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OF THE COMBINED 
MANAGEMENT REPORT

Opinions
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Delivery Hero SE (until July 13, 2018: Delivery Hero AG), 
Berlin, and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as of 
December 31, 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cashflows for the financial year from January 1 
to December 31, 2018, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the 
combined management report of Delivery Hero SE, Berlin, 
for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2018. 

INDEPENDENT
AUDITORʼS REPORT

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in 
the audit,

 —  the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements 
of German commercial law pursuant to section 315e (1) 
HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] 
and, in compliance with these requirements, give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and 
financial position of the Group as of December 31, 
2018, and of its financial performance for the financial 
year from January 1 to December 31, 2018, and 

 —  the accompanying combined management report as 
a whole provides an appropriate view of the Groupʼs 
position. In all material respects, this combined 
management report is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements, complies with 
German legal requirements and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks of future 
development.

Pursuant to section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that 
our audit has not led to any reservations relating to the 
legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements 
and of the combined management report.
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Basis for the Opinions
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and of the combined management report in 
accordance with section 317 HGB and EU Audit Regulation 
No.  537/2014 (referred to subsequently as “EU Audit 
Regulation”) and in compliance with German Generally 
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits 
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute 
of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities 
under those requirements and principles are further 
described in the “Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Combined 
Management Report” section of our auditorʼs report. We 
are independent of the group entities in accordance with 
the requirements of European law and German commercial 
and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other 
German professional responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. In addition, in accordance with 
Article 10 (2) (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that 
we have not provided non-audit services prohibited under 
Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and on the combined management 
report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the financial year 
from January 1 to December 31, 2018. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

  IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS ARISING 
FROM ACQUISITIONS INCLUDING GOODWILL

For information on impairment of intangible assets arising 
from acquisitions including goodwill, please see sections 
B. 05. and F. 01. in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The Financial Statement Risk
Intangible assets arising from acquisitions including 
goodwill (trademarks, customer and supplier relationships, 
goodwill) amounted to € 570.4 million as of December 31, 
2018, which represents 28.4% of total assets and thus a 
considerable share of asset value.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment if there are 
indications that their value has declined. As well as this, 
Cash Generating Units (CGUs)/groups of CGUs to which 
goodwill has been allocated are subject to an annual 
impairment test. 

To test for impairment, the carrying amount of the 
respective CGU/group of CGUs is compared with the 
recoverable amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount, this indicates a requirement for 
impairment. The recoverable amount is the higher of the 
CGU/group of CGUʼs fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use. The valuation date for the impairment test was 
November 30, 2018.

Based on the impairment tests conducted, the Company 
did not identify any need to recognize impairment losses.

Impairment testing is complex and based on a range of 
assumptions that require judgment. This includes the 
expected business and earnings development of the CGUs/
groups of CGUs for the next five years, the modeling of 
estimated surplus cashflow in a sustainable status, the 
assumed long-term growth rates and the discount rate 
used. 

There is the risk for the financial statements that any 
existing impairment of goodwill as of the reporting date 
was not identified. As regards the explanations in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements, there is a risk that 
the explanations are not appropriate.

Our Audit Approach
We evaluated the Companyʼs assessment of whether there 
were indications of impairment for significant intangible 
assets arising from acquisitions.

For the purposes of impairment testing of goodwill, we 
calculated our own estimates for the CGUs/groups of CGUs 
of the Delivery Hero SE Group with the involvement of our 
valuation experts and based on general as well as sector-
specific market expectations and compared these estimates 
with the Companyʼs measurements. 

In addition, we assessed the appropriateness of the 
calculation method used by the Company and reconciled 
this information with the budget prepared by the 
Management Board and approved by the Supervisory 
Board. Furthermore, we evaluated the consistency of 
assumptions with external market assessments.

156

INDEPENDENT AUDITORʼS REPORT 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018



We evaluated the accuracy of the previous forecasts by 
comparing the budgets of previous financial years with 
actual results and by analyzing deviations. 

Since changes to the discount rate can have a significant 
impact on the results of impairment testing, we compared 
the assumptions and parameters underlying the discount 
rate, in particular the risk-free rate, the CGU-specific risk 
premium and the beta coefficient, with our own assumptions 
and publicly available data. 

To ensure the computational accuracy of the valuation 
model used, we verified the Companyʼs calculations on the 
basis of selected risk-based elements.

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the notes 
on the impairment of intangible assets arising from 
acquisitions including goodwill were appropriate.

Our Observations
The underlying approach to impairment testing of 
intangible assets arising from acquisitions including 
goodwill (including the calculation method) is appropriate 
and in line with the accounting policies to be applied.

The Companyʼs assumptions and parameters used for 
measurement are reasonable overall.

The related disclosures in the notes are appropriate.

  SALE OF THE FOOD DELIVERY BUSINESS  
IN GERMANY

Please refer to note B. 13. in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements for more information on the accounting 
policies applied. Information on the sale of the food delivery 
business in Germany can be found in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements in note D. 03.

The Financial Statement Risk
On December 20, 2018, Delivery Hero SE concluded an 
agreement on the sale of the delivery service business in 
Germany consisting of the companies Delivery Hero 
Germany GmbH and Foodora GmbH. The delivery service 
business unit in Germany was classified as a discontinued 
operation. 

The classification of the delivery service business unit as a 
discontinued operation pursuant to IFRS 5 is complex and 
subject to judgment. The presentation and the disclosures 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
concerning the discontinued operation are also complex. 

There is the risk to the consolidated financial statements 
that the classification of this business unit as a discontinued 
operation is not appropriate. In addition, there is the risk 
that the components (or items) of the discontinued 
operation were not identified appropriately and that 
therefore the presentation in the consolidated statement 
of financial position and in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income is inaccurate. 
There is the risk that the explanations in the notes to the 
consolidated f inancial statements regarding the 
discontinued operation are not sufficiently detailed and 
appropriate.

Our Audit Approach
We initially assessed whether the classification of the 
delivery service business in Germany as a discontinued 
operation pursuant to IFRS 5 was appropriate. For this 
purpose, we spoke with the Management Board and 
assessed internal and external reporting. Furthermore, we 
assessed whether the allocation of assets and liabilities as 
well as income and expenses to the discontinued operation 
was correct. 

We assessed whether the explanations in the notes to the 
consolidated f inancial statements regarding the 
discontinued operations are sufficiently detailed and 
appropriate. 

Our Observations
The classification of the delivery service business in 
Germany as a discontinued operation pursuant to IFRS 5 
and its presentation in the consolidated statement of 
financial position and in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income are appropriate. 
The explanations in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements regarding the discontinued operations are 
sufficiently detailed and appropriate.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the annual report, with the 
exception of the audited consolidated financial statements 
and combined management report and our auditorʼs 
report. 
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 
on the combined management report do not cover the 
other information, and consequently we do not express 
an opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in so doing, to consider whether 
the other information

 —  is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, with the combined 
management report or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or 

 — otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of Management and the Supervisory 
Board for the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
the Combined Management Report
Management is responsible for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements that comply, in all 
material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the 
additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to section 315e (1) HGB and that the consolidated 
f inancial statements, in compliance with these 
requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position, and financial performance of 
the Group. In addition, management is responsible for such 
internal controls as they have determined necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing the Groupʼs ability 
to continue as a going concern. They also have the 
responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for 
financial reporting based on the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, management is responsible for the 
preparation of the combined management report that, as 
a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Groupʼs 
position and is, in all material respects, consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements, complies with German 
legal requirements, and appropriately presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, 
management is responsible for such arrangements and 
measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to 
enable the preparation of a combined management report 
that is in accordance with the applicable German legal 
requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient 
appropriate evidence for the assertions in the combined 
management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the 
Groupʼs financial reporting process for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements and of the combined 
management report.

Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Combined 
Management Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and whether the combined management report 
as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Groupʼs 
position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and the knowledge 
obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal 

requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development, as well as to issue an 
auditor ʼs report that includes our opinions on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the combined 
management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in 
compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for 
Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material 
misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements and this combined 
management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 —  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements and of the 
combined management report, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
controls.
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 —  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit of the consolidated financial statements, 
and of the arrangements and measures (systems) 
relevant to the audit of the combined management 
report, in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of these systems.

 —  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used by management and the reasonableness of 
estimates made by management and related 
disclosures.

 —  Conclude on the appropriateness of managementʼs 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Groupʼs ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in the auditorʼs report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements and in the combined management report 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditorʼs report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue 
as a going concern.

 —  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements present the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and financial performance of the Group in 
compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the 
additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to section 315e (1) HGB.

 —  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express 
opinions on the consolidated financial statements 
and on the combined management report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our opinions.

 —  Evaluate the consistency of the combined 
management report with the consolidated financial 
statements, its conformity with [German] law, and 
the view of the Groupʼs position it provides.

 —  Perform audit procedures on the prospective 
information presented by management in the 
combined management report. On the basis of 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in 
particular, the significant assumptions used by 
management as a basis for the prospective 
information, and evaluate the proper derivation of 
the prospective information from these assumptions. 
We do not express a separate opinion on the 
prospective information and on the assumptions 
used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable 
risk that future events will differ materially from the 
prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with the relevant 
independence requirements, and communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, the related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditorʼs 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter.
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OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Further information pursuant to Article 10 of the  
EU Audit Regulation
We were elected as group auditor by the Annual General 
Meeting of Delivery Hero SE on June 6, 2018. We were 
engaged by the Supervisory Board on December 5, 2018. 
We have been the group auditor of Delivery Hero SE, 
without interruption since financial year 2017.

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditorʼs 
report are consistent with the additional report to the audit 
committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation 
(long-form audit report).

GERMAN PUBLIC AUDITOR RESPONSIBLE  
FOR THE ENGAGEMENT

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement 
is Björn Knorr.

Berlin, April 23, 2019

KPMG AG  
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

(signed) Knorr  (signed) Heidgen 
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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GRI CONTENT INDEX 

gri STandard disClOsure COmmeNt page

 
gri 101: foUndaTion 2016

gri 102: general diScloSUreS 2016

 
102-1 Name of the organization Delivery Hero SE

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services 57

102-3 Location of headquarters Berlin

102-4 Location of operations 9, 57

102-5 Ownership and legal form 16

102-6 Markets served 9

102-7 Scale of the organization 2, 3, 12 et seq., 67 

102-8 Information on employees and other workers 71

102-10 Significant changes to the organization and its supply chain 2, 14 et seq.

102-12 External initiatives
Delivery Hero is occasionally engaged in ad-hoc initiatives with other industry  
players to safeguard its interests, e.g. in case of new legislative initiatives.

102-13 Membership of associations
Delivery Hero SE is a member of one business association which represent  
Delivery Hero ś interests in various areas of Delivery Hero ś commercial activities.

102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker 46

102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of behavior 51

102-18 Governance structure 25-28

102-21
Consulting stakeholders on economic,  
environmental, and social topics 50

102-40 List of stakeholder groups 50

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements The company has no collective bargaining agreements. 
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gri STandard disClOsure COmmeNt page

 
102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 50

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 50

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 50

102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial statements 107

102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries 47-49

102-47 List of material topics 48

102-48 Restatements of information 48

102-49 Changes in reporting 48

102-50 Reporting period January 1, 2018 – December 31, 2018

102-51 Date of most recent report April 26, 2018 

102-52 Reporting cycle annually

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report ir@deliveryhero.com

102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the GRI Standards 47

102-55 GRI content index 161-163

102-56 External assurance Our nonfinancial report has not been externally audited.
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gri STandard disClOsure COmmeNt page

gri 301: maTerialS 2016

103-1/ 
103-2/103-3 Management Approach 52

gri 305: emiSSionS 2016  

103-1/ 
103-2/103-3 Management Approach 55

gri 401: emploYmenT 2016   

103-1/ 
103-2/103-3 Management Approach 53

gri 403: occUpaTional healTh and SafeTY 2018   

103-1/ 
103-2/103-3 Management Approach 54

gri 405: diverSiTY and eqUal opporTUniTY 2016   

103-1/ 
103-2/103-3 Management Approach

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 53

gri 418: cUSTomer privacY 2016  29, 53

103-1/ 
103-2/103-3 Management Approach 51 et seq.
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Delivery Hero SE

Oranienburger Strasse 70
10117 Berlin
Phone: +49 (0)30 5444 59 024
E-Mail: ir@deliveryhero.com
HRB 187081 B1

PRESS 

Delivery Hero SE
Oranienburger Strasse 70
10117 Berlin

E-Mail: info@deliveryhero.com

IMPRINT IMPRINT

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

2019 Annual General Meeting   Jun 12, 2019

Half-year 2019 Report    Sep 4, 2019

Q3/9M 2019 Quarterly Statement  Nov 7, 2019

INVESTOR RELATIONS 

Delivery Hero SE
Oranienburger Strasse 70
10117 Berlin

E-Mail: ir@deliveryhero.com
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MAKE YOUR OWN EXPERIENCE 

linkedin.com/company/delivery-hero

xing.com/companies/deliveryherose

facebook.com/deliveryhero

instagram.com/deliveryhero

twitter.com/deliveryherocom

www.deliveryhero.com

http://xing.com/companies/deliveryherose
http://facebook.com/deliveryhero
http://instagram.com/deliveryhero
http://twitter.com/deliveryherocom
http://www.deliveryhero.com
https://linkedin.com/company/delivery-hero
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DISCLAIMER

This information also contains forward-looking statements. These statements are 

based on the current view, expectations and assumptions of the management of 

Delivery Hero SE (“Delivery Hero”). Such statements are subject to known and 

unknown risks and uncertainties that are beyond Delivery Heroʼs control or accurate 

estimates, such as the future market environment and the economic, legal and 

regulatory framework, the conduct of the realization of expected synergy effects, 

as well as measures by public authoroties. If any of these or other uncertainties 

and imponderables materialize, or if the assumtpions on which these statements 

are based proven to be incorrect, actual results could differ materially from those 

expressed or implied by such statements. Delivery Hero does not warrant or assume 

any liability that the future develipment and future actual results will be consistent 

with the assumptions and estimates expressed in this report. Delivery Hero does 

not intend or assume any obligation to update forward-looking statements  

to reflect events or developments after the date of this report, except as required 

by law. 
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